

Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art

Edited by Thyago Moraes, Pasqual Barretti and John William Larkin

Published in Frontiers in Medicine Frontiers in Physiology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and

international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2262-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2262-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art

Topic editors

Thyago Moraes — Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil Pasqual Barretti — Sao Paulo State University, Brazil John William Larkin — Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Citation

Moraes, T., Barretti, P., Larkin, J. W., eds. (2023). *Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2262-2

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

06 Editorial: Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art

John Larkin, Pasqual Barretti and Thyago Proença de Moraes

- 09 Peritoneal Protein Loss Is Not Associated With Sarcopenia in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Jun Young Do, A Young Kim and Seok Hui Kang
- 16 Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio and Treatment Failure in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Peritonitis Peng He, Li-jie He, Chen Huang, Jin-ping Hu and Shi-ren Sun
- 25 Therapeutic Hypothermia Reduces Peritoneal Dialysis Induced Myocardial Blood Flow Heterogeneity and Arrhythmia

Sanjay R. Kharche, Sandrine Lemoine, Tanya Tamasi, Lisa Hur, Aaron So and Christopher W. McIntyre

- 34 The Diagnosis of Protein Energy Wasting in Chronic Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Is Influenced by the Method of Calculating Muscle Mass. A Prospective, Multicenter Study Cristina Techy Roth-Stefanski, Naiane Rodrigues de Almeida, Gilson Biagini, Natália K. Scatone, Fabiana B. Nerbass and Thyago Proença de Moraes
- 41 The Role of Peritoneal Dialysis in the Treatment of Acute Kidney Injury in Patients With Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure: A Prospective Brazilian Study

Daniela Ponce, Welder Zamoner, Dayana Bitencourt Dias, Erica Pires da Rocha, Christiane Kojima and André Luís Balbi

- 50 Diabetes Is the Most Critical Risk Factor of Adverse Complications After Peritoneal Dialysis Catheter Placement Hsiao-Huang Chang, Ching-Hsiang Chang, Chen-Yuan Hsiao, Shih-Yi Kao, Jinn-Yang Chen, Tien-Hua Chen and Pei-Jiun Tsai
- 59 Risk Factors and Management of Catheter Malfunction During Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis Lijuan Zhao, Jun Yang, Ming Bai, Fanfan Dong, Shiren Sun and Guoshuang Xu
- 68 Effects of Baduanjin Exercise on Physical Function and Health-Related Quality of Life in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A Randomized Trial

Fan Zhang, Jing Liao, Weihong Zhang, Hui Wang, Liuyan Huang, Qiyun Shen and Huachun Zhang

75 Characteristics Analysis, Clinical Outcome and Risk Factors for Fungal Peritonitis in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A 10-Year Case-Control Study

> Rongrong Li, Difei Zhang, Jingwen He, Jianjun Ou, La Zhang, Xiaoxuan Hu, Jianfeng Wu, Hui Liu, Yu Peng, Yuan Xu, Haijing Hou, Xusheng Liu and Fuhua Lu

86	Serum Phosphorus and Albumin in Patients Undergoing
	Peritoneal Dialysis: Interaction and Association
	With Mortality

Naya Huang, Huiyan Li, Li Fan, Qian Zhou, Dongying Fu, Lin Guo, Chunyan Yi, Xueqing Yu and Haiping Mao

96 Assessment of Alveolar Bone and Periodontal Status in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Kristine Sun, Hui Shen, Yingli Liu, Hai Deng, Huiwen Chen and Zhongchen Song

- 106 Association of Prescription With Body Composition and Patient Outcomes in Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Christian Verger, Claudio Ronco, Wim Van Biesen, James Heaf, François Vrtovsnik, Manel Vera Rivera, Ilze Puide, Raymond Azar, Adelheid Gauly, Saynab Atiye and Tatiana De los Ríos on behalf of the IPOD-PD Study Group
- 118 Case Report: Synchronous Removal and Implantation of Peritoneal Dialysis Catheter Using Bilateral Transversus Abdominis Plane Block

Ante Jakšić, Božidar Vujičić, Diana Deša, Antun Gršković, Ivan Vukelić, Josip Španjol, Sanjin Rački and Dean Markić

- 122 Aging of the Peritoneal Dialysis Membrane Raymond T. Krediet
- 133 Corrigendum: Aging of the Peritoneal Dialysis Membrane Raymond T. Krediet
- 134 Prognostic Significance of the Albumin to Fibrinogen Ratio in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Wenkai Xia, Meisi Kuang, Chenyu Li, Xiajuan Yao, Yan Chen, Jie Lin and Hong Hu

141 Peritoneal Protein Loss, Inflammation, and Nutrition: Refuting Myths

> Anabela Malho Guedes, Roberto Calças Marques, Brigitte Ribeiro, Mónica T. Fernandes, Marília Faísca, Ana Paula Silva, José Bragança and Anabela Rodrigues

147 Sacubitril-Valsartan Increases Ultrafiltration in Patients Undergoing Peritoneal Dialysis: A Short-Term Retrospective Self-Controlled Study

Fen Zhang, Tingting Zhang, Sisi Yang, Di Wang, Qianqian Zhuo, Xianhui Qin, Nirong Gong and Jun Ai

155 High intraperitoneal interleukin-6 levels predict ultrafiltration (UF) insufficiency in peritoneal dialysis patients: A prospective cohort study

> Qianhui Song, Xiaoxiao Yang, Yuanyuan Shi, Hao Yan, Zanzhe Yu, Zhenyuan Li, Jiangzi Yuan, Zhaohui Ni, Leyi Gu and Wei Fang

- 168 Portable sauna stimulated-diaphoresis for the treatment of fluid-overload in peritoneal dialysis patients: A pilot study Pablo Maggiani-Aguilera, Jonathan S. Chávez-Iñiguez, Guillermo Navarro-Blackaller, Karla Hernández-Morales, Ariadna Lizbeth Geraldo-Ozuna, Luz Alcantar-Villín, Olivia Montoya-Montoya, Víctor Hugo Luquín-Arellano and Guillermo García-García
- 176 Successful therapeutic strategy for a patient with obese end-stage kidney disease by simultaneous laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and implantation of a buried peritoneal dialysis catheter: A case report

Tomohisa Yamashita, Tatsuya Sato, Kazuyuki Yamamoto, Atsuko Abiko, Keitaro Nishizawa, Masahiro Matsuda, Yuma Ebihara, Takeshi Maehana, Toshiaki Tanaka, Toshiyuki Yano and Hironori Kobayashi

183 Impact of dialysis modality choice on the survival of end-stage renal disease patients with congestive heart failure in southern China: A retrospective cohort study

Zhiren He, Hui Liang, Jing Huang, Defei Zhang, Hongyan Ma, Junjie Lin, Youqing Cai, Tonghuan Liu, Hucai Li, Weizhong Qiu, Lingzheng Wang, Fengling Yuan, Haijing Hou, Daixin Zhao, Xusheng Liu and Lixin Wang

199 Impact of unplanned peritoneal dialysis start on patients' outcomes—A multicenter cohort study Kellen Thayanne Hangai, Roberto Pecoits-Filho, Peter G. Blake, Daniela Peruzzo da Silva, Pasgual Barretti and

Thyago Proença de Moraes on behalf of the BRAZPD Investigators

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Carolyn Mary Ecelbarger, Georgetown University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE John Larkin, I john.larkin@freseniusmedicalcare.com Pasqual Barretti, I pasqual.barretti@unesp.br Thyago Proença de Moraes, I thyaqo.moraes@pucpr.br

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Renal Physiology and Pathophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

RECEIVED 14 March 2023 ACCEPTED 24 March 2023 PUBLISHED 12 April 2023

CITATION

Larkin J, Barretti P and de Moraes TP (2023), Editorial: Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art. *Front. Physiol.* 14:1185810. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2023.1185810

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Larkin, Barretti and de Moraes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art

John Larkin¹*, Pasqual Barretti²* and Thyago Proença de Moraes³*

¹Fresenius Medical Care, Global Medical Office, Waltham, MA, United States, ²Botucatu Medical School, São Paulo State University, Universidade do Estado de São Paulo, Botucatu, São Paulo, Brazil, ³Post Graduate Program in Health and Biological Sciences, Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Paraná, Curitiba, Paraná, Brazil

KEYWORDS

peritonitis, cardiovasclar disease, peritoneal membrane, technique failure, catheter insertion, nutrition, fluid overload

Editorial on the Research Topic Peritoneal dialysis: Recent advances and state of the art

Introduction

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a widely used treatment for patients with kidney failure/endstage kidney disease, and a suitable alternative to hemodialysis (HD). Existing for over 40 years (BOEN, 1961), the adoption of PD has varied widely across the world for different reasons (Struijk, 2015; Pecoits-Filho et al., 2020; United States Renal Data System, 2022). The Global Kidney Health Atlas reports that, on average, 38.1 per million population (pmp) of people receive chronic PD treatment, which is considerably lower than the estimated global prevalence of HD, which is 298.4 pmp (Bello et al., 2019).

PD has several advantages over HD, including better preservation of residual kidney function, better blood pressure control, and a more flexible and independent treatment schedule that provides greater patient autonomy (Sinnakirouchenan and Holley, 2011; Francois and Bargman, 2014; Brown et al., 2020). PD can also have lower costs for patients and the healthcare system, making it an attractive option for some patients and providers. Despite the potential benefits of PD, there are also challenges associated with the modality including fluid control and solute removal, among other factors (Sinnakirouchenan and Holley, 2011; Brown et al., 2020). This Research Topic highlights 22 contributions from experts who explored several of these challenges and brought new insights learned across four continents. The topic of the contributions varied within this Research Topic (Figure 1), demonstrating the many areas in which improvements and advancements are needed in the delivery of PD and care of patients using the modality. Although we continue to lack important information in the field, these contributions bring a better understanding of the therapy. We invite you to read and enjoy all of them.



Featured publications

Some topics were more common in this Research Topic, and we'd like to highlight them here. The leading theme was related to problems with catheter insertion, which accounted for almost one out of every four papers published in this Research Topic. PD catheter insertion is a mandatory step in initiating and maintaining chronic PD, and the rates of catheter dysfunction can reach upward to 30% (Szeto et al., 2017). Given this, catheter insertion is always arousing great interest in the PD community. Of these five manuscripts directly related to catheter insertion, two explored different implantation techniques (Jakšić et al.; Yamashita et.), and three evaluated risk factors for catheter failure Chang et al.; Zhao et al.; Hangai et al. Two of these manuscripts add an interesting discussion to the literature about the impact of unplanned PD on outcomes Zhao et al.; Hangai et al.

In second comes manuscripts involving nutrition, totalling four articles **Do et al.**; Roth-Stefanski et al.; Verger et al.; Guedes et al. Nutrition is a critical aspect of care for patients on PD, as it can affect both short-term and long-term outcomes. These manuscripts shed light on several important aspects related to nutrition in PD including the risk factors for sarcopenia, the diagnosis of protein-energy-wasting, impact of PD prescription on body composition, and an interesting discussion involving inflammation, nutrition, and protein loss.

Other themes included three papers that explored ways to try to optimize ultrafiltration and prevent volume overload in PD (Maggiani-Aguilera et al.; Song et al.; Zhang et al.), two papers that investigated ways to improve detection and prevention cardiovascular disease in the PD population (Kharche et al.; Xia et al.), as well as two papers that investigated risk factors for peritonitis and associated technique failure events (He et al.; Li et al.). Finally, but not less important, other articles of this series investigated associations in CKD-MBD biomarkers and survival (Huang et al.), the use of PD for patients with chronic liver failure and acute kidney injury (Ponce et al.), periodontal disease and alveolar bone loss in PD (Sun et al.), a method to increase physical activity and quality of life in a controlled trial (Zhang et al.), and a review detailing the pathophysiology of peritoneal membrane aging (Krediet).

Summary

In summary, all the excellent articles published in this Research Topic reinforce the huge variety of needs in the provision care in PD patients, advancements by the scientific community, and the numerous research opportunities to be addressed within the field of PD. Ongoing efforts are needed to improve the quality of care for patients on PD and to increase the availability and utilization of the modality worldwide.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

Author JL reports being an employee of Fresenius Medical Care, having share options/ownership in Fresenius Medical

Care, being an inventor on patent(s) in the field of dialysis, and receipt of honorarium from The Lancet. Author PB reports receipt of speaker honorarium and consultant fees from Baxter. Author TPM reports receipt of speaker honorarium and consultant fees from Baxter, Boehringer, Lilly, Bayer & Astrazeneca, and scholarships from the Brazilian Council for Research (CNPq).

References

Bello, A., Levin, A., Lunney, M., Osman, M., Ye, F., Ashuntantang, G., et al. (2019). Global kidney Health Atlas: A report by the international society of Nephrology on the global burden of end-stage kidney disease and capacity for kidney replacement therapy and conservative care across world countries and regions. Brussels: International Society of Nephrology.

Boen, S. T. (1961). Kinetics of peritoneal dialysis: A comparison with the artificial kidney. *Medicine* 40, 243–288. doi:10.1097/00005792-196109000-00001

Brown, E. A., Blake, P. G., Boudville, N., Davies, S., De Arteaga, J., Dong, J., et al. (2020). International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis practice recommendations: Prescribing high-quality goal-directed peritoneal dialysis. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 40, 244–253. doi:10.1177/0896860819895364

Francois, K., and Bargman, J. M. (2014). Evaluating the benefits of home-based peritoneal dialysis. *Int. J. Nephrol. Renov. Dis.* 7, 447–455. doi:10.2147/IJNRD.S50527

Pecoits-Filho, R., Okpechi, I. G., Donner, J. A., Harris, D. C. H., Aljubori, H. M., Bello, A. K., et al. (2020). Capturing and monitoring global differences in untreated and

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

treated end-stage kidney disease, kidney replacement therapy modality, and outcomes. *Kidney Int. Suppl. (2011)* 10, e3–e9. doi:10.1016/j.kisu.2019.11.001

Sinnakirouchenan, R., and Holley, J. L. (2011). Peritoneal dialysis versus hemodialysis: Risks, benefits, and access issues. *Adv. Chronic Kidney Dis.* 18, 428–432. doi:10.1053/j.ackd.2011.09.001

Struijk, D. G. (2015). Peritoneal dialysis in western countries. Kidney Dis. (Basel) 1, 157-164. doi:10.1159/000437286

Szeto, C. C., Li, P. K., Johnson, D. W., Bernardini, J., Dong, J., Figueiredo, A. E., et al. (2017). ISPD catheter-related infection recommendations: 2017 update. *Perit. Dial. Int.* 37, 141–154. doi:10.3747/pdi.2016.00120

United States Renal Data System (2022). "2022 USRDS annual Data report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States," in *National institutes of Health, national institute of diabetes and digestive and kidney diseases, bethesda, MD*. United States Renal Data System (2022).





Peritoneal Protein Loss Is Not Associated With Sarcopenia in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Jun Young Do[†], A Young Kim[†] and Seok Hui Kang^{*}

Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, College of Medicine, Yeungnam University, Daegu, South Korea

Introduction: Maintenance of a peritoneal membrane is essential for maintaining long-term peritoneal dialysis (PD). Peritoneal protein loss (PPL) is basically the loss of an essential nutrient, which may lead to malnutrition. We aimed to evaluate the association between PPL and sarcopenia in PD patients.

Methods: We conducted a cross-sectional study from September 2017 to November 2020 on all PD patients (n = 199). Finally, the patients were divided into tertiles based on the PPL level as follows: low, middle, and high. PPL (mg/day), appendicular lean mass (ALM) using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, and handgrip strength (HGS) were evaluated. Sarcopenia was defined using cut-off values from the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thyago Moraes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Jianhua Mao, Zhejiang University, China Jose Divino, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

> ***Correspondence:** Seok Hui Kang kangkang@ynu.ac.kr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 15 January 2021 Accepted: 17 June 2021 Published: 14 July 2021

Citation:

Do JY, Kim AY and Kang SH (2021) Peritoneal Protein Loss Is Not Associated With Sarcopenia in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Front. Med. 8:653807. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.653807 **Results:** The median PPL (interquartile range, interval) in the low, middle, and high tertiles were 4,229 (904, 1,706–5,111), 6,160 (760, 5,118–7,119), and 8,543 (2,284, 7,145–24,406) mg/day, respectively. HGS in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 23.4 ± 9.2 , 23.8 ± 8.9 , and 23.6 ± 8.3 kg, respectively (P = 0.967). The ALM index in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 6.0 ± 1.3 , 6.0 ± 1.2 , and 6.5 ± 1.1 kg/m², respectively (P = 0.061). Multivariate analyses did not reveal significant differences in HGS and ALM index in among tertiles. The proportions of patients with sarcopenia in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 24 (36.4%), 19 (28.4%), and 21 (31.8%), respectively (P = 0.612).

Conclusion: The present study showed that PPL is not independently associated with muscle mass, strength, and sarcopenia in PD patients.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, sarcopenia, muscle mass, handgrip strength, peritoneal protein loss

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a modality among renal replacement therapies, and the proportion of end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients who underwent PD was 4.1% in Korea and 7.5% in U.S.A (1, 2). PD involves removal of uremic molecules and/or water through the peritoneal membrane. Proper characteristics and maintenance of a peritoneal membrane are essential for maintaining long-term PD. Molecular transport via peritoneal membrane is carried out through large pores, small pores, and aquaporins (3, 4). Maintenance of homeostasis for survival in ESRD patients requires proper function and combination of these pores or transporters. A large pore is associated with removal of large sized uremic toxins (middle molecules) and nutrients (albumin).

9

Previous studies showed that peritoneal protein loss (PPL) in PD patients approximately ranges between 5 and 15 g/day (5-7). Previous studies have focused on the importance of endothelial dysfunction or local/systemic inflammation as underlying pathogenesis for high PPL. Consequently, PD patients with high PPL are at increased risk of cardiovascular disease or mortality. Some studies showed a positive association between PPL and cardiovascular disease or mortality in PD patients (8-12). In contrast to the hazard effects of albumin loss during dialysis, other studies showed that PPL has a favorable effect due to the removal of carbamylated albumin or proteinbound uremic toxin (13, 14). However, PPL is basically the loss of an essential nutrient, which may lead to malnutrition. Previous studies have evaluated the association between PPL and nutritional status in PD patients, but the results were inconsistent (15-18). In most of these studies, laboratory indicators (serum albumin or lean body mass using creatinine kinetics) were used as nutritional markers. Few studies elucidated the associtaion between PPL and sarcopenia (representing muscle strength and muscle mass measurements) through a hard outcome in malnutrition. We therefore aimed to evaluate the association between PPL and sarcopenia in PD patients.

METHODS

Study Population

We conducted a cross-sectional study from September 2017 to November 2020 on all PD patients, with relevant data, at a tertiary medical center (n = 214). Among these, we excluded nine patients with missing data and six patients who were unable to ambulate or had an amputated limb. Therefore, we finally included 199 prevalent PD patients. In our center, handgrip strength (HGS), body composition, and peritoneal equilibration test (PET), including PPL, were annually measured. These measurements were performed on the same day. Crosssectional data on the measurements obtained at the time of patient assessment were analyzed. If the results of multiple measurements were available during the study period, the most recent samples were used for analyses. This study received ethical approval from the Institutional Review Board of our medical center, which waived the need for informed consent because the patient records and information were anonymized and deidentified prior to analysis. The study was conducted ethically in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Finally, the patients were divided into tertiles based on the PPL level as follows: low, middle, and high.

Study Variables

Age, sex, presence of diabetes mellitus (DM), dialysis modality, dialysis vintage (months), body mass index (BMI, kg/m²), weekly Kt/V_{urea}, C-reactive protein (CRP, mg/dL), 4-h dialysate-to-plasma creatinine concentration ratio (DP4_{Cr}), urine volume (mL/day), proteinuria (mg/day), edema index, serum calcium (mg/dL), phosphorus (mg/dL), sodium (mEq/L), potassium (mEq/L), albumin (g/dL), and normalized protein equivalent for total nitrogen appearance (nPNA, g/kg/day) levels were collected prior to analyses. DM was defined as a patient-reported history

and a medical record of a DM diagnosis or medication. PPL (mg/day) was calculated using concentration of total protein of dialysate x 24-h total drain volume. Weekly Kt/V_{urea} was calculated using 24-h urine and dialysate, as previously published (19). DP4_{Cr} was evaluated using a modified 4.25% PET, and the level was calculated using the creatinine level of the drained dialysate 4 h after injection per the blood creatinine level.

Assessment of Nutritional Markers

Body composition measurements were evaluated using bioimpedance analysis (BIA) and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Briefly, the peritoneal dialysate was drained from the abdomen prior to measurement. Each patient was clothed with a light gown, and the bladder was emptied prior to procedures. BIA measurements were performed after a 5-min rest in the erect position. Eight electrodes were placed, two for each foot and two for each hand, with the patient in the erect position. The extracellular and total body water was calculated using regression equation from segmental bioimpedances. The edema index was defined as extracellular water/total body water. DXA (Hologic, Madison, WI, USA) was measured with the patient in the supine position immediately after BIA measurements. The appendicular lean mass (ALM) was calculated using sum of lean masses of both extremities. The index values were defined as the value per squares of height in meters.

The HGS (kg) was measured in all patients after each of three trials with the dominant hand using a digital dynamometer (Takei 5401; Takei Scientific Instruments Co., Ltd, Niigata, Japan). The maximum strength measured over the three trials was recorded. Sarcopenia was defined using cut-off values from the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia (20). Patients with a low muscle mass (ALM index <7.0 kg/m² for males and <5.4 kg/m² for females using DXA) and low HGS (<26 kg for males and <18 kg for females) were classified as having sarcopenia.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 25 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Categorical variables were expressed as counts (percentages) and were compared using the chi-square test. The distribution of continuous variables was evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables were expressed as means \pm standard deviations for those with normal distribution and medians (interquartile ranges) for those with non-normal distribution (on descriptive univariate analyses). Continuous variables for multivariate analyses were expressed as means \pm standard errors (on multivariate analyses). For continuous variables, means were compared using the oneway analysis of variance or Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by a Bonferroni post-hoc comparison, and analysis of covariance for multivariate analysis. The correlation between two continuous variables was assessed using Pearson's correlation analysis. Linear regression analysis was performed to assess the independent predictors of nutritional indices. Logistic regression analysis was performed to evaluate the independent predictor of sarcopenia. Multivariate analysis was adjusted for age, sex, the presence of DM, dialysis modality, DP4_{Cr}, urine volume, edema index, and

serum albumin. The level of statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

The median PPL (interquartile range, interval) in the low, middle, and high tertiles were 4,229 (904, 1,706-5,111), 6,160 (760, 5,118-7,119), and 8,543 (2,284, 7,145-24,406) mg/day, respectively. The mean age in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 54.5 ± 12.7 , 55.9 \pm 12.0, and 56.3 \pm 12.1 years, respectively (Table 1). The proportion of patients with DM or who underwent continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD) was greater in the high tertile group than in the others. DP4_{Cr} and edema index were greater in the high tertile group compared to others. Serum albumin level in the high tertile group was lower than that in the low tertile group. The prevalence of DM as the underlying etiology of end-stage renal disease was highest in the high tertile group among the three tertile groups. For the cohort without DM, no significant difference was observed in the cause of end-stage renal disease among the three tertile groups (P = 0.094). Differences were observed in the urine volume and ultrafiltration volume among three tertile groups; by contrast, no difference was observed in the total volume of water removed among three tertile groups. We observed no significant differences in proportions of sex or age, dialysis vintage, BMI, weekly Kt/Vurea, CRP, proteinuria, calcium, phosphorus, sodium, potassium or nPNA levels among the tertiles.

Association Between PPL and ALM Index or HGS

HGS in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 23.4 ± 9.2 , 23.8 \pm 8.9, and 23.6 \pm 8.3 kg, respectively (P = 0.967). The ALM index in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 6.0 \pm 1.3, 6.0 \pm 1.2, and 6.5 \pm 1.1 kg/m², respectively (P = 0.061). Multivariate analysis showed that the HGS values in the low, middle, and high tertile groups were 22.7 \pm 0.8, 23.8 \pm 0.7, and 24.2 \pm $0.8 \,\mathrm{kg}$, respectively (P = 0.384), while the ALM index values were 6.1 \pm 0.1, 6.1 \pm 0.1, and 6.4 \pm 0.1 kg/m², respectively (*P* = 0.146). The proportions of patients with low muscle mass in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 43 (65.2%), 45 (67.2%), and 34 (51.5%), respectively (P = 0.132). The proportions of patients with low HGS in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 31 (47.0%), 28 (41.8%), and 36 (54.5%), respectively (*P* = 0.334). The proportions of patients with sarcopenia in the low, middle, and high tertiles was 24 (36.4%), 19 (28.4%), and 21 (31.8%), respectively (P = 0.612). Logistic regression analysis showed that the odds ratios for sarcopenia with an increasing tertile were 0.90 (95% CI, 0.63–1.30; *P* = 0.576) in the univariate analysis and 0.70 (95% CI, 0.44–1.11; P = 0.126) in the multivariate analysis.

Linear regression analysis showed that PPL was not associated with HGS or ALM index (standardized $\beta \pm$ standard error and *P*-value was -0.032 ± 0.000 and 0.650 for HGS and 0.020 ± 0.000 and 0.781 for ALM index). Multivariate linear regression analysis showed that the standardized $\beta \pm$ standard errors of PPL were 0.117 \pm 1.060 for HGS (P = 0.185) and 0.089 \pm 0.192 for ALM index (P = 0.441), respectively. Correlation coefficients with PPL

were -0.032 for HGS, 0.020 for ALM index, 0.157 for nPNA, -0.343 for serum albumin, 0.276 for edema index, and 0.220 for DP4_{Cr} (*P*-values were 0.650 for HGS, 0.781 for ALM index, 0.030 for nPNA, <0.001 for serum albumin, <0.001 for edema index, and 0.002 for DP4_{Cr}). Subgroup analyses for age, sex, DM, or dialysis modality showed similar trends as those from total patients (**Table 2**).

DISCUSSION

In our study, we evaluated the association between PPL and HGS or ALM index as two key indicators for sarcopenia. First, we evaluated differences in HGS and ALM index according to tertiles of PPL. Univariate analyses did not reveal significant differences among tertiles. Second, PPL was not associated with HGS and ALM index on correlation and linear regression analyses. Third, subgroup analyses did not reveal any association as well. In our study, there were significant differences in prevalence of DM, dialysis modality, DP4_{Cr}, edema index, serum albumin, or urine volume among the three tertile groups. These factors may influence sarcopenia associated factors. However, multivariate analysis is useful to adjust for covariates associated with the outcome measures and predict the independent effect of specific variables. Similar results were obtained from those using multivariate analyses.

Our study showed that, in the aspect of sarcopenia, patients with high PPL were not inferior to those with low PPL, and this finding may be an extension of the middle molecule hypothesis (21). Since the introduction of CAPD as a portable or wearable form of PD by Popovich et al., many investigations regarding solute/water removal during PD have been performed (22). Previous studies identified that hemodialysis (HD), based on markedly different Kt/Vurea between PD and HD, has superior clearance of urea as a small uremic toxin compared with PD, but the prevalence of uremic complications such as neuropathy was lower in PD patients than in HD patients (21, 23). They introduced the middle molecule hypothesis, which explains the favorable removal of middle molecules during PD. Middle molecules, which weigh around 0.5-60 kD, are more effectively removed by convection combined with water removal than diffusion, which is dependent upon the difference in the molecule's concentration, and are removed in a time-dependent manner (24-26). The peritoneal membrane is more porous than the HD membrane, and PD has longer dialysis time (to 24 h of a day and 7 days a week) than intermittent HD. These two factors are associated with favorable removal of middle molecules (25). Various factors, associated with middle molecule removal such as the proportions of large size pore or vascularity within the peritoneal membrane, are associated with PPL among PD patients. The middle molecules are more effectively removed in patients with high PPL than in those with low PPL.

This favorable removal of middle molecules coincided with the removal of large amount of albumin as a nutrient. However, the clinical impact of albumin removal due to PPL differs from that of albumin deficiency as malnutrition. Protein-bound uremic toxins, such as indoxyl sulfate, were not effectively

TABLE 1 | Patients' clinical characteristics.

	Low tertile ($n = 66$)	Middle tertile ($n = 67$)	High tertile ($n = 66$)	P-value
Age (years)	54.5 ± 12.7	55.9 ± 12.0	56.3 ± 12.1	0.686
Sex (men)	33 (50.0%)	36 (53.7%)	44 (66.7%)	0.128
Diabetes mellitus (%)	26 (39.4%)	31 (46.3%)	41(62.1%)	0.028
Underlying disease of ESRD				0.031
Diabetes mellitus	24 (36.4%)	25 (37.3%)	36 (54.5%)	
Hypertension	15 (22.7%)	26 (38.8%)	11 (16.7%)	
Chronic glomerulonephritis	19 (28.8%)	9 (13.4%)	15 (22.7%)	
Others	6 (9.1%)	3 (4.5%)	2 (3.0%)	
Unknown	2 (3.0%)	4 (6.0%)	2 (3.0%)	
Automated peritoneal dialysis	30 (45.5%)	15 (22.4%)	12 (18.2%)	0.001
Dialysis vintage (months)	38 (58)	51 (71)	62 (75)	0.151
Body mass index (kg/m²)	24.3 ± 4.0	24.3 ± 3.2	25.2 ± 4.0	0.381
Weekly Kt/V _{urea}	1.92 ± 0.45	1.96 ± 0.50	1.87 ± 0.43	0.521
C-reactive protein (mg/dL)	0.15 (0.41)	0.16 (0.35)	0.18 (0.55)	0.669
DP4 _{Cr}	0.62 ± 0.14	0.66 ± 0.13	$0.69 \pm 0.12^{*}$	0.006
Urine volume (ml/day)	285 (755)	200 (864)	0 (463)*	0.013
Ultrafiltration volume (ml/day)	781 (784)	950 (618)	1186 (913)*	0.002
Total volume of water removed (ml/day)	1273 (791)	1322 (840)	1412 (778)	0.296
Proteinuria (mg/day)	201 (569)	93 (553)	0 (173)	0.060
Edema index	0.397 ± 0.015	0.398 ± 0.011	$0.405\pm 0.012^{*^{\#}}$	0.001
Serum calcium (mg/dL)	8.4 ± 0.9	8.3 ± 0.9	8.1 ± 1.0	0.302
Serum phosphorus (mg/dL)	4.9 (1.9)	4.9 (2.0)	4.9 (1.9)	0.302
Serum sodium (mEq/L)	140 ± 2	140 ± 4	136 ± 4	0.081
Serum potassium (mEq/L)	4.4 ± 0.7	4.5 ± 0.7	4.7 ± 0.7	0.148
Serum albumin (g/dL)	3.7 ± 0.5	3.6 ± 0.4	$3.4\pm0.5^{*}$	0.001
nPNA (g/kg/day)	0.83 ± 0.20	0.81 ± 0.19	0.87 ± 0.23	0.263

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation for continuous variables with normal distribution or median (interquartile range) for continuous variables with non-normal distribution and as number (percentage) for categorical variables. P-values were tested using one-way analysis of variance for variables with normal distribution or Kruskal-Wallis test for variables with non-normal distribution, followed by a Bonferroni's post-hoc comparison for continuous variables and Pearson's χ^2 or Fisher's exact tests for categorical variables. ESPD, and stand protein activity of the provide test of the

ESRD, end-stage renal disease; DP4_{Cr}, 4-h dialysate-to-plasma creatinine concentration ratio; nPNA, normalized protein equivalent of total nitrogen appearance. *P < 0.05 compared with low tertile and $^{\#}P$ < 0.05 compared with middle tertile.

removed by conventional dialysis and were associated with accumulation of these toxins, resulting in various complications. In addition, an uremic condition may promote the carbamylation of serum albumin, and the modified albumin can cause harmful effects, such as oxidative stress, erythropoietin resistance, uremic symptoms or mortality (27-31). These findings suggest that compensable albumin loss during dialysis can be associated with favorable outcomes. A previous study showed that patients with high albumin loss during HD had better outcomes than those with low albumin loss (13). This paradoxical association was confirmed based on the results of comparative studies on HD and hemodiafiltration (HDF). A previous study compared the sarcopenia-associated factors between high-volume HDF and high-flux HD, and showed that patients who underwent highvolume HDF exhibited a trend of lower serum albumin level than those who underwent high-flux HD. However, patients who underwent high-volume HDF had higher muscle mass and protein intake than those who underwent high-flux HD (14). These results suggest that if the patient does not have liver disease, significant inflammation status, or severe malnutrition, loss of acceptable amounts of albumin during dialysis may be associated with favorable outcomes via removal of proteinbound uremic toxin or unhealthy albumin. In our study, patients with high PPL had poor urine volume and high proportions of DM, increasing their risk of developing sarcopenia. However, loss of acceptable amounts of albumin may reduce the risk of developing sarcopenia.

PPL positively correlated with DP4_{Cr}. Therefore, in most studies regarding the association between PPL and nutritional status, DP4_{Cr} as an indirect indicator for PPL would be used rather than PPL. Harty et al. evaluated the association of DP4_{Cr} or PPL with serum albumin in 147 PD patients (15). They found that both DP4_{Cr} and PPL were inversely associated with serum albumin level, but the PPL alone was not independently associated with serum albumine kinetics, and no association was observed between DP4_{Cr} and lean mass. Kang et al. evaluated the association between peritoneal permeability using DP4_{Cr} and various nutritional indicators in 147 PD patients (16). They showed that high transporter was associated with low serum

Edema index

DP4_{Cr}

TABLE 2 | Correlation between peritoneal protein loss and various indices by subgroups.

		A	ge			S	ex	
	<65 yea	nrs (n = 153)	≥65 yea	ars (n = 46)	Men (n = 113)	Womer	n (<i>n</i> = 86)
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value
Handgrip strength (kg)	-0.033	0.690	0.022	0.882	-0.148	0.118	0.028	0.796
ALM index (kg/m ²)	0.019	0.820	0.078	0.605	0.003	0.974	0.006	0.960
nPNA (g/kg/day)	0.157	0.057	0.159	0.290	0.093	0.336	0.241	0.027
Serum albumin (g/dL)	-0.353	<0.001	-0.308	0.038	-0.351	< 0.001	-0.339	0.001
Edema index	0.336	<0.001	0.048	0.750	0.216	0.022	0.398	< 0.001
DP4 _{Cr}	0.223	0.006	0.222	0.138	0.317	0.001	0.105	0.337
		C	м			Dialysis	modality	
	Non-Di	M (n = 101)	DM	(n = 98)	CAPD	(n = 142)	APD	(n = 57)
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value
Handgrip strength (kg)	-0.091	0.365	0.027	0.795	-0.067	0.426	0.162	0.228
ALM index (kg/m ²)	-0.065	0.517	0.145	0.156	0.033	0.696	0.064	0.634
nPNA (g/kg/day)	0.287	0.004	0.104	0.314	0.115	0.176	0.253	0.065
Serum albumin (g/dL)	-0.396	<0.001	-0.274	0.006	-0.391	<0.001	-0.183	0.172

Correlation analyses were analyzed using Pearson's correlation.

0.312

0.299

r, correlation coefficient; ALM, appendicular lean mass; nPNA, normalized protein equivalent of total nitrogen appearance; DP4_{Cr}, 4-h dialysate-to-plasma creatinine concentration ratio; DM, diabetes mellitus; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis.

0 1 1 2

0.281

0 222

0.250

0 162

0.110

albumin, insulin-like growth factor-1, and lean mass using creatinine kinetics, but not through bioimpedance. Szeto et al. evaluated nutritional status according to peritoneal transport status using $DP4_{Cr}$ (17). They evaluated changes in lean mass using creatinine kinetics and serum albumin for 2 years, and baseline $DP4_{Cr}$ values were found to be inversely associated with serum albumin, nPNA, and lean mass. However, there was no significant difference in longitudinal changes by peritoneal transport status. Chung et al. evaluated albumin, nPNA, lean mass using creatinine kinetics according peritoneal transport status using DP4Cr and showed inverse association between peritoneal transport status and nutritional index (18).

0.002

0.002

We divided our patients into three tertiles according to PPL regarding previous two studies and evaluated HGS and ALM index using DXA as the final outcome of malnutrition in dialysis patients (10, 12). Both, PPL tertile as a categorical variable and PPL as a continuous variable were not associated with ALM index. Laboratory markers such as serum albumin or creatinine were well-known nutrition indices, but these can be largely influenced by non-nutritional status such as volume overload or inflammation. Our study also showed an inverse correlation between edema index and serum albumin (r = -0.499, P <0.001), and PPL also inversely correlated with serum albumin through increase in edema index (r = -0.343, P < 0.001). Muscle mass is useful to reflect the chronic change of malnutrition as it can help exclude acute changes caused by volume or inflammation. We evaluated lean mass using DXA, which is considered as the reference method for predicting muscle mass (32). DXA is also influenced by hydration status. However, in our study, mean edema index was 0.397 for the low tertile group and 0.405 for high tertile group, and the difference in mean edema index between the low and high tertiles was approximately 2%. The effect of lean mass overestimation by volume may be attenuated by small differences in edema index. The correlation between edema index and ALM index was not significant (r = -0.048, P = 0.499). These reveal that the effect of volume was less in the ALM index than in laboratory markers.

0.008

0.003

0.374

0.227

0.004

0.089

Decrease in muscle strength can develop earlier than decrease in muscle mass (33). In addition, muscle strength measurements may be the accurate method for predicting muscle mass rather than directly measuring muscle mass in patients who are influenced by volume status. Our study evaluated HGS as a volume-independent method, and there was no significant difference among PPL tertiles. Finally, sarcopenia as a merged category using muscle mass and strength was not associated with PPL. Subgroup analyses using age, sex, the presence of DM, or dialysis modality showed similar trends. However, nPNA and serum albumin were associated with PPL. In our study, nPNA positively correlated with PPL, probably caused by increase in protein catabolism through high PPL. In addition, serum albumin was inversely correlated with PPL associated with hypervolemia in patients with high PPL. This reveals that laboratory markers such as nPNA or serum albumin were associated with PPL via non-nutritional status such as volume, but PPL is not associated with muscle mass or strength as a long-term marker of malnutrition. These results coincide with

previous opinions showing that PPL can be compensated by adequate dietary intake (34). All patients in our study were followed up in the outpatient department and were relatively stable, leading to a conclusion of non-association between PPL and sarcopenic indicators.

In our study, the high tertile group had higher prevalence of DM and proportion of CAPD than the other tertile groups. This association may be an interesting issue in PD patients. Fast peritoneal transport is associated with increase in peritoneal vascularity and inflammation or vascular injury (3, 8, 35, 36). PPL is more closely associated with increased numbers of large pores by local inflammation than peritoneal vascularity per se (35). Although a small solute transport does not completely coincide with PPL, the DP4_{Cr} in DM patients is higher than that in non-DM patients and is positively correlated with PPL. These associations may explain the high prevalence of DM in patients with high PPL. No difference was found in PPL according to dialysis modality from previous studies (10, 37, 38). Dialysis modality may not be directly associated with PPL, but the difference in dialysis modality according to PPL may be due to the differences in residual renal function. Over half of the patients in the high tertile group developed anuria. The efficacy of sodium removal during APD is lower than that during CAPD, and patients with low residual renal function have a higher proportion of undergoing CAPD than APD (39, 40). It may be associated with the higher proportion of CAPD in the high tertile group than the other groups.

Our study has inherent limitations. It was a single-center and retrospective cross-sectional study. Therefore, causality between PPL and sarcopenia could not be identified. Second, DXA is commonly used to predict muscle mass, but the effect of volume cannot completely be excluded. Third, our study did not include data on physical performance, which could be more accurate in predicting muscle function than muscle mass or strength. Fourth, our study did not include data on serum or dialysate levels of middle molecules or protein-bound uremic toxins, such as β 2-microglobulin or indoxyl sulfate. In our study, the non-association between PPL and sarcopenic components may be due to theoretical removal of these molecules. Moreover, we were unable to confirm the causal relationships among PPL, uremic toxin removal, and sarcopenic components.

REFERENCES

- The Korean Society of Nephrology. Current Renal Replacement Therapy in Korea. Available online at: http://www.ksn.or.kr/rang_board/list.html?code= sinchart (assessed 9, January, 2021).
- US Renal Data System. USRDS 2018 Annual Data Report: Atlas of Chronic Kidney Disease in the United States, National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD (2018).
- Rippe B. A three-pore model of peritoneal transport. *Perit Dial Int.* (1993) 13 (Suppl. 2):S35–8. doi: 10.1177/089686089301302S09
- Rippe B, Davies S. Permeability of peritoneal and glomerular capillaries: what are the differences according to pore theory? *Perit Dial Int.* (2011) 31:249–58. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2010.00124

The present study showed that PPL is not independently associated with muscle mass, strength, and sarcopenia in PD patients. However, considering the methodological limitations, prospective longitudinal studies, including volume-independent muscle measurements and physical performance, and a large number would be ideal to identify the association between PPL and sarcopenia in PD patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Yeungnam University Medical Center (Approval No: 2021-01-033). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SK: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, and investigation. AK: software and data curation. JD and SK: validation, writing—review and editing. JD: resources, supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. SK and AK: writing—original draft preparation. All authors have read and agreed with the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Medical Research Center Program (2015R1A5A2009124) through the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) funded by the Ministry of Science, ICT, and Future Planning. The funder had no role in the study design; the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; the writing of the report; and the decision to submit the article for publication.

- Blumenkrantz MJ, Gahl GM, Kopple JD, Kamdar AV, Jones MR, Kessel M, et al. Protein losses during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* (1981) 19:593–602. doi: 10.1038/ki.1981.57
- Dulaney JT, Hatch FE Jr. Peritoneal dialysis and loss of proteins: a review. *Kidney Int.* (1984) 26:253–62. doi: 10.1038/ki.1984.167
- Tjiong HL, Zijlstra FJ, Rietveld T, Wattimena JL, Huijmans JG, Swart GR, et al. Peritoneal protein losses and cytokine generation in automated peritoneal dialysis with combined amino acids and glucose solutions. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2007) 2007:97272. doi: 10.1155/2007/97272
- Heaf JG, Sarac S, Afzal S. A high peritoneal large pore fluid flux causes hypoalbuminaemia and is a risk factor for death in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2005) 20:2194–201. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfi008
- 9. Szeto CC, Chow KM, Lam CW, Cheung R, Kwan BC, Chung KY, et al. Peritoneal albumin excretion is a strong predictor of cardiovascular events in

peritoneal dialysis patients: a prospective cohort study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2005) 25:445–52. doi: 10.1177/089686080502500508

- Perl J, Huckvale K, Chellar M, John B, Davies SJ. Peritoneal protein clearance and not peritoneal membrane transport status predicts survival in a contemporary cohort of peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2009) 4:1201–6. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01910309
- Chang TI, Kang EW, Lee YK, Shin SK. Higher peritoneal protein clearance as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in peritoneal dialysis patient. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e56223. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056223
- 12. Rajakaruna G, Caplin B, Davenport A. Peritoneal protein clearance rather than faster transport status determines outcomes in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2015) 35:216–21. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00217
- Nagai K, Tsuchida K, Ishihara N, Minagawa N, Ichien G, Yamada S, et al. Implications of albumin leakage for survival in maintenance hemodialysis patients: a 7-year observational study. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2017) 21:378–86. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987.12526
- Molina P, Vizcaíno B, Molina MD, Beltrán S, González-Moya M, Mora A, et al. The effect of high-volume online haemodiafiltration on nutritional status and body composition: the ProtEin Stores prEservaTion (PESET) study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2018) 33:1223–35. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfx342
- Harty JC, Boulton H, Venning MC, Gokal R. Is peritoneal permeability an adverse risk factor for malnutrition in CAPD patients? *Miner Electrolyte Metab.* (1996) 22:97–101.
- Kang DH, Yoon KI, Choi KB, Lee R, Lee HY, Han DS, et al. Relationship of peritoneal membrane transport characteristics to the nutritional status in CAPD patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (1999) 14:1715– 22. doi: 10.1093/ndt/14.7.1715
- Szeto CC, Law MC, Wong TY, Leung CB, Li PK. Peritoneal transport status correlates with morbidity but not longitudinal change of nutritional status of continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients: a 2-year prospective study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2001) 37:329–36. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.2001. 21298
- Chung SH, Heimbürger O, Stenvinkel P, Wang T, Lindholm B. Influence of peritoneal transport rate, inflammation, and fluid removal on nutritional status and clinical outcome in prevalent peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2003) 23:174–83. doi: 10.1177/089686080302300214
- National Kidney Foundation. KDOQI Clinical practice guidelines for nutrition in chronic renal failure. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2000) 35:S1– 140. Available online at: http://kidneyfoundation.cachefly.net/professionals/ KDOQI/guidelines_nutrition/doqi_nut.html
- Chen LK, Liu LK, Woo J, Assantachai P, Auyeung TW, Bahyah KS, et al. Sarcopenia in Asia: consensus report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2014) 15:95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.11.025
- Babb AL, Ahmad S, Bergström J, Scribner BH. The middle molecule hypothesis in perspective. Am J Kidney Dis. (1981) 1:46–50. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(81)80011-X
- Popovich RP, Moncrief JW, Decherd JE, Bomar JB, Pyle WK. The definition of a novel portable-wearable equilibrium peritoneal dialysis. *Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs*. (1976) 5:64.
- Shinaberger JH, Shear L, Barry KG. Increasing efficiency of peritoneal dialysis: experience with peritoneal-extracorporeal recirculation dialysis. *Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs*. (1965) 11:76–82. doi: 10.1097/00002480-196504000-00015
- Henderson LW. Peritoneal ultrafiltration dialysis: enhanced urea transfer using hypertonic peritoneal dialysis fluid. J Clin Invest. (1966) 45:950–5. doi: 10.1172/JCI105410
- Burkart JM, Bargman JM. Adequacy of peritoenal dialysis, including fluid balance. In: Khanna R, Krediet RT, editors. *Nolph and Gokal's Textbook of Peritoneal Dialysis.* 3rd ed. Missouri: Springer Science (2009). p. 469–503.

- Duranton F, Cohen G, De Smet R, Rodriguez M, Jankowski J, Vanholder R, et al. Normal and pathologic concentrations of uremic toxins. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2012) 23:1258–70. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011121175
- Himmelfarb J, McMonagle E. Albumin is the major plasma protein target of oxidant stress in uremia. *Kidney Int.* (2001) 60:358–63. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00807.x
- 28. Bammens B, Evenepoel P, Verbeke K, Vanrenterghem Y. Removal of middle molecules and protein-bound solutes by peritoneal dialysis and relation with uremic symptoms. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 64:2238–43. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00310.x
- 29. Berg AH, Drechsler C, Wenger J, Buccafusca R, Hod T, Kalim S, et al. Carbamylation of serum albumin as a risk factor for mortality in patients with kidney failure. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:175ra29. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005218
- Kalim S, Tamez H, Wenger J, Ankers E, Trottier CA, Deferio JJ, et al. Carbamylation of serum albumin and erythropoietin resistance in end stage kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 8:1927–34. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04310413
- Velasquez MT, Ramezani A, Raj DS. Urea and protein carbamylation in ESRD: surrogate markers or partners in crime? *Kidney Int.* (2015) 87:1092–4. doi: 10.1038/ki.2015.78
- 32. Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, Fielding RA, Visser M, Engelke K, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*. (2018) 9:269–78. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12268
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Age Ageing*. (2010) 39:412–23. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq034
- Guedes AM. Peritoneal protein loss, leakage or clearance in peritoneal dialysis, where do we stand? *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:201–9. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00138
- Haraldsson B. Assessing the peritoneal dialysis capacities of individual patients. *Kidney Int.* (1995) 47:1187–98. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.169
- Chung SH, Heimbürger O, Lindholm B. Poor outcomes for fast transporters on PD: the rise and fall of a clinical concern. *Semin Dial.* (2008) 21:7–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-139X.2007.00327.x
- Balafa O, Halbesma N, Struijk DG, Dekker FW, Krediet RT. Peritoneal albumin and protein losses do not predict outcome in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:561–6. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05540610
- 38. Yu Z, Lambie M, Chess J, Williams A, Do JY, Topley N, et al. Peritoneal protein clearance is a function of local inflammation and membrane area whereas systemic inflammation and comorbidity predict survival of incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:105. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00105
- Krediet RT, Struijk DG. Sodium content in automated peritoneal dialysis solutions. *Contrib Nephrol.* (1999) 129:162–7. doi: 10.1159/000060016
- Ortega O, Gallar P, Carreño A, Gutierrez M, Rodriguez I, Oliet A, et al. Peritoneal sodium mass removal in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis and automated peritoneal dialysis: influence on blood pressure control. *Am J Nephrol.* (2001) 21:189–93. doi: 10.1159/000046246

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Do, Kim and Kang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio and Treatment Failure in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Peritonitis

Peng He[†], Li-jie He[†], Chen Huang[†], Jin-ping Hu^{*} and Shi-ren Sun^{*}

Department of Nephrology, Xijing Hospital, The Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China

Objective: We sought to explore if there is an association between neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and treatment failure in patients with peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis (PDAP).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thyago Moraes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Ashish Verma, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Ashish K. Solanki, Medical University of South Carolina, United States

*Correspondence:

Jin-ping Hu 523367300@qq.com Shi-ren Sun sunshiren@medmail.com.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 23 April 2021 **Accepted:** 22 June 2021 **Published:** 26 July 2021

Citation:

He P, He L-j, Huang C, Hu J-p and Sun S-r (2021) Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio and Treatment Failure in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Peritonitis. Front. Med. 8:699502. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.699502 **Methods:** Our cohort involved 337 episodes of PDAP experienced by 202 patients who were undergoing continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis at a single center from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2018. The exposures were log-transformed NLR and a categorical variable grouped by the tertiles of NLR levels (T1, <3.75; T2, 3.75–6.53; and T3, >6.53) at baseline. Generalized estimating equation (GEE) and restricted cubic spline (RCS) analyses were done to determine the association between NLR and treatment failure, defined as catheter removal or all-cause mortality during therapy.

Results: After adjusting for other potential predictors, the log-transformed NLR exhibited an incremental relationship with the risk of treatment failure (odds ratio, 1.82; 95% confidence interval, 1.05–3.15). RCS analyses showed that the relationship was positively and linearly correlated (*P* for nonlinearity = 0.104). As a three-level categorical variable, in reference to T1, the T3 of NLR showed a 3.41-fold increased venture of treatment failure in fully adjusted model. Subgroup analyses suggested that the prognostic relevance of NLR in PDAP was particularly significant in gram-negative peritonitis.

Conclusions: A greater level of NLR at baseline was remarkably associated with a higher incidence of treatment failure among PDAP episodes regardless of other potential risk factors.

Keywords: neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis, peritoneal dialysis, treatment failure, catheter removal

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis (PDAP), as one of the most common and severe complications, remains a crucial reason for technical failure among PD patients, responsible for about 22% catheter removal, 18% transfer to hemodialysis (HD), and 2–6% mortality (1, 2). Specifically, persistent peritonitis, an inadequate response to treatment, and the inflammatory state inherent in PD patients may result in extension of hospitalization time, increase of hospitalization expense, and impairment of peritoneal structure and function (3–6). The International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis (ISPD) recommends that the PD catheter should be removed promptly

16

in refractory/relapsing/recurrent/repeat peritonitis episodes, defined as failure of the PD effluent to clear up after 5 days of appropriate antibiotics, and only a small percentage of patients can restart PD therapy (7). Despite the guidelines for PDAP, there are still quite puzzling differences in the treatment outcomes of peritonitis in many centers and countries. In view of the poor outcomes, early warning and decision-making are needed in clinical practice. Furthermore, existing studies have highlighted the forecasting value of novel biomarkers for adverse outcomes of peritonitis (8–10).

Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is obtained simply by dividing the absolute neutrophil count by the absolute lymphocyte count in peripheral blood. Recently, NLR has been reported to be associated with inflammation in end-stage renal disease (ESRD) including both HD and PD patients, and to estimate survival in these patients (11–15). However, to date, there has been little evidence to show a relationship between NLR and adverse outcomes in patients with PDAP, and the prognostic impact of NLR in this population remains unclear. Therefore, in the current study, we sought to investigate the association between increased NLR and treatment failure in patients with PDAP.

METHODS

Episodes

This single-center, retrospective observational study was conducted at the PD center of Xijing Hospital, Xi'an, China. Data regarding all episodes of PDAP from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2018 were collected by reviewing case records. All patients received continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) using lactate-buffered glucose dialysis solution through Tenckhoff PD catheters with a twin-bag connection system. Our research was done in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Relevant information was processed anonymously, and personal identifiers were completely wiped off. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital (no. KY20163154-1).

Peritonitis was diagnosed independently by two physicians according to the 2016 ISPD guidelines if at least two of the following items were met: (1) abdominal pain and/or cloudy dialysate effluent; (2) dialysate white blood cell counts (WBCs) >100/ μ l (after a dwell time of at least 2 h), with polymorphonuclear of >50%; and (3) positive dialysate effluent culture (7). The exclusion criteria included episodes of (1) fungal, (2) polymicrobial, and (3) mycobacterial peritonitis and (4) episodes without bacterial cultures or missing data.

Clinical Data, Definitions, and Outcomes

In our PD center, when PDAP was suspected, 10 ml dialysate effluent (intraperitoneal retention time of at least 4 h) was collected under strict aseptic operation for routine examination. Five to 10 ml dialysate effluent was injected into two (aerobic and anaerobic) blood culture bottles for microbiology and antibiotic susceptibility tests. After three consecutive samples were collected, empirical antimicrobial treatment was initiated, including first-generation cephalosporin or

vancomycin combined with third-generation cephalosporin or aminoglycoside. Meanwhile, information regarding signs, symptoms, and antibiotic dose were recorded daily. The medication regimen was modified according to the culture results and antibiotic susceptibility. Catheter removal was performed in patients with refractory peritonitis (failure of the dialysate effluent to clear up after 5 days of appropriate antibiotic treatment), refractory exit-site or severe tunnel infection, or deterioration of the clinical condition as judged by the physician.

Routine blood test was done using an automatic hematology analyzer (XN-9000, Sysmex, Kobe, Japan) prior to antibiotic therapy. NLR was calculated as the ratio of neutrophils to lymphocytes. Other clinical characteristics included age, gender, PD duration, comorbidities, residual urine volume, bacterial culture result, red blood cell counts (RBCs), WBCs, platelet, hemoglobin, serum albumin, serum creatinine, serum uric acid, serum cholesterol, serum potassium, serum phosphorus, serum ferritin, and dialysate WBCs on day 3 after initiating antibiotic therapy. The baseline laboratory data were obtained within 1 week prior to antibiotic treatment.

The primary endpoint was treatment failure, defined as catheter removal (including a temporary or permanent switch to HD) or all-cause mortality.

Statistical Analyses

Normally distributed data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), while skewed data were expressed as median with interquartile range (IQR). Categorical variables were presented as numbers (n) with percentage (%). Comparisons of NLR values between various outcomes were done by Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. The eligible episodes were categorized by tertiles (T1, T2, and T3) of NLR. As a continuous variable, NLR was log-transformed due to the positively skewed distribution. Generalized estimation equation (GEE) analyses, which accounted for multiple peritonitis episodes in the same patient, were done to evaluate the covariate-adjusted relationship between NLR levels and the risk of treatment failure events. The results were reported as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). The variables with a bilateral P value of < 0.25in univariable models were regarded as potential predictors of treatment failure and adjusted in multivariable models. For determination of the association of NLR levels with the adverse outcome, restricted cubic spline (RCS) was used to model the level of NLR after multivariable adjustment.

Sensitivity analysis was performed on the basis of the endpoint of catheter removal. Preplanned subgroup analyses were done by age (>60 vs. \leq 60 years), gender, PD duration (>12 vs. \leq 12 months), serum albumin (>25 vs. \leq 25 g/l), and infection type. *P* < 0.05 (two-sided) were considered statistically significant. All data were analyzed using the statistical software Stata Edition 15.0 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA).

RESULTS

Episodes and Outcomes

During the period of our study, the initial cohort involved 365 episodes of PDAP. Twenty-eight episodes were excluded due to

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of peritonitis episodes by NLR groups.

Characteristic	Overall		NLR	
		T1 (<3.75)	T2 (3.75–6.53)	T3 (>6.53)
Episode No.	337	113	112	112
Age, years	45 (21)	43 (20)	42 (23.5)	48 (18)
Male, n (%)	198 (58.8)	73 (64.6)	64 (57.1)	61 (54.5)
Hypertension, n (%)	309 (91.7)	103 (91.2)	101 (90.2)	105 (93.8)
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	35 (10.4)	9 (8.0)	11 (9.8)	15 (13.4)
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	105 (31.2)	31 (27.4)	34 (30.4)	40 (35.7)
Duration on peritoneal dialysis, months	16 (25)	14 (24)	14 (22.5)	22.5 (26)
Residual urine volume, ml/24 h	300 (900)	500 (900)	300 (1,000)	200 (500)
Red blood cell, 10 ¹² /l	3.19 ± 0.72	3.24 ± 0.76	3.12 ± 0.65	3.21 ± 0.75
White blood cell, 10 ⁹ /l	6.04 (3.78)	4.63 (2.24)	6.08 (3.77)	7.90 (4.97)
Platelet, 10 ⁹ /l	204 (114)	196 (94)	204.5 (102)	219.5 (161.5)
Hemoglobin, g/l	94.58 ± 20.22	96.09 ± 20.59	94.18 ± 18.90	93.45 ± 21.18
Serum albumin, g/l	28.28 ± 6.89	29.65 ± 6.14	28.93 ± 6.82	26.18 ± 7.25
Serum creatinine, μ mol/l	708 (326)	706 (293)	736.5 (293)	718.5 (409)
Serum uric acid, µmol/l	320 (112)	316 (99)	316.5 (119.5)	321 (131.5)
Serum cholesterol, mmol/l	3.74 (1.34)	3.81 (1.26)	3.74 (1.26)	3.71 (1.33)
Serum ferritin, µg/l	353 (416)	271 (400.1)	378.5 (409)	506.5 (425)
Serum potassium, mmol/l	3.78 (1.08)	3.87 (1.05)	3.65 (1.02)	3.61 (1.11)
Serum phosphorus, mmol/l	1.30 (0.57)	1.40 (0.48)	1.30 (0.52)	1.22 (0.65)
Dialysate white blood cell on day 3, 10 ⁶ /l	153 (436)	161 (456)	149 (295.5)	162 (736.5)
Infection type, n (%)				
Gram-positive peritonitis	202 (59.9)	73 (64.6)	62 (55.4)	67 (59.8)
Gram-negative peritonitis	61 (18.1)	19 (16.8)	18 (16.1)	24 (21.4)
Culture-negative peritonitis	74 (22.0)	21 (18.6)	32 (28.6)	21 (18.8)
Treatment failure during episode, n (%)	46 (13.6)	6 (5.3)	14 (12.5)	26 (23.2)
Catheter removal during episode, n (%)	39 (11.6)	4 (3.5)	14 (12.5)	21 (18.8)
Death during episode, n (%)	7 (2.1)	2 (1.8)	O (O)	5 (4.5)

Episodes of peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis were grouped by tertiles (T1–3) of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio. NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio.



FIGURE 1 Violin plots for neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) levels in peritonitis episodes grouped by treatment failure and catheter removal. (A) Episodes with treatment failure had significantly higher NLR levels than those with treatment success (P = 0.002). (B) Episodes with catheter removal had significantly higher NLR levels than those with treatment success (P = 0.002). (B) Episodes with catheter removal had significantly higher NLR levels than those with treatment success (P = 0.002).

	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval); P value			
	Crude	Model A	Model B	Model C
Log-transformed NLR (per 1 unit increase) NLR tertiles	2.37 (1.56–3.61);<0.001	2.15 (1.39–3.32);0.001	1.80 (1.06–3.08);0.031	1.82 (1.05–3.15);0.033
T1	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
T2	2.55 (0.93–6.99);0.070	2.56 (0.93–7.00);0.068	2.49 (0.90-6.95);0.082	2.37 (0.85–6.57);0.098
ТЗ	5.39 (2.13–13.67);<0.001	4.72 (1.80–12.38);0.002	3.41 (1.15–10.10);0.027	3.41 (1.12–10.38);0.030
P value for trend	<0.001	0.001	0.022	0.026

Treatment failure was defined as catheter removal (including a temporary or permanent switch to hemodialysis) or death for any cause. Model A was adjusted for age and PD duration. Model B was adjusted for covariates in model A plus baseline WBCs, baseline serum albumin, baseline serum ferritin, and dialysate WBCs on day 3. Model C was adjusted for covariates in model B plus infection type. Infection type was expressed as a classified variable. Test for trend was done by treated NLR tertiles as an ordinal variable.

GEE, generalized estimation equation; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PD, peritoneal dialysis; WBCs, white blood cell counts.

the following reasons: 12 episodes were polymicrobial peritonitis, 10 were fungal peritonitis, and 6 were with missing data. In the end, 337 episodes experienced by 202 patients were eligible for statistical analyses. The median (IQR) age was 45 (21) years, and 198 (58.5%) were male. The median (IQR) duration of PD was 16 (25) months. Forty-six (13.6%) episodes, including 39 (11.6%) catheter removal and 7 (2.1%) deaths, were identified with treatment failure.

The median (IQR) NLR was 4.86 (4.61). Table 1 summarizes the clinical characteristics of all the eligible episodes grouped by the tertiles of NLR (T1, <3.75; T2, 3.75-6.53; and T3, >6.53). Among them, 113, 112, and 112 episodes occurred in T1, T2, and T3, respectively. The corresponding numbers of episodes with treatment failure were 6 (5.3%), 14 (12.5%), and 30 (23.2%), respectively. As for the endpoint of catheter removal, the corresponding numbers were 4 (3.5%), 14 (12.5%), and 21 (18.8%), respectively. The NLR levels were higher in episodes with treatment failure than those with treatment success (P =0.002). Similarly, the NLR levels were higher in episodes with catheter removal than those with catheter survival (P = 0.002, Figures 1A,B).

Association Between NLR and Treatment Failure

As shown in Table 2, we used GEE methods to assess the association between NLR and treatment failure events. After adjusting for age (OR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.99–1.04; P = 0.205), PD duration (OR, 1.02; 95% CI, 1.00–1.03; P = 0.017), baseline WBCs (OR, 1.11; 95% CI, 1.02–1.21; *P* = 0.020), baseline serum albumin (OR, 0.95; 95% CI, 0.90–1.00; *P* = 0.037), baseline serum ferritin (OR, 1.04; 95% CI, 0.99–1.09; *P* = 0.081), dialysate WBCs on day 3 (OR, 1.03; 95% CI, 1.01–1.05; *P* = 0.002), and infection type [ORs of 1.80 (95% CI, 0.82–3.95; P = 0.142) and 1.74 (95% CI, 0.87–3.50; P = 0.142), respectively, for gram-negative and culture-negative peritonitis] (Supplemental Table 1), higher levels of NLR were independently associated with greater risks of treatment failure events with an adjusted OR value of 1.82 (95% CI, 1.05 to 3.15; P = 0.033) per natural log-transformed NLR. As a three-level categorical variable, in reference to the first tertile of NLR (T1), the risks of treatment failure events were higher, that

the adjusted OR values were 2.37 (95% CI, 0.85 to 6.57; P = 0.098) for the second tertile (T2) and 3.41 (95% CI, 1.12-10.38; P =0.030) for the third tertile (T3), respectively (*P* for trend = 0.026).

To display the relationship between NLR levels and treatment failure in episodes of peritonitis, we modeled natural logtransformed NLR level as a continuous variable using RCS method with knots at the 25th, 50th, 75th, and 95th percentiles. After adjusting for other confounders, we found a linear association between the ln(NLR) levels and the risk of treatment failure events (*P* for non-linearity = 0.104). The risk of treatment failure events was greater with higher ln(NLR) levels (Figure 2A).

Sensitivity Analyses

In sensitivity analyses, we recalculated the corresponding effect sizes, which excluded the effect of death and restricted the consequence to the catheter removal events. As shown in Table 3, after multivariable adjustment, NLR was a risk factor of catheter removal events with an OR value of 2.05 (95% CI, 1.14-3.69; P = 0.016) per natural log-transformed NLR. Compared with the first tertile (T1), the second (T2) and third tertiles (T3) of NLR substantially increased the risk of catheter removal events regardless of other confounders. The corresponding adjusted OR values were 3.96 (95% CI, 1.26–12.40; P = 0.018) and 5.85 (95% CI, 1.64–20.82; P = 0.006), respectively (P for trend = 0.004). However, in the RCS analysis, we observed a non-linear correlation of the ln(NLR) levels with the risk of treatment failure events (*P* for nonlinearity = 0.016, Figure 2B).

Subgroup Analyses

In subgroup analyses (Table 4), the association between NLR levels and risk of treatment failure events was not significantly modified by age (>60 vs. \leq 60 years; P for interaction = 0.843), gender (male vs. female; P for interaction = 0.253), PD duration (>12 vs. \leq 12 months; *P* for interaction = 0.496), and serum albumin (>25 vs. \leq 25 g/l; *P* for interaction = 0.961). However, this prognostic relevance was remarkably affected by the infection type (P for interaction = 0.047). Among episodes of gram-negative peritonitis, a higher NLR level substantially increased the incidence of treatment failure events (adjusted OR, 4.47; 95% CI, 1.34-14.97). Nevertheless, among episodes of nongram-negative peritonitis, the association between NLR



FIGURE 2 | log-transformed NLR. The reference value (the gray lines) was set at the median. The solid black line indicates the trend of estimated odds ratios, the shaded area indicates the 95% confidence intervals, and the histogram represents the distribution of In(NLR). The odds ratios of In(NLR) in multivariable generalized estimation equation models were adjusted for age, duration on peritoneal dialysis, WBCs (white blood cell counts), serum albumin, serum ferritin, dialysate WBCs on day 3, and infection type (gram-positive, gram-negative, or culture-negative peritonitis).

TABLE 3 | The association between NLR and catheter removal in GEE models.

	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval); P value			
	Crude	Model A	Model B	Model C
Log-transformed NLR (per 1 unit increase) NLR tertiles	2.16 (1.45–3.21);<0.001	1.96 (1.29–2.99);0.002	2.04 (1.15–3.60);0.014	2.05 (1.14–3.69);0.016
T1	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)
Т2	3.82 (1.21–12.04);0.022	3.89 (1.26–12.05);0.018	4.18 (1.32–13.25);0.015	3.96 (1.26–12.40);0.018
ТЗ	6.53 (2.19–19.50);0.001	5.82 (1.87–18.11);0.002	5.88 (1.69–20.49);0.005	5.85 (1.64–20.82);0.006
P value for trend	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.004

Catheter removal was defined as a temporary or permanent switch to hemodialysis. Model A was adjusted for age and duration on PD. Model B was adjusted for covariates in model A plus baseline WBCs, baseline serum albumin, baseline serum ferritin, and dialysate WBCs on day 3. Model C was adjusted for covariates in model B plus infection type. Infection type was expressed as a classified variable. Test for trend was done by treated NLR tertiles as an ordinal variable.

GEE, generalized estimation equation; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PD, peritoneal dialysis; WBCs, white blood cell counts.

Subgroup	Episode no./patient no.	Odds ratio (95%	confidence interval)	P value for interaction
		Crude	Adjusted	
Total	337/202	2.37 (1.56–3.61)	1.82 (1.05–3.15)	
Age				0.843
>60 years	45/33	1.78 (0.67–4.73)	1.92 (0.36–10.23)	
≤60 years	292/169	2.50 (1.59–3.94)	1.85 (1.01–3.39)	
Gender				0.253
Male	198/120	2.28 (1.39–3.75)	1.88 (0.89–3.96)	
Female	139/82	2.63 (1.19–5.84)	2.02 (0.43-9.45)	
PD duration				0.496
>12 months	202/132	2.14 (1.27–3.59)	1.40 (0.67–2.91)	
≤12 months	135/99	2.47 (1.24-4.95)	3.92 (1.40–10.98)	
Serum albumin				0.961
>25 g/l	224/152	2.17 (1.32–3.57)	2.05 (0.99-4.24)	
≤25 g/l	113/83	2.50 (1.10–5.67)	3.34 (1.00–11.17)	
Infection type				0.047
Gram-positive peritonitis	202/133	1.70 (1.01–2.84)	1.76 (0.81–3.80)	
Gram-negative peritonitis	61/54	3.94 (1.82–8.57)	4.47 (1.34–14.97)	
Culture-negative peritonitis	74/62	3.45 (1.11–10.77)	3.84 (0.65-22.84)	

GEE, generalized estimation equation; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

levels and treatment failure events did not appear to be significant [adjusted OR values of 1.76 (95% CI, 0.81–3.80) and 3.84 (95% CI, 0.65–22.84), respectively, for gram-positive and culture-negative groups].

DISCUSSION

The results of our study indicated that elevated NLR was a significant predictor of treatment failure events in episodes of

single-bacteria PDAP, independent of other potential factors. Inflammatory status is highly common and related to adverse clinical outcomes including cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality especially in patients who suffered ESRD or chronic dialysis (16–20). Inflammation under peritoneal dialysis was attributed to a few possible underlying reasons including the uremic microenvironment, infections, reduced clearance of proinflammatory cytokines, volume overload, oxidative stress, and some dialysis-associated factors (21–24). Inflammation can also interact with malnutrition and lead to the wastage and disorders in protein-energy nutritional status, resulting in the excessively high mortality in the dialysis population (22, 23). C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) are among representative inflammatory markers; however, the detection of these markers in body fluids over time is an expensive task in current clinical practice. Finding an accessible and affordable inflammatory marker still seems a far way off from striking it.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate the association between NLR levels and adverse outcomes among patients with PDAP. NLR, an easily obtained parameter computed from complete blood count, is closely associated with inflammation and was originally treated as an oncologic prognostic indicator (25, 26). Afterwards, greater NLR levels have been linked to more severe inflammatory status and worse outcomes among patients with various disease conditions including cardiovascular disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, liver cirrhosis, and even CKD (27-32). Recently, a few studies of dialysis patients suggested that NLR had moderate correlations with direct inflammatory markers such as CRP, IL-6, and TNF- α and that higher NLR levels were associated with greater mortality (12, 14, 15, 28). In this study, we displayed the relationship between NLR levels and treatment failure in episodes of PDAP using the RCS method. After adjusting for other confounders, we found a linear and positive association between the values of natural log-transformed (NLR) and the risk of treatment failure events (P for nonlinearity = 0.104). The underlying mechanisms of these findings have not been clearly elucidated, but the disclosure of the action pathways about inflammation may provide us with clues to explore what may provoke treatment failure events.

Another key finding from our study was that the relationship of NLR levels with risk of treatment failure events was significantly modified by infection type. Multiple studies have suggested the difference between gram-positive and gram-negative peritonitis in prognosis (33-35). A study from India suggested that catheter loss and hospital admission were significantly higher in gram-negative peritonitis than in grampositive peritonitis (40.4 vs. 19.6%, P < 0.001; 62.9 vs. 41.2%, P = 0.004; respectively). However, mortality within 4 weeks was not statistically significant (21.3 vs. 9.8%) (36). The outcomes of single-organism peritonitis (gram-negative vs. gram-positive peritonitis) in PD in the Network 9 showed non-pseudomonal gram-negative peritonitis was associated with significantly more frequent catheter loss, hospitalization, and technique failure (37). Another study from Taiwan showed that, compared with grampositive peritonitis, Escherichia coli peritonitis was associated with an increased risk of catheter removal even in younger female patients with PD (34). The overall incidence of treatment failure, catheter removal, and in-hospital mortality of E. coli peritonitis was 43, 38, and 9%, respectively. This means that, as an indicator of the inflammatory and nutritional status, NLR is more likely to play a predictive role in patients with gram-negative peritonitis. Meanwhile, this finding also underscores that more attention is needed to be paid in the management and prognostic assessment of gram-negative peritonitis. Additional research is warranted to control the persistent inflammatory state in gram-negative bacterial peritonitis and to improve the treatment outcomes of these patients.

Our research inevitably has several limitations: (1) due to the observational nature of the design, we can neither prove causality between NLR levels and risk of treatment failure events nor exclude the possibility of residual confounding; (2) the statistical analyses were based on a single measurement of laboratory parameters that may not reflect the association over time; (3) there are currently no established reference ranges for NLR values in the dialysis population. Our data showed a linear association between higher NLR and greater risk of treatment failure events in episodes of PDAP without clear thresholds indicating its rational ranges; (4) only the most common singlebacteria peritonitis were analyzed, and polymicrobial and special bacteria were not involved.

In general, our study suggested that increased NLR was independently associated with higher risks of treatment failure and catheter removal in episodes of PDAP. NLR, which is a convenient and inexpensive parameter, may be a novel marker of adverse outcomes among patients with peritonitis. Further research is needed to clarify the mechanism underlying the relationship of NLR with treatment failure and catheter removal and to identify effective anti-inflammatory treatments to prevent treatment failure events in patients with PDAP.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This retrospective study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital and performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and waived the need for informed consent because of the retrospective study design.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PH, JH, SS, CH, and LH designed the study, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. PH and JH collected and entered data. SS, CH, and LH contributed to the data acquisition and interpretation. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 31970857 and 81770764).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.699502/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Szeto CC, Li PK. Peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2019) 14:1100–5. doi: 10.2215/CJN.146 31218
- Mehrotra R, Devuyst O, Davies SJ, Johnson DW. The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2016) 27:3238–52. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016010112
- Szeto CC, Wong TY, Chow KM, Leung CB, Li PK. Are peritoneal dialysis patients with and without residual renal function equivalent for survival study? Insight from a retrospective review of the cause of death. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (2003) 18:977–82. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gf g027
- Boudville N, Kemp A, Clayton P, Lim W, Badve SV, Hawley CM, et al. Recent peritonitis associates with mortality among patients treated with peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2012) 23:1398–405. doi: 10.1681/ASN.20111 21135
- Johnson DW, Cho Y, Livingston BE, Hawley CM, McDonald SP, Brown FG, et al. Encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis: incidence, predictors, and outcomes. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 77:904–12. doi: 10.1038/ki.2 010.16
- Brown, MC, Simpson, K, Kerssens, JJ, Mactier, RA. Encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis in the new millennium: a national cohort study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2009) 4:1222–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.012 60209
- Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, de Arteaga J, Fan S, Figueiredo AE, et al. ISPD Peritonitis recommendations: 2016 update on prevention and treatment. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:481–508. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016. 00078
- See EJ, Johnson DW, Hawley CM, Pascoe EM, Badve SV, Boudville N, et al. Risk predictors and causes of technique failure within the first year of peritoneal dialysis: an Australia and New Zealand dialysis and transplant registry (ANZDATA) study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2018) 72:188–97. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2017.10.019
- Szeto CC, Lai KB, Chow KM, Kwan BC, Law MC, Pang WF, et al. Dialysate bacterial endotoxin as a prognostic indicator of peritoneal dialysis related peritonitis. *Nephrology*. (2016) 21:1069–72. doi: 10.1111/nep. 12828
- Chow KM, Szeto CC, Cheung KK, Leung CB, Wong SS, Law MC, et al. Predictive value of dialysate cell counts in peritonitis complicating peritoneal dialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 1:768–73. doi: 10.2215/CJN.010 10306
- Li P, Xia C, Liu P, Peng Z, Huang H, Wu J, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio in evaluation of inflammation in nondialysis patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD). *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:511. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-02174-0
- Yuan Q, Wang J, Peng Z, Zhou Q, Xiao X, Xie Y, et al. Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio and incident end-stage renal disease in Chinese patients with chronic kidney disease: results from the Chinese Cohort Study of Chronic Kidney Disease (C-STRIDE). J Transl Med. (2019) 17:86. doi: 10.1186/s12967-019-1808-4
- Catabay C, Obi Y, Streja E, Soohoo M, Park C, Rhee CM, et al. Lymphocyte cell ratios and mortality among incident hemodialysis patients. Am J Nephrol. (2017) 46:408–16. doi: 10.1159/0004 84177
- Ahbap E, Sakaci T, Kara E, Sahutoglu T, Koc Y, Basturk T, et al. Neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio in evaluation of inflammation in end-stage renal disease. *Clin Nephrol.* (2016) 85:199–208. doi: 10.5414/CN108584
- Okyay GU, Inal S, Onec K, Er RE, Pasaoglu O, Pasaoglu H, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in evaluation of inflammation in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Ren Fail.* (2013) 35:29–36. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2012.7 34429
- Yeun JY, Levine RA, Mantadilok V, Kaysen GA. C-reactive protein predicts all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2000) 35:469–76. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(00)7 0200-9

- Zimmermann J, Herrlinger S, Pruy A, Metzger T, Wanner C. Inflammation enhances cardiovascular risk and mortality in hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* (1999) 55:648–58. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.0 0273.x
- Iseki K, Tozawa M, Yoshi S, Fukiyama K. Serum C-reactive protein (CRP) and risk of death in chronic dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (1999) 14:1956–60. doi: 10.1093/ndt/14.8.1956
- Owen WF, Lowrie EG. C-reactive protein as an outcome predictor for maintenance hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* (1998) 54:627–36. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00032.x
- Noh H, Lee SW, Kang SW, Shin SK, Choi KH, Lee HY, et al. Serum Creactive protein: a predictor of mortality in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int*. (1998) 18:387–94. doi: 10.1177/0896860898018 00407
- Hung SC, Lai YS, Kuo KL, Tarng DC. Volume overload and adverse outcomes in chronic kidney disease: clinical observational and animal studies. J Am Heart Assoc. (2015) 4:e001918. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.0 01918
- Obi Y, Qader H, Kovesdy CP, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Latest consensus and update on protein-energy wasting in chronic kidney disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2015) 18:254–62. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0000000000 00171
- Kalantar-Zadeh, K, Ikizler, TA, Block, G, Avram, MM, Kopple JD. Malnutrition-inflammation complex syndrome in dialysis patients: causes and consequences. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2003) 42:864–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ajkd.2003.07.016
- Sarnak MJ. Cardiovascular complications in chronic kidney disease. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2003) 41:11–7. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(03)0 0372-X
- Li MX, Liu XM, Zhang XF, Zhang JF, Wang WL, Zhu Y, et al. Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cancer*. (2014) 134:2403–13. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 28536
- 26. Templeton AJ, McNamara MG, Seruga B, Vera-Badillo FE, Aneja P, Ocana A, et al. Prognostic role of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in solid tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2014) 106:dju124. doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju124
- Azab B, Daoud J, Naeem FB, Nasr R, Ross J, Ghimire P, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as a predictor of worsening renal function in diabetic patients (3-year follow-up study). *Ren Fail.* (2012) 34:571–6. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2012.668741
- Lu X, Wang S, Zhang G, Xiong R, Li H. High neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is a significant predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2018) 43:490–9. doi: 10.1159/000488696
- Biyik M, Ucar R, Solak Y, Gungor G, Polat I, Gaipov A, et al. Blood neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio independently predicts survival in patients with liver cirrhosis. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2013) 25:435–41. doi: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e32835c2af3
- Bhat T, Teli S, Rijal J, Bhat H, Raza M, Khoueiry G, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and cardiovascular diseases: a review. *Exp Rev Cardiovasc Ther*. (2013) 11:55–9. doi: 10.1586/erc.12.159
- Afari ME, Bhat T. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and cardiovascular diseases: an update. *Exp Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* (2016) 14:573–7. doi: 10.1586/14779072.2016.1154788
- Gunay E, Sarinc US, Akar O, Ahsen A, Gunay S, Koyuncu T, et al. Neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a retrospective study. *Inflammation*. (2014) 37:374–80. doi: 10.1007/s10753-013-9749-1
- 33. Yan H, Ma D, Yang S, Ni Z, Fang W. Effluent lipopolysaccharide is a prompt marker of peritoneal dialysis-related gram-negative peritonitis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2020) 40:455–61. doi: 10.1177/08968608198 96134
- Lin WH, Tseng CC, Wu AB, Chang YT, Kuo TH, Chao JY, et al. Clinical and microbiological characteristics of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis caused by Escherichia coli in southern Taiwan. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. (2018) 37:1699–707. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3302-y

- Cho Y, Johnson DW. Peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis: towards improving evidence, practices, and outcomes. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2014) 64:278– 89. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.02.025
- Prasad KN, Singh K, Rizwan A, Mishra P, Tiwari D, Prasad N, et al. Microbiology and outcomes of peritonitis in northern India. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 34:188–94. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00233
- Bunke CM, Brier ME, Golper TA. Outcomes of single organism peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis: gram negatives versus gram positives in the Network 9 peritonitis study. *Kidney Int.* (1997) 52:524–9. doi: 10.1038/ki.1997.363

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 He, He, Huang, Hu and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Therapeutic Hypothermia Reduces Peritoneal Dialysis Induced Myocardial Blood Flow Heterogeneity and Arrhythmia

Sanjay R. Kharche^{1,2*}, Sandrine Lemoine¹, Tanya Tamasi¹, Lisa Hur¹, Aaron So^{2,3} and Christopher W. McIntyre^{1,2*}

¹ Kidney Clinical Research Unit, Lawson's Health Research Institute, Victoria Hospital, London, ON, Canada, ² Department of Medical Biophysics, Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada, ³ Imaging Program, Lawson Health Research Institute, London, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasqual Barretti, São Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Mark Dominik Alscher, Robert Bosch Hospital, Germany Jong Hyun Jhee, Yonsei University, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Christopher W. McIntyre cmcint48@uwo.ca Sanjay R. Kharche Sanjay.Kharche@lhsc.on.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 26 April 2021 **Accepted:** 30 June 2021 **Published:** 30 July 2021

Citation:

Kharche SR, Lemoine S, Tamasi T, Hur L, So A and McIntyre CW (2021) Therapeutic Hypothermia Reduces Peritoneal Dialysis Induced Myocardial Blood Flow Heterogeneity and Arrhythmia. Front. Med. 8:700824. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.700824 **Background:** Moderate therapeutic hypothermia (TH) is a well-recognized cardio-protective strategy. The instillation of fluid into the peritoneum provides an opportunity to deliver moderate hypothermia as primary prevention against cardiovascular events. We aimed to to investigate both cardiac perfusion consequences (overall blood flow and detailed assessment of perfusion heterogeneity) and subsequently simulate the associated arrhythmic risk for patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis (PD) induced TH.

Methods: Patients underwent high resolution myocardial perfusion scanning using high resolution 256 slice CT scanning, at rest and with adenosine stress. The first visit using the patient's usual PD regimen, on the second visit the same regime was utilized but with cooled peritoneal dialysate at 32°C. Myocardial blood flow (MBF) was quantified from generated perfusion maps, reconstructed in 3D. MBF heterogeneity was assessed by fractal dimension (FD) measurement on the 3D left ventricular reconstruction. Arrhythmogenicity was quantified from a sophisticated computational simulation using a multi-scale human 3D ventricle wedge electrophysiological computational model.

Results: We studied 7 PD patients, mean age of 60 ± 7 and mean vintage dialysis of 23.6 \pm 17.6 months. There were no significant different in overall segmental MBF between normothermic condition (NT) and TH. MBF heterogeneity was significantly decreased (-14%, p = 0.03) at rest and after stress (-14%, p = 0.03) when cooling was applied. Computational simulation showed that TH allowed a normalization of action potential, QT duration and T wave.

Conclusion: TH-PD results in moderate hypothermia leading to a reduction in perfusion heterogeneity and simulated risk of non-terminating malignant ventricular arrhythmias.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, therapeutic hypothermia, computed tomography imaging, computational cardiology, arrhythmia

INTRODUCTION

Patients receiving peritoneal dialysis (PD) are faced with the equivalent survival challenges as patients treated with hemodialysis (HD), both in terms of the rate and dominance of cardiac sudden death as the main modality of cardiovascular mortality (1, 2). Beyond classic atherosclerotic disease (most common factor in the non-kidney disease population), very high mortality rates in PD patients are a result of the combination of additional factors such as metabolic stress, vascular calcification, myocardial fibrosis and endothelial dysfunction. At present there are no therapies identified able to provide primary prevention of sudden cardiac death events in patients receiving dialysis. Conventional therapies developed within the general population (such as statins and antiplatelet therapies) are ineffective in reducing cardiovascular mortality in either PD or HD patients. Furthermore, the risk/benefit considerations of device-based interventions are rather different in patients receiving both forms of dialysis (3-5) and currently not recommended as primary prevention in patients receiving PD (6).

Alteration of microcirculation plays a fundamental role in development of these cardiovascular outcomes. Microcirculatory function is important in determining the overall blood flow in the myocardium (especially when under demand) but it is increasingly recognized that the pattern of perfusion may be important in determining the underlying electrophysiological properties of cardiac muscle. The microcirculation of the normal myocardium is heterogeneous during rest. This heterogeneity of perfusion is an inherent and functionally significant property of microvascular network. However, when myocardial blood flow increases, oxygen extraction efficacy can be improved by homogenizing capillary flow. An increase of heterogeneity of myocardial perfusion, per se, is a marker of coronary endothelial dysfunction and is associated with coronary atherosclerosis, independently from traditional regional myocardial perfusion defects (7). Lu and co-workers demonstrated increased heterogeneity of stress myocardial blood flow (MBF) in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy patients is associated with an increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias (8). Cellular level experiments reveal perfusion heterogeneity disrupts the passage of myocardial depolarization fragmenting the passage of the electrical activity through the heart and resulting in ventricular re-entrant circuits (9). Increasingly heterogenous myocardial perfusion at the microvascular level has been proposed as a mechanism in arrhythmia and therefore of sudden cardiac death.

Therapeutic induction of mild hypothermia in animal studies has been shown to improve myocardial microvascular integrity under conditions of stress (10). Reduction of temperature by using cooled dialysis is a promising cardio-protective intervention in HD patients (11–13) and is currently being tested in a large-scale randomized controlled trial of 14,000 patients (MY TEMP study- NCT02628366) (14). In PD, the peritoneum provides a large surface area for thermal transfer, can be performed at night; providing potential coverage a substantial part of the 24 h period and in particular the circadian vulnerability to sudden cardiac death. We hypothesized that moderate therapeutic hypothermia (TH) might have the potential to provide primary cardioprotection in PD patients by effecting overall myocardial blood flow, ischemic tolerability and perfusion heterogeneity influencing cardiac arrhythmic potential. The aim of this proof of principal study was to investigate both cardiac perfusion consequences (overall blood flow and detailed assessment of perfusion heterogeneity) and subsequently simulate the associated arrhythmic risk for patients undergoing PD induced TH.

METHODS

Patients

Seven participants were recruited from the Renal Program at London Health Sciences Center. Inclusion criteria were patients receiving daily PD treatment at home, older than 18 years and residual renal function \leq 750 mL per 24-h period. Exclusion criteria were previous adverse reaction to intravenous contrast, allergy to adenosine, exposure to PD for <90 days prior to recruitment, ongoing spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP), severe heart failure (New York Heart Association grade IV), cardiac transplant recipients and mental incapacity to consent. All patients gave written informed consent. This study was conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki, with appropriate ethics committee approval (CRIC: R-16-012; REB approval number: 107280, NCT NCT04394780).

Study Design

We conducted a single center pilot interventional study (see **Figure 1**). Patients underwent cardiac CT scans after a normothermic dialysis (NT) (visit 1) and 1 week later, they underwent repeat CT scans after a cooled 4 h PD (TH) (visit 2). At each visit, patient hearts were CT scanned twice for myocardial perfusion. The first scan was performed at rest; the second scan was performed 10 min after intravenous administration of adenosine to provide pharmacological stress. Adenosine was intravenously administrated at 140 mcg/kg/min with an infusion pump, before stress myocardial perfusion acquisition was taken at 3 min into adenosine infusion.

The NT dialysate was warmed to 37°C and the cooled dialysate temperature at 32°C. Dialysate temperature was achieved using a dialysate warming cabinet (Enthermics, Wisconsin, USA). The patient's oral temperature was monitored continuously during the PD session as an indicator of core temperature.

Systemic blood pressure was recorded during each PD session (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Patients' characteristics, medical history and medication were recorded on visit 1. Between the two visits (no more than 2 weeks), patients continued their clinical PD prescriptions and associated medications. Patient blood samples were obtained before and after each PD session on each visit.

Cardiac CT Imaging Protocol

All studies used a 256-row GE Healthcare Revolution CT scanner with a prospective ECG gating acquisition protocol



in a supine patient position: 22–25 axial scans covering 8 cm of the heart triggered at every 1–2 mid-diastole (75% R-R interval) at 100 kV tube voltage, 100 mA tube current and 280 ms gantry rotation speed with breath-hold. Dynamic contrast-enhanced (DCE) images at 5 mm slice were generated using partial-scan data collected from 180° + fan beam angle with 100% adaptive statistical iterative reconstruction (ASiR-v, GE Healthcare).

Myocardial Perfusion Maps

Myocardial perfusion maps were performed based on a modelbased deconvolution approach described previously (15). Each slice of the myocardial perfusion maps was sub-divided into six standard myocardial segments in approximate horizontal longaxis according to the American Heart Association segmentation model (16) to remove non-myocardial tissue signals. The left ventricle (LV) was manually extracted (or segmented) from the myocardial BF maps to reconstruct 3D LV blood flow (BF) spatial distributions. The reconstruction was stored in a structured array of 0.5 (X) \times 0.5 (Y) \times 5 (Z) mm³ array as previously described (17) to give the appropriate high spatial resolution.

BF heterogeneity

BF heterogeneity was assessed by fractal dimension (FD) measurement on a 3D LV reconstruction as previously described (17, 18). Fractal dimensions (FD) is a strong measure of BF heterogeneity, where BF = 1.5 means a complete heterogeneity and BF = 1 a homogeneity in perfusion.

Myocardial Perfusion Reserve

Myocardial perfusion reserve (MPR) was calculated as the ratio of the mean stress to rest myocardial blood flow value.

In silico Electrophysiological Computational Model Cell Model

We adapted for this study the cardiomyocyte cell model developed by Ten Tusscher et al. (19). It allows simulation of electrical excitations in the human ventricle's epicardial, mid-myocardial, and endocardial regions based on key ion current parameter fine tuning (13). The cell level effects of TH were implemented based on experimental data and are fully described as **Supplementary Material**. This robust human ventricle cardiomyocyte cell was incorporated into novel a 3D transmural human ventricle wedge as described below.

3D Transmural Human Ventricle Wedge

We developed a multi-scale *in silico* human ventricle electrophysiological model to predict electrical modification of heart through a simulated ECG. Based on our experimental CT data, we developed a 3D slab representing a large part of the left human ventricle where A virtual ECG electrode was placed 3 cm outside of the wedge as shown in **Supplementary Figure 1**. The electrode permitted calculation of the pseudo-ECG based on electrical activity in the wedge. The wedge was used to simulate effects of PD on ventricular ECG and activation patterns and to emphasize modifications of ECG provided by hypothermia. The detailed method is provided in **Supplementary Material**.

Statistical Analysis and Sample Size Considerations

Findings from this study were expected to be essentially descriptive and provide essential preliminary data of the existence of biological effect to justify further appropriately powered studies. Given the enormous granularity of data provided by the multiple scans of each patient (with perfusion data available down to a resolution of only a few millimeters), intense complexity of performing these studies and limitations on recruitment brought abought by the challenges inherent we selected a convenience sample approach of seven subjects. All descriptive and basic statistical analysis was performed using Prism. Descriptive statistics for continuous variables were tested for normality and summarized using mean \pm SD. Discrete variables were summarized as proportions. Median (min-max) BF and heterogeneity were compared between NT and TH using a non-parametric paired test (Wilcoxon test). Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. Computational methods are described above or in Supplementary Material. No data existed to provide any guidance on power calculation.

TABLE 1 | Patients' characteristics: anthropometrics values, medical history and medications.

	Before NT PD	After NT PD	Before TH PD	After TH PD
Sodium (mmol/L)	137 ± 3.9	134 ± 3.4	138 ± 3.5	134 ± 3.6
Potassium (mmol/L)	4.2 ± 0.8	4.3 ± 0.9	4.1 ± 0.7	4.1 ± 0.6
Chloride (mmol/L)	95 ± 4	94 ± 4	95 ± 3	94 ± 3
Bicarbonates (mmol/L)	24.1 ± 2.8	23.7 ± 2.5	25.3 ± 2.9	25.6 ± 2.1
Creatinine (umol/L)	872 ± 268	871 ± 279	821 ± 323	801 ± 315
Albumin (g/L)	34.9 ± 4.2	30.9 ± 3.8	35 ± 3.5	31 ± 12.2
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.2 ± 0.9	2.1 ± 0.2	2.2 ± 0.2	2.1 ± 0.1
Phosphate (mmol/L)	2.0 ± 0.4	1.9 ± 0.3	1.9 ± 0.4	1.76 ± 0.3
Glucose (mmol/L)	5.3 ± 1.3	5.1 ± 1.3	6.4 ± 2.6	5.8 ± 1.9
Troponine-T(ng/L) (High-sensitivity)	74.6 ± 43.5	68.6 ± 38	80.5 ± 57	55 ± 35
CRP (mg/L) (High sensitivity)	4.5 ± 3.2	4.2 ± 2.9	5.4 ± 3.6	4.2 ± 2.9

Values are expressed as mean \pm Sd or number (%).

TABLE 2 | Bloodwork collections before and after peritoneal dialysis PD for normothermic (NT) and therapeutic hypothermia (TH) conditions.

Characteristic	
Age (years)	60 ± 7
Female (%)	4 (57)
Weight (Kg)	77 ± 23
Height (cm)	163 ± 11
BMI (kg/m ²)	29.2 ± 6.4
Urinary residual Volume (mL)	400 ± 300
Medical history	
PD vintage (months)	23.6 ± 17.6
Ischemic heart disease (%)	1 (14)
Current or ex-smoker (%)	2 (29)
Peripheral vascular disease (%)	1 (14)
Medication	
Treated hypertension (%)	6 (86)
RAAS antagonist (%)	5 (71)
β-blocker (%)	4 (43)
Statin use (%)	5 (71)
Phosphate binder Calcium containing (%)	5 (71)
Phosphate binder Non calcium (%)	1 (14)
Erythropoiesis-stimulating agent (%)	6 (86)
Vitamin D analog (%)	4 (43)

Results are expressed as mean \pm standard deviations. Comparisons between pre PD with NT and HT or post PD with NT and HT were performed with t paired test. CRP (C-reactive protein).

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

Mean age was 60 \pm 7 years, 57% female. Mean PD vintage was 23.6 \pm 17.6 months. BMI was 29.2 \pm 6.4 kg/m², urinary residual volume was 400 \pm 300 mL. Only 1 patient had known ischemic heart disease. Documented causes of kidney disease included diabetes and/or hypertension for 2 patients, one for glomerulonephritis, one for interstitial nephritis and 3 patients had hereditary nephropathy. All characteristics are summarized

TABLE 3 | Peritoneal dialysis characteristics.

Patient number	APD/CAPD	Number of exchange	Dialysate
Patient 1	APD	3	Alternation of Dianeal
Patient 2	APD-NIPD	3	Dianeal 2.5%
Patient 3	CAPD	4	Dianeal 1.5% and Extraneal 7.5%
Patient 4	APD	3	Alternation of Dianeal
Patient 5	APD-IPD	3	Alternation of Dianeal and extraneal
Patient 6	APD-IPD	3	Alternation of Dianeal and extraneal
Patient 7	APD	3	Alternation of Dianea and extraneal

APD, automated peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; IPD, intermitant peritoneal dialysis; NIPD, nocturnal intermittent peritoneal dialysis.

in **Table 1**. We found no difference between bloodwork results in the patients between their 2 visits. Six patients were in automated peritoneal dialysis and 1 in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. Blood test results in **Table 2**. Peritoneal dialysis characteristics are described in **Table 3**.

Temperature and Hemodynamics Monitoring

Cooled dialysate was tolerated well by all patients. No systemic symptoms of cold or localized drain pain were reported, despite being actively interrogated for. Median core body temperature during the PD session was not different between NT [36.5 (35.7–36.6)] and TH [36.5 vs. 36.5 (36.1–36.8°C, p = 0.578)] (**Supplementary Figure 3A**).

Median MAPs were significantly higher in TH group (92 mmHg in NT vs. 110 mmHg in TH, p = 0.04) during PD sessions (**Supplementary Figure 3B**). Hemodynamics remained stable during the PD session for the NT and the TH group. Median



heart rate (HR) was not different between NT and TH group [69 vs. 62, p = 0.84] respectively (Supplementary Figure 3C).

Gross Myocardial Blood flow and Myocardial Reserve

Figure 2 provide an example of 3D reconstruction of left ventricle from where BF and fractal analysis was measured. We showed no statistical difference in overall or segmental myocardial BF between NT and TH at rest [133 (116–175) vs. 125 (88–149), p = 0.15, respectively] or after stress [271 (229–320) vs. 246 (200–236), p = 0.12, respectively] (**Figures 3A,B**). We found no significant difference overall or segmentally for myocardial reserve mobilization between NT and TH (189 vs. 176%, p = 0.06) (**Figure 3C**).

Blood Flow Heterogeneity

Heterogeneity was significantly decreased (-14%, p = 0.03) without pharmacological stress in the TH group compared to the NT group. We showed also a further significant decrease of heterogeneity during the stress (-14%, p = 0.03) in the TH compared to the NT group (**Figures 4A,B**). There was significant decrease of heterogeneity between rest and stress only in the TH group (-6%, p = 0.04) (**Figures 4C,D**).

Simulated Electrophysiological Effects of Temperature on ECG and Tachycardia Persistence

Effects of Cooling on Cardiomyocytes

First, we used a simulation model of cardiomyocytes previously described. Simulated cardiac action potential are shown in **Figure 5**. Compared to comparator simulated from previous publications, simulations from this present study showed PD significantly abbreviated cardiomyocyte action potential durations. We were able to show that TH allowed the prolongation of action potential (AP) duration for both comparator and PD conditions.

Simulated Action of TH on ECG

With the simulation of the 3D wedge model, we were able to reproduce a ventricular part of ECG. **Supplementary Figure 4** displays a representative frame showing transmural electrical activation in the 3D wedge model. Under NT conditions, the ECG's T wave became inverted as well as abbreviating ST interval. Under TH conditions, ECG simulation showed that T wave inversion became less severe. TH prolonged the ST interval as compared to NT conditions, however moving it toward the control case (**Supplementary Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION

This study is the first evaluation of the potential cardiovascular effects of moderate hypothermia in PD patients. We report the effects of dialysate cooling on myocardial blood flow, both at rest and under pharmacological stress, as have demonstrated (through advanced computational modeling of arrythmia formation) that the observed patterns of myocardial perfusion seen with cooling may provide primary protection against cardiac sudden death.

Feasibility

Whereas, cooling has already been performed in HD patient, it is the first time that cooled dialysate has been used in PD to show impact on microcirculation. Until now, PD cooling was used as a means to profoundly cool experimental animals. This pilot study allows to show that modest cooling of PD dialysate is easy to perform and very well-tolerated. The cooling protocol was simple to deliver and could be incorporated into current delivery systems, cost-free. In contrast with HD, where significant thermal transfer occurs due to the large volume of dialysate which runs in contact with blood over a dialysis







FIGURE 4 | Fractal dimension as surrogate of heterogeneity. Fractal dimensions (FD) is a strong measure of blood flood (BF) heterogeneity, where BF = 1.5 means a complete heterogeneity and BF = 1 a homogeneity in perfusion. **(A,B)** Heterogeneity is significantly decreased (-14%, p = 0.03) at rest in the therapeutic hypothermia (HT) group compared to the normothermic (NT) group. We showed also a significant decrease of heterogeneity during the stress (-14%, p = 0.03) in the HT compared to the NT group. **(C,D)** We showed a significant decrease of heterogeneity between rest and stress only in the HT group (-6%, p = 0.04). The * represents significance.

treatment, body core temperature seems to be less impacted by the modest reductions in PD fluid temperature we studied. This was also well-tolerated, with no patients reporting they felt cold.

Myocardial Perfusion and Heterogeneity

Previous studies have demonstrated that HD is characterized by a 30% reduction in regional myocardial blood flow (MBF) (11).

Patients in these studies also exhibited PD-induced reductions in MBF despite not having significant occlusive coronary artery disease, suggesting that these changes occur as a result of the decreased coronary flow reserve and microcirculatory effects. While the cardiac effects of HD are well-established, those of PD have not yet been fully studied. We know that PD does influence homeostatic vascular mechanisms (20). Boon et al. (21) showed increased blood pressure during the



instillation phases of peritoneal dialysis. More recent studies have shown a hypertensive effect as a direct response to the hyperglycemic, hyperinsulinemic state induced by high glucose concentration containing PD solutions (22). Others investigators have found PD volume related increases in carotid diastolic pressures, and varying carotid baroreceptor sensitivities with differentially buffered PD solutions (23). Over hydration may also alter endothelial function, with reports of an independent correlation between indices of volume status and arterial flow mediated dilatation (24). Our study provides further evidence of the microcirculation dysfunction in PD patients. In our study, myocardial perfusion are quite low and comparable to myocardial perfusion measured during a HD session (11). These results are consistent with previous study where authors showed a same increase of CRF by around 189% in their dialysis patients group (25).

Beyond overall and segmental myocardial perfusion, myocardial heterogeneity has never been studied before in PD patients. Autopsy and experimental studies have demonstrate a reduction in myocardial capillary supply in ESRD patients (26). As previously described, myocardial heterogeneity is a surrogate of endothelial dysfunction and bring additional information on the patients' microcirculation status.

Study of the impact of cooling in PD on MBF and its heterogeneity has not been previously attempted. This study has highlighted that heterogeneity decreased after exposure to cooler dialysate and decreased further under conditions of pharmacological stress. Cooling allowed to significantly more homogenized perfusion. Further, there is increasing basic science evidence that spatial BF heterogeneity in the heart is reduced as the total BF entering the asymmetric coronary arterial structure reduces (27). Therefore, cooling dialysate could be an easy way to protect heart from capillaries heterogeneity and potentially provide cardio-protection.

Arrhythmia

It is well-known that temperature affects many characteristics of the action potential (AP) wave, especially amplitude, duration, conduction velocity, dispersion of repolarization (28). Our results are consistent with previous reports (29, 30). Indeed, our simulated AP model allows to confirm that TH itself induces an AP duration prolongation. In accordance with actual patient observations (31), our computer model predicted the TH induced QT interval prolongation, as well as T wave amplitude augmentation at V6 lead.

First, our powerful model of simulation underscores the impact of PD on AP and ECG. PD shortens AP and QT, providing more information of the "ischemic" nature of PD. Secondly, TH normalization AP and QT on ECG. Significant pre-clinical experimental evidence corroborates our findings that increase of APD and maintained tissue conductivity are two main antiarrhythmic effects of TH (32). We showed in this study that TH provides potential cardio-protection by strongly dissipating arrhythmic electrical re-entry, even in the presence of simulated structural tissue heterogeneity.

The circadian variation of death in dialysis patients (33), with greater than expected frequencies in the early morning hours, makes a nightly delivered therapy such as PD cooling particularly promising.

Strength of the Model

One of the strengths of this study is the use of simulation model of AP with cell's model and ECG with a 3D wedge model. Simulations were performed to demonstrate the potential one to one relationship between cooling and ECG features, which were not apparent in patient recordings due to lack of control ECG. Through this simulation, we were able to catch the effects of simulated TH on the ECG which is prolongation of QRS and of the QT interval.

The use of alternative methods such as computer simulations is of great importance. Direct experimental and clinical possibilities for detailed study cardiac arrhythmias in human ventricular myocardium is limited. Multiple ionic currents that govern repolarization are particularly susceptible to hypothermia. An important feature of our model is that all major ionic currents are fitted to data on human ventricular myocytes and expression experiments of human cardiac channels. We can therefore define a simulated model to implement different experimental condition and show potential impact of PD and impact of cooling on cardiac electrophysiology (34).

Study Limitations

This pilot study of peritoneal dialysate cooling has limitations. The study was not designed to interrogate the driving effect of the cooling intervention given its small sample size. Similarly, although clinical outcomes such as hospitalizations and mortality were tracked in the 9 months period after study completion, it is not adequately powered nor was the intervention delivered for sufficient time to estimate outcomes. We did not measure difference in body core temperature, however we hypothesized infusion of cold peritoneal dialysis leads to cold shock protein synthesis (35). It has been demonstrated that these cold shock protein could protect against ischemia but also regulate electrophysiological properties of the heart, especially cardiac pacemaker activity, and repolarization phase of atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes (36). Moreover, oral temperature was not precise enough to discriminate difference in body temperature. Although body temperature was monitored all along the cold PD session, we provide only temperature at the start of the normothermic PD session.

CONCLUSION

Manipulation of temperature through the use of cooled peritoneal dialysis fluid has significant effects on myocardial perfusion. The observed high resolution changes in perfusion pattern and direct effects on development and propagation of electrical activity through the heart appear to be capable of significantly modifying arrhythmic potential. This proof of principal study provides the means for further optimization of a cooled interventions (in terms of exposure and magnitude) and justifies additional study and development to provide primary protection against cardiac sudden death for patients receiving PD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Jain AK, Blake P, Cordy P, Garg AX. Global trends in rates of peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2012) 23:533–44. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011060607
- Selby NM, Kazmi I. Peritoneal dialysis has optimal intradialytic hemodynamics and preserves residual renal function: why isn't it better than hemodialysis? Semin Dial. (2019) 32:3–8. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12752
- Cuculich PS, Sánchez JM, Kerzner R, Greenberg SL, Sengupta J, Chen J, et al. Poor prognosis for patients with chronic kidney disease despite ICD therapy for the primary prevention of sudden death. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* (2007) 30:207–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8159.2007.00651.x
- Amin MS, Fox AD, Kalahasty G, Shepard RK, Wood MA, Ellenbogen KA. Benefit of primary prevention implantable cardioverter-defibrillators in the setting of chronic kidney disease: a decision model analysis. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. (2008) 19:1275–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2008.01258.x
- Fu L, Zhou Q, Zhu W, Lin H, Ding Y, Shen Y, et al. Do implantable cardioverter defibrillators reduce mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease at all stages? *Int Heart J.* (2017) 58:371–7. doi: 10.1536/ihj.16-357
- 6. Wang AYM, Brimble KS, Brunier G, Holt SG, Jha V, Johnson DW, et al. ISPD cardiovascular and metabolic guidelines in adult peritoneal dialysis patients

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by CRIC: R-16-012; REB approval number: 107280, NCT NCT04394780. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SK conceived and performed the study. SK, AS, and CM was involved in protocol development. LH assisted in obtained ethical approval, and assisted SK to perform image analysis. TT assisted in patient recruitment and dialysis delivery. SK and SL performed data analysis and wrote the first manuscript draft. All authors wrote and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study received funding from BAXTER. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication. This study was supported by Heart and Stroke grant (G-17-0018311, PI: CM).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Dr. Shemer Ratner who helps in the conception of the study. We thank LHSC IT, Compute Canada, SHARCNet for IT and HPC resources.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.700824/full#supplementary-material

part II - management of various cardiovascular complications. *Perit Dial Int J Int Soc Perit Dial.* (2015) 35:388–96. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00278

- 7. Clinical Evaluation of a New Concept: Resting Myocardial Perfusion Heterogeneity Quantified by Markovian Analysis of PET Identifies Coronary Microv. Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term= Clinical+Evaluation+of+a+New+Concept%3A+Resting+Myocardial+ Perfusion+Heterogeneity+Quantified+by+Markovian+Analysis+of+ PET+Identifies+Coronary+Microvascular+Dysfunction+and+Early+ Atherosclerosis+in+1%2C034+Subjects (accessed February 24, 2020).
- Lu D-Y, Yalçin H, Yalçin F, Zhao M, Sivalokanathan S, Valenta I, et al. Stress myocardial blood flow heterogeneity is a positron emission tomography biomarker of ventricular arrhythmias in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol.* (2018) 121:1081–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.01.022
- Zhou L, Solhjoo S, Millare B, Plank G, Abraham MR, Cortassa S, et al. Effects of regional mitochondrial depolarization on electrical propagation: implications for arrhythmogenesis. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* (2014) 7:143–51. doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.113.000600
- 10. Hamamoto H, Leshnower BG, Parish LM, Sakamoto H, Kanemoto S, Hinmon R, et al. Regional heterogeneity of myocardial reperfusion

injury: effect of mild hypothermia. Ann Thorac Surg. (2009) 87:164-71. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.08.016

- Odudu A, Eldehni MT, McCann GP, McIntyre CW. Randomized controlled trial of individualized dialysate cooling for cardiac protection in hemodialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2015) 10:1408–17. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00200115
- McIntyre C, Crowley L. Dying to feel better: the central role of dialysis-induced tissue hypoxia. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2016) 11:549– 51. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01380216
- Selby NM, Burton JO, Chesterton LJ, McIntyre CW. Dialysis-induced regional left ventricular dysfunction is ameliorated by cooling the dialysate. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 1:1216–25. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02010606
- Al-Jaishi AA, McIntyre CW, Sontrop JM, Dixon SN, Anderson S, Bagga A, et al. Major outcomes with personalized dialysate TEMPerature (MyTEMP): rationale and design of a pragmatic, registry-based, cluster randomized controlled trial. *Can J Kidney Health Dis.* (2020) 7:2054358119887988. doi: 10.1177/2054358119887988
- So A, Wisenberg G, Islam A, Amann J, Romano W, Brown J, et al. Noninvasive assessment of functionally relevant coronary artery stenoses with quantitative CT perfusion: preliminary clinical experiences. *Eur Radiol.* (2012) 22:39–50. doi: 10.1007/s00330-011-2260-x
- Cerqueira MD, Weissman NJ, Dilsizian V, Jacobs AK, Kaul S, Laskey WK, et al. Standardized myocardial segmentation and nomenclature for tomographic imaging of the heart. A statement for healthcare professionals from the Cardiac Imaging Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology of the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. (2002) 105:539– 42. doi: 10.1081/JCMR-120003946
- Kharche SR, So A, Salerno F, Lee T-Y, Ellis C, Goldman D, et al. Computational assessment of blood flow heterogeneity in peritoneal dialysis patients' cardiac ventricles. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:511. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00511
- Bassingthwaighte JB, Beard DA, Li Z. The mechanical and metabolic basis of myocardial blood flow heterogeneity. *Basic Res Cardiol.* (2001) 96:582– 94. doi: 10.1007/s003950170010
- Ten Tusscher KHWJ, Bernus O, Hren R, Panfilov AV. Comparison of electrophysiological models for human ventricular cells and tissues. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* (2006) 90:326–45. doi: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2005.05.015
- Krediet RT, Balafa O. Cardiovascular risk in the peritoneal dialysis patient. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2010) 6:451–60. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2010.68
- Boon D, Bos WJW, Van Montfrans GA, Krediet RT. Acute effects of peritoneal dialysis on hemodynamics. *Perit Dial Int.* (2001) 21:166– 71. doi: 10.1177/089686080102100210
- Selby NM, Fialova J, Burton JO, McIntyre CW. The haemodynamic and metabolic effects of hypertonic-glucose and amino-acid-based peritoneal dialysis fluids. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2007) 22:870–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl654
- John SG, Selby NM, McIntyre CW. Effects of peritoneal dialysis fluid biocompatibility on baroreflex sensitivity. *Kidney Int Suppl.* (2008) 108:S119– 24. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002612
- 24. Cheng L-T, Gao Y-L, Qin C, Tian J-P, Gu Y, Bi S-H, et al. Volume overhydration is related to endothelial dysfunction in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int J Int Soc Perit Dial*. (2008) 28:397– 402. doi: 10.1177/089686080802800415
- Charytan DM, Skali H, Shah NR, Veeranna V, Cheezum MK, Taqueti VR, et al. Coronary flow reserve is predictive of the risk of cardiovascular death regardless of chronic kidney disease stage. *Kidney Int.* (2018) 93:501– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.07.025
- Amann K, Breitbach M, Ritz E, Mall G. Myocyte/capillary mismatch in the heart of uremic patients. J Am Soc Nephrol. (1998) 9:1018– 22. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V961018

- Feng Y, Wang X, Fan T, Li L, Sun X, Zhang W, et al. Bifurcation asymmetry of small coronary arteries in juvenile and adult mice. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:519. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00519
- Filippi S, Gizzi A, Cherubini C, Luther S, Fenton FH. Mechanistic insights into hypothermic ventricular fibrillation: the role of temperature and tissue size. *Europace*. (2014) 16:424–34. doi: 10.1093/europace/ euu031
- Kienast R, Handler M, Stöger M, Baumgarten D, Hanser F, Baumgartner C. Modeling hypothermia induced effects for the heterogeneous ventricular tissue from cellular level to the impact on the ECG. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0182979. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182979
- von Ulmenstein S, Storm C, Breuer TGK, Lask S, Attanasio P, Mügge A, et al. Hypothermia induced alteration of repolarization impact on acute and long-term outcome: a prospective cohort study. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. (2017) 25:68. doi: 10.1186/s13049-017-0417-6
- Kim S-M, Hwang G-S, Park J-S, Shin J-S, Kim G-W, Yang H-M, et al. The pattern of Tpeak-Tend and QT interval, and J wave during therapeutic hypothermia. J Electrocardiol. (2014) 47:84–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jelectrocard.2013.05.139
- Fedorov VV, Glukhov AV, Sudharshan S, Egorov Y, Rosenshtraukh LV, Efimov IR. Electrophysiological mechanisms of antiarrhythmic protection during hypothermia in winter hibernating versus nonhibernating mammals. *Heart Rhythm.* (2008) 5:1587–96. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2008. 08.030
- Tisler A, Logan AG, Akocsi K, Tornoci L, Kiss I. Circadian variation of death in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2008) 51:53– 61. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.09.019
- Bjørnstad H, Tande PM, Refsum H. Cardiac electrophysiology during hypothermia. Implications for medical treatment. *Arctic Med Res.* (1991) 50 (Suppl. 6):71–5.
- Zhu X, Bührer C, Wellmann S. Cold-inducible proteins CIRP and RBM3, a unique couple with activities far beyond the cold. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2016) 73:3839–59. doi: 10.1007/s00018-016-2253-7
- Zhong P, Peng J, Bian Z, Huang H. The role of cold inducible RNAbinding protein in cardiac physiology and diseases. *Front Pharmacol.* (2021) 12:610792. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.610792

Conflict of Interest: Research funding from Baxter Pr C. McIntyre: Honoraria from Baxter for lecturing.

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Kharche, Lemoine, Tamasi, Hur, So and McIntyre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Diagnosis of Protein Energy Wasting in Chronic Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Is Influenced by the Method of Calculating Muscle Mass. A Prospective, Multicenter Study

Cristina Techy Roth-Stefanski¹, Naiane Rodrigues de Almeida^{1,2}, Gilson Biagini^{1,3†}, Natália K. Scatone⁴, Fabiana B. Nerbass⁴ and Thyago Proença de Moraes^{1,2*}

¹ Pontificia Univerdidade Catolica do Parana, Post Graduate Program in Health and Biological Sciences, Curitiba, Brazil, ² Santa Casa de Misericórdia de Curitiba, Curitiba, Brazil, ³ Instituto Do Rim, Curitiba, Brazil, ⁴ Fundação Pró-Rim, Joinville, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Chia-Ter Chao, National Taiwan University Hospital Bei-Hu Branch, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Maria-Eleni Roumelioti, University of New Mexico, United States Leigh C. Ward, The University of Queensland, Australia

*Correspondence:

Thyago Proença de Moraes thyago.moraes@pucpr.br orcid.org/0000-0002-2983-3968

[†]In memoriam

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 29 April 2021 Accepted: 02 August 2021 Published: 25 August 2021

Citation:

Roth-Stefanski CT, Rodrigues de Almeida N, Biagini G, Scatone NK, Nerbass FB and de Moraes TP (2021) The Diagnosis of Protein Energy Wasting in Chronic Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Is Influenced by the Method of Calculating Muscle Mass. A Prospective, Multicenter Study. Front. Med. 8:702749. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.702749 **Objective:** To analyze the concordance and agreement between bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) and anthropometry for the diagnosis of protein energy wasting (PEW) in chronic peritoneal dialysis patients.

Methods: Prospective, multi-center, observational study using multifrequency bioimpedance device (*Body Composition Monitor -BCM*[®]- *Fresenius Medical Care*) and anthropometry for the diagnosis of PEW as recommended by the International Society of Renal Nutrition and Metabolism (ISRNM). Cohen's kappa was the main test used to analyze concordance and a Bland-Altmann curve was built to evaluate the agreement between both methods.

Results: We included 137 patients from three PD clinics. The mean age of the study population was 57.7 ± 14.9 , 47.8% had diabetes, and 52.2% were male. We calculated the scores for PEW diagnosis at 3 and 6 months after the first collection (T3 and T6) and on average 40% of the study population were diagnosed with PEW. The concordance in the diagnosis of PEW was only moderate between anthropometry and BIS at both T3 and T6. The main factor responsible for our results was a low to moderate correlation for muscle mass in kilograms, with an r-squared (R2) of 0.35. The agreement was poor, with a difference of more than 10 kg of muscle mass on average and with more than a quarter of all cases beyond the limits of agreements.

Conclusion: Current diagnosis of PEW may differ depending on the tools used to measure muscle mass in peritoneal dialysis patients.

Keywords: kidney nutrition, malnutrition, PEW, ESKD, peritoneal dialysis

INTRODUCTION

Protein energy wasting (PEW) is a common condition in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). Its incidence and severity increase as the renal disease progresses to kidney failure, with a peak observed in dialysis patients (1, 2). Depending on the modality of choice, new risk factors for PEW are introduced. In peritoneal dialysis (PD), exposure to glucose as an osmotic agent may

34

lead to an absorption of up to 300 g glucose per day, depending on the patient's membrane profile and the prescription of hypertonic solutions. Such glucose load has a direct impact on the patient's appetite, reducing the daily intake of proteins and other nutrients (3, 4). In addition, patients have a daily loss of protein through the peritoneal membrane, which in some cases may reach 10 g, what can contribute to the deterioration of the nutritional status (5, 6).

Early diagnosis of PEW is of particular importance because advanced states of malnutrition and inflammation may be difficult to reverse and also because these patients are more likely to have a poor quality of life and a higher risk of death from any cause (2, 7). Standardization of the diagnosis of PEW occurred when the International Society of Renal Nutrition and Metabolism (ISRNM) established these criteria for PEW in 2008 (7). This criterion includes serum biomarkers, data on dietary intake and the traditional nutritional physical examination. The latter includes the calculation of muscle mass loss by means of repeated measures of the mid-arm muscle circumference area between a pre-established period of time. This procedure is part of a time-consuming, operator-dependent physical examination and, consequently, prone to significant variance.

The introduction of bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) into clinical practice in nephrology has improved the care of dialysis patients in different forms (8). Of our interest, BIS quickly allows the automatic measurement of lean body mass (LBM). It is important to make a distinction before further discussion, LBM is the non-mineral component of free fat mass that is measured with traditional bioimpedance technologies using two compartment models. BIS-measured LBM has already been described as an important predictor of survival in adults treated with chronic hemodialysis (9, 10). Given the potential variability in muscle mass quantification between BIS and anthropometry, and that this parameter is important for the diagnosis of PEW, we designed a study to analyze the concordance between BIS and anthropometry for the diagnosis of PEW. Our hypothesis was that the concordance between the methods differs considerably.

METHODS

This is a prospective, multi-center, observational study designed to examine the concordance between BIS and anthropometry for the diagnosis of PEW. Secondary objectives of the study were to compare the concordance between the methods for measuring muscle mass and the scores for diagnosing PEW.

Patients and Settings

PD patients were recruited from three centers in Southern Brazil between June 2018 and January 2020. Only patients older than 18 years old, undergoing PD for >3 months were included. Exclusion criteria were pregnancy; body mass index (BMI) >35 kg/m²; major limb amputations; disability (need for wheelchair); active cancer diagnosis; diagnosis of severe liver failure; patients with pacemaker, abuse of alcohol, or illegal drugs history.

Demographic data were collected at baseline from patients' medical records (comorbidities, dialysis vintage, previous dialysis therapies and cause of CKD) whilst biochemical data (creatinine, albumin, phosphorus, and hemoglobin) were recorded quarterly. Participants were also inquired about the use of dietary supplements and physical activity. The ethics committee of the Pontificia Universidade Católica do Paraná approved the research protocol under the number 4.086.745, and all participants provided a written informed consent form.

Study Size

The sample size calculation was based on a pilot study with 39 patients. Patients were classified into two groups according to their PEW score (1–2 and 3–4) using the two methods chosen for this study for the diagnosis of PEW (classical and BIS). We designed the study for a power of 0.8 and established the significance level of alpha at 0.05. We estimated that 110 patients would be necessary to identify a 15% difference in the concordance between methods.

Body Composition

Anthropometry

Nutritional parameters measured included: dry body weight (patients were weighed with light clothing and no shoes on a platform manual scale balance), height, body mass index (BMI), mid arm circumference (MAC), and skinfold measurements. These were taken at four sites (biceps, triceps, subscapular and suprailiac) on the opposite side of the vascular access (if the patient had the vascular access) using the Cescorf skinfold caliper (Cescorf Scientific, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil). The mean of three measurements for each skinfold was taken. The sum of skinfold thicknesses at four sites allowed obtaining the body fat percentage using the table published by Durnin and Womersley (11).

Muscle mass was obtained by subtracting total body fat (in kilograms) and total corporal water (estimated by Watson formula) from total body weight. The midarm muscle circumference (MAMC), was assessed by standard methods and classified according to percentile distribution tables adapted by Frisancho (12).

Bioimpedance

The estimated parameters of the body composition monitor were overhydration (OH), lean tissue mass (LTM), fat tissue mass (FTM), and relative fat in percentage, using multifrequency bioimpedance device ($BCM^{(\mathbb{R})}$). The technique is performed by attaching electrodes to the patient's non-fistula forearm and ipsilateral ankle, with the patient in a supine position. The BCM then applies an imperceptible electrical discharge that measures body resistance and reactance to electric current and uses it to provide information on several body composition parameters (13). We followed all the manufacturer's recommendations.

Diagnosis of PEW

The diagnosis of PEW was established as recommended by ISRNM (7). Four distinct categories are taken into account for the diagnosis: (1) biochemical parameters, (2) low body weight, reduced body fat or weight loss, (3) decreased muscle mass, and (4) low protein or energy intake. The **Supplementary Table 1** provides additional details on the parameters used in our study.
TABLE 1 | General characteristics of the study population.

	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Clinical	
Age (years)	57.7 ± 14.9
Body mass index (kg/m²)	26.9 ± 5.3
Overhydration (L)	1.5 (IQR 0 – 5.3)
Demographic	
Diabetes (yes)	47.8% (<i>n</i> = 65)
CKD etiology	
Diabetes	26.5% (<i>n</i> = 36)
Glomerulonephritis	19.8% (<i>n</i> = 27)
Hypertension	19.1% (<i>n</i> = 26)
Post-renal	2.2% (n = 03)
Unknown	16.9% (<i>n</i> = 23)
Others	15.4% (<i>n</i> = 21)
Gender (Male)	52.2% (<i>n</i> = 71)
Hypertension (yes)	77.9% (<i>n</i> = 106)
Oral supplement (yes)	5.9% (n = 08)
Previous hemodialysis (yes)	36.8% (n = 50)
Race (White)	79.4% (<i>n</i> = 26)
Routine exercise (yes)	21.3% (<i>n</i> = 29)
Laboratorial	
Albumin (g/dl)	3.7 ± 0.7

CKD, Chronic kidney disease; IQR, Interquartile range.

Clinical, biochemical, nutritional and body composition measurements were taken to assess the patients' nutritional status at baseline (T0) and 3 (T3) and 6 (T6) months after.

The criteria used to calculate the score included biochemical data (serum albumin); body mass (low body weight, reduced total body fat, or weight loss); muscle mass (decreased muscle mass and reduced mid-arm muscle circumference area) and dietary intake (see **Supplementary Table 1**). At least one test in each of the four categories must be satisfied for the diagnosis of kidney disease-related PEW.

The diagnosis of PEW was made with the data obtained through classical anthropometry and with the body composition data obtained through BCM at T3 and T6. The weight used in the calculation of BMI and weight loss when making the diagnosis of PEW through BCM, was the measured weight value subtracted from the OH value found by bioimpedance.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm SD or median and interquartile range, while categorical variables (e.g., gender, race, primary renal disease, presence of comorbid conditions, initial therapy, and current PD modality) were expressed as frequencies or percentages. The χ^2 , *t*-test, or Wilcoxon were used, as appropriate, to compare demographic and clinical characteristics at baseline. For the concordance between methods, we used primarily the Cohen's kappa, and for exploratory reasons, we also reported Fleiss Kappa, Gwetá AC, Krippendorff's alpha, and Brennan & Predifer agreement. To explore the association between muscle mass in both methods we used Passin and Bablock regression and for concordance, we also



performed Lins coefficient. In addition, we made a graph of the correlation among the muscle mass values between both methods by adding a line of the estimated values using a fractional polynomial which in turn was calculated using the regression model described by Roston and Altman in 1994. Finally, we also made a Bland-Altman curve to evaluate the agreement between methods. Statistical significance was set at the level of p < 0.05. All analyses were performed using STATA 14.0.

RESULTS

We included 137 patients from 3 PD clinics located in Southern Brazil. The mean age of the study population was 57.7 ± 14.9 , 47.8% had diabetes, and 52.2% were male. More details on demographics can be found in **Table 1**. Only four patients had a diagnosed episode of peritonitis, there were 24 admissions and four deaths during the study. Only two patients received a renal transplantation (**Figure 1**).

The nutritional status of the study population showed 40% of them with protein energy wasting based on the ISRN criteria. All nutritional parameters calculated at baseline, using anthropometrics and BIS, and stratified by gender, are described in **Table 2**.

TABLE 2 Nutritional p	parameters at baseline.
-------------------------	-------------------------

	Overall	Male	Female
Anthropometrics			
Arm muscle circumference (mm)	240.9 ± 39.9	248.4 ± 40.2	232.7 ± 38.3
Biceps skinfold (mm)	14.0 ± 8.7	10.8 ± 6.0	17.5 ± 9.8
Body fat (kg)	24.5 ± 9.1	22.4 ± 8.5	26.7 ± 9.3
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	26.9 ± 5.3	26.4 ± 4.5	27.4 ± 15.7
Muscle mass (kg)	48.2 ± 9.3	54.2 ± 7.2	41.7 ± 6.6
Mid-upper arm circumference (cm)	29.7 ± 4.9	28.9 ± 4.3	30.5 ± 5.5
Subcapsular skinfold (mm)	23.4 ± 10.5	21.8 ± 9.4	25.0 ± 11.5
Supra-iliac skinfold (mm)	21.3 ± 10.1	20.1 ± 9.5	22.5 ± 10.7
Triceps skinfold (mm)	17.8 ± 8.7	13.1 ± 6.2	22.9 ± 8.2
Protein Energy Wasting (yes)	35%	30%	40%
PEW score			
0–1	35%	30%	40%
2	48%	53%	43%
3	11%	11%	11%
4	6%	6%	6%
Bioimpedance Spectroscopy (BIS)			
Fat tissue mass (kg)	25.9 ± 10.8	24.4 ± 10.0	27.5 ± 11.3
Lean tissue mass (kg)	35.7 ± 10.8	41.4 ± 10.7	29.5 ± 6.6
Protein Energy Wasting (yes)	40%	46%	35%
PEW score			
0–1	40%	46%	35%
2	37%	31%	43%
3	15%	13%	17%
4	7%	10%	4%

PEW, Protein Energy Wasting.

We calculated the scores for the diagnosis of PEW at two distinct moments, at 3 and 6 months. Concordance in the diagnosis of PEW was moderate between anthropometry and BIS at both T3 and T6. The concordance was higher at T6 compared to T3. **Figure 2** depicts this concordance and the distribution of diagnosis in both moments for the two methods.

In contrast to the concordance observed for the diagnosis of PEW, the concordance was significantly reduced when we analyzed the total score. In line with our findings for PEW diagnosis, the scores at the time of 6 months had a better concordance compared to the 3-month results (**Figure 3**). In terms of the parameters that were constant between methods, and respectively at T3 and T6, the percentage of patients with serum albumin level <3.8 mg/dl was 56 and 58%, with BMI < 23 kg/m² was 18 and 19% and with a low dietary intake 20.5 and 21%.

To understand the lack of concordance between both methods, we analyzed the correlation and agreement for muscle and fat mass. There was a low to moderate correlation for muscle

mass in kilograms, with R^2 of 0.35 (**Figure 4**). At the bottom of **Figure 4** we show the distribution of delta values for muscle mass that contribute to the understanding of the larger variability between methods. In addition, we explored the same correlation but in the subgroup of patients with BMI below and above 30 kg/m². The R^2 for patients with BMI < 30 kg/m² was 0.32 and for those with BMI \geq 30 kg/m² 0.59 (**Supplementary Figures 2, 3**). In contrast to muscle mass, the correlation for fat mass was much better with an R^2 of 0.63.

Finally, we assessed the agreement with a Bland-Altmann curve. The agreement was poor, with a difference of more than 10 kg of muscle mass on average and with more than a quarter of all cases beyond limits of agreements (**Figure 5**). In contrast, the agreement for fat mass was apparently better, with a difference close to 1 kg. However, the variability was high with 30% of cases beyond the limits of agreement (**Supplementary Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

In this prospective, multicenter, cohort study, we observed a poor agreement for the diagnosis of PEW between anthropometry and BIS in PD patients. The main differences found were due to a lack of agreement in the quantification of the participants' muscle mass in PD patients. The muscle mass calculated using anthropometry was significantly greater compared to BIS for most patients. This lack of agreement is large, not acceptable, and can potentially impact clinical outcomes in the long term. Nevertheless, without data on patient outcomes, our study cannot endorse BIS as a reference method.

The incidence of PEW in chronic kidney disease patients (CKD) is high and increases unacceptably as the kidney function deteriorates (14). The peak in the prevalence of wasting occurs when a patient gets to dialysis, with some studies reporting signs of wasting in up to 75% of the study population (2, 7). In our cohort, the prevalence of PEW varied between 35 and 40% depending on whether we used, respectively, anthropometry or BIS for the diagnosis.

Early and correct diagnosis of PEW is of critical importance to minimize risks imposed by this condition. The ISRNM criteria for the diagnosis of PEW include repeated measurements of fat and muscle mass (7). However, great variability has been described among current body composition assessment techniques. In HD patients, the use of anthropometry to estimate fat mass performed better than bioimpedance using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) as the reference method (15, 16). Nevertheless, the recently published guideline for nutrition in CKD, by the Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (KDOQI), suggests the use of multi-frequency bioelectrical impedance to assess body composition for patients on maintenance HD with a level of evidence 2C. On the other hand, the evidence for patients on chronic PD is weaker (17).

The causes of PEW are multifactorial and include factors that promote inadequate nutrients intake or increase nutrient losses,



and the inflammatory process that generally follows the loss of kidney function (18). PD patients share some characteristics that make the diagnosis of PEW challenging and, consequently, may complicate nutritional diagnosis. One known factor is lower albumin levels compared to their counterparts on HD, which is caused largely by the constant loss of protein through the peritoneal membrane (6). Another important point that deserves discussion is related to the presence of peritoneal dialysate in the peritoneal cavity when performing bioimpedance. Data suggest that the presence of peritoneal dialysate could be a potential confounder for analyzing body composition, particularly for total body water and fat mass (19, 20). However, the same does not seem to apply for LBM, which was not altered by the presence of dialysate in the peritoneal cavity, as highlighted in the KDOQI guideline. In our study, we did not ask the patient to drain the peritoneal cavity.

Our study described a low concordance and agreement between conventional anthropometry and BIS for the calculation of LBM in PD patients. This lack of agreement occurred at all times of the study. In addition, the reported differences were similar among all three PD centers included in the study. In all three centers, both anthropometry and BIS were performed by three distinct and well-trained nutritionists. More importantly, we demonstrate that such differences had a direct impact on the score used for the diagnosis of PEW. Despite the systematic differences in terms of absolute muscle mass quantification, the low agreement for the diagnosis of PEW did not seem to follow a systematic pattern. Therefore, whether these differences will reflect a better capacity to predict outcomes in favor of any method is not possible to be answered at this moment. The cohort will be followed further in the upcoming years to answer this question. Subgroup analysis stratified by gender and BMI showed no sign of heterogeneity.

Our study has some limitations, which include the lack of data on prealbumin and dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry assessment. In contrast, we have some strengths, the sample size of the study was carefully calculated and based on a pilot study, we prospectively followed the patients for the diagnosis of PEW, and also the multicenter design. Again, it is important to reinforce that, at this stage of the study, our data cannot support BIS as the reference method.

In conclusion, current diagnosis of PEW may differ depending on the tools used to measure muscle mass in PD patients. Our cohort is being followed prospectively and, in the future, we hope to understand which method is better for the predicting outcomes, including hospitalization and mortality.







The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.





ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Pontifical Catholic University of Paraná. The

patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CR-S, GB, NS, FN, and TdM: data curation. TdM: methodology, formal analysis, and funding acquisition. CR-S, NR, GB, NS, FN, and TdM: investigation. CR-S, FN, and TdM: project administration. GB, FN, and TdM: resources. TdM and FN: supervision and visualization. CR-S, NS, and FN: validation. TdM and CR-S: writing of original draft. CR-S, NR, NS, FN, and TdM: writing review and editing.

REFERENCES

- Jadeja YP, Kher V. Protein energy wasting in chronic kidney disease: an update with focus on nutritional interventions to improve outcomes. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2012) 16:246–51. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.93743
- Leinig CE, Moraes T, Ribeiro S, Riella MC, Olandoski M, Martins C, et al. Predictive value of malnutrition markers for mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients. *J Renal Nutr.* (2011) 21:176–83. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2010.06.026
- Kim SM, Kang BC, Kim HJ, Kyung MS, Oh HJ, Kim JH, et al. Comparison of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients' dietary behaviors. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:91. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-01744-6
- 4. Zheng ZH, Sederholm F, Anderstam B, Qureshi AR, Wang T, Sodersten P, et al. Acute effects of peritoneal dialysis solutions on appetite in non-uremic rats. *Kidney Int.* (2001) 60:2392–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00075.x
- Grodstein GP, Blumenkrantz MJ, Kopple JD, Moran JK, Coburn JW. Glucose absorption during continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* (1981) 19:564–7. doi: 10.1038/ki.1981.53
- Blumenkrantz MJ, Gahl GM, Kopple JD, Kamdar AV, Jones MR, Kessel M, et al. Protein losses during peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* (1981) 19:593–602. doi: 10.1038/ki.1981.57
- Fouque D, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kopple J, Cano N, Chauveau P, Cuppari L, et al. A proposed nomenclature and diagnostic criteria for protein-energy wasting in acute and chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2008) 73:391– 8. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002585
- Stenberg J, Henriksson C, Lindberg M, Furuland H. Perspectives on clinical use of bioimpedance in hemodialysis: focus group interviews with renal care professionals. *BMC Nephrol.* (2018) 19:121. doi: 10.1186/s12882-018-0907-4
- Marcelli D, Usvyat LA, Kotanko P, Bayh I, Canaud B, Etter M, et al. Body composition and survival in dialysis patients: results from an international cohort study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2015) 10:1192– 200. doi: 10.2215/CJN.08550814
- Caetano C, Valente A, Oliveira T, Garagarza C. Body composition and mortality predictors in hemodialysis patients. J Ren Nutr. (2016) 26:81– 6. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2015.10.005
- Durnin JV, Womersley J. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. *Br J Nutr.* (1974) 32:77– 97. doi: 10.1079/BJN19740060
- Frisancho AR. New norms of upper limb fat and muscle areas for assessment of nutritional status. Am J Clin Nutr. (1981) 34:2540– 5. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/34.11.2540
- Chamney PW, Wabel P, Moissl UM, Muller MJ, Bosy-Westphal A, Korth O, et al. whole-body model to distinguish excess fluid from the hydration of major body tissues. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 85:80–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ 85.1.80
- 14. Claro LM, Moreno-Amaral AN, Gadotti AC, Dolenga CJ, Nakao LS, Azevedo MLV, et al. The impact of uremic toxicity induced inflammatory response

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Fresenius Medical Care for providing electrodes for the exams.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.702749/full#supplementary-material

on the cardiovascular burden in chronic kidney disease. *Toxins.* (2018) 10:100384. doi: 10.3390/toxins10100384

- Rymarz A, Szamotulska K, Niemczyk S. Comparison of skinfold thicknesses and bioimpedance spectroscopy to dual-energy X-Ray absorptiometry for the body fat measurement in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2017) 32:533–8. doi: 10.1177/0884533617692528
- Kamimura MA, Avesani CM, Cendoroglo M, Canziani ME, Draibe SA, Cuppari L. Comparison of skinfold thicknesses and bioelectrical impedance analysis with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry for the assessment of body fat in patients on long-term haemodialysis therapy. *Nephrol Dial Transplantat.* (2003) 18:101–5. doi: 10.1093/ndt/18.1.101
- Ikizler TA, Burrowes JD, Byham-Gray LD, Campbell KL, Carrero JJ, Chan W, et al. KDOQI clinical practice guideline for nutrition in CKD: 2020 update. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2020) (3Suppl.1):S1–107. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.05.006
- Kalantar-Zadeh K, Ikizler TA, Block G, Avram MM, Kopple JD. Malnutrition-inflammation complex syndrome in dialysis patients: causes and consequences. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2003) 42:864–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ajkd.2003.07.016
- Davenport A. Does peritoneal dialysate affect body composition assessments using multi-frequency bioimpedance in peritoneal dialysis patients? *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2013) 67:223–5. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2012.205
- Kang SH, Cho KH, Park JW, Yoon KW, Do JY. Body composition measurements using bioimpedance analysis in peritoneal dialysis patients are affected by the presence of dialysate. *Nephrology.* (2014) 19:727– 31. doi: 10.1111/nep.12322

Conflict of Interest: TdM is a speaker of AstraZeneca, Bayer, Baxter, Boehringer-Lilly, Siemmens and Takeda; TdM has a research grant from Baxter Brazil.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Roth-Stefanski, Rodrigues de Almeida, Biagini, Scatone, Nerbass and de Moraes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Peritoneal Dialysis in the Treatment of Acute Kidney Injury in Patients With Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure: A Prospective Brazilian Study

Daniela Ponce^{1*†}, Welder Zamoner^{2†}, Dayana Bitencourt Dias^{2†}, Erica Pires da Rocha^{2†}, Christiane Kojima^{2†} and André Luís Balbi^{1†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thyago Moraes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Cheuk Chun Szeto, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, China Simon J. Davies, Keele University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence: Daniela Ponce daniela.ponce@unesp.br orcid.org/0000-0002-6178-6938

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 21 May 2021 Accepted: 27 August 2021 Published: 23 September 2021

Citation:

Ponce D, Zamoner W, Dias DB, Pires da Rocha E, Kojima C and Balbi AL (2021) The Role of Peritoneal Dialysis in the Treatment of Acute Kidney Injury in Patients With Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure: A Prospective Brazilian Study. Front. Med. 8:713160. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.713160 ¹ Department of Internal Medicine, Botucatu Medical School – University of São Paulo State – UNESP, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Botucatu Medical School – University of São Paulo State – UNESP, São Paulo, Brazil

This study aimed to explore the role of peritoneal dialysis (PD) in acute-on-chronic liver disease (ACLD) in relation to metabolic and fluid control and outcome. Fifty-three patients were treated by PD (prescribed Kt/V = 0.40/session), with a flexible catheter, tidal modality, using a cycler and lactate as a buffer. The mean age was 64.8 ± 13.4 years, model of end stage liver disease (MELD) was $31 \pm 6,58.5\%$ were in the intensive care unit, 58.5% needed intravenous inotropic agents including terlipressin, 69.5% were on mechanical ventilation, alcoholic liver disease was the main cause of cirrhosis and the main dialysis indications were uremia and hypervolemia. Blood urea and creatinine levels stabilized after four sessions at around 50 and 2.5 mg/dL, respectively. Negative fluid balance (FB) and ultrafiltration (UF) increased progressively and stabilized around 3.0 L and -2.7 L/day, respectively. Weekly-delivered Kt/V was 2.7 \pm 0.37, and 71.7% of patients died. Five factors met the criteria for inclusion in the multivariable analysis. Logistic regression identified as risk factors associated with Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) in ACLD patients: MELD (OR = 1.14, CI 95% = 1.09-2.16, p = 0.001), nephrotoxic AKI (OR = 0.79, CI 95% = 0.61-0.93, p = 0.02), mechanical ventilation (OR = 1.49, CI)95% = 1.14-2.97, p < 0.001), and positive fluid balance (FB) after two PD sessions (OR = 1.08, Cl 95% = 1.03–1.91, p = 0.007). These factors were significantly associated with death. In conclusion, our study suggests that careful prescription may contribute to providing adequate treatment for most Acute-on-Chronic Liver Failure (ACLF) patients without contraindications for PD use, allowing adequate metabolic and fluid control, with no increase in the number of infectious or mechanical complications. MELD, mechanical complications and FB were factors associated with mortality, while nephrotoxic AKI was a protective factor. Further studies are needed to better investigate the role of PD in ACLF patients with AKI.

Keywords: liver cirrhosis, acute-on-chronic liver disease, acute kidney injury, peritoneal dialysis, mortality

INTRODUCTION

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a common complication of acuteon-chronic liver failure (ACLF), occurring in up to 20% of hospitalized cirrhotic patients (1). The main reasons for the development of AKI in patients with decompensated cirrhosis are infections, hypovolemia associated with bleeding or the use of diuretics, nephrotoxicity (drug-induced or contrast-induced nephropathy), hepatorenal syndrome (HRS), and parenchymal nephropathy (2–4).

A large study of 463 hospitalized ACLF patients with AKI evaluated the frequency and prognosis of the different etiologies of AKI. This study demonstrated that the most frequent cause of AKI among cirrhotic patients was bacterial infection (46%), followed by volume depletion (32%), HRS (13%), and parenchymal nephropathy (9%). Among infections, spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP) and spontaneous bacteremia were the most common. The 90-day mortality was high (60%), but it was particularly high among patients with AKI associated with infections or HRS (2) and among patients that needed kidney replacement therapy (KRT), reaching 80% (2–5).

KRT may be considered as a rescue therapy for patients with decompensated end-stage liver disease, for whom pharmacological treatment is ineffective and there are no contraindications for liver transplantation (6). The indication for KRT follows standard guidelines and is not specific to patients with cirrhosis and AKI. Conventional indications include volume overload not responding to diuretics, uremia, metabolic acidosis and refractory hyperkalemia. In patients with HRS, KRT should be indicated in the absence of response or adverse reaction to vasoconstrictors (5, 6).

Liver transplantation is the only treatment modality for the reversal of AKI associated with HRS (HRS-AKI) in the cirrhotic setting, while KRT is a bridging therapy aimed at keeping the patient alive until receiving the graft (6–9). The assessment of prognosis, eligibility for liver transplantation, and advanced stages of cirrhosis should be considered before KRT to avoid futile treatments (7–9).

Acceptable KRT methods are intermittent (iHD) or prolonged HD (PHD), continuous haemofiltration or continuous haemodiafiltration (CRRT), and peritoneal dialysis (PD). The choice of the dialytic method is critical in decompensated cirrhotic patients. Hypotensive reactions and blood clotting abnormalities are more frequent during haemodialysis (HD) in cirrhotic patients than in patients with an intact liver. The most important limiting factor of intermittent HD is haemodynamic instability and PHD; CRRT and PD may be better tolerated (8, 10, 11). PD is also able to remove ascites fluid, does not increase the number of complications, and does not expose patients to anticoagulants (12).

Given the paucity of evidence in this important area, the aim of this study was first to investigate the in-hospital mortality of ACLF patients treated using PD; second, to determine the metabolic and fluid control, and third to identify the risk factors associated with death.

METHODS

Study Population

This study is a sub-analysis of a larger retrospective observational study that investigated the epidemiology of AKI and its effect on patient outcomes across time periods (13). This study was separately approved by the Ethics Committee of Botucatu School of Medicine University Hospital, Sao Paulo, Brazil (protocol 30457414.7.0000.5411). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients or relatives prior to their inclusion in the study. Decompensated cirrhotic patients who had been consecutively treated by HVPD were evaluated between July 2012 and June 2020.

Patients who were hospitalized with ACLF as the primary diagnosis and had ischemic or nephrotoxic stage 3 AKI according to the KDIGO criteria were eligible for enrolment (14). Definitions of ACLF and the hepatorenal syndrome type of AKI were based on those from the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and European Association for the Study of the Liver (15). Indications for dialysis were uremia or azotemia (blood urea nitrogen [BUN] >100 mg/dL), hypervolemia (after diuretic use), electrolyte imbalance (K >6.5 mEq/L after clinical treatment), and acid-base disturbance (pH <7.1 and bicarbonate <10 mEq/L after clinical treatment) (13-15). Exclusion criteria were age under 18 years, advanced chronic kidney disease (CKD) [glomerular filtration rate lower than 30 mL/min, using the baseline creatinine and CKD-EPI formula (16)], renal transplantation, pregnancy, other etiologies of AKI (post-renal and glomerulonephritis), and absolute contraindication for PD (recent abdominal surgery [<1 month], multiple abdominal surgeries [>3], severe hyperkalemia with electrocardiogram [EKG] changes, severe respiratory failure [fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO₂) >70%], acute pulmonary oedema) (17–19). Acute pulmonary oedema was diagnosed based on the patient's history (abrupt onset), clinical examination (orthopnea, severe respiratory distress, and rales and crackles over lungs), chest X ray (diffuse alveolar or interstitial oedema), and oxygen desaturation (<90% in room air).

If patients presented any one of these contraindications, they were treated by intermittent conventional or prolonged HD according to their haemodynamic instability.

Study Protocol

The PD was performed according to previous studies by Ponce et al. and the ISPD guidelines for peritoneal dialysis in AKI: 2020 update (17–20). The prescribed Kt/V was 0.4/session, total volume ranged from 18 to 32 L/day, and a tidal modality was used to avoid the removal of all ascites fluid. Peritoneal access was established by blind percutaneous placement of a flexible catheter using the Seldinger technique. Cephazolin was used as a prophylactic antibiotic to cover PD catheter insertion. Patients were treated with continuous PD and exchanges with Dianeal PD solution (Na = 135 mEq/L, Ca = 3.5 mEq/L, K = 0 mEq/L, Mg = 1.5 mEq/L, lactate = 40 mEq/L, 1.5–2.5% dextrose) were performed using a HOMECHOICE cycler. To evaluate the adequacy of the dialysis, delivered Kt/V, ultrafiltration (UF), and fluid balance (FB) were calculated daily. Baseline body weight was recorded at initial hospital admission. Oliguria was defined as urine output <0.5 mL/kg/h for at least 6 h. The cumulative FB was registered 48 h before starting dialysis. To quantify the cumulative FB over 2 days in relation to body weight, we used the following formula: sum of daily (fluid intake [L] – total output [L])/body weight (kg). We used the term percentage of fluid accumulation to define the percentage of cumulative FB adjusted for body weight. We defined fluid overload (FO) as fluid accumulation >5% of the baseline weight (21).

Other variables, including comorbidity, laboratory investigations, urine output, number of dialysis sessions, need for mechanical ventilation, presence of haemodynamic instability, model of end stage liver disease (MELD), duration of hospitalization, and causes of mortality were analyzed. Thereafter, ACLF patients treated with HVPD were divided into two groups (survival and no survival) and compared.

The protocol was interrupted when there was partial recovery in renal function (urine output >1,000 mL/day and progressive drop in creatinine [<4 mg/dL] and BUN levels [<50 mg/dL]), a need to change dialysis method because of infectious or mechanical complications, failure of HVPD to remove fluid and solute, more than 28 days of follow-up, or death.

Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as mean and standard deviation or median, according to normality characteristics for each variable. Student's t-test was used to compare parametric variables between two groups and the Mann-Whitney test was used for non-parametric variables. Categorical variables were expressed as proportions and compared with the chi-square or Fisher's exact test. Variables with significant univariate associations were considered as candidates for multivariable analysis. Longitudinal multivariable logistic regression was performed using backward variable selection, with the exit criteria set at p < 0.25. Variables not selected by the automated procedure were added back into the models individually to evaluate residual confounding and covariance, and we tested for colinearity among all variables using univariate analysis to identify possible associated confounding variables. Subsequently, through the construction of a logistic regression model, multivariate analysis was performed with odds ratio (OR) calculations, including all independent variables that showed association with the mortality, with $p \leq 0.20$.

All statistical analyses were performed on an intention-totreat basis using SPSS 17.0 for Windows statistical software (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA), with a two-sided p < 0.05 considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

During the study period (8 years), a total of 132 ACLF patients were treated by dialysis: 53 by PD (40.1%) and 79 by HD (59.9%), of which 35 were treated by conventional and 44 by prolonged HD. Patients treated using HD had relative contraindications for PD use. The main of them were spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (51%) and need for an inspired oxygen fraction >70% (36.7%).

Generally, in our hospital, we use PD primarily as a treatment option for AKI patients who do not present contraindications for this method.

The mean age was 64.8 ± 13.4 years, 38 patients were male (71.7%), 52.8% were Caucasian, 20.7% had hypertension, and 24.5% had diabetes mellitus. MELD at hospital admission was 31 ± 6 and the patient mean weight was 59.6 ± 6.5 kg; 58.4% of weight measurements were obtained by digital scale, 16.9% by bed scale and 24.6% were calculated from two-variable formulas. Most patients (58.5%) were in the intensive care unit (ICU) and 41.5% were in the wards. A total of 77.4% of the patients had been hospitalized for decompensated cirrhosis during the previous year. Ischaemic acute tubular necrosis (iATN) was the most common cause of AKI (60.4%), followed by nephrotoxic ATN AKI (24.5%), and hepatorenal syndrome (HRS) (18.0%).

Alcoholic liver disease was the main cause of cirrhosis HF (50.9%), followed by viral hepatitis B and C (28.3%), and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (20.8%). The main precipitating causes of decompensation were infection or sepsis (37, 69.8%) and variceal bleeding (13, 24.5%).

Before indication for dialysis, all patients received at least 1 mg/kg of intravenous furosemide twice a day, 58.5% needed intravenous inotropic agents including terlipressin, and 69.8% were on mechanical ventilation. The median number of HVPD sessions was 5 (4–8, 10).

Table 1 shows the improvement of metabolic control and FB after PD initiation. Blood urea nitrogen and creatinine levels stabilized after 4 sessions and bicarbonate and pH levels after 3 sessions. The mean UF increased steadily from 1 to 3 sessions and stabilized after 4 sessions at around 2.6 L/day. There was a progressive increase in negative FB from 1 to 3 HVPD sessions, with FB stabilization after 3 sessions at around -2.7 L/day. **Table 2** shows the prescribed and delivered dialysis dose parameters. The delivered urea Kt/V was 0.38 ± 0.06 per session and 2.7 ± 0.37 /week.

Peritonitis related to PD occurred in six patients (11.3%) after 9.6 \pm 2.3 PD sessions. Four patients (66.7%) had the catheter removed and the dialysis method changed because of no improvement in laboratory or clinical parameters after 5 days of correct antibiotic treatment. The main etiologic agents were *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* or fungi. Antibiotic treatment was maintained from 14 to 21 days.

Only four patients presented mechanical complications (7.6%), with leakage being the most frequent (75%), without need for interruption of therapy. The dialysate volume per cycle was reduced from 30 to 20 ml/kg per cycle (around 1,200 mL/cycle). Only one patients had wound bleeding.

Change in the dialysis method occurred in three patients (5.7%) due to refractory peritonitis. Concerning patient outcome, eight (15.1%) recovered renal function, while seven patients (13.2%) were kept on dialysis after hospital discharge. Inhospital mortality was 71.7% (9) and the main cause of death was sepsis (81.6%). Among the survivors, recovery of kidney function was 53.3% at hospital discharge. After 90 days, only nine patients were alive (16.9%). **Figure 1** shows the acute-on-chronic liver failure patients outcome treated with PD.

				Sessions			
	Pré	1	2	3	4	5	6
	N = 53	N = 52	<i>N</i> = 50	<i>N</i> = 41	<i>N</i> = 32	<i>N</i> = 20	<i>N</i> = 15
BUN (mg/dl)	101 ± 31	89 ± 28	79 ± 22	63 ± 19	51 ± 14	48 ± 12	46 ± 10
Cr (mg/dl)	3.1 ± 1.2	3.2 ± 1.4	2.8 ± 0.8	2.4 ± 0.8	2.1 ± 0.9	2.3 ± 0.7	2.2 ± 0.6
Bic (mEq/L)	16.8 ± 3.7	17.4 ± 4.2	21.9 ± 4.2	22.7 ± 3.6	22.5 ± 3.8	23.1 ± 3.4	23.2 ± 3.2
рН	7.24 ± 0.1	7.28 ± 0.1	7.31 ± 0.2	7.32 ± 0.2	7.31 ± 0.2	7.33 ± 0.3	7.34 ± 0.2
К	5.4 ± 0.8	4.7 ± 0.7	4.2 ± 0.4	4.0 ± 0.3	3.8 ± 0.3	4.0 ± 0.3	3.8 ± 0.2
UF (I/d)	-	2.1 ± 0.8	2.9 ± 0.9	2.8 ± 0.9	2.7 ± 0.8	2.9 ± 0.7	2.8 ± 0.8
FB (l/day)	5.8 ± 1.9	-0.7 ± 0.4	-1.9 ± 0.9	-2.2 ± 1.7	-2.3 ± 0.8	-2.1 ± 0.7	-2.3 ± 0.7
Lactate (mmol)	2.4 ± 0.8	2.9 ± 1.1	2.74 ± 0.9	2.6 ± 0.9	2.5 ± 0.7	2.8 ± 0.9	2.7 ± 0.8
Sodium (mEq/L)	128 ± 11	129 ± 09	131 ± 11	130 ± 10	133 ± 08	132 ± 09	131 ± 07
Platelet count (/mm ³)	65.230 ± 13.120	61.720 ± 12.170	62.350 ± 10.962	59.310 ± 9.460	62.770 ± 12.580	61.180 ± 10.470	64.219 ± 10.116

TABLE 1 | Serum BUN, creatinine (Cr), bicarbonate (Bic), pH, potassium (K), ultrafiltration (UF), and fluid balance (FB) at the beginning of treatment and after each session of peritoneal dialysis in acute-on-chronic liver failure patients.

BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Cr, creatinine; Bic, bicarbonate; K, potassium; UF, ultrafiltration; FB, fluid balance.

Variables	
Dialysate volume per cycle (ml)	30 ml/kg (1,500–2,100 ml
Inflow time (min)	10
Dwell time (min)	50–90
Outflow time (min)	20
Cycle duration (min)	80–120
Total exchanges per session	10–20
Session duration (h)	24
Total dialysate volume per session (I)	18–32
% glucose	1.5–2.5
Prescribed Kt/V	
Per session	0.4
Weekly	2.8
Delivered Kt/V	
Per session	0.38 ± 0.06^{a}
Weekly	$2.7\pm0.37^{\mathrm{a}}$

^aWithout significant difference from prescribed Kt/V.

Survivors (S) and non-survivors (NS) in-hospital were similar in gender, cause of cirrhosis and vasoactive drug use. Azotemia was the main indication for dialysis in both groups. There was no difference in metabolic control between the S and NS patients. The groups had similar values of delivered Kt/V per session and weekly (NS: 0.36 ± 0.11 vs. S: 0.38 ± 0.12 , p = 0.57, and NS: 2.52 ± 0.7 vs. S: 2.66 ± 0.8 , p = 0.58) and rate of infectious and mechanical complications related to PD (NS: 10.5 vs. S: 6.9%, p = 0.81, and NS: 7.9 vs. S: 6.7%, p = 0.68).

There was a difference between the groups in terms of age (NS: 67.4 ± 11.7 vs. S: 60.6 ± 10.6 , p < 0.001), MELD (NS: 32 ± 11 vs. S: 21 ± 8 , p < 0.001), nephrotoxic ATN as the cause of AKI (NS: 7.9% vs. S: 53.3%, p < 0.001), mechanical ventilation (NS: 84.2 vs. S: 33.3%, p < 0.001), urine output at day of dialysis indication

(NS: 348 ± 77 vs. S: 888 ± 252 mL), and number of PD sessions [NS: 4 (3–6) vs. S: 7 (4–9)], FO and UF from the 2nd to 4th PD sessions (**Tables 3**, 4). Survivors presented higher UF and lower FB than non-survivors.

Five factors met the criteria for inclusion in the multivariable analysis: age, nephrotoxic AKI, mechanical ventilation, MELD, and FO after two sessions. MELD (OR = 1.14, CI 95% = 1.09–2.16, p = 0.001), nephrotoxic AKI (OR = 0.79, CI 95% = 0.61–0.93, p = 0.02), mechanical ventilation (OR = 1.49, CI 95% = 1.14–2.97, p < 0.001), and positive FB after two PD sessions (OR = 1.08, CI 95% = 1.03–1.91, p = 0.007) were associated significantly with death, as shown in **Table 5**.

DISCUSSION

The interest in PD for treatment of AKI patients has increased, and PD is actually used in developing countries because of its lower cost and minimal infrastructural requirements. Studies from these countries have shown that, with careful thought and planning, critically ill patients can be successfully treated using PD, achieving adequate metabolic and fluid control, and a mortality rate around 50% (13, 16–19). Recently, the pandemic of SARS-CoV-2 infection has overwhelmed HD capacity worldwide and acute PD has been an excellent alternative in developed countries as well (22–25).

In this study, we evaluated the role of PD in treating ACLF patients with AKI. Concerning infectious complications, the rate of peritonitis was similar to that reported in the literature (11–15%). Most of the patients who had their catheter removed and dialysis method changed underwent this due to lack of success with the treatment. The main mechanical complication was leakage and complications were less frequent than those reported in previous studies (16–19). We believe mechanical complications were less frequent because patients had ascites fluid, which made the catheter implantation technique easier, decreasing the migration of the catheter tips. Leakage was the most frequent (75%) mechanical complication, although it did



TABLE 3 | Acute-on-chronic liver failure patients distribution treated with peritoneal dialysis according to outcome and main clinical and laboratory characteristics.

	General ($n = 53$)	No-survival (n =38)	Survival ($n = 15$)	Р
Age (years)	64.8 ± 13.4	67.4 ± 11.7	60.6 ± 10.6	0.001
Male sex (%)	38 (71.7)	27 (71.1)	11 (73.3)	0.97
Weight (kg)	59.6 ± 6.5	57.6 ± 6.1	61.4 ± 6.7	0.08
Diabetes (%)	13 (24.5)	9 (23.1)	4 (26.6)	0.96
Dialysis indication				
Azotemia-uremia (%)	38 (71.7)	28 (73.7)	10 (66.7)	0.94
Hyperkalemia (%)	8 (15.1)	4 (10.6)	4 (26.7)	0.21
Hypervolemia (%)	5 (9.4)	4 (10.5)	1 (6.7)	0.61
Others* (%)	2 (3.7)	2 (5.3)	O (O)	0.82
AKI etiology (%)				
Ischaemic AKI	32 (60.4)	28 (73.7)	4 (26.6)	0.005
Nephrotoxic AKI	11 (20.8)	3 (7.9)	8 (53.3)	<0.001
HRS AKI	10 (18.9)	7 (18.4)	3 (20)	0.98
Cause of cirrhosis (%)				
Alcoholic liver disease	27 (50.9)	18 (47.4)	9 (60)	0.61
Viral hepatitis	15 (28.3)	10 (26.3)	5 (33.3)	0.73
Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease	11 (20.8)	10 (26.3)	1 (6.7)	0.14
Causes of precipitating decompensation (%)				
Variceal bleeding	13 (24.5)	8 (21)	5 (33)	0.48
Infectious or sepsis	37 (69.8)	28 (73.7)	9 (60)	0.97
MELD	31 ± 6	33.8 ± 11.2	24.9 ± 8.5	< 0.001
FO pre dialyis (%)	22 (41.4)	16 (42.1)	6 (40)	0.86
Mechanical ventilation (%)	37 (69.8)	32 (84.2)	5 (33.3)	0.003
Vasoactive drugs (%)	31 (58.5)	25 (65.8)	6 (40)	0.15
Urine output (ml)	582 ± 161	348 ± 77	888 ± 252	0.04
PD complications (%)				
Peritonitis	6 (11.3)	4 (10.5)	2 (13.3)	0.92
Mechanical (leakage)	4 (7.6)	3 (7.9)	1 (6.7)	0.97
Number of sessions (days)	5 (4–9)	4 (3–6)	7 (4–9)	0.03

AKI, acute kidney injury; FO, fluid overload; HRS, hepatorenal syndrome; MELD, model of end stage liver disease; *Others, acidosis, more than one indication; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

TABLE 4 Acute-on-chronic liver failure patients distribution treated with high volume peritoneal dialysis according to outcome and metabolic control.

	No-survival ($n = 38$)	Survival ($n = 15$)	Р
Pre BUN (mg dl)	103.7 ± 28.3	103.7 ± 28.3 109.7 ± 39.9	
Pre creatinine (mg dl)	5.2 ± 2.8 5.4 ± 2.3		0.79
BUN after (mg dl)			
1st session	95 ± 42	89 ± 32	0.34
2nd session	86 ± 31	79 ± 21	0.29
3rd session	71 ± 27	68 ± 19	0.39
4th session	62 ± 18	51 ± 22	0.41
5th session	54 ± 15	49 ± 11	0.57
Creatinine after (mg dl)			
1st session	5.1 ± 1.5	5.4 ± 1.6	0.64
2nd session	4.6 ± 1.2	4.9 ± 1.4	0.61
3rd session	4.3 ± 1.3	4.7 ± 1.5	0.76
4th session	3.9 ± 1.1	4.2 ± 1.3	0.47
5th session	3.7 ± 1.1	4.1 ± 1.2	0.71
Bicarbonate after (mg dl)			
1st session	16.4 ± 4.7	18.1 ± 4.9	0.54
2nd session	20.1 ± 4.3	21.1 ± 4.7	0.59
3rd session	21.2 ± 3.5	21.9 ± 4.5	0.69
4th session	22.5 ± 3.4	22.8 ± 4.4	0.71
5th session	22.8 ± 3.1 23.7 ± 4.1		0.77
UF after			
1st session	0.83 (-0.33 to 1.5)	1.3 (-0.8 to 1.5)	0.14
2nd session	1.9 (0.9–2.8)	2.8 (0.9–3.3)	0.05
3rd session	1.4 (0.8–2.3)	2.9 (1.0–3.7)	0.04
4th session	2.1 (0.8–2.4)	2.9 (1.4–3.4)	0.06
5th session	2.4 (0.9–1.6)	2.8 (1.9–3.3)	0.11
FB after			
1st session	1.22 ± 0.4	0.8 ± 0.1	0.37
2nd session	-1.69 ± 0.4	-2.88 ± 0.7	0.04
3rd session	-1.96 ± 0.9 -3.15 ± 0.1		0.03
4th session	-2.15 ± 1.1	-3.19 ± 1.1	0.04
5th session	-2.51 ± 0.8	-2.92 ± 0.9	0.09
Delivered Kt/ V			
Per session	0.36 ± 0.11 0.38 ± 0.12		0.57
Weekly	2.52 ± 0.7	2.66 ± 0.8	0.58

After the second PD session.

FO, fluid overload; FB, fluid balance.

not lead to interruption of therapy. The dialysate volume per cycle was reduced from 30 to 20 mL/kg per cycle (around 1,200 mL/cycle) and PD treatment was performed successfully.

In this series, both the in-hospital mortality rate and recovery of kidney function were worse than those found by previous studies that used PD for treating AKI patients, mainly cardiorrenal syndrome (CRS) type 1 and septic patients (13, 16–19, 26), and similar to other studies that treated cirrhotic patients by HD and CRRT (8, 10, 11).

In the first situation, we believe these differences occurred because ACLF patients have more severe disease than CRS type 1 or septic non-cirrhotic patients. Unfortunately, there are no controlled studies evaluating the indications, choice of dialysis methods, and effectiveness of dialysis in ACLF patients and the benefits of KRT remain controversial.

According to the literature, KRT should be considered for severe AKI, particularly for those patients on the waiting list for liver transplantation. The indications for KRT are not specific for patients with cirrhosis, and include uremia, volume overload, severe hyperkalemia, and severe metabolic acidosis, as described in our study. In patients with HRS, KRT should be indicated in the absence of response or adverse reaction to vasoconstrictors. Currently, both kidney and liver support in clinical studies did not show any survival advantage (11, 27, 28). The assessment of prognosis, eligibility for liver transplantation, and stage of ACLF should be considered before KRT to avoid futile treatments.

TABLE 5 Association (with $p < 0.25$) between multiple adjusted patient	t and
peritoneal dialysis characteristics and death.	

Variables	OR (CI 95%)	Р
Age (per 1 year)	1.02 (0.98–1.06)	0.18
Nephrotoxic ATN	0.85 (0.71–0.92)	0.02
Mechanical ventilation	1.17 (1.09–2.99)	0.03
MELD	1.35 (1.27–4.11)	0.01
*Positive FB (per 1 I/day)	1.49 (1.34–3.87)	0.03

ATN, acute tubular necrosis; FB, fluid balance (from 2nd to 4th peritoneal dialysis session); FB, fluid balance (I/day after the second HVPD session).

*After 2 dialysis session.

The choice of the dialytic method in decompensated cirrhosis or ACLF patients is critical and difficult to make. Worsening of circulatory dysfunction (i.e., severe arterial hypotension) during KRT is a major concern as it may cause organ failure. RRT is particularly poorly tolerated in patients with HRS, due to the profound haemodynamic disturbances that are characteristic of this syndrome.

Acceptable KRT methods are IHD, PHD, CVVT, and PD. The most important limiting factor of intermittent therapies is haemodynamic instability. Hypotension during KRT is associated with dialysis technique (volume and ultrafiltration rate, reduction of plasmatic osmolality) and patient characteristics (hypovolemia, vasodilation, liver failure) (5–8, 10, 11, 29, 30). Hypotension decreases the effectiveness of RRT and aggravates ischemic injury, delaying the recovery of kidney function. When compared to intermittent therapies, continuous methods offer greater haemodynamic stability, and are often preferred for patients with arterial hypotension (29–31).

Thrombocytopenia and coagulopathy limit the use of heparin or other anticoagulants during KRT. However, these coagulation disorders found in patients with cirrhosis do not protect patients against thrombosis during KRT (30). Regional citrate anticoagulation can be an alternative. However, citrate is metabolized by the liver and body clearance can be reduced in critically ill cirrhotic patients. In addition, citrate clearance cannot be predicted by standard liver function tests and serum ionized calcium level and blood pH should be monitored in haemodialysed cirrhotic patients.

Regarding the mode of dialysis, CRRT does not improve mortality in comparison with IHD; however, CRRT may be well-tolerated in patients with unstable conditions, including fulminant hepatic failure, as it does not raise intracranial pressure (28). Indeed, the ADQI group recommends KRT only in cases with acute reversible components.

In this scenario, PD may be better tolerated by cirrhotic patients than HD, with no increase in the number of complications, enabling removal of the ascites fluid, and not exposing patients to anticoagulants.

According to the Recommendations of the Brazilian Society of Hepatology for the management of acute kidney injury in patients with cirrhosis, PD should not be routinely used due to the increased risk of infections and mechanical complications. However, there is no previous study that has evaluated the use of PD in ACLF patients with AKI. The same groups also recommend the use of dialysis solutions with bicarbonate for patients with hyperlactatemia and regional anticoagulation (only in the dialysis circuit) for severe coagulopathy (5).

Our study showed encouraging results for BUN, creatinine, bicarbonate, and pH levels. Metabolic and fluid control were achieved after 3 or 4 PD sessions using continuous PD and prescribed Kt/V of 0.4. We prescribed a tidal modality to avoid the removal of all ascites fluid. Despite the poor lactic acid metabolism observed in patients with liver disease, we used lactate buffer and there was no increase in lactate levels and acidosis was corrected.

There was no significant difference between the survivors and non-survivors treated with PD in relation to metabolic control and delivered dialysis dose, which is consistent with previous studies on PD treatment for AKI (13, 16–19, 26).

Non-survivors had more severe clinical parameters and prognostic scores than survivors, such as higher age and MELD at hospital admission, and more patients needed mechanical ventilation. The two groups differed in the etiology of AKI, and FO after PD start. After two HVPD sessions, FB was significantly more negative in survivors than in non-survivors. Our results agree with previous studies, including systematic reviews, which have shown that FO is a risk factor and predictor of death in critical patients (21, 26, 32, 33).

In our study, positive FB was associated with higher mortality. Previous studies reported similar results. In a European multicenter trial, Payen et al. observed positive FB as a risk factor for mortality in 60 days in critical AKI patients (34). Wang et al. (21) in a multicenter ICU study showed the FB was greater in patients with AKI than in patients without AKI and that a higher cumulative FB was an important factor associated with 28-day mortality following AKI. A retrospective analysis of post-operative percentage FO in patients at AKI stage 3 after cardiac surgery showed that FO >7.2% was significantly associated with reduced 90-day survival [p < 0.001; (35)].

To the best our knowledge, this study is unique in providing detailed insights into PD treatment for ACLF patients and identifying risk factors for death.

Some limitations of this study must be considered. Firstly, the study was performed in a single center and the number of patients was small. Secondly, it was an observational study and PD treatment was not compared with another dialysis modality. Thirdly, it must also be recognized that FO is a feature of acute kidney disease of any cause and the lack of confirmatory investigations such as concurrent echocardiography or cardiac biomarker data for all out-patients is a limitation. Fourth, we did not perform a multivariate analysis for late mortality because we believe it was not appropriate for predicting survival given that only six deaths occurred. Finally, there are many factors that affect the prognosis of patients with ACLF. MELD, and FO are two of these factors, but we need to perform a propensity analysis to further explore this issue. In conclusion, the findings of our study suggest that careful prescription may contribute to providing adequate treatment for most ACLF patients without contraindications for PD use, allowing adequate metabolic and fluid control, with no increase in the number of infectious or mechanical complications. MELD, mechanical complications, and FB were factors associated with mortality, while nephrotoxic AKI was a protective factor. Further studies are needed to better investigate the role of PD in ACLF patients with AKI, comparing it with other haemodialysis modalities in the treatment for these patients.

TRANSPARENCY DECLARATION

The lead authors (DP and AB) confirm that the manuscript is an honest, accurate, and transparent account of the study being reported; that no important aspects of the study have been omitted; and that any discrepancies from the study as originally planned (and, if relevant, registered) have been explained.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Fede G, D'Amico G, Arvaniti V, Tsochatzis E, Germani G, Georgiadis D, et al. Renal failure and cirrhosis: a systematic review of mortality and prognosis. J Hepatol. (2012) 56:810–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2011.10.016
- Martin-Llahi M, Guevara M, Torre A, Fagundes C, Restuccia T, Gilabert R, et al. Prognostic importance of the cause of renal failure in patients with cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:488–96.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.07.043
- Bittencourt PL, Farias AQ, Terra C. Renal failure in cirrhosis: emerging concepts. World J Hepatol. (2015) 7:2336–43. doi: 10.4254/wjh.v7.i21.2336
- Carvalho GC, Regis Cde A, Kalil JR, Cerqueira LA, Barbosa DS, Motta MP, et al. Causes of renal failure in patients with decompensated cirrhosis and its impact in hospital mortality. *Ann Hepatol.* (2012) 11:90– 5. doi: 10.1016/S1665-2681(19)31491-7
- Terra C, Mattos ÂZ, Pereira G, Farias AQ, Kondo M, Mattos AA, et al. Recommendations of the Brazilian Society of Hepatology for the management of acute kidney injury in patients with cirrhosis. *Arq Gastroenterol.* (2018) 55:315–20. doi: 10.1590/s0004-2803.201800000-71
- Murray P, Hall J. Renal replacement therapy for acute renal failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (2000) 162:777–81. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.162.3.ncc400
- Garg N, Fissell WH. Intradialytic hypotension: a case for going slow and looking carefully. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2013) 28:247–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs316
- Witzke O, Baumann M, Patschan D, Patschan S, Mitchell A, Treichel U, et al. Which patients benefit from hemodialysis therapy in hepatorenal syndrome? J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2004) 19:1369–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2004.03471.x
- Uchino S, Ronco C. Continuous renal replacement therapy. In: Jorres A, Ronco C, Kellum JA, editors. *Management of Acute Kidney Problems*. 1st ed. New York, NY: Springer (2010). p. 525–3. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-69441-0_52
- Olson JC, Wendon JA, Kramer DJ, Arroyo V, Jalan R, Garcia-Tsao G, et al. Intensive care of the patient with cirrhosis. *Hepatology*. (2011) 54:1864– 72. doi: 10.1002/hep.24622
- Karvellas CJ, Subramanian RM. Current evidence for extracorporeal liver support systems in acute liver failure and acute-on-chronic liver failure. *Crit Care Clin.* (2016) 32:439–451. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2016.03.003

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Botucatu Medical School. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DP and AB made substantial contributions to conception and design, acquisition of data, and analysis and interpretation of data. EP, CK, and DP were involved in drafting the manuscript. WZ and DD revising it critically for important intellectual content. DP and AB gave final approval of the version to be published. All authors agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the clinical staff at the hospitals, who cared for the patients.

- Mackelaite L, Alsauskas ZC, Ranganna K. Renal failure in patients with cirrhosis. *Med Clin North Am.* (2009) 93:855–69, viii. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2009.03.003
- Ponce D, Zamoner W, Batistoco MM, Balbi AL. Changing epidemiology and outcomes of acute kidney injury in Brazilian patients: a retrospective study from a teaching hospital. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2020) 52:1915– 22. doi: 10.1007/s11255-020-02512-z
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Acute Kidney Injury Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 2:1–138. doi: 10.1159/000339789
- Angeli P, Gines P, Wong F, Bernardi M, Boyer TD, Gerbes A, et al. Diagnosis and management of acute kidney injury in patients with cirrhosis: revised consensus recommendations of the International Club of Ascites. *Gut.* (2015). 64:531–7. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308874
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF III, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. *Ann Intern Med.* (2009) 150:604–12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006
- Ponce D, Buffarah MB, Goes C, Balbi A. Peritoneal dialysis in acute kidney injury: trends in the outcome across time periods. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0126436. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126436
- Ponce D, Berbel MN, Regina de Goes C, Almeida CT, Balbi AL. High-volume peritoneal dialysis in acute kidney injury: indications and limitations. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2012) 7:887–94. doi: 10.2215/CJN.11131111
- Gabriel DP, Nascimento GVR, Caramori JT, Martim LC, Barretti P, Balbi AL. High-volume peritoneal dialysis for acute renal failure. *Perit Dial Int.* (2007) 27:277–82. doi: 10.1177/089686080702700312
- Cullis B, Al-Hwiesh A, Kilonzo K, McCulloch M, Niang A, Nourse P et al. ISPD guidelines for peritoneal dialysis in acute kidney injury: 2020 update (adults). *Perit Dial Int.* (2020) 12: CD011457. doi: 10.1177/08968608209 70834
- Wang N, Jiang L, Zhu B, Wen W, Xi XM, The Beijing Acute Kidney Injury Trial (BAKIT) Workgroup. Fluid balance and mortality in critically ill patients with acute kidney injury: a multicenter prospective epidemiological study. *Crit Care*. (2015) 19:371. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-1085-4
- 22. Bowes E, Joslin J, Bamidele Braide-Azikiwe DC, Tulley C, Bramham K, Saha S, et al. Acute peritoneal dialysis with percutaneous catheter insertion for COVID-19-associated acute kidney injury in intensive care:

experience from a UK Tertiary Centre. Kid Intern Rep. (2021) 6:265-71. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2020.11.038

- Vigiola Cruz M, Bellorin O, Srivatana V, Afaneh C. Safety and efficacy 344 of bedside peritoneal dialysis catheter placement in the COVID-19 era: initial experience at a New York City Hospital. World J Surg. (2020) 44:2464– 70. doi: 10.1007/s00268-020-05600-4
- 24. El Shamy O, Patel N, Abdelbaset MH, Chenet L, Tokita J, Lookstein R, et al. Acute start peritoneal dialysis during the COVID-19 pandemic: outcomes and experiences. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2020) 31:1680–2. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020050599
- Sourial MY, Sourial MH, Dalsan R, Graham J, Ross M, Chen W, et al. Urgent peritoneal dialysis in patients with COVID-19 and acute kidney injury: a single-center experience in a time of crisis in the United States. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2020) 76: 401–6. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.06.001
- Gonwa TA, Wadei HM. The challenges of providing renal replacement therapy in decompensated liver cirrhosis. *Blood Purif.* (2012) 33:144– 8. doi: 10.1159/000334149
- Nadim MK, Kellum JA, Davenport A, Wong F, Davis C, Pannu N, et al. Hepatorenal syndrome: the 8th International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Crit Care.* (2012). 16: R23. doi: 10.1186/cc11188
- Ponce D, Góes CR, Gobo-Oliveira M, Balbi A. Peritoneal dialysis for the treatment of cardiorenal syndrome type 1: a prospective Brazilian study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:578–83. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00217
- Ricci Z, Ronco C, D'Amico G, De Felice R, Rossi S, Bolgan I, et al. Practice patterns in the management of acute renal failure in the critically ill patient: an international survey. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2006) 21:690– 6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfi296
- Doshi M, Murray PT. Approach to intradialytic hypotension in intensive care unit patients with acute renal failure. *Artif Organs*. (2003) 27:772– 80. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1594.2003.07291.x
- Schwab SJ, Honorato JJ, Sharar LR, Dennis PA. Hemodi-alysis without anticoagulation. One-year prospective trial in hospitalized patients at risk for bleeding. *Am J Med.* (1987) 83:405–10.

- 32. Vaara ST, Korhonen AM, Kaukonen KM, Nisula S, Inkinen O, Hoppu S, et al. Fluid overload is associated with an increased risk for 90-day mortal-ity in critically ill patients with renal replacement therapy: data from the prospective FINNAKI study. *Crit Care.* (2012) 16:R197. doi: 10.1186/cc11682
- 33. Zhang L, Chen Z, Diao Y, Yang Y, Fu P. Associations of fluid overload with mortality and kidney recovery in patients with acute kidney injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Crit Care. (2015) 30:860.e7– 13. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2015.03.025
- Payen D, de Pont AC, Sakr Y, Spies C, Reinhart K, Vincent JL, et al. A positive fluid balance is associated with a worse outcome in patients with acute renal failure. *Crit Care.* (2008) 12:R74. doi: 10.1186/cc6916
- 35. Xu J, Shen B, Fang Y, Liu Z, Zou J, Liu L, et al. Postoperative fluid overload is a useful predictor of the short-term outcome of renal replacement therapy for acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery. *Medicine*. (2015) 94:e1360. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001360

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ponce, Zamoner, Dias, Pires da Rocha, Kojima and Balbi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diabetes Is the Most Critical Risk Factor of Adverse Complications After Peritoneal Dialysis Catheter Placement

Hsiao-Huang Chang^{1,2}, Ching-Hsiang Chang³, Chen-Yuan Hsiao^{2,4,5}, Shih-Yi Kao⁶, Jinn-Yang Chen⁷, Tien-Hua Chen^{8,9,10*†} and Pei-Jiun Tsaj^{8,9,11*†}

¹ Division of Cardiovascular Surgery, Department of Surgery, Veterans General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ² School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Nursing Department, Veterans General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁴ Division of Cardiovascular Surgery, Department of Surgery, Taipei Medical University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁵ Department of Biology and Anatomy, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁶ Ten-Chan General Hospital Zhongli, Taoyuan, Taiwan, ⁷ Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Veterans General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁸ School of Medicine, Institute of Anatomy and Cell Biology, National Yang Ming Chiao Tung University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁹ Department of Surgery, Trauma Center, Veterans General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ¹⁰ Division of General Surgery, Department of Surgery, Veterans General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan, ¹¹ Department of Critical Care Medicine, Veterans General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Jeff Anthony Lafranca, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Netherlands Murilo Guedes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Pei-Jiun Tsai pjtsai@vghtpe.gov.tw Tien-Hua Chen chen_th@vghtpe.gov.tw

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 02 June 2021 Accepted: 29 September 2021 Published: 27 October 2021

Citation:

Chang H-H, Chang C-H, Hsiao C-Y, Kao S-Y, Chen J-Y, Chen T-H and Tsai P-J (2021) Diabetes Is the Most Critical Risk Factor of Adverse Complications After Peritoneal Dialysis Catheter Placement. Front. Med. 8:719345. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.719345 **Introduction:** Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a kind of renal replacement therapy for end-stage renal disease (ESRD). While PD has many advantages, various complications may arise.

Methods: This retrospective study analyzed the complications of ESRD patients who received PD catheter implantation in a single medical center within 15 years.

Results: This study collected 707 patients. In the first 14 days after PD implantation, 54 patients experienced bleeding complications, while 47 patients experienced wound infection. Among all complications, catheter-related infections were the most common complication 14 days after PD implantation (incidence: 38.8%). A total of 323 patients experienced PD catheter removal, of which 162 patients were due to infection, while 96 were intentional due to kidney transplantation. Excluding those whose catheters were removed due to transplantation, the median survival of the PD catheter was 4.1 years; among them, patients without diabetes mellitus (DM) were 7.4 years and patients with DM were 2.5 years (p < 0.001). Further, 50% probability of surviving was beyond 3.5 years in DM patients with HbA1CC < 7 and 1.6 years in DM patients with HbA1C <7 ($p \ge 0.001$).

Conclusions: Catheter-related infections were the most common complications following PD catheter implantation. DM, especially with HbA1C \geq 7, significantly impacted on the catheter-related infection and the survival probability of the PD catheter.

Keywords: end-stage renal disease (ESRD), peritoneal dialysis, catheter, diabetes, infection

INTRODUCTION

End-stage renal disease (ESRD) is the final stage of chronic kidney disease (CKD). In the wake of economic development and progress in medical technology, the incidence and prevalence of ESRD worldwide have increased rapidly and continuously, making it a major challenge for the healthcare systems of many countries. Deterioration of renal function is irreversible in ESRD patients,

50

resulting in not only the accumulation of metabolic waste and water in the body but also the imbalance of electrolyte and acid base. Appropriate renal replacement therapy may prevent the fatal condition and prolong the lives of ESRD patients. Hemodialysis (HD), peritoneal dialysis (PD), and kidney transplantation are the main types of renal replacement therapy. Though HD is previously the predominant type of dialysis in Taiwan, a steadily growing number of ESRD patients are opting to receive PD recently.

While the literature indicates that PD has many advantages, various complications after PD catheter implantation may arise, which are the chief concerns of patients who have decided to employ PD (1-3). The complications can be divided into two major categories of infective complications and non-infective complications (4). Infective complications include infections around the catheter exit site, subcutaneous tunnel infections, and peritonitis (5, 6). Of these, peritonitis is the most common complication of PD, which may increase the duration of hospitalization that even lead to death (7). Besides, severe or recurrent peritonitis is the chief factor of patients switching from PD to HD (8). The common pathogens of PD-related peritonitis include Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, and Salmonella (9). Non-infective complications included increased intraabdominal pressure that resulted in hernias, dialysate leakage, catheter obstruction, catheter malposition, and back pain (10), as well as metabolic change that resulted in bloody dialysate and chyloperitoneum (11).

The complications can also be divided into early and late complications, which referred to postoperative complications appearing within 14 days and those occurring after 14 days, separately (12). Early complications include abdominal pain, bleeding, and wound infection (13). Late complications include catheter-related infection, catheter malposition, catheter obstruction, dialysate leakage, hernia, bowel perforation, and encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (EPS) (14). Catheter-related infections include peritonitis and infections at the catheter exit site or subcutaneous tunnel. Catheter malposition and catheter obstruction can block the ingoing and outgoing flow, which may result in further dialysate leakage, intestinal perforation, or hernia (15). EPS is the most severe complication arising from abdominal inflammation. Although rare, cases of EPS have an extremely poor prognosis and the mortality rate of EPS may exceed 70% (16).

This retrospective study recorded the type and incident rate of complications in ESRD patients receiving PD catheter implantation at a single medical center in Taiwan. The purpose of this study was to analyze the risk factors that affect the recorded complications. We hope that this study can provide a great reference to the medical team for better patient care. We also hope that the results of this study can help patients have more confidence in choosing PD as a renal replacement therapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was a retrospective cohort study. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and the study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Taipei Veterans General Hospital (approval number: 2015-05-007CC). The written informed consent from the participants for this retrospective study was waived by IRB.

Patients who had been diagnosed as requiring dialysis due to CKD by nephrologists at the medical center and opted to receive PD catheter implantation from 01/01/2005 to 12/31/2019 were collected. All the clinical characteristics and the complications after PD implantations were recorded until stopping PD or 12/31/2020. Patients who picked and received regular PD at the beginning of renal replacement therapy were enrolled, while those underwent a period of regular HD and then turned to PD were excluded. Patients under 15 years old and those did not die or stopped PD but had <6 months of medical records in this medical center were also excluded. A flowchart of the inclusion and exclusion process is presented in **Figure 1**.

There was a dedicated PD team with a nephrologist, surgeon, ward nurse, case manager, pharmacist, dietitian, and social worker in our medical center. The case managers were usually full-time and specially trained PD nurses. Each PD patient has a dedicated case manager who was responsible for recording and managing the relevant medical information of the patient from the beginning of the PD catheter implantation operation. Once the CKD patient decided to receive PD, the case manager must help the nephrologists fill in the PD special chart and updated it regularly till the patient withdraw PD. In addition to the personal information, the PD special chart also recorded various clinically recognized variables related to the prognosis of renal failure and PD based on clinical knowledge. The past history and comorbidities from both patient self-reported and physician-reported were recorded.

All patients received laparoscopic implantation procedure with double-cuffed Tenckhoff PD catheter in our medical center (Baxter Healthcare Corporation. 21026 Alexander Couth, Hayward. CA 94545, United States). Prophylactic antibiotics were not used since the PD implantation procedure was a kind of clean-wound operation. After the PD catheter was inserted, the insertion site was usually covered with gauze dressing and tape to prevent the catheter from moving and keep the area clean and dry. The case manager would use sterile techniques to change the dressings of wounds and catheter exit site every catheter every day. Our PD team would arrange a comprehensive education program on PD catheter care and PD training for PD patients and their families. When the exit site healed, usually 2 weeks after surgery, PD treatment would begin.

All PD patients received regular follow-up for blood tests and imaging examinations at least once every 3 months in the nephrology clinic of our medical center. The case managers wound record all the relevant laboratory data on the PD special chart during the PD therapy period. Besides the usual daily medications for the comorbidities, the physician would prescribe medications to prevent or treat constipation. Complication of PD would also be recorded on the PD special chart.

In this study, we retrieved all the data from the PD special chart and performed further analysis. Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1C) would be check at least once every 3–6 months in diabetic patients while once a year in non-diabetic patients. During the PD treatment period, as long as there was one test report of HbA1C more than 7, the patient would be classified into



FIGURE 1 | The flowchart for inclusion and exclusion of this study. CKD, chronic kidney disease; HD, hemodialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

the HbA1C \geq 7 group. For patients in the HbA1C < 7 group, no HbA1C \geq 7 event occurred during the PD treatment period.

Since patients that did not die or stopped PD but had <6 months of medical records in this medical center were excluded, there were no missing data in our study. This study employed SPSS 16.0 statistical software to perform analysis. Results were presented as mean \pm SD (standard deviation). Differences between groups were evaluated by Student's *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U*-test for continuous variables and Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. All tests were two-tailed, and statistical significance was taken as p < 0.05. Survival curves of PD catheter were compared using the Kaplan–Meier method, and differences were compared using the log-rank test. Cox proportional hazards model and multiple logistic regression model were used to figure out the significant risk factor of the different complications.

RESULTS

This study collected 707 patients, of which men accounted for 51.5% and women for 48.5%. The youngest ESRD patient receiving PD catheter implantation surgery was 17 years old, and the oldest was 87 years old; the mean age was 54 years old (54.07 \pm 15.66), and ages had a normal distribution in the sample, with a median of 54 years old. Of the 707 patients, 97.2% had no prior

abdominal surgery, but 2.8% did; the two most frequent types of prior abdominal surgery were appendectomy (n = 13) and cesarean section (n = 7). **Table 1** summarizes the characteristics of the 707 patients.

End-stage renal disease has many causes. This study classified the cause of ESRD into five categories: systemic lupus erythematosus, diabetes mellitus (DM), chronic interstitial nephritis, glomerulonephritis, and other factors, including gout, hypertension, aristolochic acid nephropathy, IgA, IgM, and nephritic cystic kidney pathologies. Of the 707 patients, diabetes was the most common cause (42.6%), followed by other causes (16.7%), glomerulonephritis (14.1%), chronic interstitial nephritis (13.6%), and systemic lupus erythematosus (13.0%).

In this study, patients who had underlying disease of hypertension accounted for 82.6%, while those with DM accounted for 42.6%, those of coronary artery disease accounted for 20.4%, those of cerebrovascular accident accounted for 3.3%, those of respiratory disease accounted for 2.7%, and those of hepatobiliary disease accounted for 11.3%. Of the 707 patients, 2.3% had four kinds of the recorded comorbidities, 14.6% had three, 34.9% had two, 39.7% had one comorbidity, and 8.5% had no kinds of the recorded comorbidities.

The longest catheter implantation operation time was 120 min, the shortest was 20 min, and the mean length was 59.3 \pm 10.6 min. The right side abdomen was the most common catheter exit location (88.8%), with the left side only 11.2%.

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of the patients (N = 707).

	Numbers	Percentage (%)
Female	343	48.5
Male	364	51.5
Age group (years)		
<50	281	39.7
50–64	221	31.3
65–75	123	17.4
≥75	82	11.6
No history of abdominal surgery	687	97.2
History of abdominal surgery	20	2.8
Chief cause of ESRD		
Systemic lupus erythematosus	92	13.0
Diabetes mellitus	301	42.6
Chronic interstitial nephritis	96	13.6
Glomerulonephritis	100	14.1
Other causes	118	16.7
Comorbidity		
Hypertension	584	82.6
Diabetes mellitus	301	42.6
Coronary artery disease	144	20.4
Cerebrovascular accident	23	3.3
Respiratory disease	19	2.7
Hepatobiliary disease	80	11.3
Number of comorbidities		
0	60	8.5
1	281	39.7
2	247	34.9
3	103	14.6
4	16	2.3
Catheter exit location		
Left-Side abdomen	79	11.2
Right-Side abdomen	628	88.8
First catheter implantation	641	90.7
Catheter re-implantation	66	9.3
Early complications (within 14 days after		0.0
Bleeding	54	7.6
Wound infection	47	6.6
Late complications (more than 14 days a	fter operation)	
Catheter-Related infectious complications	274	38.8
Catheter malposition	57	8.1
Catheter obstruction	27	3.8
Dialysate leakage	4	0.6
Hernia	90	12.7
Bowel perforation	0	0
Encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis	0	0
Cause of removal of PD catheter ($N = 32$		č
	162	50.2
Catheter obstruction	34	10.5
Transplantation	96	29.7
Other	31	9.6

ESRD, end-stage renal disease; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

A large majority of the patients received a first-time catheter implantation (90.7%), and re-implantation was performed in 66 patients (9.3%).

All the patients were followed up at the same medical center, and all the complications after PD implantations were recorded until stopping PD or 12/31/2020. The follow-up period ranged from 1 month to 14.16 years. The mean follow-up period was 5.48 years (5.48 \pm 2.36), and the follow-up period had a normal distribution in the sample, with a median of 4.92 years. Wound bleeding, subcutaneous hematoma, and evidence of hemoperitoneum were recorded as postoperative bleeding complications. In the 707 patients, 54 patients (7.6%) experienced postoperative bleeding complications. The incidence rate of wound infection within 14 days after operation was 6.6% (47 patients). Catheter exit site infections, catheter tunnel infections, and peritonitis were all considered as catheterrelated infectious complications. Among the complications that happened more than 14 days after the operation, the catheter-related infectious complications were most numerous and occurred in 38.8% (274 patients). In particular, peritonitis occurred in 246 patients (34.8%). The incidence of catheter malposition and catheter obstruction was 8.1% (57 patients) and 3.8% (27 patients) separately. Dialysate leakage occurred in 4 patients (0.6%). Postoperative hernia was the second most frequent late complication, which occurred in 90 patients (12.7%). The incidence of bowel perforation and EPS was 0.

About 323 patients (45.7%) encountered the removal of the PD catheter during the follow-up period. One hundred and sixty-two patients received the removal of PD catheter due to infection, 34 patients due to catheter obstruction, 96 patients due to successful kidney transplantation, 31 patients due to other causes, including the poor response of PD or other personal reasons. Considering the follow-up periods, the incidence rate of catheter removal was 8.34 cases per 100 patient-year. Excluding the patients whose catheters were removed intentionally due to successful kidney transplantation, the incidence rate of catheter removal was 6.67 cases per 100 patient-year.

After excluding patients whose catheters were removed intentionally due to successful kidney transplantation, the Cox proportional hazard model was used to analyze the specific risk factors affecting catheter survival (**Table 2**). Univariate analysis showed that age, comorbidity number, comorbidity with DM, and the HbA1C \geq 7 status significantly made a contribution to the survival of the PD catheter. Further multivariate analysis was done and explored that age, comorbidity with DM, and the HbA1C \geq 7 status indeed played a significantly important role in the removal of PD catheter.

Kaplan–Meier method was used to calculate the survival probability of the PD catheter. The median survival of the PD catheter was 4.1 years in all patients (**Figure 2**). When we compared the patients without and with DM, we found that the median survival of the PD catheter was 7.4 years in patients without DM and 2.5 years in patients with DM (p < 0.001; **Figure 3**). Further, 50% probability of surviving was beyond 3.5 years in DM patients with HbA1C < 7 and 1.6 years in DM patients with HbA1C \geq 7 (p < 0.001; **Figure 4**). Kaplan–Meier survival plot and log-rank test were also done to analyze the

TABLE 2 | Proportional hazards model for PD catheter survival analysis.

	Univariate analysis			Multivariate analysis		
	HR	95.0% Cl	<i>p</i> -value	HR	95.0% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Age	1.011	1.004 ~ 1.018	<0.001*	1.011	1.006 ~ 1.021	<0.001*
Gender-Male		Ref.			Ref.	
Gender-Female	0.829	$0.665 \sim 1.032$	0.094	0.888	$0.707 \sim 1.116$	0.310
Site-Right		Ref.			Ref.	
Site-Left	1.176	$0.850 \sim 1.627$	0.327	1.175	$0.838 \sim 1.649$	0.350
Abdominal operation history	0.518	$0.214 \sim 1.253$	0.144	0.538	$0.217 \sim 1.335$	0.181
Comorbidity: hypertension	1.348	$0.986 \sim 1.842$	0.061	1.042	$0.748 \sim 1.451$	0.810
Comorbidity: diabetes mellitus	2.231	$1.784 \sim 2.791$	< 0.001*	2.333	$1.624 \sim 3.351$	< 0.001*
Comorbidity: coronary heart disease	0.824	$0.620 \sim 1.095$	0.181	0.692	$0.475 \sim 1.009$	0.056
Comorbidity: cerebrovascular accident	0.652	$0.291 \sim 1.463$	0.299	0.671	$0.295 \sim 1.526$	0.342
Comorbidity: respiratory disease	0.721	$0.371 \sim 1.403$	0.336	0.904	$0.454 \sim 1.798$	0.773
Comorbidity: hepatobiliary disease	0.797	$0.553 \sim 1.149$	0.224	1.003	$0.683 \sim 1.472$	0.694
Comorbidity number	1.189	$1.057 \sim 1.337$	0.004*	1.171	$0.998 \sim 1.374$	0.053
HbA1C < 7		Ref.			Ref.	
HbA1C ≥7	3.606	$2.726 \sim 4.771$	< 0.001*	2.959	$1.997 \sim 4.385$	< 0.001*
Cause of ESRD-Systemic lupus erythematosus		Ref.			Ref.	
Cause of ESRD-Diabetes mellitus	1.246	$0.782 \sim 1.985$	0.354	1.156	$0.719 \sim 1.860$	0.549
Cause of ESRD-Chronic interstitial nephritis	0.983	$0.581 \sim 1.663$	0.948	0.861	$0.505 \sim 1.468$	0.583
Cause of ESRD-Glomerulonephritis	0.641	$0.391 \sim 1.049$	0.077	0.595	$0.360 \sim 0.983$	0.053
Cause of ESRD-Other	0.413	$0.261 \sim 0.954$	0.061	0.000	$0.253 \sim 0.944$	0.091

PD, peritoneal dialysis; HR, Hazards ratio; CI, confidence interval; HbA1C, Glycated hemoglobin, hemoglobin A1C; ESRD, end-stage renal disease. *p < 0.05.





impact of comorbidity number on the PD catheter survival, which showed that the more comorbidity number, the lower PD catheter survival time (**Figure 5**).

Finally, we used the multiple logistic regression method to analyze the factors influencing all-cause infection (**Table 3**), catheter obstruction, and hernia (**Table 4**) after catheter implantation, respectively. DM, especially with HbA1C \geq 7, significantly impacted on the all-cause infection. Left-side catheter exit location, abdominal operation history, and DM comorbidity significantly increased the occurrence of catheter obstruction. Compared with women, men were more likely to have hernias after PD catheter implantation.







DISCUSSIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

This study involved a 16-year retrospective investigation of the incidence of PD catheter implantation-related complications at a certain medical center. The results revealed that PD catheter-related infections were the most frequent complication (38.8%). This result was compatible with those at other large medical centers in the literature (17–19).

Catheter exit site infections and peritonitis were reported to be the main types of infection complication after PD catheter implantation (20). Catheter exit site infections may further lead to tunnel infection or peritonitis and would increase the length of hospital stay and PD failure rate (21). Generally, the factors

TABLE 3 Multiple logistic regression analysis of factors influencing infection after
catheter implantation.

	Adjusted OR	95.0% CI	p-value
Age	1.020	0.989 ~ 1.040	0.263
Gender-Male		Ref.	
Gender-Female	0.781	$0.559 \sim 1.092$	0.148
Site-Right		Ref.	
Site-Left	0.840	$0.498 \sim 1.428$	0.520
Abdominal operation history	0.308	$0.066 \sim 1.440$	0.135
Comorbidity: hypertension	0.866	$0.550 \sim 1.364$	0.536
Comorbidity: diabetes mellitus	2.859	0.911 ~ 3.771	0.003 *
Comorbidity: coronary heart disease	0.814	0.525 ~ 1.264	0.360
Comorbidity: cerebrovascular accident	0.744	0.289 ~ 1.918	0.541
Comorbidity: respiratory disease	1.664	$0.600 \sim 4.613$	0.328
Comorbidity: hepatobiliary disease	0.515	0.291 ~ 1.012	0.073
Comorbidity number	1.032	$0.729 \sim 1.190$	0.572
HbA1C < 7		Ref.	
$HbA1C \ge 7$	3.808	$2.177 \sim 6.662$	< 0.001
Cause of ESRD-Systemic lupus erythematosus		Ref.	
Cause of ESRD-Diabetes mellitus	2.597	$1.202 \sim 5.612$	0.015 *
Cause of ESRD-Chronic interstitial nephritis	2.197	0.911 ~ 5.295	0.080
Cause of ESRD-Glomerulonephritis	1.594	$0.734 \sim 3.461$	0.238
Cause of ESRD-Other	0.825	$0.401 \sim 1.698$	0.602

OR, Odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; HbA1C, Glycated hemoglobin, hemoglobin A1C; ESRD, end-stage renal disease. *p < 0.05.

associated with exit site infection included catheter type, catheter exit location, the existence of a hematoma at the exit site, diabetes, and obesity (22). The risk factors for peritonitis that had been reported include advanced age, female gender, indigenous racial origin, black ethnicity, low socioeconomic status, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, chronic lung disease, hypertension, and poor residual kidney function, obesity, smoking, living far from the PD hospital, depression, hypoalbuminemia, hypokalemia, absence of vitamin D supplementation, use of biocompatibility dialysate, nasal *S. aureus*, any previous exit-site infections, pets at home, and inadequate patient training (20–23).

In our result, 323 patients (45.7%) encountered removal of the PD catheter during the follow-up period. The majority (50.2%) of the patients who received the removal of the PD catheter were due to infection. After excluding patients whose catheters were removed intentionally due to successful kidney transplantation, we used the multiple logistic regression method to analyze the factors influencing all-cause infection. Only DM, especially with HbA1C \geq 7, significantly impacted on the all-cause infection. Besides, we defined the event of catheter removal as expiry of

	Catheter obstruction		Hernia			
	Adjusted OR	95.0% CI	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted OR	95.0% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Age	1.000	0.973 ~ 1.027	0.983	1.001	0.986 ~ 1.015	0.916
Gender-Male		Ref.			Ref.	
Gender-Female	0.605	$0.263 \sim 1.394$	0.238	0.411	$0.252 \sim 0.671$	< 0.001*
Site-Right		Ref.			Ref.	
Site-Left	3.323	$1.275 \sim 8.663$	0.014*	1.494	$0.766 \sim 2.915$	0.238
Abdominal operation history	7.560	$1.656 \sim 34.515$	0.009*	0	0	0.999
Comorbidity: hypertension	1.999	$0.434 \sim 9.214$	0.374	1.049	$0.560 \sim 1.965$	0.880
Comorbidity: diabetes mellitus	4.355	$1.261 \sim 15.042$	0.020*	0.786	$0.364 \sim 1.697$	0.540
Comorbidity: coronary heart disease	0.856	$0.332 \sim 2.207$	0.748	0.690	$0.361 \sim 1.318$	0.261
Comorbidity: cerebrovascular accident	0.000	0.000	0.998	1.116	$0.303 \sim 4.112$	0.869
Comorbidity: respiratory disease	1.672	$0.196 \sim 14.240$	0.638	1.021	$0.218 \sim 4.786$	0.979
Comorbidity: hepatobiliary disease	0.773	$0.171 \sim 3.489$	0.738	0.965	$0.474 \sim 1.965$	0.921
Comorbidity number	1.125	$0.631 \sim 2.004$	0.691	1.089	$0.781 \sim 1.520$	0.615
HbA1C < 7		Ref.			Ref.	
$HbA1C \ge 7$	1.408	$0.484 \sim 4.098$	0.529	0.553	$0.230 \sim 1.331$	0.186
Cause of ESRD-Systemic lupus erythematosus		Ref.			Ref.	
Cause of ESRD-Diabetes mellitus	1.648	$0.152 \sim 17.911$	0.682	1.314	$0.412 \sim 4.189$	0.645
Cause of ESRD-Chronic interstitial nephritis	2.570	$0.212 \sim 31.180$	0.459	0.668	$0.153 \sim 2.910$	0.591
Cause of ESRD-Glomerulonephritis	3.299	$0.329 \sim 33.105$	0.310	2.185	$0.696 \sim 6.866$	0.181
Cause of ESRD-other	2.199	$0.236 \sim 20.447$	0.489	1.155	0.382 ~ 3.491	0.798

OR, Odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; HbA1C, Glycated hemoglobin, hemoglobin A1C; ESRD, end-stage renal disease. *p < 0.05.

the catheter. For the patients whose catheters were removed not intentionally due to transplantation, Kaplan–Meier survival plot illustrated that DM, especially with HbA1C \geq 7, had a great impact on the survival probability of the PD catheter. The median survival of the PD catheter was 7.4 years in patients without DM and 2.5 years in patients with DM (p < 0.001). Fifty percentage probability of surviving was beyond 3.5 years in DM patients with HbA1C < 7 and 1.6 years in DM patients with HbA1C \geq 7 (p< 0.001). Literature has indicated that due to vascular diseases, peripheral neuropathy, and other factors, the lack of blood supply in diabetic patients may further lead to insufficient immunity. Some pathogens tend to multiply rapidly in the hyperglycemic body. Therefore, diabetic patients were particularly susceptible to complications caused by infection after surgery and can easily become serious (24).

In this study, patients over the age of 75 accounted for 11.6% of the sample (82 patients), and the oldest patient was 87 years. There was no significant correlation with age and the complication rate after PD implantation, which implied that PD catheter implantation surgery was suitable for patients in all age groups, even elderly patients. This finding differed from those of certain international studies that found that age was an independent risk factor for infective complication (25, 26). This discrepancy may be due to the fact that our medical center was built specifically for elderly veterans and we had extensive experience in providing postoperative care to older patients. Besides the particularity of the hospital setting, the more important point was that we had a comprehensive medical

care team to take care of PD patients, including physicians, surgeons, nurses, nutritionists, social workers, and rehabilitation specialists. PD catheters were crucial for patients choosing to receive PD as a renal replacement therapy. Practical experience had revealed that the issue of most concern to patients and their family members was how to avoid complications after catheter implantation surgery, and to maintain normal catheter function. A rate of complications of zero will be one of the greatest hopes of PD patients, and a goal toward which our medical team is working. In addition to carefully assessing the patient's living conditions before surgery, giving appropriate health education, including thoroughgoing knowledge and familiarity with residential care techniques, regular visits and evaluation of the patient's residential environment, living habits, and diet after surgery, are also very important. Our results showed that as long as the patient has HbA1C > 7 during PD, it would significantly affect the survival rate of PD catheters. Therefore, if blood glucose can be strictly controlled during PD and HbA1C can be controlled below 7, the survival time of PD catheters can be prolonged and patients can obtain longer PD treatment time. Thus, our PD team must be more committed to strengthening blood sugar control of the PD patients and the associated perioperative health education in the future.

We also used the multiple logistic regression method to analyze the factors influencing catheter obstruction and hernia after catheter implantation, respectively. The redundant sigmoid colon may lead to more catheter obstruction rate for the left-side catheter exit location surgery. Besides, intra-abdominal adhesion after a previous abdominal operation may also significantly increased the occurrence of catheter obstruction. In PD treatment, a large amount of dialysate must be infused into the abdominal cavity every day, which may cause elevated abdominal pressure and then lead to the presence of hernias (including inguinal hernia or umbilical hernia). Of course, compared with women, men were more likely to have hernias after PD catheter implantation. Regardless of whether patients on PD present as single or bilateral inguinal hernias, we recommended that patients received bilateral inguinal hernioplasty.

In PD therapy, EPS was a late-stage and relatively severe complication. EPS was caused by repeated multifactor peritonitis and improper treatment, and often resulted in death by delaying the time of extubation. The incidence of EPS and death rate from EPS typically peaked around 7 years after catheter implantation (27, 28). According to the literature, an Australian study reported that the incidence of EPS was 19.4% after 8 years of PD treatment (27), while a Japan study reported as 2.1% after 8 years, 5.9% after 10 years, and 17.2% after 15 years, respectively (28). In our study, the incidence of EPS was zero. This may be because our PD medical team never hesitate to perform extubation when PD complications occurred, thus avoiding the occurrence of EPS.

In our study, patients received catheter re-implantation because the original catheter had to be removed due to complications such as infection, dislocation, and congestion. Generally speaking, catheter re-implantation may involve greater technical difficulty than initial catheter implantation. Peritoneal adhesions and changes in anatomical location may increase the chance of perioperative bleeding and visceral organ injury (29, 30). Intra-abdominal adhesions after previous abdominal surgery, with an incidence of about 60-80%, were traditionally considered to be related to a higher PD failure rate. However, our results, in fact, showed no higher incidence of complications associated with receiving catheter re-implantation. Therefore, we emphasized that when the medical team judged that the patient has to remove the PD catheter, he should not hesitate to remove the PD catheter, especially if not doing so may cause serious sequelae or even death. The medical team did not have to worry about re-implanting the catheter that would increase the risk of complications.

This study has limitations, which would inevitably affect the interpretation of these results. First, this was a single-center observational study. Besides, the variables of this study were only those clinically recognized variables related to the prognosis of renal failure and PD based on clinical knowledge recorded on the previously designed PD special chart, which may cause a certain degree of selection bias in the statistical results. However, it was worth noting that the results presented here were consistent with the experience of other medical centers in the world. It was also important that if we collected data from the inconsistent

medical records of different medical centers, there may be many missing data that may lead to limitations in the interpretation of the results.

In conclusion, this was a retrospective cohort study including a total of 707 patients. Catheter-related infections were the most common postoperative complications following PD catheter implantation. DM, especially with HbA1C \geq 7, significantly impacted on the catheter-related infection as well as the survival probability of the PD catheter. As a consequence, when caring for patients receiving PD catheter implantation, medical teams should strengthen their health education on the blood sugar control perioperatively, to help these patients reduce their likelihood of catheter-related infective complications.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Taipei Veterans General Hospital (approval number: 2015-05-007CC). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

H-HC, T-HC, and P-JT involved in conceptualization and funding acquisition. J-YC, C-HC, and P-JT involved in data curation and formal analysis. C-HC, C-YH, S-YK, and J-YC involved in investigation. H-HC and T-HC involved in methodology and project administration. T-HC and P-JT writing the original draft. H-HC, C-HC, C-YH, S-YK, J-YC, T-HC, and P-JT involved in writing the review and editing. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was sponsored by grants from Taipei Veterans General Hospital (V108C-044, V109C-130, V108B-002, and V109C-131), Ten-Chan General Hospital Zhongli, Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST 108-2314-B-010-053 and MOST 107-2314-B-010-056-MY3), and Taiwan Association of Cardiovascular Surgery Research. The funding sources had no role in the study design, data collection, data interpretation, data analysis, or writing of the report.

REFERENCES

- Bender FH. Avoiding harm in peritoneal dialysis patients. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. (2012) 19:171–8. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2012.04.002
- Crabtree JH, Chow KM. Peritoneal dialysis catheter insertion. Semin Nephrol. (2017) 37:17–29. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016.10.004
- Laperrousaz S, Drepper VJ. Overview of peritoneal dialysis. *Rev Med Suisse*. (2016) 12:408–12.

- Mehrotra R, Devuyst O, Davies SJ, Johnson DW. The current state of peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2016) 27:3238– 52. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016010112
- Akoh JA. Peritoneal dialysis associated infections: an update on diagnosis and management. World J Nephrol. (2012) 1:106–22. doi: 10.5527/wjn.v1.i4.106
- Aslam N, Bernardini J, Fried L, Burr R, Piraino B. Comparison of infectious complications between incident hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 1:1226–33. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01230406
- Szeto CC, Li PK. Peritoneal dialysis–associated peritonitis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. (2019) 14:1100–5. doi: 10.2215/CJN.14631218
- 8. Salzer WL. Peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis: challenges and solutions. *Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis.* (2018) 11:173–86. doi: 10.2147/IJNRD.S123618
- Al Wakeel JS, Mitwalli AH, Tarif N, Hammad D, Abu-Aisha H, Memon N, et al. Complications of CAPD: a single center experience. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl.* (2005) 16:29–32.
- Flanigan M, Gokal R. Peritoneal catheters and exit-site practices toward optimum peritoneal access: a review of current developments. *Perit Dial Int.* (2005) 25:132–9. doi: 10.1177/089686080502500204
- Mekki MO, Fedail HM, Ali EM, Abdelraheem MB, Al-Sanousi H, Elamin S, et al. Non-infectious complications of peritoneal dialysis among sudanese patients: five years experience. *Arab J Nephrol Transplant.* (2011) 4:27– 30. doi: 10.4314/ajnt.v4i1.63152
- Hryszko T, Suchowierska E, Rydzewska-Rosolowska A, Brzosko S, Mysliwiec M. Factors associated with early catheter-related complications in peritoneal dialysis. *Adv Med Sci.* (2012) 57:84–7. doi: 10.2478/v10039-012-0001-2
- McCormick BB, Bargman JM. Noninfectious complications of peritoneal dialysis: implications for patient and technique survival. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2007) 18:3023–5. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007070796
- Ratajczak A, Lange-Ratajczak M, Bobkiewicz A, Studniarek A. Surgical management of complications with peritoneal dialysis. *Semin Dial.* (2017) 30:63–8. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12538
- Schreiber MJ Jr. Changing landscape for peritoneal dialysis: optimizing utilization. Semin Dial. (2017) 30:149–57. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12576
- Kawanishi H. Long-Term peritoneal dialysis study group. encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis in japan: prospective multicenter controlled study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2001) 21 (Suppl. 3):S67–71. doi: 10.1177/089686080102103S11
- Moloi MW, Kajawo S, Noubiap JJ, Mbah IO, Ekrikpo U, Kengne AP, et al. Prevalence of peritonitis and mortality in patients treated with continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) in Africa: a protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e020464. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020464
- Tian Y, Xie X, Xiang S, Yang X, Zhang X, Shou Z, et al. Risk factors and outcomes of high peritonitis rate in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients: a retrospective study. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e5569. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005569
- Wu X, Yang X, Liu X, Yi C, Guo Q, Feng X, et al. Patient survival and technique failure in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients with prior stroke. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:308–14. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00030
- Lo MW, Mak SK, Wong YY, Lo KC, Chan SF, Tong GM, et al. Atypical mycobacterial exit-site infection and peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients on prophylactic exit-site gentamicin cream. *Perit Dial Int.* (2013) 33:267– 72. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2011.00184
- 21. Kitrungphaiboon T, Puapatanakul P, Chuengsaman P, Tiskajornsiri K, Halue G, Siribamrungwong M, et al. Intraperitoneal cefepime monotherapy

versus combination therapy of cefazolin plus ceftazidime for empirical treatment of capd-associated peritonitis: a multicenter, open-label, noninferiority, randomized, controlled trial. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2019) 74:601–9. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.05.011

- Sevinç M, Hasbal NB, Ahbap E, Koç Y. Comparison of exit-site infection frequency in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis and automated peritoneal dialysis patients: a single-center experience. *Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul.* (2019) 53:385–8. doi: 10.14744/SEMB.2019.54837
- Cho Y, Johnson DW. Peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis: towards improving evidence, practices, and outcomes. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2014) 64:278– 89. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.02.025
- Leibovici L, Yehezkelli Y, Porter A, Regev A, Krauze I, Harell D. Influence of diabetes mellitus and glycaemic control on the characteristics and outcome of common infections. *Diabetic Med.* (1996) 13:457– 63. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199605)13:5<457::AID-DIA83>3.0.CO;2-T
- Kumar VA, Sidell MA, Yang WT, Jones JP. Predictors of peritonitis, hospital days, and technique survival for peritoneal dialysis patients in a managed care setting. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 34:171–8. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012. 00165
- Hsieh YP, Chang CC, Wen YK, Chiu PF, Yang Y. Predictors of peritonitis and the impact of peritonitis on clinical outcomes of continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients in Taiwan-10 years' experience in a single center. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 34:85–94. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00075
- Rigby RJ, Hawley CM. Sclerosing peritonitis: the experience in Australia. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (1998) 13:154–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/13.1.154
- Kawanishi H, Banshodani M, Yamashita M, Shintaku S, Dohi K. Surgical treatment for encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis: 24 years' experience. *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:169–74. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00042
- Unsal A, Koc Y, Basturk T, Sakaci T, Ahbap E, Sinangil A, et al. Clinical outcomes and mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients: a 10-year retrospective analysis in a single center. *Clin Nephrol.* (2013) 80:270– 9. doi: 10.5414/CN107711
- Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, ernardini J, Figueiredo AE, Gupta A, et al. Peritoneal dialysis-related infections recommendations: 2010 update. *Perit Dial Int.* (2010) 30:393–423. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2010.00049

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chang, Chang, Hsiao, Kao, Chen, Chen and Tsai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Risk Factors and Management of Catheter Malfunction During Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis

Lijuan Zhao[†], Jun Yang[†], Ming Bai[†], Fanfan Dong, Shiren Sun and Guoshuang Xu^{*}

Department of Nephrology, Xijing Hospital, The Fourth Military Medical University of People's Liberation Army, Xi'an, China

Background: Catheter malfunction is a common complication of peritoneal dialysis (PD). This study aimed to retrospectively analyze the risk factors and management of catheter malfunction in urgent-start PD.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Scott Nyberg, Mayo Clinic, United States Richard David Rosin, The University of the West Indies, Barbados

*Correspondence:

Guoshuang Xu xugsh882003@aliyun.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 14 July 2021 Accepted: 11 October 2021 Published: 01 November 2021

Citation:

Zhao L, Yang J, Bai M, Dong F, Sun S and Xu G (2021) Risk Factors and Management of Catheter Malfunction During Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis. Front. Med. 8:741312. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.741312 **Methods:** Patients who underwent urgent-start PD were divided into catheter-malfunction and control groups. Baseline demographic and laboratory data of the two groups were compared, and the risk factors for catheter malfunction were analyzed. Primary outcome measure was catheter survival, and the secondary outcomes were surgical complications and malfunction treatment.

Results: Total of 700 patients was analyzed, among whom 143 (20.4%) experienced catheter malfunctions, specifically catheter migration (96, 67.1%), omental wrapping (36, 25.2%), and migration plus omental wrapping (11, 7.7%). Catheter survival time in the malfunction group (202.5 \pm 479.4 days) was significantly shorter than that in the control group (1295.3 \pm 637.0 days) (P < 0.001). Multivariate analysis revealed higher body mass index [hazard ratio (HR), 1.061; 95% confidence intervals (Cl), 1.010–1.115; P = 0.018], lower surgeon count (HR, 1.083; 95% Cl, 1.032–1.136; P = 0.001), and higher serum potassium (HR, 1.231; 95% Cl, 1.041–1.494; P = 0.036) as independent risk factors for catheter malfunction, while older age (HR, 0.976, 95% Cl, 0.962–0.991; P = 0.002) and colonic dialysis (HR, 0.384; 95% Cl, 0.254–0.581; P < 0.001) as protective factors. Further subgroup analysis revealed a shorter catheter survival time in patients with younger age (\leq 40 years), higher serum potassium levels (\geq 5 mmol/L), while a longer catheter survival time in patients with colonic dialysis. PD tube and subcutaneous tunnel preservation was successful in 41 out of 44 patients with omental wrapping. All patients had good post-incision prognoses.

Conclusions: Urgent-start PD is safe and effective for unplanned PD patients. Adequate pre-operative colonic dialysis and serum potassium level control are conducive in preventing catheter malfunction. Conservative treatment is effective in managing catheter migration alone, while preservation of the PD tube and the subcutaneous tunnel is effective for omental wrapping.

Keywords: urgent-start peritoneal dialysis, catheter malfunction, surgeon, colonic dialysis, serum potassium

INTRODUCTION

End-stage renal disease (ESRD) [i.e., stage 5 chronic kidney disease (CKD)] has become a major public health burden worldwide. The incidence of ESRD continues to increase owing to the greater prevalence of CKD and diabetes mellitus patients (1) and high perioperative morbidity and mortality are significantly higher in ESRD patients due to multiple comorbidities (2). Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is an important renal replacement therapy (RRT) for ESRD patients (3). Catheter insertion was recommended at least 2 weeks before initiating PD (4, 5). However, for these patients, delaying PD for 2 weeks is unrealistic. Urgent-start PD is warranted in newly diagnosed ESRD patients who have not been on dialysis and need RRT initiation within 2 weeks (6). Urgent-start PD has been suggested as a feasible and well-tolerated alternative to hemodialysis, reducing the risk of central venous catheter-related complications, such as central venous stenosis, bacteremia, and thrombosis related to temporary hemodialysis use (7, 8).

The success of PD mainly depends on a well-functioning peritoneal catheter (9). Catheter-related complications frequently cause PD failure, requiring session delays, or even permanent procedure changes. Catheter-related complications are responsible for up to 20% of all permanent transfers to HD (10, 11). Catheter malfunction, characterized as mechanical failure in dialysate inflow or outflow, is a common complication of PD, forcing conversion to hemodialysis (12, 13). Approximately 4-20% of PD patients may have catheter malfunction, affecting the overall survival rate, and quality of life (14, 15). The risk of catheter malfunction might be limiting the widespread use of urgent-start PD (16). Although urgent-start PD-associated complications have been reported, the evidence is relatively weak due to regional differences and limited sample sizes (17), and urgently starting PD after catheterization has not been associated with further catheter dysfunction or other complications (18, 19). To improve the clinical application of urgent-start PD, it is important to investigate the risk factors and management of catheter malfunction.

Our center has had more than 700 PD patients, and all patients experienced urgent catheter insertion and immediate PD initiation. In this study, we retrospectively analyzed the characteristics of patients receiving urgent-start PD, as well as the risk factors, management methods, and prognosis for catheter malfunction.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This retrospective cohort study enrolled patients who underwent urgent-start PD at our institution between January 2013 and December 2019. The inclusion criteria were as follows: patients aged ≥ 16 years who required Tenckhoff catheter insertion for long-term PD. The exclusion criteria were as follows: age <16 years, extubation withdrawal for other reasons (e.g., thoracoabdominal fistula and hernia), loss to follow-up, hemodialysis self-withdrawal, or death within 1 month of catheterization. All patients were followed up for at least 6

months. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital and informed consent was waived because of the retrospective study design.

PD Program

Before catheter insertion, urinary bladder emptying, and skin preparation using a povidone-iodine solution and standard draping were performed. Prophylactic intravenous cefazolin was routinely administered, except in patients with penicillin or cephalosporin allergies. An open approach through a small paramedian paraumbilical incision was performed in all patients. Only straight double-cuff Tenckhoff dialysis catheters were used. An arc-shaped subcutaneous tunnel was established from the outer top to the outer bottom of the incision, and the catheter was pulled out from the outer lower outlet of the incision (**Figure 1**). PD was then initiated as early as 24 h after catheter placement. The dosage was gradually transferred from 300 to 2,000 mL each time until $3 \times 2,000$ mL on the 7th day. Flushes were started using heparin saline within 1 week of placement to help prevent early catheter obstruction from fibrin plugs or clots.

Colonic Dialysis

Each colonic dialysis session usually lasted 1 h, and the total volume of dialysate was 8-10 L. The colonic dialysate was performed with concentrated dialysate A (catalog no. WGTXF-2, prepared by Weigao company), dialysate B (catalog no. WGTXF-2F, prepared by Weigao company), and ultrapure water (prepared by Weigao company) in a ratio of 1:1.225:32.775. The dialysate temperature was warmed to 34-38°C and delivered using a v 5.3.1 Colonic Therapy System (Model JS-308F, Jinjian Medical Instrument Co., Ltd., Guangzhou, China). Patients were asked to empty their bladder before dialysis to reduce discomfort. During dialysis, patients were asked to remain in a left recumbent position with their two knees bent. A single-use double-lumen rectal catheter (Kerui Medical Equipment Trading Co., Ltd., Zhengzhou, China) was inserted through the anus into the colon to an intubation depth of 65-75 cm, reaching the ascending colon. The colonic dialysate was irrigated in an impulse type into the colon through the inner cavity for 10s and suspended for 15 s. After allowing the dialysate to remain in the patient for 8-10 min, the solution and wastes were drained out of the colon through the external cavity for 18-20 s. Both cavities had sided holes to prevent blockage. During the procedure, the dialysate was changed repeatedly until the end of dialysis, and the pressure in the lumen was 50-65 kPA during irrigation and 3-8 kPA during drainage.

PD Catheter Malfunction and Management

Catheter malfunction refers to drainage failure, or the inability to drain peritoneal dialysate effluent reliably within 45 min (20). Catheter tip migration and omental wrapping are the most common types of catheter malfunction (21). Catheter tip migration was characterized by tip location above the pelvic brim on abdominal radiographs and inability to drain the dialysate effluent reliably within 45 min (22). Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) injection through the catheter was attempted to clear the catheter of clots or fibrin plugs. Catheter malfunctions







were managed conservatively, including moderate physical activity (walking on stairs and jumping slightly), intestinal and bowel relaxation, manual reduction, second operation (catheter repositioning or reinsertion, either by an open surgical method), and extubation. Second operations were open surgeries under local anesthesia. A longitudinal incision was made lateral or medial to the original incision. After lidocaine infiltration, layerby-layer dissection into the rectus abdominis was performed. After the peritoneal incision, the abdominal segment of the peritoneal dialysis tube was removed. If there was omental wrapping, the omentum was separated and ligated, and the redundant omentum was removed. Then, the PD tube was placed again into the pelvis with oval forceps (**Figure 2**).

Baseline Demographic and Laboratory Data, and Study Outcomes

Demographic and clinical data included sex, age, height, weight, body mass index, blood pressure, occupation, educational degree, primary kidney disease, and history of abdominal surgery, preoperative colonic dialysis, or enema. Baseline laboratory data were also evaluated before the PD catheter. Moreover, the indications for PD catheter insertion, date of insertion, surgeon, indication for catheter removal (including obstruction, infection, kidney transplant, functional recovery, or patient mortality), and time from placement to removal or obstruction were also collected.

The primary outcome measure was catheter survival, which was defined as the time that a PD catheter could be preserved after insertion before it had to be abandoned because of infection or mechanical malfunction. Two of our authors collected and entered the data simultaneously. Disagreements were resolved through discussion. The secondary outcomes were surgical complications and malfunction treatment outcome.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous and categorical variables were expressed as means with standard deviations (SD) and event numbers with percentages, respectively. Normally distributed continuous variables were compared using a *t*-test; otherwise, a Mann-Whitney rank test was employed. Categorical variables were analyzed using the chi-square or Fisher's exact tests. Independent risk factors, such as age, sex, height, weight, blood pressure,



occupation, educational degree, primary disease, previous abdominal surgery, surgeon, and serum electrolyte, creatinine, albumin, alkaline phosphatase, and blood urea nitrogen levels, were evaluated using the Cox regression model. Collinearity diagnosis and relation analysis were conducted, and only one of the variables with significant correlation (P < 0.05) was included in the multivariate analysis. Patient baseline characteristics and major endpoints were available for all included patients. Mean imputation was employed for the missing data. Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS 16.0 software package. A twotailed P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

From January 2013 to December 2019, 721 patients underwent new PD catheterization and conventional open surgery. Eleven patients aged <16 years, two patients with thoracoabdominal fistula, one patient with indirect inguinal hernia, one patient with scrotal effusion, and six patients who were lost to followup/self-converted to HD/withdrew/died within 1 month after catheterization were excluded. A total of 700 patients with new PD were enrolled, including 143 (20.4%) with catheter dysfunction (displacement/omental wrapping) (malfunction group) and 557 (79.6%) without catheter dysfunction (control group) (**Figure 3**).

The baseline characteristics of the included patients are presented in **Table 1**. The two groups showed significant differences in age (p < 0.001), body mass index (p = 0.028), diastolic blood pressure (p = 0.002), primary kidney disease (p = 0.002), pre-operative colonic dialysis (p < 0.001), and surgeon (p < 0.001). In addition, there were significant differences between

the two groups in serum uric acid (P = 0.030) and serum potassium (P = 0.011) before catheterization (**Table 2**).

Analysis of Risk Factors for PD Catheter Malfunction

The risk factors for PD catheter malfunction were analyzed using univariate and multivariate Cox regression analyses. In the univariate analysis, age (p < 0.001), occupation (p = 0.030), body mass index (p = 0.028), diastolic pressure (p = 0.004), primary kidney disease (p = 0.024), pre-operative colonic dialysis (p < 0.001), surgeon (p = 0.008), and serum potassium level (p = 0.008)= 0.008) were significantly associated with catheter dysfunction (Table 3). Multivariate analysis revealed that higher body mass index [hazard ratio (HR), 1.061; 95% confidence interval (CI), 1.010–1.115; P = 0.018], lower surgeon count (HR, 1.083; 95%) CI, 1.032–1.136; P = 0.001), and higher serum potassium level (HR, 1.231; 95% CI, 1.014–1.494; P = 0.036) were independent risk factors for catheter malfunction, while older age (HR, 0.976; 95% CI, 0.962-0.991; P = 0.002) and colonic dialysis (HR, 0.384; 95% CI, 0.254–0.581; P < 0.001) were protective factors (Table 3). There was no significant difference in the incidence of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis between patients with aged >40 and \leq 40 years (132/421 vs. 69/279, *P* = 0.058), nor between the colonic dialysis and no colonic dialysis groups (168/564 vs. 33/136, P = 0.245, data not shown).

Types of PD Catheter Malfunction

The types of catheter malfunction included catheter migration (n = 96, 67.1%), omental wrapping (n = 36, 25.2%), and migration plus omental wrapping (n = 11, 7.7%) (**Figure 4**). The clinical characteristics of the various catheter malfunctions are presented in **Table 4**. Omental wrapping occurred at a median of 16 days

Variables	Malfunction group $(n = 143)$	Control group (n = 557)	P-value
Sex (male, %)	87, 60.8%	322, 57.8%	0.568
Age (years)	38.5 ± 14.6	45.0 ± 15.1	< 0.001
Height (cm)	165.9 ± 8.0	166.4 ± 7.9	0.495
Weight (kg)	61.7 ± 10.2	60.3 ± 9.9	0.127
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	22.3 ± 2.7	21.7 ± 2.9	0.028
Systolic pressure (mmHg)	147.1 ± 20.3	144.5 ± 15.3	0.138
Diastolic pressure (mmHg)	92.8 ± 13.8	89.0 ± 12.8	0.002
Occupation (n, %)			0.054
Farmer	94, 65.7%	404, 72.5%	
Student	7, 4.9%	10, 1.8%	
Worker and others	42, 29.4%	143, 25.7%	
Degree of education (n, %)		0.083
Elementary school and below	46, 32.2%	224, 40.2%	
Senior school and above	97, 67.8%	333, 59.8%	
Primary kidney diseas	se (n, %)		0.002
Primary glomerular diseases	124, 86.7%	408, 73.2%	
Diabetes	11, 7.7%	97, 17.4%	
ADPKD	1, 0.7%	6, 1.1%	
Obstructive nephropathy	2, 1.4%	1, 0.2%	
Others	5, 3.5%	45, 8.1%	
History of abdominal operation (<i>n</i> , %)	15, 10.5%	81, 14.5%	0.223
Pre-operative colonic dialysis (n, %)	81, 56.6%	483, 86.7%	<0.001
Surgeon (n)			< 0.001
0	4	5	
1	3	3	
2	2	26	
3	2	61	
4	48	169	
5	12	108	
6	0	5	
7	11	5	
8	3	17	
9	11	16	
10	9	17	
11	12	111	
12	26	14	

ADPKD, autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease.

after the operation, while catheter migration occurred later and at varied times, with the longest occurrence time at 7–8 years after the operation. Younger people were more likely to have omental wrapping (mean age, 33.9 ± 13.5 years) than catheter migration (mean age, 40.9 ± 14.7 years) (P = 0.014, **Table 4**).

TABLE 2 | Laboratory data before PD catheter insertion.

Variables	Malfunction group ($n = 143$)	Control group $(n = 557)$	P-value
White blood count (10 ⁹ /L)	6.2 ±2.4	6.3 ±2.4	0.636
Hemoglobin (g/L)	89.3 ± 23.0	92.2 ± 22.3	0.160
Red blood count (10 ¹² /L)	3.0 ± 0.7	$3.3\ \pm 6.4$	0.692
Hematocrit value	$28.9\ \pm 14.8$	28.7 ± 11.6	0.689
Blood platelet (1012/L)	156.7 ± 66.2	167.7 ± 66.3	0.078
BUN (mmol/L)	$29.2\ \pm 34.9$	26.9 ± 29.9	0.426
Serum creatinine (umol/L)	777.4 ± 371.2	719.5 ± 410.9	0.128
Serum uric acid (umol/L)	379.6 ± 123.7	$409.0\ \pm 142.8$	0.030
Serum total protein (g/L)	$60.1\ \pm 9.3$	61.6 ± 8.7	0.081
Serum albumin (g/L)	36.6 ± 7.1	$36.2\ \pm 6.5$	0.505
Serum potassium (mmol/L)	$4.7\ \pm 0.8$	$4.5\ \pm 0.8$	0.011
Serum sodium (mmol/L)	139.5 ± 12.2	140.5 ± 3.9	0.093
Serum chlorine (mmol/L)	103.0 ± 4.9	102.2 ± 5.1	0.070
Serum calcium (mmol/L)	$2.0\ \pm 0.3$	$2.0\ \pm 0.8$	0.480
Serum phosphorus (mmol/L)	$1.9\ \pm 0.5$	$1.8\ \pm 0.6$	0.187
Serum iPTH (pg/ml)	319.5 ± 286.5	297.6 ± 212.6	0.319
Serum cholesterol (mmol/L)	$4.3\ \pm 1.3$	$4.3\ \pm 1.1$	0.808
LDL (mmol/L)	$2.6\ \pm 1.0$	$2.6\ \pm 0.9$	0.788
Serum triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.7 ± 1.1	1.7 ± 1.4	0.747

PD, peritoneal dialysis; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone; LDL, low-density lipoprotein.

Analysis of PD Catheter Survival Time

The mean follow-up time was 1449.87 days (range, 182-4,374 days). The catheter survival time was available for all included patients. The catheter survival time of the malfunction group (mean, 202.5 \pm 479.4 days) was significantly shorter than that of the control group (mean, 1295.3 \pm 637.0 days) (P < 0.001). Further subgroup analyses were conducted based on age, history of pre-operative colonic dialysis, and pre-operative serum potassium level. The mean PD catheter survival time in patients aged >40 years was estimated at 2382.5 days (95% CI, 2266.9-2498.1 days), which was significantly longer than that in patients aged \leq 40 years (1955.7 days; 95% CI, 1808.1–2103.3) (P < 0.001, Figure 5A). The estimated mean catheter survival time was significantly different between the colonic dialysis (2431.8 days; 95% CI, 2347.2-2516.4) and no colonic dialysis (1408.8 days; 95% CI, 1165.7–1651.9) subgroups (*P* < 0.001, **Figure 5B**). Moreover, the estimated mean catheter survival time was lower in those with pre-operative serum potassium \geq 5 mmol/L (2,382 days, 95% CI; 1761.6-2190.9) than those with pre-operative serum potassium <5 mmol/L (2,840 days; 95% CI, 2205.0-2400.9) (P = 0.046, Figure 5C).

Surgical Complications

After PD catheterization, two patients experienced bleeding. After resting in the supine position, the dialysis fluid was normalized 2–3 days after the operation, with no change in hemoglobin levels. One patient developed peritoneal dialysisrelated peritonitis on the first post-operative day. Six cases of exudation at the outlet recovered after 1 week. There were no serious complications, such as visceral injuries or

TABLE 3 | Univariate and multivariable Cox regression analyses of the risk factors of PD catheter malfunction.

Variables		Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis		
	HR	95%CI	P-value	HR	95%CI	P-value
Age	0.957	0.945–0.970	<0.001	0.976	0.962-0.991	0.002
Occupation	1.397	1.034-1.888	0.030			
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	1.059	1.006-1.115	0.028	1.061	1.010-1.115	0.018
Diastolic pressure	1.017	1.005-1.028	0.004			
Pre-operative colonic dialysis	0.241	0.173-0.336	< 0.001	0.384	0.254-0.581	< 0.001
Primary kidney disease	0.749	0.583-0.963	0.024			
Surgeon	1.067	1.017-1.120	0.008	1.083	1.032-1.136	0.001
Serum potassium	1.286	1.067-1.551	0.008	1.231	1.014-1.494	0.036

PD, peritoneal dialysis; HR, hazard ratio; Cl, confidence interval.





perforations. All patients had good post-incision prognoses, with no occurrence of fat liquefaction or poor healing.

Treatment Outcome of Catheter Malfunction

Conservative treatment (activity, drainage, manual reduction) (96, 67.1%), second operation (open operation) (42, 29.4%),

and extubation with drawal (5, 3.5%) were used to manage catheter malfunction.

Among the 96 cases of catheter migration, 92 (95.8%) received conservative treatment, three (3.1%) underwent extubation by repeated displacement, and one (1.0%) received a second operation. Among the 36 cases of omental wrapping, one (2.8%) received urokinase sealing, one (2.8%) received extubation

Variables	Migration ($n = 96$)	Omental wrapping ($n = 36$)	Migration plus omental wrapping ($n = 11$)	P-value
Sex (male, %)	57, 59.4%	21, 58.3%	10, 90.9%	0.088
Age (years)	$40.9 \pm 14.7^{*}$	$33.9 \pm 13.5^{*}$	33.0 ± 12.6	*0.014
Median time of catheter malfunction occurrence (days) (Min, Max)	34.0 (1, 2,840)	16.0 (1, 461)	16.0 (1, 61)	<0.001

TABLE 4 | Clinical features of PD catheter malfunction.

*represented the comparison between the catheter migration group and the omental wrapping group.

withdrawal, and 34 (94.4%) underwent a second operation. Among the 11 cases of catheter migration plus omental wrapping, three (27.3%) received conservative treatment (including urokinase sealing and manual reset), one (9.1%) underwent extubation, and seven (63.6%) received a second operation, of which two underwent three operations. All patients returned to normal after the intervention.

DISCUSSION

Catheter complications often lead to catheter loss and technical failure. Catheter malfunction has always been a huge burden on PD patients and their caregivers. We found that age, body mass index, pre-operative colonic dialysis, surgeon, and serum potassium level were associated with catheter malfunction in patients with urgent-start PD. Moreover, the catheter survival time of the malfunction group was significantly shorter than that of the control group. Younger age (\leq 40 years) and higher serum potassium levels (\geq 5 mmol/L) may contribute to catheter malfunction, and pre-operative colonic dialysis could reduce the risk of catheter malfunction.

It is often argued that no single implantation approach is the most superior. Regardless of operator performance, in comparing catheter placement by percutaneous needle-guidewire regardless of guided imaging, open surgical dissection, peritoneoscopy, and laparoscopy in identical populations, the outcomes reported were not different (23–28). Local anesthesia for open surgery is considered safe for PD patients, especially for those who are only suitable for local anesthesia/sedation (11). In our center, this is the first choice of insertion for almost all patients. Our clinical experience has proven that this surgical method is safe, reliable, low-cost, and suitable for all patients.

Endogenous personal factors, such as morbid obesity, history of abdominal surgeries, and other diseases such as intestinal diseases, as well as exogenous factors, such as peritonitis and surgical placement technique, have been associated with peritoneal catheter malfunction (29, 30). In our study, younger age, body mass index, and lower surgeon count were independent risk factors for catheter malfunction in patients with urgent-start PD. It has been reported that younger patients were more likely to develop catheter complications in urgent-start PD (7). This is consistent with our finding that patients aged \leq 40 years were more likely to have catheter malfunction. Young people with rich omenta and active intestinal tracts may be more prone to catheter dysfunction, particularly omental wrapping. For patients with open PD, part of the greater omentum should be resected on a case-to-case basis. The observed redundant omentum lying

in proximity to the catheter tip can be displaced from the pelvis into the upper abdomen and either fixed to the abdominal wall or falciform ligament or folded upon itself (omentopexy) (31). However, we did not find the different rates of peritoneal dialysis related peritonitis between younger and older age patients, as well as between colonic dialysis group and no colonic dialysis group, suggesting that peritoneal dialysis related peritonitis was not a distinguishing factor for catheter dysfunction in patients of different ages and in patients with or without colonic dialysis although peritonitis has been reported to be more common in young patients (19). In addition, the technique and experience of the surgeon may contribute to the catheter survival time and success rate (32, 33). Therefore, standardized training for surgeons should be carried out to improve the success rate of catheterization and reduce the incidence of catheter malfunction, thus prolonging both catheter and patient survival time.

Furthermore, pre-operative colonic dialysis was independently associated with reduced catheter-dysfunction risk. A total of 564 (80.6%) patients underwent colonic dialysis before PD catheterization in our hospital. As a semi-permeable membrane, the colon plays an important role in toxic waste removal. The first use of bowel elimination as a treatment of kidney disease could date back to 40 B.C. in Dioscorides' Materia Medica. Later uremic patients were treated with intestinal dialysis or induced diarrhea. Therefore, the colon may provide a therapeutic target for managing CKD (34). Colonic dialysis was reported as one of conservation management for chronic kidney disease patients in stages 3-5 (34-37), but it is not a standard procedure and do not recommend the first-line therapy by guideline. However, whether colonic dialysis is effective in preventing catheter malfunction has not been reported. Therefore, in our center, for patients who choose peritoneal dialysis, we usually only perform colonic dialysis once before peritoneal dialysis catheter implantation according to the patient's will. Subgroup analysis revealed a lower incidence of catheter malfunction and longer catheter survival time in the colonic dialysis group than in the no colonic dialysis group, which are in line with previous findings that good pre-operative bowel preparation is a key step in the success of PD (38, 39). Colonic dialysis can deeply clean the intestines and expel constipation and flatulence, reducing the risk of catheter displacement.

Analysis of blood biochemical indicators revealed only the serum potassium level as an independent risk factor for catheter malfunction. Abnormal blood potassium levels reduce intestinal function, resulting in metabolic waste that cannot be discharged through the anus. This is consistent with the finding that intestinal cleaning before PD catheter implantation may help prevent catheter malfunction. Our results indicated that patients with higher serum potassium levels (\geq 5 mmol/L) might be prone to catheter malfunction, suggesting that measuring precatheterization serum potassium levels may reduce the risk of catheter malfunction.

Of the 107 patients with catheter migration, 96 (89.7%) experienced catheter migration alone, and 92 of them (96%) returned to normal after conservative treatment, indicating its effectiveness in managing catheter migration alone. However, the incidence of omental wrapping accounted for only 5.1% of all patients undergoing catheterization. Although omental folding at the initial open catheter placement can decrease the risk of catheter tip migration with dysfunction (22), we believed that it is not necessary to perform omental folding before open catheter placement under a surgical incision only a few centimeters long, partly because of its difficulty and low incidence. In addition, laparoscopic catheter placement was not superior to open surgery, as the latter required a shorter operative time and simpler equipment (40). In this study, preservation of the peritoneal dialysis tube and the subcutaneous tunnel was successful, suggesting that this operation may be economical and effective in managing omental wrapping.

Our study has several limitations. First, this study is retrospective in nature. Therefore, not all of the desired laboratory data were available for every patient. For the present study, we captured data on a daily basis throughout the hospital stay. These characteristics can reduce associated biases with missing data. Second, some important baseline covariates were not comparable in the original cohort. To reduce the influence of incomparable baseline characteristics, we adjusted the efficacy of PD catheter survival time using multivariate analyses. Third, this was a single-center study. More prospective controlled multicenter studies are needed to validate our findings.

In conclusion, urgent-start PD is a safe and efficacious therapy for patients with unplanned PD. For young people who are prone to catheter malfunction, adequate pre-operative colonic dialysis and serum potassium level control are conducive to preventing catheter malfunction. Moreover, standardized training for surgeons is necessary to reduce the incidence of catheter malfunction. Conservative treatment is effective in

REFERENCES

- Tsuzuki T, Iwata H, Murase Y, Takahara T, Ohashi A. Renal tumors in end-stage renal disease: a comprehensive review. *Int J Urol.* (2018) 25:780– 6. doi: 10.1111/iju.13759
- Kanda H, Hirasaki Y, Iida T, Kanao-Kanda M, Toyama Y, Chiba T, et al. Perioperative management of patients with end-stage renal disease. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. (2017) 31:2251–67. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2017.04.019
- Li PK, Chow KM, Van de Luijtgaarden MW, Johnson DW, Jager KJ, Mehrotra R, et al. Changes in the worldwide epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2017) 13:90–103. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.181
- Dombros N, Dratwa M, Feriani M, Gokal R, Heimbürger O, Krediet R, et al. European best practice guidelines for peritoneal dialysis. 3 peritoneal access. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (2005) 20(Suppl. 9):ix8–12. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfi1117

managing catheter migration alone, and preservation of the PD tube and subcutaneous tunnel as a second operation is effective for omental wrapping. To our knowledge, this is the largest study on the risk factors and management of PD-related catheter malfunction. This study provides a clinical basis for the prevention and treatment of PD catheter malfunction.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Xijing Hospital. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GX conceived and designed the research, wrote the first draft, and edited and revised the manuscript. LZ participated in data analysis and interpretation. JY participated in all data collection. MB participated in statistical analysis. FD participated in data collection. SS participated in the research design. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81470993 and 81272621) and the Baxter IIS Foundation Grant (Grant No. CHN-RENALIIS-2012-039).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We greatly appreciate Jin, Michelle of Kang Chiao International School Xi'an Qujiang Campus, for the making of **Figure 1**. We would like to acknowledge all of our PD doctors and nurses, as well as our PD patients.

- Figueiredo A, Goh BL, Jenkins S, Johnson DW, Mactier R, Ramalakshmi S, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for peritoneal access. *Perit Dial Int.* (2010) 30:424–9. doi: 10.3747/pdi.201 0.00087
- Ponce D, Brabo AM, Balbi AL. Urgent start peritoneal dialysis. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. (2018) 27:478–86. doi: 10.1097/MNH.00000000000451
- Xu D, Liu T, Dong J. Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis complications: prevalence and risk factors. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2017) 70:102– 10. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.12.021
- Alkatheeri AM, Blake PG, Gray D, Jain AK. Success of urgent-start peritoneal dialysis in a Large Canadian Renal Program. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:171– 6. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00148
- Crabtree JH, Chow KM. Peritoneal dialysis catheter insertion. Semin Nephrol. (2017) 37:17–29. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016.10.004

- Flanigan M, Gokal R. Peritoneal catheters and exit-site practices toward optimum peritoneal access: a review of current developments. *Perit Dial Int.* (2005) 25:132–9. doi: 10.1177/089686080502500204
- Crabtree JH, Shrestha BM, Chow KM, Figueiredo AE, Povlsen JV, Wilkie M, et al. Creating and maintaining optimal peritoneal dialysis access in the adult patient: 2019 update. *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:414– 36. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00232
- 12. Tanasiychuk T, Selgas R, Kushnir D, Abd Elhalim M, Antebi A, Del Peso G, et al. The ideal position of the peritoneal dialysis catheter is not always ideal. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2019) 51:1867–72. doi: 10.1007/s11255-019-02177-3
- Yilmazlar T, Kirdak T, Bilgin S, Yavuz M, Yurtkuran M. Laparoscopic findings of peritoneal dialysis catheter malfunction and management outcomes. *Perit Dial Int.* (2006) 26:374–9. doi: 10.1177/089686080602600316
- Yang PJ, Lee CY, Yeh CC, Nien HC, Tsai TJ, Tsai MK. Mini-laparotomy implantation of peritoneal dialysis catheters: outcome and rescue. *Perit Dial Int.* (2010) 30:513–8. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00033
- Liu WJ, Hooi LS. Complications after Tenckhoff catheter insertion: a singlecentre experience using multiple operators over four years. *Perit Dial Int.* (2010) 30:509–12. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00083
- Povlsen JV, Ivarsen P. How to start the late referred ESRD patient urgently on chronic APD. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (2006) 21(Suppl. 2):ii56– 9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl192
- Ye H, Yang X, Yi C, Guo Q, Li Y, Yang Q, et al. Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis for patients with end stage renal disease: a 10-year retrospective study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20:238. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1408-9
- Javaid MM, Khan BA, Subramanian S. Is surgical PD catheter insertion safe for urgent-start peritoneal dialysis? *Semin Dial.* (2019) 32:225– 8. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12774
- Hernández-Castillo JL, Balderas-Juárez J, Jiménez-Zarazúa O, Guerrero-Toriz K, Loeza-Uribe MP, Tenorio-Aguirre EK, et al. Factors associated with urgentstart peritoneal dialysis catheter complications in ESRD. *Kidney Int Rep.* (2020) 5:1722–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2020.07.025
- Chow KM, Wong SSM, Ng JKC, Cheng YL, Leung CB, Pang WF, et al. Straight versus coiled peritoneal dialysis catheters: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2020) 75:39–44. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2019.05.024
- McCormick BB, Bargman JM. Noninfectious complications of peritoneal dialysis: implications for patient and technique survival. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2007) 18:3023–5. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007070796
- 22. Chen G, Wang P, Liu H, Zhou L, Cheng M, Liu Y, et al. Greater omentum folding in the open surgical placement of peritoneal dialysis catheters: a randomized controlled study and systemic review. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2014) 29:687–97. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft357
- Wright MJ, Bel'eed K, Johnson BF, Eadington DW, Sellars L, Farr MJ. Randomized prospective comparison of laparoscopic and open peritoneal dialysis catheter insertion. *Perit Dial Int.* (1999) 19:372– 5. doi: 10.1177/089686089901900415
- 24. George N, Alexander S, David VG, Basu G, Mohapatra A, Valson AT, et al. Comparison of early mechanical and infective complications in first time blind, bedside, midline percutaneous Tenckhoff catheter insertion with ultrashort break-in period in diabetics and non-diabetics: setting new standards. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:655–61. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2015.00097
- 25. Jwo SC, Chen KS, Lee CC, Chen HY. Prospective randomized study for comparison of open surgery with laparoscopic-assisted placement of Tenckhoff peritoneal dialysis catheter–a single center experience and literature review. J Surg Res. (2010) 159:489–96. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2008.09.008
- Ozener C, Bihorac A, Akoglu E. Technical survival of CAPD catheters: comparison between percutaneous and conventional surgical placement techniques. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2001) 16:1893–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/16.9.1893
- Voss D, Hawkins S, Poole G, Marshall M. Radiological versus surgical implantation of first catheter for peritoneal dialysis: a randomized non-inferiority trial. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (2012) 27:4196–204. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs305

- van Laanen JHH, Cornelis T, Mees BM, Litjens EJ, van Loon MM, Tordoir JHM, et al. Randomized controlled trial comparing open versus laparoscopic placement of a peritoneal dialysis catheter and outcomes: the CAPD I trial. *Perit Dial Int.* (2018) 38:104–12. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2017.00023
- 29. Tiong HY, Poh J, Sunderaraj K, Wu YJ, Consigliere DT. Surgical complications of Tenckhoff catheters used in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Singapore Med J.* (2006) 47:707–11.
- Qiao Q, Zhou L, Hu K, Xu D, Li L, Lu G. Laparoscopic versus traditional peritoneal dialysis catheter insertion: a meta-analysis. *Ren Fail*. (2016) 38:838– 48. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2015.1077313
- Goh YH. Omental folding: a novel laparoscopic technique for salvaging peritoneal dialysis catheters. *Perit Dial Int.* (2008) 28:626–31. doi: 10.1177/089686080802800614
- Kim SH, Lee DH, Choi HJ, Seo HJ, Jang YS, Kim DH, et al. Minilaparotomy with manual correction for malfunctioning peritoneal dialysis catheters. *Perit Dial Int*. (2008) 28:550–4. doi: 10.1177/089686080802800524
- 33. Ma TK, Chow KM, Kwan BC, Ng JK, Choy AS, Kwong VW, et al. Peritoneal dialysis catheter revision and replacement by nephrologist for peritoneal dialysis catheter malfunction. *Nephron.* (2018) 138:214– 9. doi: 10.1159/000485643
- Dai S, Dai Y, Peng J, Xie X, Ning J. Simplified colonic dialysis with hemodialysis solutions delays the progression of chronic kidney disease. *QJM*. (2019) 112:189–96. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcy260
- Li Y, Dai M, Yan J, Liu F, Wang X, Lin L, et al. Colonic dialysis can influence gut flora to protect renal function in patients with pre-dialysis chronic kidney disease. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:12773. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-91722-1
- He H, Shen M, Sun W, Tang Y, Xu X, Xie Y. Influence of colonic dialysis using Chinese medicine on creatinine decomposition by intestinal bacteria in uremia rats. *Am J Transl Res.* (2019) 11:6577–84.
- Zarantonello D, Rhee CM, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Brunori G. Novel conservative management of chronic kidney disease via dialysis-free interventions. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2021) 30:97–107. doi: 10.1097/MNH.000000000000670
- Vijt D, Castro MJ, Endall G, Lindley E, Elseviers M. Post insertion catheter care in peritoneal dialysis (PD) centres across Europe-part 2: complication rates and individual patient outcomes. *EDTNA ERCA J.* (2004) 30:91– 6. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-6686.2004.tb00342.x
- Singharetnam W, Holley JL. Acute treatment of constipation may lead to transmural migration of bacteria resulting in gramnegative, polymicrobial, or fungal peritonitis. *Perit Dial Int.* (1996) 16:423–5. doi: 10.1177/089686089601600419
- Xie H, Zhang W, Cheng J, He Q. Laparoscopic versus open catheter placement in peritoneal dialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Nephrol.* (2012) 13:69. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-13-69

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhao, Yang, Bai, Dong, Sun and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effects of Baduanjin Exercise on Physical Function and Health-Related Quality of Life in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A Randomized Trial

Fan Zhang[†], Jing Liao[†], Weihong Zhang, Hui Wang, Liuyan Huang, Qiyun Shen and Huachun Zhang^{*}

Longhua Hospital, Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China

Background and Aims: Exercise is an efficient non-pharmacological intervention for chronic kidney disease. The study aims to evaluate the effects of Baduanjin exercise on physical function and health-related quality of life (HRQOL) in peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Paul Bennett, University of South Australia, Australia Myriam Isnard, Nephrologist Medipole, France

> *Correspondence: Huachun Zhang Ihhlky@163.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 05 October 2021 Accepted: 08 November 2021 Published: 29 November 2021

Citation:

Zhang F, Liao J, Zhang W, Wang H, Huang L, Shen Q and Zhang H (2021) Effects of Baduanjin Exercise on Physical Function and Health-Related Quality of Life in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A Randomized Trial. Front. Med. 8:789521. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.789521 **Methods:** Seventy PD patients were randomly assigned to either the Baduanjin exercise group or the control group. Fifty-seven patients completed the study (exercise group, 25; control group, 32). The exercise group received the Baduanjin exercise program for 12 weeks. The control group received usual care. Three well-established performance-based tests determined physical function: five times sit-to-stand test (FTSST), timed up and go test (TUGT), and handgrip strength (HGS). HRQOL was assessed by the Kidney Disease Quality of Life-Short Form.

Results: At baseline, no differences in physical function and HRQOL were observed between the Baduanjin exercise and the control group. At follow-up, the Baduanjin exercise group showed a marginally significant improvement in FTSST (P = 0.008) and TUGT (P = 0.040) over the 12 weeks compared to the control group. HRQOL in the Baduanjin exercise group was significantly higher than that of the control group.

Conclusions: A 12-week Baduanjin exercise program may improve physical function and HRQOL in PD patients. Longer follow-up is needed to determine if these findings will translate into clinical application.

Keywords: Baduanjin, exercise, peritoneal dialysis, physical function, quality of life

INTRODUCTION

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a growing public health concern in China due to its high prevalence with an incidence of $\sim 10.8\%$ in adults (1), association with increased morbidity, mortality, and progression to end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (2). Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is one of the renal replacement therapies for patients with ESRD. The estimated prevalence of PD was 39.95 per million population in China, and the corresponding number of PD patients was $\sim 55,000$ (3).

68

PD patients generally engage in a low level of physical activity compared to healthy individuals, reducing exercise capacity, decreasing anabolic stimuli, and compromising muscle endurance, muscle strength, and cardiopulmonary fitness (4). Meanwhile, physical inactivity is an independent risk factor for lower health-related quality of life (HRQOL) and higher mortality in PD patients (5). Therefore, most researchers reported exercise as one of the best non-pharmacologic therapies to treat CKD (6), as it may have a protective role concerning residual renal function (7).

PD treatment may imply some challenging and specific physical factors. Whether to exercise with fluid in the abdomen or without is still a controversial issue (6). In general, PD patients

should perform moderate-to-high intensity exercise when there is no dialysis fluid in the abdominal cavity, while low-intensity exercise (e.g., walking) can be performed while dialysis fluid left (8). In addition, added weight, hernias, dialysate leakage, and uncertainty exercise prescription limited participation in exercise programs in PD patients due to little known about it (9).

As one of the traditional Chinese exercises, Baduanjin is an aerobic mind-body exercise with low-to-moderate intensity physical activity that is safe for non-communicable diseases and older individuals (10). At present, it has been confirmed that the incorporation of Baduanjin exercise into the lifestyle can significantly improve pulmonary function in patients with the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (11), glycemic control in



FIGURE 1 | Flow of patients through the study. Of 100 patients who were screened, 70 patients were considered eligible and were randomly assigned to the Baduanjin exercise group or control group. In the exercise group, 25 patients completed the study, compared with 32 patients in the control group.

patients with diabetes (12), fatigue in patients with heart failure (13), and insomnia symptoms (14). However, what is not yet clear is the impact of Baduanjin on PD patients.

To fill the knowledge gap, the purpose of this study is to evaluate the effectiveness of a Baduanjin exercise program on physical function and HRQOL in PD patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

Participants were identified from the Department of Nephrology, Longhua Hospital Shanghai University Traditional Chinese Medicine. They were included if they were 18 years or older, were diagnosed as CKD according to the Nation Kidney Foundation-Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative guidelines (15), and received PD therapy for more than 3 months, and patients were followed regularly at the outpatient clinic every 2 weeks unless loss to follow-up.

Patients were excluded if they needed crutches to walk, had unstable medical conditions (e.g., uncontrolled hypertension: blood pressure >160/100 mmHg, cardiovascular disease (e.g., congestive heart failure)), had participated in similar exercise intervention within the prior 6 months.

Dialysis Protocol

All patients were treated with glucose-based dialysis fluid for continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis containing a 1.5 mmol/L or 2.5 mmol/L concentration. The dialysis frequency was 3–4 times/d, and each abdominal retention time was 3–5 h. Daily dialysate volume was 6–8 L per day.

Study Procedure

The study was proved by the Ethics Committee of Longhua Hospital Shanghai University Traditional Chinese Medicine. All patients included in this study signed informed consent. Patients were randomly assigned to two groups of Baduanjin exercise group and control group by a researcher using a computergenerated table of random numbers (random seed: 20190101). The study recruitment process is outlined in **Figure 1**.

Control Group

As usual care, nurses provided PD patients with usual care (e.g., conventional medication, routine health guidance) and management strategies for PD-related complications at each outpatient visit.

Baduanjin Exercise Group

Participants allocated to the exercise group received a 12-week home-based Baduanjin exercise program. Before the Baduanjin exercise program, three nurses (LJ, ZHW, and WH) received professional training to provide Baduanjin instruction to the participants. The Baduanjin exercise program includes eight forms (**Figure 2**): form 1, propping un the sky; form 2, drawing the bow; form 3, raising one hand; form 4, looking over the shoulders; form 5, clenching fists and looking forward with eyes wide open; form 6, pulling the toes; form 7, swaying head and buttocks; form 8, jolting, and about 30 min each time. The duration of intervention was five times a week for 12 weeks, and supervision was provided via *WeChat* message by the trained researchers (LJ, ZHW, and WH). Because Baduanjin is a lowintensity aerobic exercise, patients can perform it while the dialysis fluid is retained in the abdomen (8).

Primary Outcome

Three well-established performance-based tests were used to assess changes in physical function (16). The five times sit-tostand test (FTSST) measured lower-extremity muscle strength as a function of the time patients needed to stand up from a seated position and sit back down five times from a chair of standardized height. The timed up and go test (TUGT) was used to measure



functional mobility that the time needed to stand up from a chair, walk 3 m, and return to the chair and sit down. The handgrip strength (HGS) was used to measure forelimb muscle strength with a dynamograph.

Secondary Outcome

The Kidney Disease Quality of Life-Short Form (KDQOL-SF) scale version 1.3 assessed HRQOL in PD patients (17). The

 TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics between Baduanjin exercise and control groups.

	Baduanjin exercise group (n = 25)	Control group (n = 32)	P-value
Age, years, median (IQR)	60.0 (51.0, 66.0)	62.0 (54.5, 67.3)	0.535
Duration of PD, months, median (IQR)	60.0 (27.0, 118.0)	35.5 (23.5, 102.0)	0.260
BMI (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	22.4 ± 3.3	22.9 ± 3.1	0.560
Sex, n (%)			0.985
Male	14 (56.0%)	18 (56.3%)	
Female	11 (44.0%)	14 (43.8%)	
Education, n (%)			0.578
High school and above	12 (48.0%)	13 (40.6%)	
Middle school and below	13 (52.0%)	19 (59.4%)	
Cause of ESRD, n (%)			0.229
Glomerulonephritis	15 (60.0%)	11 (34.4%)	
Hypertension	2 (8.0%)	9 (28.1%)	
Diatebes	2 (8.0%)	2 (6.3%)	
Ig A nephropathy	1 (4.0%)	3 (9.4%)	
Other	5 (20.0%)	7 (21.9%)	
Medications, n (%)			
Antihypertensives	12 (48.0%)	20 (62.5%)	0.274
Antidiabetics	6 (24.0%)	8 (25.0%)	0.931
Erythropoietic stimulant	16 (64.0%)	14 (43.8%)	0.129
Antidyslipidemic	9 (36.0%)	9 (28.1%)	0.526

BMI, body mass index; ESRD, end stage renal disease; PD, peritoneal dialysis; IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation.

[†]Denotes a 2-sided Fisher exact test.

scale included 36 items in five dimensions: physical component score, mental component score, burden of kidney disease, symptom/problem, and effect of kidney disease. According to published guidelines, we calculated and linearly converted KDQOL scores to a 0- to 100-point scale, with higher scores reflecting better HRQOL (18). The Cronbach's alpha and testretest reliability for the Chinese version of the KDQOL-SF was 0.69–0.78 and 0.70–0.86, respectively (19).

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS statistics version 21.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Continuous data were assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Data conformance to the normal distribution is described by mean \pm standard deviation (x \pm SD), and the *t*-test was used to compare the data. Otherwise, non-normal distribution data were expressed as median (quartile range) and were compared using the Mann-Whitney *U* test. The counting data were expressed as percentages (%), processed by chi-square (χ^2) test. *P* < 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference.

RESULTS

Participants

Fifty-seven Patients completed the study. Ten participants from the exercise group (two occurred peritonitis and eight because of poor adherence) and three patients from the control group (due to catheter infection) dropped out before the 12-week visit (**Figure 1**). Participants' demographic and clinical characteristics are described in **Table 1**. Sex, age, duration of PD, education, body mass index (BMI), cause of ESRD, and medications were not significantly different between the control and Baduanjin exercise groups (P > 0.05).

Physical Function

There was no significant difference for FSTTS, TUGT, and HGS between the Baduanjin exercise and control groups in terms of baseline. The intervention group showed a marginally significant improvement in the FTSST (P = 0.008) and TUGT (P = 0.040), but no statistically significant difference in HGS (P = 0.484) over the 12 weeks compared to the control group (**Figure 3**). From


the rate of change, the exercise group only decreases the time to perform FTSST by 5.27 \pm 12.56% and perform TUGT by 6.78 \pm 13.10%, increasing HGS by 4.74 \pm 23.05%. At the same time, the percent change in the FTSST, TUGT, and HGS in the control group were 0.05 \pm 0.36%, 0.48 \pm 4.05%, and $-0.07 \pm$ 0.77%, respectively (Figure 4).

Health-Related Quality of Life

There was no significant difference for HRQOL between the Baduanjin exercise and control groups at baseline. Although there was the only effect of kidney disease significantly improved within the Baduanjin exercise group (P = 0.02; Table 2), it was observed that HRQOL significantly improved in the fields of the physical component score, mental component score, and effect of kidney disease in comparison to control group following Baduanjin exercise program (P < 0.01; Table 2).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first randomized trial of the Baduanjin exercise program in PD patients, so direct comparison



The poor physical function puts the patients at risk of impaired HROOL and higher mortality among PD patients linked to a more sedentary lifestyle (4, 21). Regular exercise programs or encouraging increased physical activity may improve the prognosis of PD patients (22). Consistent evidence shows that the Baduanjin exercise program improved physical function (e.g., balance ability, cardiopulmonary fitness, and

aerobic exercise program.

functional mobility) in Parkinson's disease patients (23). Our results complement prior researches on exercise programs on physical function in PD patients. This study showed an increase in FTSST by 5.27% and TUGT by 6.78% in the Baduanjin exercise group. The findings are somewhat similar to Uchiyama et al. (24) but are slightly lower than Lo's study (25). In previous reports, Uchiyama et al. (24) conducted a randomized controlled trial of 24 PD patients, and results showed that 12-week home-based aerobic exercise improved incremental shuttle walking test, an indicator that assesses mobility, compared to the control group (24). Similarly, another study of 13 PD patients demonstrated that aerobic capacity increased by 16.2% after a 12-week exercise program (25).

with prior studies is limited. Our study suggests that a 12-week

Baduanjin exercise program may improve physical function and

HRQOL in PD patients. This finding is consistent with results

published by Bennet et al. (20), who demonstrated a statistically

significant improvement in physical mobility, measured by

TUGT, in PD patients who followed a combined resistance and

In the present study, HRQOL was assessed using the KDQOL-SF. The scores that we recorded at baseline before the intervention are similar to those reported by Hiramatsu et al. (26) in a sample of PD patients. Of particular note is the observation that our 12-week intervention led to a mean increase of FTSST and TUGT in the Baduanjin exercise group and HRQOL with a corresponding change in both. Increased muscle strength and functional mobility may significantly impact HRQOL as daily activities require submaximal efforts. Meanwhile, we observed there was a trend of deterioration in HRQOL in the control group. As everyone knows, PD patients have a more severe disease burden and progressively worsen over time, making their HRQOL unpleasant. Maintenance even increases in physical

		Exercise group (n =	25)		Control (<i>n</i> = 32)				
	Baseline	12 weeks	z	P*	Baseline	12 weeks	z	P*	
PCS	41.7 (35.4, 75.0)	58.3 (45.8, 70.8)	-1.172	0.241	39.6 (17.7, 57.3)	40.0 (26.1, 46.5)	-0.290	0.772	<0.001
MCS	65.0 (42.9, 75.4)	69.2 (54.6, 74.6)	-0.592	0.554	65.4 (39.8, 78.4)	54.2 (45.7, 60.0)	-1.216	0.224	< 0.001
BKD	37.5 (18.8, 56.3)	37.5 (28.8, 46.9)	-0.029	0.977	43.8 (18.8, 56.3)	37.5 (31.3, 43.8)	-0.587	0.557	0.673
S/P	77.1 (65.7, 81.3)	77.1 (70.9, 81.3)	-1.252	0.211	75.0 (62.5, 83.3)	75.0 (70.8, 79.2)	-0.854	0.393	0.309
EKD	62.5 (51.6, 68.8)	68.8 (56.3, 71.9)	-2.315	0.021	62.5 (47.7, 75.0)	56.3 (44.6, 62.5)	-1.106	0.269	<0.001

TABLE 2 | Comparison of HRQOL between two groups.

PCS, physical component score; MCS, mental component score; BKD, burden of kidney disease; S/P, symptom/problem; EKD, effect of kidney disease.

Data are represented as median with the interguartile range *Comparison of HRQOL at baseline and 12 weeks within groups.

*Comparison of HRQOL at 12 weeks between the Baduaniin exercise and the control groups.

function are considered as a key to improving HRQOL (27). Our results illustrate further this view.

Several limitations of the study should be noted. Firstly, the rate of lost participants in the current study was relatively high, which might impact the reliability of results to a certain extent. Secondly, among exercise programs, this study lacks precise tools (e.g., accelerometer) to monitor the exercise intensity of patients, although Baduanjin is low-to-moderate intensity. Thirdly, despite our results illustrating that Baduanjin shows at least short-term physical function benefits, studies of even longer duration are required to clarify the role of Baduanjin in the prognosis of PD patients.

CONCLUSION

In summary, a 12-week Baduanjin exercise program effectively improved physical function and improved some aspects of HRQOL among PD patients. Larger studies and longer followup are needed to determine if these findings will decrease the risk of disease progression.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Zhang L, Wang F, Wang L, Wang W, Liu B, Liu J, et al. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in China: a cross-sectional survey. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:815–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60033-6
- Webster AC, Nagler EV, Morton RL, Masson P. Chronic kidney disease. Lancet. (2017) 389:1238–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32064-5
- 3. Wang F, Yang C, Long J, Zhao X, Tang W, Zhang D, et al. Executive summary for the 2015 Annual Data Report of the China Kidney Disease Network (CK-NET). *Kidney Int.* (2019) 95:501–5. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.11.011
- Painter PL, Agarwal A, Drummond M. Physical function and physical activity in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:598– 604. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00256
- Kang SH, Do JY, Jeong HY, Lee SY, Kim JC. The clinical significance of physical activity in maintenance dialysis patients. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2017) 42:575–86. doi: 10.1159/000480674
- Isnard-Rouchon M, West M, Bennett PN. Exercise and physical activity for people receiving peritoneal dialysis: why not? *Semin Dial*. (2019) 32:303– 7. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12784
- Uchiyama K, Washida N, Morimoto K, Muraoka K, Nakayama T, Adachi K, et al. Effects of exercise on residual renal function in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis: a *post-hoc* analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2020) 24:668-76. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987.13481
- Bellizzi V, Regolisti G. What is the role of exercise in chronic kidney disease? [published online ahead of print, 2020 Aug 12]. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (2020) gfaa161. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfaa161
- Maia Neves Menezes JI, Lopes Pereira LA. Physical exercise and peritoneal dialysis: an area yet to be explored. *Nefrologia*. (2021) S0211–6995. doi: 10.1016/j.nefro.2021.02.007
- Zou L, Pan Z, Yeung A, Talwar S, Wang C, Liu Y, et al. A review study on the beneficial effects of baduanjin. J Altern Complement Med. (2018) 24:324–35. doi: 10.1089/acm.2017.0241
- 11. Liu SJ, Ren Z, Wang L, Wei GX, Zou L. Mind⁻Body (Baduanjin) exercise prescription for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Longhua Hospital Shanghai University Traditional Chinese Medicine. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QYS, LYH, and JL: research idea and study design. JL, WHZ, and HW: patient supervision and data acquisition. FZ: data analysis. FZ and HCZ: writing a draft and revising. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Longhua Hospital Shanghai University Traditional Chinese Medicine (Y1829 and Y21026).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the participants during the trial and the clinical teams at the department of nephrology.

review with meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2018) 15:1830. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15091830

- Wen J, Lin T, Cai Y, Chen Q, Chen Y, Ren Y, et al. Baduanjin exercise for type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2017) 2017:8378219. doi: 10.1155/2017/8378219
- Chen DM Yu WC, Hung HF, Tsai JC, Wu HY, Chiou AF. The effects of Baduanjin exercise on fatigue and quality of life in patients with heart failure: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs*. (2018) 17:456– 66. doi: 10.1177/1474515117744770
- 14. Jiang YH, Tan C, Yuan Baduanjin S. for exercise insomnia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Behav 10.1080/15402002.2017.13 Sleep Med. (2017) 1 - 13.doi: 63042
- Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, Isakova T, Lash JP, Peralta CA, et al. KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2014) 63:713– 35. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.01.416
- Painter P, Marcus RL. Assessing physical function and physical activity in patients with CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 8:861–72. doi: 10.2215/CJN.06590712
- Hays RD, Kallich JD, Mapes DL, Coons SJ, Carter WB. Development of the kidney disease quality of life (KDQOL) instrument. *Qual Life Res.* (1994) 3:329–38. doi: 10.1007/BF00451725
- Saban KL, Bryant FB, Reda DJ, Stroupe KT, Hynes DM. Measurement invariance of the kidney disease and quality of life instrument (KDQOL-SF) across veterans and non-veterans. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2010) 8:120. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-8-120
- Tao X, Chow SK, Wong FK. Determining the validity and reliability of the Chinese version of the Kidney Disease Quality of Life Questionnaire (KDQOL-36TM). BMC Nephrol. (2014) 15:115. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-15-115
- 20. Bennet PN, Hussein WF, Matthews K, West M, Smith E, Reiterman M, et al. An exercise program for peritoneal dialysis patients

in the United States: a feasibility study. *Kidney Med.* (2020) 2:267–75. doi: 10.1016/j.xkme.2020.01.005

- Johansen KL, Chertow GM, Kutner NG, Dalrymple LS, Grimes BA, Kaysen GA. Low level of self-reported physical activity in ambulatory patients new to dialysis. *Kidney Int.* (2010) 78:1164–70. doi: 10.1038/ki.2010.312
- Greenwood S. Do we need tailored physical interventions to improve physical function and physical activity levels in patients with chronic kidney disease treated with peritoneal dialysis? *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:595– 7. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2017.00138
- Xiao CM, Zhuang YC. Effect of health Baduanjin Qigong for mild to moderate Parkinson's disease. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2016) 16:911– 9. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12571
- Uchiyama K, Washida N, Morimoto K, Muraoka K, Kasai T, Yamaki K, et al. Home-based aerobic exercise and resistance training in peritoneal dialysis patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:2632. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39074-9
- Lo CY Li L, Lo WK, Chan ML, So E, Tang S, et al. Benefits of exercise training in patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1998) 32:1011–8. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(98)70076-9
- Hiramatsu T, Okumura S, Asano Y, Mabuchi M, Iguchi D, Furuta S. Quality of life and emotional distress in peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2019) 24:366-72. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987. 13450

27. Iyasere O, Brown E, Gordon F, Collinson H, Fielding R, Fluck R, et al. Longitudinal trends in quality of life and physical function in frail older dialysis patients: a comparison of assisted peritoneal dialysis and in-center hemodialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:112–8. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00086

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Liao, Zhang, Wang, Huang, Shen and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characteristics Analysis, Clinical Outcome and Risk Factors for Fungal Peritonitis in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A 10-Year Case-Control Study

Rongrong Li^{1†}, Difei Zhang^{1,2†}, Jingwen He¹, Jianjun Ou¹, La Zhang^{1,2}, Xiaoxuan Hu^{1,2}, Jianfeng Wu^{1,2}, Hui Liu^{1,2}, Yu Peng^{1,2}, Yuan Xu^{1,2}, Haijing Hou^{1,2}, Xusheng Liu^{1,2*} and Fuhua Lu^{1,2*}

Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Ai Jun, Southern Medical University, China Chen Jin Bor, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taiwan

*Correspondence:

Xusheng Liu liuxusheng@gzucm.edu.cn Fuhua Lu lufuhua@gzucm.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 13 September 2021 Accepted: 10 November 2021 Published: 01 December 2021

Citation:

Li R, Zhang D, He J, Ou J, Zhang L, Hu X, Wu J, Liu H, Peng Y, Xu Y, Hou H, Liu X and Lu F (2021) Characteristics Analysis, Clinical Outcome and Risk Factors for Fungal Peritonitis in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: A 10-Year Case-Control Study: Front. Med. 8:774946. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.774946 **Background:** Fungal peritonitis (FP) is a rare but severe complication that can appear in patients receiving peritoneal dialysis (PD). This study aimed to investigate the incidence rate and clinical characteristics of FP, evaluate clinical outcomes between FP and bacterial peritonitis (BP) patients on PD, and especially estimate the risk factors for FP outbreak.

¹ The Second Clinical College of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Nephrology,

Methods: All episodes of FP diagnosed in our hospital from January 1, 2011, to December 31, 2020, were reviewed in this single-center study. FP cases were analyzed and compared with patients diagnosed with BP in a 1:6 ratio matching for case-control study. Patient information, including clinical information, biochemical analysis, and outcomes, was recorded. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression model were used to analyze the risk factors for FP.

Results: A total of 15 FP episodes were observed in 15 PD patients, with an FP rate of 0.0071 episodes per patient-year. Seventeen strains of fungi were isolated and identified. *Candida* was the most common pathogen (15 strains, 88.2%), followed by *Aspergillus fumigatus* (2 strains, 11.8%). Between the groups, FP group showed a higher rate of HD transfer and catheter removal, and a lower rate of PD resumption in the short-term outcome (all P < 0.01), while no significant difference in the mortality was noted during the whole study period. The multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that longer PD duration (odds ratio [OR] 1.042, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.012–1.073, P < 0.01), higher serum potassium (OR 3.373, 95% CI 1.068–10.649, P < 0.05), elevated estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (OR 1.845, 95% CI 1.151–2.955, P < 0.05), reduced serum albumin level (OR 0.820, 95% CI 0.695–0.968, P < 0.05) and peritoneal effluent polymorphonuclear (PMN) count (OR 0.940, 95%CI 0.900–0.981, P < 0.01) were significantly increased the risk for FP.

Conclusion: These results suggested that FP leads to higher rate of catheter removal and HD transfer, and a lower rate of PD resumption than BP, and that additional attention

should be paid to hypoalbuminemia, increased serum potassium, long PD duration, and low peritoneal effluent PMN in PD patients.

Keywords: fungal peritonitis, antifungal susceptibility, antifungal treatment, clinical outcome, risk factor, peritoneal dialysis

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a widely accepted renal replacement therapy for end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients (1, 2). In recent years, with the development of the national economy and the continuous improvement of medical insurance policy, the number of patients on PD has increased dramatically (3). However, PD-associated peritonitis (PDAP), one of the most common and severe complications of PD, is the leading cause of technical failure and hospitalization, causing deaths in 5-16% of PD patients (4, 5). Peritonitis can be caused mainly by bacteria (bacterial peritonitis; BP) and fungi (fungal peritonitis; FP). FP is relatively rare compared to BP, accounting for only 1-12% of patients with PDAP (6-12). It was reported that antibiotic use history, prolonged PD duration, malnutrition or hypoalbuminemia, and diabetes are usually identified as important risk factors for the occurrence of FP (6, 13). FP is related to high hospitalization rates, catheter removal, permanent transfer to HD, and death (12, 14), and the treatment method is relatively limited.

Current guidelines and literature (5, 15, 16) indicate that immediate catheter removal combined with antifungal therapy after FP diagnosis results in the best overall outcome and is considered the best strategy to improve survival in patients with FP. Unfortunately, early diagnosis of FP remains challenging due to the lack of specificity in the clinical manifestations of FP, the technical delay in microbiological diagnosis (15, 16), and the differences in socioeconomic environment and clinical management (7, 9). Although many retrospective studies on FP have been reported worldwide, the disease characteristics, treatment, and prevention methods of FP are still controversial, the potential risk factors of FP occurrence remain unclear, and little attention has been paid to the outcome differences of FP and BP.

This study retrospectively analyzed all FP cases in our PD center and matched FP in a 1:6 ratio with BP cases. Our primary objective was to investigate the incidence rate of FP, microbiological testing, clinical features, and antifungal therapy. Our secondary objective was to compare the clinical outcomes and identify risk factors that may discriminate between FP from BP in patients on PD.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Study Design and Objectives

This is a single-center, retrospective, observational, casecontrol study. Between January 1, 2011, and December 31, 2020, all patients receiving PD treatment at the PD center of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, the Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, were retrospectively evaluated. Inclusion criteria were patients with ESRD who received PD therapy, were over 18 years of age at the time of PD, and were followed at our PD center. Patients who were unwilling to participate or could not be followed up at our center, patients who had incomplete baseline data and previously received kidney transplant, or those who transferred from HD for more than 3 months were excluded. All enrolled patients were followed up either until December 31, 2020, cessation of PD or death.

Referring to the recommendations of the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis (ISPD) in 2016 (5), peritonitis is diagnosed if: (1) clinical features are consistent with peritonitis, namely abdominal pain and/or cloudy dialysis effluent; (2) dialysis effluent white cell count (EWCC)>100/ μ l, with > 50% polymorphonuclear (PMN); and (3) dialysis effluent culture is positive. PD-associated peritonitis was defined as fungal peritonitis if positive for at least one fungal culture. Episodes per patient-year were used to calculate and report the incidence rate of any type of peritonitis.

To identify unique risk factors of FP, all FP cases were matched in a 1:6 ratio with those of BP. Finally, 105 cases of peritonitis were included in the study: 15 patients in the FP group and 90 patients in the BP group. The study design is depicted in **Figure 1**.

All the procedures of this study have been approved by the Institutional Ethics Review Boards of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China (ZE2019-155-01), as well as the Declaration of Helsinki of 1964 and subsequent amendments or comparable ethical standards. All patients were asked for permission to use their medical data for non-commercial study, and provided their written informed consent at the initiation of PD therapy.

Data Collection

The Data were retrospectively obtained from the electronic medical registration system (outpatient and inpatient medical records and laboratory database) of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine (China) and the PD center registry.

Among all peritonitis cases, the following clinical data were recorded: sex, age, cause of ESRD, body mass index (BMI), PD duration (the time from the start of PD to the onset of peritonitis), 24 h urine output, laboratory examination [peritoneal effluent white cell count (WCC), peritoneal effluent PMN, potassium, calcium, phosphorus, glucose, serum creatine, blood urea nitrogen, serum albumin (ALB), hemoglobin (Hb), intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH), blood WCC, high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP)] on admission and clinical outcome (death, HD transfer, PD resumption, kidney transplant, and loss of follow-up). PDAP-related death was defined as death due to active PDAP, or within 4 weeks of the occurrence of



PDAP, or during hospitalization for PDAP. Clinical outcome within 3 months after diagnosis of FP was classified as short-term outcomes, and long-term outcomes refers to the clinical outcome after 3 months until the end of follow-up. We collected the exact causes of death, PD resumption, HD transfer, and catheter removal.

All fungal peritonitis episodes were also reviewed for clinical symptoms (cloudy effluent, abdominal pain, fever, gastrointestinal symptoms such as vomiting, diarrhea, nausea, or abnormalities in stool examination), potential risk factors for FP reported in other literatures (immunosuppressive therapy, presence of diabetes, previous antibiotic treatment, previous episodes of peritonitis, or other non-intraperitoneal infections), organism identification and antifungal susceptibility of FP, antifungal treatment, PD modality, and hospitalization. Nonintraperitoneal infections refer to the extra infections found after admission due to FP, except for the peritoneal infections, such as bowel-source infection and gynecological-source infection. Previous antibiotic treatment was defined as use of antibiotic treatment, whether orally, intravenously or intraperitoneally, for peritonitis or for any other infection in a month prior to the FP.

Microbiological Investigations

After admission to the hospital, patients suspected of PDAP were treated with aseptic procedures for peritoneal effluent fluid retention before antibiotic treatment was initiated. First, 10 ml of effluent fluid was kept in the urine culture cup for routine effluent fluid examination and smear for pathogenic bacteria examination. At the same time, 30 ml of effluent fluid was retained in the blood culture flask (aerobic and anaerobic) for bacterial and fungal culture. Second, antifungal susceptibility tests were carried out in patients with a positive fungal culture.

Isolate identification, antifungal susceptibility tests, and other microbiological procedures were performed independently by the Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine Laboratory Department. All yeast from PD effluents were isolated on Sabouraud's Dextrose Agar (SDA) and incubated at both 25 and 37°C for 7days aerobically. Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time-of-Flight VITEK MS was used to perform the identification of the yeasts to the species level automatically, which offer rapid and accurate recognition of a broad range of pathogenic yeasts. The antifungal susceptibility to amphotericin B, 5-flucytosine, fluconazole, voriconazole, and itraconazole of each strain was fully automated using the ATB FUNGUS 3 susceptibility card (bioMerieux). The analysis and interpretation of results were performed according to the criteria of the M27-A2 guidelines of the National committee for clinical laboratory (NCCLS) (17).

Management Protocol of BP

Timely removal of catheters, empirical selection of antifungal drugs, targeted antifungal programs and adjuvant treatment are the main treatment measures of our center, based on the patient's clinical status and etiological results, according to ISPD guidelines and combined with our center's experience.

Statistical Analysis

Normally distributed continuous variables, skewed continuous variables, and categorical variables were respectively expressed as Mean \pm SD ($\bar{x} \pm$ s), Median (P25, P75), or frequencies (percentages). Student's t-test for parametric data, Mann-Whitney U test for non-parametric data, and Chi-square test for categorical data between groups were used as appropriate to evaluate the differences between FP and BP groups.

For comparison's sake, all 15 FP episodes were matched in a 1:6 ratio with 90 PD episodes diagnosed with BP, which occurred closely to each FP episode in time. The data for 1:6 matching was obtained from electronic medical system in hospital and merged to the registration database in our PD center. The 1:6 ratio matched cohort was used to analyze the clinical outcomes and risk factors between FP and BP.

Factors that influenced FP were screened by univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses. First, univariate logistic regression analysis was performed. The variables included in the univariate logistics regression model were age, sex, BMI, PD duration, diabetes, cardiovascular disease (CVD) history, under immunosuppressive therapy, previous BP, previous antibiotic use, serum potassium, hemoglobin, serum albumin, blood uric acid, eGFR, iPTH, hsCRP, peritoneal effluent PMN and season change. Because the lowest incidence of peritonitis occurred during winter, the winter group was treated as the reference group. Covariates with P < 0.3 in the univariate logistics analysis, and demographic variables (for example age, sex and BMI), as well as PD duration, diabetes, CVD history, serum potassium and hemoglobin (because these are the important factors affecting occurrence of PD patients with peritonitis), were used for multivariate logistics regression. Results were expressed as the odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI).

Prism8 (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA) and IBM SPSS[®] Statistics (v26) were used for statistical analysis. All tests were performed two-tailed, and P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The Overall Peritonitis Rate and FP Incidence Rate

During the follow-up period, a total of 814 patients received PD at our center. Seven of these patients were underaged at the time of PD. Six incident patients received HD for more than 3 months. Follow-up was refused in 46 patients after catheter implantation. Sixteen patients were excluded due to the loss of baseline data. Finally, we enrolled 739 patients in our study. We recorded 268 episodes of peritonitis in 185 patients on PD,

TABLE 1 | Detailed information on 15 cases of fungal peritonitis.

Variables	n (%) or Median (P25, P75)
Primary cause for ESRD	
CGN	9 (60.0)
DKD	3 (30.0)
IgAN	1 (6.7)
FSGS	1 (6.7)
BAN	1 (6.7)
Clinical symptoms	
Cloudy effluent	15 (100.0)
Abdominal pain	14 (93.3)
Fever	10 (66.7)
Gastrointestinal symptom	8 (53.3)
Laboratory examination	
Peritoneal effluent WCC (10 ⁶ /L), median (IQR)	1,020 (520, 2,100)
Peritoneal effluent PMN (%), median (IQR)	80 (65, 88)
Hypotension	2 (13.3)
Hypoalbuminemia	8 (53.3)
Anemia	8 (53.3)
Hypokalemia	4 (26.7)
Peritonitis risk factors	
Previous bacterial peritonitis	4 (26.7)
Previous antibiotic treatment	15 (100.0)
Under immunosuppressive therapy	2 (13.3)
Non-intraperitoneal infections	6 (40.0)
Treatment	
Fluconazole	14 (93.3)
Levofloxacin	1 (6.7)
CAPD	15 (100.0)
Hospitalization (days), median (IQR)	18 (10, 38)
Median duration until PD catheter	3 (0, 6)
removal (days) , median (IQR)	

CGN, chronic glomerulonephritis; DKD, diabetic kidney disease; IgAN, immunoglobulin a nephropathy; FSGS, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis; BAN, benign arteriolar nephrosclerosis; IQR, interquartile range; FP, fungal peritonitis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

TABLE 2 | Results of susceptibility of isolates from 15 cases of fungal peritonitis.

Organism identification (n)*	Antifungal susceptibility testing (n)														
	Amphotericin B		Fluconazole		5-Flucytosine		/tosine	Voriconazole		nazole	Itraconazole				
	S	R	I	S	R	I	S	R	I	S	R	I	S	R	I
Candida albican (7)	7	0	0	7	0	0	6	0	1	5	0	2	7	0	0
Candida parapsilosis (4)	4	0	0	4	0	0	4	0	0	4	0	0	4	0	0
Torulopsis glabrata (2)	2	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0
Aspergillus fumigatus (2)		N	D		N	C		Ν	D		N)		N	D
Candida pulcherrima (1)	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
Candida famata (1)	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0

S, susceptible; R, resistant; I, intermediate; ND, not detected.

*Two types of fungi were detected in two patients.

with a cumulative follow-up of 25,260 patient-months, showing a peritonitis rate of 0.127 episodes per patient-year. Among all episodes of peritonitis, 15 episodes (5.6%) of FP, 154 episodes (57.5%) of BP, 1 episode (0.4%) of mycoplasma and 98 episodes (36.5%) of culture-negative peritonitis had been identified. The FP rate was calculated as 0.0071 episodes per patient-year, and it decreased from 0.0170 episodes per patient-year to 0.0051 episodes per patient-year between the first (2011–2015) and the second (2016–2020) 5-year periods.

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics of FP

These 15 FP episodes occurred in 15 PD patients. A total of 4 episodes of FP had a previous history of BP, and these FP patients experienced 1.75 \pm 0.5 (range 1–2) BP episodes before FP, most frequently due to *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and to a lesser extent due to *Acinetobacter baumannii*.

On admission, cloudy effluent, abdominal pain, and fever were present in 100, 93.3, and 66.7% of the patients, respectively. Non-intraperitoneal infection was found in six patients (40%), including pulmonary infection (4/6), septicemia (1/6), and cholecystitis (1/6). All FP cases had a history of antibiotic use in the past 1 month, of which 11 were due to pure peritonitis, 3 to pulmonary infection followed by peritonitis, and 1 to ruptured catheters followed by peritonitis. Detailed information on these 15 FP episodes is listed in **Table 1** and **Supplementary Table S1**.

Causative Organisms for FP

Among the 15 FP episodes, 17 strains of fungi were identified, including 9 cases of single fungal infection and 6 cases of mixed infection. In the mixed infection group, there were 4 cases of fungal infection combined with bacterial infection and two cases with a mix of two types of fungal infection.

As shown in **Table 2**, *Candida* species were the most commonly represented fungus with 15 cases (88.2%): *C. albicans* (7/15), *C. parapsilosis* (4/15), *Torulopsis glabrata* (2/15), *C. pulcherrima* (1/15), and *C. famata* (1/15). In addition, two cases (11.8%) of *Aspergillus fumigatus* were reported. The results of the organism identification and antifungal susceptibility tests are shown in **Table 2**.

The antifungal susceptibility of the other 15 strains of fungi, except for two strains of *Aspergillus fumigatus*, could be determined. One isolated case of *C. albicans* was intermediate to 5-flucytosine, itraconazole, and susceptible to fluconazole, voriconazole, and amphotericin B. Another case of *C. albicans* was intermediate to itraconazole, while susceptible to fluconazole, voriconazole, 5-flucytosine, and amphotericin B. The other 13 strains were all susceptible to fluconazole, voriconazole, 5-flucytosine, itraconazole, and amphotericin B.

Treatment of FP

None of the patients at our center had received antifungal prophylaxis. PD was stopped immediately after the definitive diagnosis of FP. Fourteen patients were treated with fluconazole for at least 14 days at a dose of 200 mg every 24 h, after a loading dose of 400 mg. Among those, IV fluconazole was administrated to five patients, four patients initially received oral fluconazole, four patients received IV and IP fluconazole, and a combination of oral and IP fluconazole was administrated to one patient. This patient, treated with levofloxacin (500 mg/24 h) for 21 days, was infected with Aspergillus fumigatus, which did not have a sensitivity test. Six patients were treated with multiple antibiotics in addition to antifungal therapy because of concomitant bacterial infections. The median hospital stay for all FP was 18 days [10, 38].

Comparison of Clinical Outcomes Between FP and BP in the 1:6 Ratio Cohort

To further analyze the outcomes and identify the risk factors of FP occurrence, 15 cases of FP were matched in a 1:6 ratio with those of BP (**Table 3**; **Supplementary Table S2**). Regarding the short-term clinical outcomes within 3 months of FP diagnosis, 13 FP cases (86.7%) undergone PD catheter removal after a median of 3 days [0, 6] of delay, and the exception two cases (13.3%) refused to remove the catheter. Only ten cases (11.1%) removed PD catheters in the BP group. The rate of catheter removal was much higher in FP group than that in BP group (P < 0.01) between the two groups. Ten cases in the FP group (66.7%) and eight cases in the BP group (8.9%), who survived after peritonitis episode, shifted to HD more than 3 months. A total of 84 cases

TABLE 3 | Comparison of patients with fungal versus bacterial peritonitis (1:6 ratiomatching) [Mean \pm SD, Median (P25, P75), n (%)].

Variables	FP (<i>n</i> = 15)	BP (<i>n</i> = 90)	P value
Age	55.4 ± 15.4	55.0 ± 12.6	0.908
Age ≥ 65	5 (33.3)	20 (22.2)	0.543
Female gender	7 (46.7)	36 (40.0)	0.627
Body temperature (°C)	37.1 ± 0.7	37.0 ± 0.7	0.750
MAP (mmHg)	103.6 ± 24.5	99.9 ± 15.8	0.449
BMI (kg/m ²)	21.6 (21.2, 25.0)	23.9 (21.6, 26.6)	0.270
PD duration (months)	28.6 (12.3, 58.8)	26.7 (6.9, 49.3)	0.516
Diabetes	6 (40.0)	29 (32.2)	0.554
CVD	3 (20.0)	24 (26.7)	0.820
Under immunosuppressive therapy	2 (13.3)	8 (8.9)	0.946
Previous bacterial peritonitis	4 (26.7)	37 (41.1)	0.288
Previous antibiotic use	15 (100.0)	25 (27.8)	<0.001
Potassium (mmol/L)	3.93 ± 0.87	3.82 ± 0.75	0.603
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.05 ± 0.30	2.13 ± 0.22	0.203
Phosphorus (mmol/L)	1.44 ± 0.49	1.43 ± 0.48	0.934
Hemoglobin (g/L)	104.5 ± 26.1	100.3 ± 22.1	0.510
Serum albumin (g/L)	30.9 ± 8.6	33.1 ± 4.9	0.152
Serum albumin<30 g/L	8 (53.3)	26 (28.9)	0.115
Glucose (mmol/L)	7.2 (4.6, 9.6)	8.1 (6.1, 9.3)	0.276
Serum creatine (µmol/L)	739 (659, 947)	907 (706, 1,047)	0.160
Blood urea nitrogen (mmol/L)	16.7 (11.0, 19.9)	16.4 (13.8, 21.9)	0.318
Blood uric acid (µmol/L)	385 (340, 442)	385 (341, 385)	0.324
eGFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	5.2 (5.2, 6.6)	4.8 (3.8, 5.4)	0.100
iPTH (pg/ml)	255 (92, 346)	350 (180, 479)	0.179
hsCRP (mg/L)	95.1 (31.0, 127.7)	82.3 (34.7, 131.4)	0.830
Blood WCC (10 ⁹ /L)	8.0 (6.4, 10.7)	7.9 (6.0, 10.9)	0.728
Peritoneal effluent WCC (10 ⁶ /L)	1,020 (520, 2,100)	1,860 (750, 5,400)	0.093
Peritoneal effluent PMN (%)	80 (65, 88)	90 (83, 92)	<0.01
24 h urine output (ml)	350 (0, 700)	200 (86, 850)	0.985
Anuric	5 (33.3)	24 (26.7)	0.824
Seasonal change			
Spring	3 (20.0)	20 (22.2)	1.000
Summer	4 (26.7)	23 (25.6)	1.000
Autumn	5 (33.3)	36 (40.0)	0.624
Winter	3 (20.0)	11 (12.2)	0.682

FP, fungal peritonitis; BP, bacterial peritonitis; MAP, mean arterial pressure; BMI, body mass index; PD, peritoneal dialysis; CVD, cardiovascular disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone; hsCRP, high sensitivity C-reactive protein; EWCC, white cell count; PMN, polymorphonuclear; h, hour. The boldface indicated that P < 0.05 are considered statistically significant.

continued on PD with an uneventful recovery, of which three cases (20%) were from the FP group, and 81 cases (93%) were from the BP group. Only two patients died within 3 months after FP and BP diagnosis, respectively (**Table 4**). It is noteworthy that FP was not the immediate cause of death in the two dead FP cases. A patient with high malnutrition (ALB < 30 g/L) and anemia (Hb = 86 g/L) died of severe heart failure after refusing treatment, and another with high malnutrition (ALB < 30 g/L) and diabetes (more than 10 years) died from gastrointestinal bleeding after FP

remission. In terms of the long-term outcomes between the two groups by the end of follow-up, there were still 7 cases in the FP group (46.7%) and 11 cases in the BP group (12.2%) receiving HD. Only one case still undergoing PD in the FP group (6.7%), while 59 cases (65.6%) in the BP group. A total of 2 cases received kidney transplantation, of which one (6.7%) was from the FP group and another (1.1%) was from the BP group during the study period. Four cases died in the FP group (26.7%) and 17 cases in the BP group (18.9%).

Between the two groups, the FP group showed a higher rate of HD transfer and a lower rate of PD resumption (all P < 0.01) than the BP group, while no significant difference in the mortality was noted during the whole study period (P > 0.05), as shown in **Table 4**.

Comparison of Risk Factors Between FP and BP in the 1:6 Ratio Cohort

As shown in **Table 3**, the results did not show differences in baseline data between the two groups except that the usage rate of antibiotics in 1 month before the onset of peritonitis was higher (100.0 vs. 27.8%, P < 0.001) and the median peritoneal effluent PMN was lower (80 vs. 90%, P < 0.01) in the FP group than those in the BP group.

The variables used for the univariate logistics regression model were age, sex, BMI, PD duration, diabetes, CVD history, under immunosuppressive therapy, previous BP, previous antibiotic use, serum potassium, hemoglobin, serum albumin, blood uric acid, eGFR, iPTH, hsCRP, peritoneal effluent PMN and season change (Supplementary Table S3). In the multivariable logistics regression analysis, we included age, sex, BMI, PD duration, diabetes, CVD history, previous BP, potassium, hemoglobin, serum albumin, eGFR, and peritoneal effluent PMN in the model, and these results indicated that longer PD duration [odds ratio (OR) 1.042, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.012–1.073, *P* < 0.01], elevated serum potassium (OR 3.373, 95% CI 1.068-10.649, P < 0.05) and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (OR 1.845, 95% CI 1.151-2.955, P < 0.05), and decreased serum albumin level (OR 0.820, 95% CI 0.695–0.968, P < 0.05) and peritoneal effluent PMN (OR 0.940, 95% CI 0.900-0.981, P < 0.01) were independent risk factors for FP onset, as shown in Table 5.

Literature Review

We conducted a comprehensive literature review of the clinical studies on FP in patients on PD. **Table 6** shows a representative study of FP in patients on PD. Overall peritonitis and FP incidence rates in our center appear to be improved or similar to previous studies (6–11, 19). In addition, this study is one of the few long-term case-control studies with relatively larger sample sizes which focused on analyzing the clinical characteristics of FP, comparing outcomes of FP vs. BP, and estimating risk factors for FP on PD patients in southern China.

DISCUSSION

In this 10-year single-center, retrospective, observational and case-control study, we analyzed 15 cases of FP diagnosed in our hospital. To better explore the risk factors of FP outbreak, we

TABLE 4 | Clinical outcomes of patients with FP and BP [n (%)].

Events	Short-term of	outcomes (< 3 M)	Long-term outcomes (≥ 3 M)			
	FP (<i>n</i> = 15)	BP (<i>n</i> = 90)	FP (<i>n</i> = 15)	BP (<i>n</i> = 90)		
Death	2 (13.3)	2 (2.2)	4 (26.7)	17 (18.9)		
HD transfer	10 (66.7)	8 (8.9)**	7 (46.7)	11 (12.2)*		
PD resumption	3 (20.0)	81 (90.0)**	1 (6.7)	59 (65.6)**		
Kidney transplant	0	0	1 (6.7)	1 (1.1)		
Lost to follow-up	0	0	2 (13.3)	2 (2.2)		

FP, fungal peritonitis; BP, bacterial peritonitis; HD, hemodialysis; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

*The single asterisk indicated that P < 0.01 are considered statistically significant.

**The two asterisks indicated that P < 0.001 are considered statistically significant.

TABLE 5 | Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis for risk factors of FP.

Variable		Univariate		Multivariate				
	OR value	95% CI	P value	OR value	95% CI	P value		
Age (per 1 year)	1.003	0.961-1.046	0.907	0.993	0.925-1.065	0.838		
Male gender	0.762	0.254-2.286	0.628	0.267	0.047-1.511	0.135		
BMI (per kg/m ²)	0.989	0.886-1.103	0.838	1.077	0.931-1.247	0.319		
PD duration (per months)	1.005	0.988-1.022	0.550	1.042	1.012-1.073	0.006		
Diabetes	1.402	0.456-4.313	0.555	2.315	0.498-10.754	0.284		
CVD history	0.688	0.178-2.648	0.586	1.499	0.218-10.301	0.680		
Previous BP	0.521	0.154-1.763	0.294	0.188	0.034-1.033	0.055		
Potassium (per mmol/L)	1.209	0.596-2.449	0.599	3.373	1.068-10.649	0.038		
Hemoglobin (per g/L)	1.008	0.984-1.033	0.507	1.035	0.995-1.078	0.089		
Serum albumin (per g/L)	0.927	0.835-1.029	0.154	0.820	0.695-0.968	0.019		
eGFR (per ml/min/1.73 m²)	1.292	1.002-1.667	0.048	1.845	1.151-2.955	0.011		
Peritoneal effluent PMN (per %)	0.961	0.931-0.992	0.013	0.940	0.900-0.981	0.005		

The variables included in the logistics regression model were age, sex, BMI, PD duration, diabetes, CVD history, previous BP, serum potassium, hemoglobin, serum albumin, eGFR, and peritoneal effluent PMN.

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence intervals; FP, fungal peritonitis; BP, bacterial peritonitis; BMI, body mass index; PD, peritoneal dialysis; CVD, cardiovascular disease; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; PMN, functionality of neutrophils; h, hour.

The boldface indicated that p < 0.05 are considered statistically significant.

matched FP and BP patients in 1:6 ratio. Our results showed that the peritonitis and FP incidence rate in our hospital was similar or even lower than that in other centers, and the FP patients had significantly worse clinical outcomes than BP patients. We also found that FP group had a higher rate of previous antibiotic use than that in BP group, and longer PD duration, elevated potassium and eGFR level, and decreased serum albumin level and peritoneal effluent PMN were independent risk factors for FP.

FP is a relatively rare but severe complication in patients on PD. The current literature reported that FP incidence accounted for 2.4–7.7% of PDAP (**Table 6**), with an FP rate of 0.0067–0.02 episodes per patient-year (12, 20). Our review showed 15 cases (5.6%) of FP in a total of 268 episodes of peritonitis, slightly higher than reported in the literature. However, we recorded a very low PDAP rate (0.127 episodes per patient-year) compared to 0.266–0.444 episodes per patient-year reported by other centers (6, 7, 12). Our 10-year FP rate was also very low (0.0071 episodes per patient-year) and decreased from 0.0170 to

0.0051 episodes per patient-year between the first (2011–2015) and the second (2016–2020) 5-year periods.

As reported, the etiology of FPs is mainly Candida, accounting for about 70-90% of adult FPs (12, 14), among which C. albicans is the majority. Variations in fungal pathogen profiles can be related to factors such as the population involved, geographical area, previous antifungal exposure, and age of patients (21). All FP cases in our center were caused mainly by Candida, of which C. albicans accounted for the most of the cases, consistent with other reports. We also found that C. parapsilosis was the second most frequent pathogen in the samples. Recent studies reported changes in the prevalence of pathogenic yeast, indicating that non-albicans yeasts, represented by C. parapsilosis, have been on the rise (7, 9, 14). In regards to the treatment, our study observed varying susceptibility patterns. The intermediate range for itraconazole in two isolates of C. albicans and 5-flucytosine in one C. albicans were observed. The other 13 strains were all susceptible to fluconazole, voriconazole, 5-flucytosine, itraconazole, and amphotericin B.

TABLE 6 Previous and p	present studies focusing	on fungal peritonitis in	n peritoneal dialysis.

References	Shouci Hu (6)	Sara Auricchio (7)	Aydin Unal (8)	Ruchir Chavada (18)	Jun Ni (9)	Hong Qing Cui (11)	Hong Wang (10)	Present study
Country	China	Italy	Turkey	Australia	China	China	China	China
Design	Single-center, retrospective	Single-center, retrospective	Single-center, retrospective	Two centers, retrospective	Single-center, retrospective	Single-center, retrospective	Single-center, retrospective	Single-center, retrospective
Study Duration (years)	5	34	15	9	10	8	6	10
PD patients (n)	730	None	None	2,075	None	635	None	739
Peritonitis episodes (n)	436	589	None	1,568	542	248	241	268
Peritonitis rate (episodes per patient-year)	0.266	0.444	None	0.8	None	None	None	0.127
P episodes (n)	11	14	21	39	24	19	16	15
P/PDAP (%)	2.5	2.4	None	2.5	4.4	7.7	6.6	5.6
PD duration (months) [mean \pm SD, M (P25, P75)]	43 (22, 52)	45.6 ± 50.4	48 (9–95)	37.8 (15.5–57)	65.5 (27.75, 96.25)	10–96 (45.2 ± 25.7)	31.3 ± 37.6	28.6 (12.3, 58.8)
P rate (episodes per patient-year)	0.0067	None	None	0.02	None	None	None	0.0071
revious antibiotic treatment (n, %)	5 (45.5)	14 (100)	21 (100)	20 (51)	10 (41.7)	17 (89.5)	11 (68.8)	6 (40)
Previous bacterial peritonitis (n, %)	5 (45.5)	11 (78.6)	4 (19.0)	20 (51.0)	20 (83.3)	17 (89.5)	None	4 (26.7)
Najor causative organisms	<i>C. albicans</i> (6/11)	C. parapsilosis (7/14)	C. albicans (14/21)	C. albicans (14/39), C. parapsilosis (12/39)	C. parapsilosis (9/25)	C. albicans (7/19), C. parapsilosis (6/19)	<i>C. albicans</i> (4/16)	C. albicans (7/15)
Najor antifungal treatments	fluconazole (9/11)	fluconazole (13/14)	amphotericin B (19/21)	fluconazole (33/39)	fluconazole (17/24)	fluconazole (16/19)	fluconazole (16/16)	fluconazole (14/15)
prophylaxis treatment against FP	No	$\text{No} \rightarrow \text{ Yes}$	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No
Catheter removal (n, %)	8 (72.7)	14 (100)	21 (100)	31 (79)	22 (91.7)	19 (100)	16 (100)	13 (86.7)
ledian duration until PD catheter emoval (days)	5.5 (4.0, 11.0)	4 (1, 8)	1 (0, 10)	None	6 (2, 10)	2 (1, 3)	None	3 (0, 6)
Death (n, %)	4 (36.4)	2 (14.3)	2 (9.5)	6 (15)	6 (25.0)	0	1 (6.3)	2 (13.3)
ID transfer (n, %)	6 (54.5)	14 (100)	19 (90.5)	None	17 (70.8)	19 (100)	None	10 (66.7)
D resumption (n, %)	1 (9)	14 (7.1)	0	None	1 (4.2)	0	None	3 (20)
lospitalization (days) [mean \pm SD, MP25, P75)]	M 22 (17, 30.5)	27 ± 19	21-28	24	30 (27.5–45.0)	None	None	18 (10, 38)
Study group	FP vs. BP (11/55)	None	None	FP vs. BP (39/78)	FP vs. BP (24/96)	FP vs. BP vs. control (19/229/347)	FP vs. G+ vs. G- (16/126/45)	FP vs. BP (15/4

PD, peritoneal dialysis; FP, fungal peritonitis; BP, bacterial peritonitis; HD, hemodialysis; PDAP, peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis.

December 2021 | Volume 8 | Article 774946

The 2016 ISPD guidelines (5) recommend antifungal prophylaxis while PD patients receive antibiotic courses to prevent FP. A large number of studies (22, 23) have examined the use of oral nystatin or fluconazole as prophylaxis against FP, administered during antibiotic therapy, with contradictory results. In general, we do not use any antifungal prophylactic agent except in cases where FP is confirmed or highly suspected for our patients on PD. Our results showed that it did not increase FP incidence and poor prognosis without antifungal prophylactic agent, suggesting that non-prophylaxis of antifungal treatment is available under the premise of standard operation.

Appropriate antifungal administration and timely catheter removal lay the foundation for FP therapy (18, 24). Fluconazole is the most commonly used drug in the initial empiric treatment of FPs. In our center, 14 FP patients received initial treatment with fluconazole followed by an antifungal regimen for at least 14 days. As an exception, a patient with *Aspergillus fumigatus* complicated by bacterial infection received levofloxacin. Any complications associated with fluconazole use were reported, and all fungal strains were susceptible to fluconazole, but the side effects, such as QT interval prolongation or hepatotoxicity and the increasing rate of azole resistance (25), cannot be ignored.

Immediate catheter removal after identification of fungi was recommended according to the ISPD 2016 guidelines (5), as some studies (20, 26) indicate that catheter removal improves the outcome and reduces mortality. Because fungi can colonize the catheter creating a biofilm along its surface, all cases of FP, except two, underwent catheter removal without short-term complications. A patient who remained the catheter refused to be treated in our hospital and transferred to local hospital for treatment, finally he died of heart failure before catheter removal in 10 days. Another patient strongly refused to remove the catheter because the symptoms and signs of peritonitis were not obvious, and this patient temporarily stopped PD treatment until the peritoneal effluent microbiological test turned to be negative after anti-fungal therapy for 14 days and resumed PD again.

Removal of the catheter without antifungal therapy may increase the risk of peritoneal adhesion and thus deprive the patient of the opportunity to restart PD. The PD resumption rate in a North American center was 33%, while only 9.1% in a North China center. In our study, three FP cases (20%) were still on PD after an uneventful recovery, consistently to other studies, suggesting the importance of standardizing the treatment of FPs and reassessing the suitability of PD after FPs. In contrast, 10 cases (66.7%) switched to HD more than 3 months after catheter removal. From 2005, the presence of FP strongly recommended immediate catheter removal and HD transfer, as the guidelines showed (5, 18, 24). Some studies (27, 28) also suggested that pure medication could be used for treatment and catheter removal delayed until dialysate effluent is no longer cloudy for patients who are too old or too frail to support HD transfer. A particular case of a young patient without underlying diseases or obvious clinical symptoms and signs of peritonitis was infected with C. albicans in our study, and he was only given PD suspension and antifungal treatment, which eventually cured FP and restored PD. Hence, it is important to consider whether drug therapy is also a possible treatment for young patients with fewer underlying diseases, better physical fitness, and mild clinical symptoms when patients subjectively refuse to remove catheters or undergo HD. The worldwide mortality rate of FP is variable, ranging between 0 and 36.4% (**Table 6**). In our study, two cases (13.3%) died within 3 months after FP diagnosis. Some well-known risk factors related to mortality, including malnutrition, anemia, diabetes, and comorbidities, can lead to a poor prognosis of FP by exacerbating the patient's physical condition, so it was difficult to make sure whether if the occurrence of FP is directly associated with mortality or not.

The current studies (6, 13) revealed that previous use of antibiotics, previous BP, under immunosuppression, higher burden of comorbidities (such as diabetes, malnutrition), prolonged PD duration and loss of residual kidney function are common risk factors for FP. Due to the overgrowth of gastrointestinal fungi and the decline of peritoneal defenses, FP is more likely to develop secondary to antibiotics exposure (7). Based on the 2016 ISPD guidelines (5), PD patients with peritonitis must be treated with antibiotic treatment before the diagnosis of FP. Thus, all 15 cases of the FP group had received antibiotic therapy in the past 1 month in this study. The rate of antibiotic use history was much higher in FP group than that in the BP group (100.0 vs. 27.8%, P < 0.001). It suggests that we need to be alert to the possibility of FP once PD patients receive antibiotics, especially when antibiotic treatment is not effective. In this study, multivariate analysis showed that longer PD duration and decreased serum albumin level were the major risk factors for FP, consistent with current researches, indicating that patients with prolonged time on PD, malnutrition and hypoalbuminemia should be paid more attention to prevent FP.

Our study found that elevated serum potassium was an independent risk factor for FP. Further analysis indicated that there was no difference in the mean serum potassium level between the FP and BP groups (3.92 vs. 3.82 mmol/L, P >0.05) in our 1:6 ratio cohort, and no case in the FP group had hyperkalemia (serum potassium > 5.50 mmol/L) while four patients experienced hyperkalemia in the BP group. Interestingly, most of previous studies (29-31) reported that serum potassium < 3.5 mmol/L, particularly persistent hypokalemia, is associated with a higher risk of peritonitis caused by any organism. Given the inconsistent results of previous studies and our present study, we speculate that the reasons are as follows. First, the sample size of the FP group is limited, and it maybe affect the statistical efficiency. Second, it exists retrospective information bias using case-control study. Finally, the relationship of serum potassium level with peritonitis may differ depending on how hypokalemia/hyperkalemia is measured and over what time of PD duration. Therefore, the association between increased serum potassium or hyperkalemia and incidence of FP remains largely unknown and needs to be further explored. In addition, lower median peritoneal effluent PMN in the FP group were observed in FP patients when compared with BP (80 vs. 90%, P < 0.01), and decreased peritoneal effluent PMN was independent risk factors for FP onset in our study, which maybe the inflammatory response of FP is not typical compared to that of BP. Notably, some studies believed that decreased residual renal function is a risk factor for the occurrence of FP, while data from our

center found that elevated eGFR is one of the risk factors for FP. This may be related to the small sample size in the FP group in our center and the conclusion is worthy of further discussion. Furthermore, seasonal changes may influence the occurrence of peritonitis by changing the patients' health and the microenvironment in recent study (32), while no significant effects were noted between the occurrence of FP and the seasons in our study. It deserves further investigation.

Several limitations are acknowledged. First, this was a retrospective and observational study based on registry data, the type of peritonitis infection (FP vs. BP) was not randomly assigned. Although case-control method was used to select a 1: 6 matching cohort, which was always post hoc. There may be selection biases between the two groups that affected the effectiveness of outcome and risk factor comparisons. Second, whether our results are generalizable to other populations is uncertain because our patients were from a single center in Southern China, and the number of samples was relatively limited. Therefore, center-specific effects are inevitable. Despite these limitations, this is one of the few long-term case-control analyzing the characteristics of FP patients in mainland China. We reported a low incidence rate of overall peritonitis and FP. In addition, we conducted a comprehensive literature review of the published clinical studies on FP.

In conclusion, FP is a rare complication in patients on PD, leading to higher rates of catheter loss and HD transfer, and a lower rate of PD resumption than BP. Additional attention should be paid to those risk factors including hypoalbuminemia, increased serum potassium, long PD duration, and low peritoneal effluent PMN in PD patients. The best approach to improve clinical outcomes for FP is a prompt diagnosis, targeted antifungal therapy, and rapid catheter removal.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Materials**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study has been approved by the Institutional Ethics Review Boards of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, the Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of

REFERENCES

- Yu X, Yang X. Peritoneal dialysis in China: meeting the challenge of chronic kidney failure. Am J Kidney Dis. (2015) 65:147–51. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.08.023
- Ghaffari A, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Lee J, Maddux F, Moran J, Nissenson A, et al. First: peritoneal dialysis as the default transition to dialysis therapy. *Semin Dial.* (2013) 26:706–13. doi: 10.1111/sdi. 12125
- Li PK, Chow KM, Van de Luijtgaarden MW, Johnson DW, Jager KJ, Mehrotra R, et al. Changes in the worldwide epidemiology of peritoneal dialysis. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2017) 13:90–103. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.181

Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RL and DZ contributed equally to this work and they performed the drafting of the work. JH, JO, XH, JW, and HL provided substantial contribution to the acquisition. YP, YX, and HH performed analysis and interpretation of data for the research. FL and XL conceived and designed the study. LZ contributed mainly to the analysis and interpretation of the supplementary data in the revised manuscript, and performed a critical review of the latest version of our manuscript. FL provided the final approval of the version to be published and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

This work was financially supported by the State Key Laboratory of Dampness Syndrome of Chinese Medicine, the Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine (Grant No. SZ2021ZZ43).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for technical support from Peritoneal Dialysis Center of the Department of Nephrology, Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.774946/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Table S1 | Patient characteristics, biochemistry indices and clinical outcomes among the 15 cases of FP.

Supplementary Table S2 | Patient characteristics, biochemistry indices and clinical outcomes among the 105 PD cases, including 15 cases of FP and 90 cases of BP.

Supplementary Table S3 | Logistic univariate regression analysis for risk factors of fungal peritonitis.

- See EJ, Johnson DW, Hawley CM, Pascoe EM, Darssan D, Clayton PA, et al. Early peritonitis and its outcome in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017). doi: 10.3747/pdi.2017.00029
- Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, de Arteaga J, Fan S, Figueiredo AE, et al. ISPD peritonitis recommendations: 2016 update on prevention and treatment. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:481–508. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00078
- Hu S, Tong R, Bo Y, Ming P, Yang H. Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis: 5-Year review from a North China center. *Infection*. (2019) 47:35–43. doi: 10.1007/s15010-018-1204-7
- Auricchio S, Giovenzana ME, Pozzi M, Galassi A, Santorelli G, Dozio B, et al. Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis: a 34-year single centre evaluation. *Clin Kidney J.* (2018). doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfy045

- Unal A, Kocyigit I, Sipahioglu MH, Tokgoz B, Oymak O, Utas C. Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis: an analysis of 21 cases. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2011) 43:211-3. doi: 10.1007/s11255-010-9763-2
- Ni J, Yu J, Zhou L, Tong M, Chen H. Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients: retrospective analysis of 24 cases. *Chinese J Blood Purif.* (2020) 19:734–7. doi: 10.1177/089686080502500302
- Wang H, Liu K, Zhang Y, Liu S. Clinical analysis of 16 cases of peritoneal dialysis patients complicated with fungal peritonitis. *Int Infect Dis.* (2019) 8:22–3.
- Cui H, Wu J, Ren H, Mao C, Huang B, Xing C, et al. An analysis of 19 cases with peritoneal dialysis-related fungal peritonitis. *Jiangsu Med J.* (2019) 45:1108–11. doi: 10.19460/j.cnki.0253-3685.2019.11.008
- Nadeau-Fredette A, Bargman JM. Characteristics and outcomes of fungal peritonitis in a modern North American cohort. *Perit Dial Int.* (2015) 35:78– 84. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00179
- Fang X, Cui J, Zhai Y, Liu J, Rao J, Zhang Z, et al. Clinical features and risk factors of fungal peritonitis in children on peritoneal dialysis. *Front Pediatr.* (2021) 9:683992. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.683992
- Giacobino J, Montelli AC, Barretti P, Bruder-Nascimento A, Caramori JT, Barbosa L, et al. Fungal peritonitis in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis (PD) in Brazil: molecular identification, biofilm production and antifungal susceptibility of the agents. *Med Mycol.* (2016) 54:725–32. doi: 10.1093/mmy/myw030
- Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes DR, Clancy CJ, Marr KA, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of candidiasis: 2016 update by the infectious diseases society of America. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2016) 62:e1–50. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ933
- Solomkin JS, Mazuski JE, Bradley JS, Rodvold KA, Goldstein EJ, Baron EJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of complicated intra-abdominal infection in adults and children: guidelines by the Surgical Infection Society and the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Surg Infect.* (2010) 11:79–109. doi: 10.1089/sur.2009.9930
- 17. NCCLS NCFC. Reference Method for Broth Dilution Antifungal Susceptibility Testing of Yeasts. NCCLS M27-A2 (2002).
- Piraino B, Bailie GR, Bernardini J, Boeschoten E, Gupta A, Holmes C, et al. Peritoneal dialysis-related infections recommendations: 2005 update. *Perit Dial Int.* (2005) 25:107–31.
- Chavada R, Kok J, van Hal S, Chen SC, Spellberg B. Seeking clarity within cloudy effluents: differentiating fungal from bacterial peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e28247. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028247
- Chang TI, Kim HW, Park JT, Lee DH, Lee JH, Yoo TH, et al. Early catheter removal improves patient survival in peritoneal dialysis patients with fungal peritonitis: results of ninety-four episodes of fungal peritonitis at a single center. *Perit Dial Int.* (2011) 31:60–6. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2009.00057
- Antinori S, Milazzo L, Sollima S, Galli M, Corbellino M. Candidemia and invasive candidiasis in adults: a narrative review. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2016) 34:21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2016.06.029
- Restrepo C, Chacon J, Manjarres G. Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients: successful prophylaxis with fluconazole, as demonstrated by prospective randomized control trial. *Perit Dial Int.* (2010) 30:619–25. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2008.00189
- Wong PN, Tong GM, Wong YY, Lo KY, Chan SF, Lo MW, et al. Alternating Mupirocin/Gentamicin is associated with increased risk of fungal peritonitis

as compared with gentamicin alone—results of a randomized Open-Label controlled trial. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:340–6. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2015.00237

- Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, Bernardini J, Figueiredo AE, Gupta A, et al. Peritoneal dialysis-related infections recommendations: 2010 update. *Perit Dial Int.* (2010) 30:393–423. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2010.00049
- Levallois J, Nadeau-Fredette AC, Labbé AC, Laverdière M, Ouimet D, Vallée M. Ten-year experience with fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients: antifungal susceptibility patterns in a North-American center. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2012) 16:e41–3. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2011.09.016
- Basturk T, Koc Y, Unsal A, Ahbap E, Sakaci T, Yildiz I, et al. Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis: a 10 year retrospective analysis in a single center. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2012) 16:1696–700.
- Xu R, Chen Y, Luo S, Xu Y, Zheng B, Zheng Y, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis with different trends of change in effluent white cell count: a longitudinal study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2013) 33:436–44. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00163
- Wong PN, Lo KY, Tong GM, Chan SF, Lo MW, Mak SK, et al. Treatment of fungal peritonitis with a combination of intravenous amphotericin B and oral flucytosine, and delayed catheter replacement in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2008) 28:155–62.
- Ribeiro SC, Figueiredo AE, Barretti P, Pecoits-Filho R, de Moraes TP. Low serum potassium levels increase the infectious-caused mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients: a propensity-matched score study. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e127453. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 27453
- Davies SJ, Zhao J, Morgenstern H, Zee J, Bieber B, Fuller DS, et al. Low serum potassium levels and clinical outcomes in peritoneal dialysis international results from PDOPPS. *Kidney Int Rep.* (2021) 6:313–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2020.11.021
- Liu D, Lin Y, Gong N, Xiao Z, Zhang F, Zhong X, et al. Degree and duration of hypokalemia associated with peritonitis in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2021) 75:e14188. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.14188
- Zeng Y, Jiang X, Feng S, Jiang L, Wang Z, Shen H, et al. The influence of seasonal factors on the incidence of peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis. *Ren Fail.* (2020) 42:807–17. doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2020.1804401

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Li, Zhang, He, Ou, Zhang, Hu, Wu, Liu, Peng, Xu, Hou, Liu and Lu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Serum Phosphorus and Albumin in Patients Undergoing Peritoneal Dialysis: Interaction and Association With Mortality

Naya Huang^{1†}, Huiyan Li^{1†}, Li Fan¹, Qian Zhou², Dongying Fu¹, Lin Guo¹, Chunyan Yi¹, Xueqing Yu^{1,3} and Haiping Mao^{1*}

¹ Department of Nephrology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Key Laboratory of Nephrology, Ministry of Health of China, Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Nephrology, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Medical Statistics, Clinical Trials Unit, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ³ Department of Nephrology, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Xiaoling Ye, Renal Research Institute, United States Jeroen Peter Kooman, Maastricht University Medical Centre, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Haiping Mao maohp@mail.sysu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 18 August 2021 Accepted: 29 October 2021 Published: 01 December 2021

Citation:

Huang N, Li H, Fan L, Zhou Q, Fu D, Guo L, Yi C, Yu X and Mao H (2021) Serum Phosphorus and Albumin in Patients Undergoing Peritoneal Dialysis: Interaction and Association With Mortality. Front. Med. 8:760394. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.760394

Hyperphosphatemia and hypoalbuminemia confer worse clinical outcomes, whether these risk factors interact to predispose to mortality is unclear. In this prospective cohort study, 2,118 patients undergoing incident continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) were enrolled and categorized into four groups based on the changing point regarding mortality at 1.5 mmol/L for serum phosphorus and 35 g/L for serum albumin. Risks of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality were examined independently and interactively in overall and subgroups. There was no association between serum phosphorus with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality, but significant interactions (p = 0.02) between phosphorus and albumin existed in overall population. Patients in subgroup with high phosphorus and low albumin were at greater risk of all-cause (HR 1.95, 95%Cl 1.27–2.98, p = 0.002) but not cardiovascular mortality (HR 0.37, 95%Cl 0.10–1.33, p = 0.13), as compared to those with low phosphorus and high albumin. In contrast, patients with both low parameters had a higher risk of all-cause (HR 1.75, 95%Cl 1.22–2.50, p = 0.002) and cardiovascular mortality (HR 1.92, 95%Cl 1.07–3.45, p = 0.03). Notably, an elevated risk of both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality was observed in those with low serum albumin, irrespective of phosphorus levels, suggesting low albumin may be useful to identify a higher-risk subgroup of patients undergoing CAPD with different serum phosphorus levels.

Keywords: serum phosphorus, albumin, peritoneal dialysis, interaction, mortality

INTRODUCTION

Hyperphosphatemia is present in almost 40% patients undergoing dialysis (1–3). Previous studies indicate that a higher serum phosphorus level is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular events, cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in patients undergoing pre-dialysis and dialysis (4–12). Restriction of dietary phosphorus intake is recommended as one of the key strategies in clinical management of hyperphosphatemia (13). Although foods with high protein are major source of phosphorus, control of dietary phosphorus by reducing protein intake has been linked to hypoalbuminemia (13–17). Because hypoalbuminemia is also a strong predictor of adverse clinical

86

outcomes in patients undergoing dialysis (1, 5, 7, 11, 18–22), how to balance the relation between serum phosphorus and albumin and their interactive impacts on mortality risk remains a clinical conundrum.

It has been demonstrated that restricting dietary protein intake to reduce serum phosphorus may cause greater mortality in patients undergoing dialysis and outweigh the benefit of controlled phosphorus (14, 16). A previous study on hemodialysis (HD) has shown that subjects whose protein intake decreased had higher mortality compared to those whose protein intake rose over 6 months, regardless of serum phosphorus levels (16). Moreover, Zitt et al. (20) proposed that albumin and phosphorus interact with each other in their associations with mortality in patients undergoing HD, and concurrent low phosphorus and high albumin was associated with the lowest risk of mortality in patients undergoing HD, but this relationship was not found in patients treated by peritoneal dialysis (PD) possibly because of small study population (n = 38). Unlike HD, peritoneal protein loss via peritoneal effluent has been recognized as a major disadvantage in PD; patients on PD have lower serum albumin than those undergoing HD (23-26). Meanwhile, Mehrotra et al. (27) has found that serum albumin levels as a risk factor for mortality were shifted to a lower range in PD, as compared to HD. Hence, the interplay between phosphorus and albumin in patients on HD could not be interpreted in patients on PD. Furthermore, evidence from longitudinal studies regarding PD population is scarce. Therefore, we intended to evaluate serum phosphorus-albumin interaction and their associations with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality among patients treated by continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This was a single center, prospective, observational cohort study. All patients on incident CAPD at The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-Sen University were recruited from January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2016. Eligible participants were older than 18 years and had been on CAPD more than 3 months. Patients who were transferred from maintenance HD or failed kidney transplantation, had malignant disease, or refused to given written consent were excluded. All patients were treated with glucose-based Dianeal PD solution (Baxter Healthcare Ltd., Guangzhou, China). The study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, and all patients provided written informed consent before enrollment.

Data Collection

Baseline demographic, clinical, and laboratory data were collected within 3 months after CAPD commencement and obtained from our database. Demographic and clinical characteristics included age, sex, body mass index (BMI), blood pressure, primary cause of kidney failure, and concomitant disease. Cardiovascular disease was defined as the presence of ischemic heart disease, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, or peripheral vascular disease. Laboratory variables included hemoglobin, serum albumin, serum phosphate, calcium, intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), creatinine cholesterol, triglyceride, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), and residual renal function (RRF, defined as mean value of 24-h urinary urea and creatinine clearance). Normalized protein catabolic rate (nPCR), total Cr clearance, and total Kt/ V_{urea} were calculated using the PD Adequest software (Baxter Healthcare Corporation, Deerfield, IL, USA).

Medications including phosphorus binders, calcitriol, cinacalcet, and α -Ketoacid were recorded. Patients were asked to undergo follow-up visits at the hospital every 3 months and subjected to a routine blood test, including serum albumin and serum phosphate.

Outcomes

Our primary outcomes were all-cause and cardiovascular mortalities. Cardiovascular mortality was defined as death due to acute myocardial infarction, ischemic heart disease, cardiomyopathy, fatal arrhythmia, cardiac arrest, congestive heart failure, cerebrovascular accident (including intracranial hemorrhage and subdural hematoma, cerebral infarction), and peripheral vascular disease (28). All the patients were followed up until death, transferred to HD, kidney transplantation, transferred to other centers, loss of follow-up, or until December 31st, 2020.

Statistical Analysis

Results of continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm SD for normal distribution and median (interquartile range, IQR) for skewed distribution. For categorical variables, the results were expressed as frequencies and percentages. Pairwise deletion (available case analysis) was used to address the missing data. Restrict cubic splines with five knots at the 5th, 35th, 50th, 65th, and 95th centiles were used to test the linearity of serum phosphorus and albumin and their relationships with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. A two-line piecewise linear model was next fitted by trying all possible values to approach the change point with highest likelihood. Patients were categorized into four groups based on the changing point regarding mortality at 1.5 mmol/L for serum phosphorus and 35 g/L for serum albumin according to restricted cubic splines and subsequent piecewise-linear models, and subgroups were categorized as follows: low phosphorus and high albumin group with phosphorus <1.5 mmol/L and albumin \geq 35 g/L; low phosphorus and low albumin group with phosphorus <1.5 mmol/L and albumin <35 g/L; high phosphorus and high albumin group with phosphorus ≥ 1.5 mmol/L and albumin \geq 35 g/L; and high phosphorus and low albumin group with phosphorus \geq 1.5 mmol/L and albumin <35 g/L. Further comparisons between the subgroups were analyzed using Kaplan-Meier curves and Cox regression models. Unadjusted and adjusted Cox proportional hazard regression models were used to evaluate the associations and interactions of serum phosphorus and albumin with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. All statistical analyses were performed using the IBM



SPSS software, version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) and R 4.0.2 (https://www.r-project.org/). The p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Baseline Characteristics

The screening flowchart of patients is shown in **Figure 1**. Between January 2006 and December 2016, a total of 2,118 patients who underwent consecutive CAPD were enrolled in the present study. Baseline characteristics, including demographic, clinical, laboratory values, and medications, are summarized in **Table 1**. Mean age of the study cohort was 48 ± 16 years, 59% of them were male, 25% had diabetes, and 22% had a history of cardiovascular disease. The baseline serum phosphorus level was 1.45 ± 0.43 mmol/L, serum albumin level was 37.0 ± 5.08 g/L, and nPCR was 0.9 ± 0.3 g/kg/day. Median level of RRF was 4 (2–17) ml/min/1.73 m². Distributions of serum phosphorus and albumin are shown in **Figures 2A,B**. For medications, 849 (40%) patients were treated with phosphate binders, 635 (30%) received calcitriol, and 777 (37%) were supplemented with α -ketoacid.

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of study cohort.

Variable	Total (<i>n</i> = 2,118)
Age (years)	48 ± 16
Male gender	1,255 (59%)
Primary kidney disease	
Chronic glomerulonephritis	1,252 (59%)
Diabetic nephropathy	347 (16%)
Hypertensive nephrosclerosis	284 (13%)
Others	232 (11%)
Comorbid conditions	
History of cardiovascular disease	455 (22%)
History of DM	522 (25%)
BMI (kg/m ²)	21.6 ± 3.2
SBP (mmHg)	139 ± 18
DBP (mmHg)	85 ± 24
Hemoglobin (g/L)	106 ± 23
Serum albumin (g/L)	37.0 ± 5.08
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.25 ± 0.22
Serum phosphorus (mmol/L)	1.45 ± 0.43
iPTH (pg/mL)	235 (114, 406)
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.9 (4.1–5.7)
Triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.72 ± 1.41
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.95 ± 1.03
HDL-C(mmol/L)	1.20 ± 0.55
hs-CRP (mg/L)	1.6 (0.5–5.1)
nPCR (g/kg/d)	0.9 ± 0.3
RRF (ml/min/1.73 m²)	4 (2-17)
Baseline medications	
Phosphorus binders	849 (40%)
Calcitriol	635 (30%)
α-Ketoacid	777(37%)

The results are expressed as means \pm SD for normal distributed continuous variables, median (25th percentile and 75th percentile) for skew continuous variables or number (%) for categorical variables.

BMI, body mass index; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; DM, diabetes mellitus; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; hs-CRP, high sensitive C-reactive protein; iPTH, intact parathyroid hormone; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; nPCR, normalized protein catabolic rate; RRF, residual renal function; SBP, systolic blood pressure.

Independent and Interactive Associations of Serum Phosphorus and Albumin With Mortality

During a median follow-up of 49 months, 599 (28%) patients died. Among these patients, 294 (49%) were caused by cardiovascular disease and 109 (18%) by infectious disease. The clinical outcomes of the study patients were listed in **Table 2**. The mortality predictability of serum phosphorus and albumin was assessed separately and interactively (**Table 3**). In the multivariate Cox regression models, higher serum albumin level was associated with decreased risk of all-cause (HR 0.93, 95%CI 0.89–0.98, p = 0.003) and cardiovascular mortality (HR 0.95, 95%CI 0.91–0.99, p = 0.03), whereas higher serum phosphorus level was not associated with all-cause (HR 0.71, 95%CI 0.45–1.14, p = 0.16) or cardiovascular mortality (HR 0.75,





95%CI 0.49–1.17, p = 0.18), after adjustment for age, gender, history of diabetes and cardiovascular disease, serum levels of hemoglobin, hs-CRP, iPTH, blood pressure, total cholesterol, TG, LDL-c, RRF, and uses of phosphate binders, calcitriol, or α -ketoacid. Moreover, significant interactions were detected between phosphorus and albumin on mortality after adjusting for confounding variables (*p*-interaction = 0.02 for both allcause and cardiovascular mortality). In addition, we observed the non-linear associations of serum phosphorus and albumin with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (p < 0.001 for both) in the restricted cubic splines analysis (**Figure 2**), suggesting serum phosphorus and albumin might modify each other in their relations to outcomes.

Combined Effect of Serum Phosphorus and Albumin on Mortality

By trying all the possible values for the change points with highest likelihoods in the non-linearity models in restricted cubic splines, two-line piecewise-linear models were used. Since 1.5 mmol/L for serum phosphorus and 35 g/L for serum albumin had the highest likelihood, those values were chosen for a categorical split. Thereby, patients were categorized into four groups based on the four-level joint phosphorus/albumin concentrations, which were described in detail in materials and methods section.

Figure 3 presents the survival curves for four categories of patients. The results showed higher all-cause and cardiovascular

Phosphorus and Albumin With Mortality

mortalities among patients with either concurrent low phosphorus and low albumin or high phosphorus and low albumin levels (p < 0.001). Notably, the cumulative incidences of both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality were significantly higher among patients with lower levels of serum albumin, irrespective of phosphorus values. The relative risk of mortality in relation to joint serum phosphorus/albumin levels is shown in Table 4 and Figure 4, with subjects in low phosphorus and high albumin group as a reference. After adjustment for potential confounders, including age, gender history of diabetes and cardiovascular disease, serum levels of hemoglobin, hs-CRP, iPTH, SBP, DBP, TC, TG, LDL-c, RRF, and uses of phosphate bidders, calcitriol, and *a*-ketoacid, patients with concurrent low phosphorus and low albumin levels had a 1.75-fold increase in all-cause mortality (95% CI 1.22–2.50, *p* = 0.002) and a 1.92-fold elevation in cardiovascular mortality (95% CI 1.07-3.45, p =

TABLE 2 Outcomes of the study cohort.

Variables	n (%)
Follow-up (months)	49 (20, 78)
Outcomes	
Deaths	599 (28%)
Cardiovascular death	294 (49%)
Infection	109 (18%)
Gastrointestinal hemorrhage	14 (2%)
Tumors	18 (3%)
Others	97 (16%)
Unknown	65 (11%)
Kidney transplantation	534 (25%)
Transferred to hemodialysis	381 (18%)
Transferred to other centers	90 (4%)

Values are median (25–75%) or n (%).

0.03). Adjusted hazard ratios of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in patients with concurrent high phosphorus and low albumin levels were 1.95 (95%CI 1.27–2.98, p = 0.002) and 0.37 (95%CI 0.10–1.33, p = 0.13), respectively. However, no significantly increased risk of both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality was observed among patients with high phosphorus and high albumin relative to the reference group. These results implicated that correcting hyperphosphatemia at the "expense" of albumin would lead to increased mortality in patients undergoing CAPD.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we found that there were interactions between serum phosphorus and albumin in relation to allcause and cardiovascular mortality. The association between phosphorus concentration and mortality was modified by albumin level, and high phosphorus with high albumin blunted the effects of the high phosphorus on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality.

Previous studies have indicated that patients who underwent dialysis have high prevalence of hyperphosphatemia, which is one of the most important risk factors associated with poor outcomes (7, 11). Correcting high serum phosphorus may ameliorate the adverse effects of high serum phosphorus on mortality in patients on dialysis. The reduction of dietary protein intake is widely recognized as one of cost-effective means for lowering serum phosphorus level in patients with chronic kidney disease (13, 29). However, phosphorus and protein intake is closely related, and it is reasonable to consider that enhanced dietary protein intake would increase both serum phosphorus and serum albumin levels, whereas insufficiency of protein intake may result in lower serum phosphorus concentration and a concurrent decline in serum albumin (30).

Our data corroborated previous findings that hypoalbuminemia was a significant determinant of all-cause and

TABLE 3 | Interaction and association of albumin and phosphorus with all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality.

	Model 1	I	Model 2	2	Model 3		
	HR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	HR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	HR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	
All-cause mortality							
Phosphorus (mmol/L)	0.81 (0.67–0.98)	0.03	1.07 (0.89–1.29)	0.48	0.71 (0.45-1.14)	0.16	
Albumin (g/L)	0.92 (0.91-0.94)	<0.001	0.96 (0.94-0.97)	<0.001	0.93 (0.89–0.98)	0.003	
Interaction		<0.001		0.03		0.02	
Cardiovascular mortality							
Phosphorus (mmol/L)	0.83 (0.63-1.10)	0.83	1.11 (0.85–1.45)	0.45	0.75 (0.49–1.14)	0.18	
Albumin (g/L)	0.94 (0.92-0.96)	<0.001	0.97 (0.95-0.99)	0.01	0.95 (0.91–0.99)	0.03	
Interaction		0.001		0.32		0.02	

HR, hazard ratio.

Model 2 adjusted for: age and gender.

Model 3 adjusted: model 2+ history of diabetes and cardiovascular disease, serum levels of hemoglobin, high sensitive C-reactive protein, intact parathyroid hormone, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, triglyceride, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, residual renal function, and uses of phosphate binders, calcitriol, and α-ketoacid.

^{*}Bold indicates significance at p < 0.05.

Model 1 unadjusted.



by subgroups of phosphorus and albumin levels, respectively. P, phosphorus; ALB, albumin.

cardiovascular mortality (19, 22), but no such correlation was found for serum phosphorus when assessed as a continuous variable. However, non-linearities were evident separately for phosphorus and albumin in their relations to mortality. Notably, there were significant interactions between phosphorus and albumin in their associations with both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Our finding was consistent with the previous study that the associations of serum phosphorus and albumin concentrations with mortality are modified by each other over time in a cohort study of patients on incident HD and PD (14). Therefore, combination effects of serum albumin and phosphorus should be evaluated concurrently with respect to clinical outcomes in patients on incident dialysis (20).

It has been demonstrated that both hyperphosphatemia and hypoalbuminemia are independent risk factors for mortality in patients undergoing dialysis (1, 5, 7, 21, 22). But there are several studies showing no relation between serum phosphorus and survival in patients undergoing pre-dialysis and dialysis (31–33). We found that patients with high phosphorus and low albumin concentrations (phosphorus \geq 1.5 mmol/L and albumin <35 g/L) had the highest risk of all-cause mortality across the four groups, compared to those with low serum

phosphorus and high albumin. On the contrary, high phosphorus with albumin level higher than 35 g/L was not associated with an increased risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in patients undergoing CAPD. Our data suggested that associations between high phosphorus and all-cause mortality were indeed modified by serum albumin concentration, which is in line with previous studies that demonstrated a worse outcome among patients with higher phosphorus and lower albumin (16, 20).

The K/DOQI and KDIGO guidelines suggest the three cornerstone approaches to dispose hyperphosphatemia (13, 29). As a first-line approach, dietary phosphorus control, by restricting phosphorus-rich foods, avoiding phosphorus additives in processed foods, and using wet cooking methods and substitute foods with relative lower phosphorus bioavailability (16, 20), along with maintaining adequate dietary protein intake are essential in the management of hyperphosphatemia and prevent protein-energy wasting in patients on dialysis. In a study of 884 patients undergoing incident PD, a diet with a higher plant-based protein-total protein ratio is found to be related to lower all-cause and cardiovascular mortality, especially in those without hypoalbuminemia (34). On the other hand, restricting dietary protein, in order to obtain a neutral phosphorus balance, has been demonstrated to impose the risk of hypoalbuminemia and protein-energy wasting (15, 30). Previous study revealed that patients undergoing HD with a decrease in serum phosphorus and a concomitant reduction in normalized protein nitrogen appearance, a surrogate of dietary protein intake, had a 11% higher risk of mortality than those with an increase in both parameters over 6 months (16). Furthermore, a post-hoc analysis from the Hemodialysis (HEMO) study showed that more restrictive prescribed dietary phosphate was associated with poorer indices of nutritional status and did not confer a survival advantage among patients on prevalent HD. Instead, a more liberal phosphate prescription was related to increased survival (14). Consistently, our results showed that patients with low concurrent levels of serum phosphorus and albumin (phosphorus <1.5 mmol/L and albumin <35 g/L) had an increased risk of both all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. In contrast, the risk of mortality did not differ in high serum albumin categories, irrespective of phosphorus levels. These data suggest that interventions to control serum phosphorus along with reduced albumin overweight the benefit of lower serum phosphorus and cause greater mortality. In addition, there have been studies showing that low serum phosphorus was associated with higher all-cause and cardiovascular mortality risks (35, 36). In our present study, low phosphorus showed a non-significant trend toward increased mortality, probably due to relatively small sample size, which might have obscured its potential effect on survival. Therefore, maintaining adequate dietary protein intake is also one of important strategies in the management of hyperphosphatemia (14).

The control of serum phosphorus by higher dose PD is made difficult due to time-consuming, burdensome, and out-of-pocket costs for patients (29). Meanwhile, higher dose PD has been associated with better phosphorus control (37), but probably worse nutrition status (37–40) and equivalent outcomes (41). Therefore, phosphate binders might be appropriate for patients

	Model 1	Model 1 Model 2 Model		Model 3	Model 4			
	HR (95% CI)	Р	HR (95% CI)	Р	HR (95% CI)	Р	HR (95% CI)	Р
All-cause mortality								
$P < 1.5$, ALB ≥ 35	Ref		Ref		Ref		Ref	
P < 1.5, ALB < 35	2.54 (2.07–3.10)	<0.001	1.76 (1.43–2.16)	<0.001	1.56 (1.26–1.92)	<0.001	1.75 (1.22–2.50)	0.002
$P \ge 1.5$, ALB ≥ 35	1.01 (0.81–1.26)	0.96	1.08 (0.86–1.35)	0.51	1.04 (0.83–1.30)	0.75	0.96 (0.67–1.37)	0.81
$P \ge 1.5$, ALB < 35	2.26 (1.77–2.89)	<0.001	2.03 (1.59–2.61)	<0.001	1.84 (1.43–2.36)	<0.001	1.95 (1.27–2.98)	0.002
Cardiovascular mort	ality							
$P < 1.5, ALB \ge 35$	Ref		Ref		Ref		Ref	
P < 1.5, ALB < 35	2.07 (1.55–2.77)	<0.001	1.41 (1.05–1.90)	0.02	1.22 (0.91–1.67)	0.17	1.92 (1.07–3.45)	0.03
$P \ge 1.5$, ALB ≥ 35	1.02 (0.76–1.39)	0.88	1.12 (0.82–1.52)	0.47	1.08 (0.79–1.46)	0.64	0.85 (0.48–1.51)	0.58
$P \ge 1.5$, ALB < 35	1.78 (1.24–2.57)	0.002	1.57 (1.08–2.25)	0.02	1.40 (0.97-2.02)	0.07	0.37 (0.10-1.33)	0.13

P, phosphorus; ALB, albumin. The unit for phosphorus and albumin was mmol/L and g/L, respectively. HR, hazard ratio.

Node at 1.5 mmol/L for phosphorus and 35 g/L for albumin was noted in restricted cubic splines and piecewise-linear model. Thereby phosphorus and albumin were categorized into groups as follows: (1) Phosphorus < 1.5 mmol/L, albumin \geq 35 g/L, as the referenced group; (2) phosphorus < 1.5 mmol/L, albumin < 35 g/L; (3) phosphorus \geq 1.5 mmol/L, albumin \geq 35 g/L; (4) phosphorus \geq 1.5 mmol/L, albumin \geq 35 g/L.

Model 1 was unadjusted.

Model 2 was adjusted for: age and gender.

Model 3 adjusted: model 2 + history of diabetes and cardiovascular disease.

Model 4 adjusted: model 3 + serum levels of hemoglobin, high-sensitive C-reactive protein, intact parathyroid hormone, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, triglyceride, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, residual renal function, and uses of phosphate binders, calcitriol, and α-ketoacid.

*Bold indicates significance at P < 0.05.



FIGURE 4 Forest plot of mortality outcomes by subgroups. P, phosphorus; ALB, albumin; HR, hazard ratio. Bold indicates significance at p < 0.05. Cox regression results was from model 4 which was adjusted by age, gender, and history of diabetes and cardiovascular disease, serum levels of hemoglobin, high-sensitive C-reactive protein, intact parathyroid hormone, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, total cholesterol, triglyceride, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, residual renal function, and uses of phosphate binders, calcitriol, and α -ketoacid. HR > 1 indicates patients with phosphorus <1.5 mmol/L and albumin \geq 35 g/L is more beneficial, and <1 indicates patients with phosphorus and albumin levels in the respective group is more beneficial.

undergoing CAPD to maintain acceptable serum phosphorus levels and avoid the risk of malnutrition in clinical practice. In the most recent KDIGO and K/DOQI guidelines, non-calcium-based phosphorus binders are recommended to use as first-line phosphorus binders (13, 29). Available non-calcium-based

phosphorus binders, such as lanthanum carbonate and sevelamer carbonate, are shown to reduce serum phosphorus levels and maintain serum albumin (42, 43). Recently, novel iron-based phosphorus binders with a low pill burden have demonstrated efficacy at decreasing serum phosphorus. More importantly, it has been shown to increase serum albumin levels among patients with hypoalbuminemia, possibly by allowing patients to increase their dietary intake of protein (44–46). In our cohort study, 849 subjects (40%) received phosphorus binders, association of serum phosphorus with mortality risk was adjusted for use of phosphorus binders. However, we did not assess whether there was difference between patients prescribed and those not prescribed phosphorus binders.

The strengths of the study included prospective study design with a large incident PD cohort in a single center. This study explored serum phosphorus–albumin interaction and associations with mortality among CAPD population for the first time to our knowledge. However, there are several limitations in our studies. First, we only enrolled patients for CAPD, and our findings may therefore not be representative of those treated with automated PD or HD due to the difference in excretion mechanism and amount of excreted phosphorus. Second, the analysis was based on baseline data rather than changes of these parameters. Third, we cannot eliminate the potential confounding impact related to clinical outcomes, although we tried to adjust for many relevant confounders in the analysis.

CONCLUSIONS

Serum albumin modified the association between phosphorus level and mortality, with high concurrent levels of serum phosphorus and albumin not associated with mortality. Lower albumin concentration was related to an increased risk of allcause and cardiovascular mortality independent of phosphorus levels. The findings implicate that controlling serum phosphorus without reducing albumin could improve clinical outcomes in patients undergoing CAPD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

REFERENCES

- Vervloet MG, Sezer S, Massy ZA, Johansson L, Cozzolino M, Fouque D, et al. The role of phosphate in kidney disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2017) 13:27–38. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.164
- Fuller DS, Dluzniewski PJ, Cooper K, Bradbury BD, Robinson BM, Tentori F. Combinations of mineral and bone disorder markers and risk of death and hospitalizations in the international Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study. *Clin Kidney J.* (2020) 13:1056–62. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfz112
- Noordzij M, Korevaar JC, Bos WJ, Boeschoten EW, Dekker FW, Bossuyt PM, et al. Mineral metabolism and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality risk: peritoneal dialysis patients compared with haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2006) 21:2513–20. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl257
- Schwarz S, Trivedi BK, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kovesdy CP. Association of disorders in mineral metabolism with progression of chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 1:825–31. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02101205
- 5. Slinin Y, Foley RN, Collins AJ. Calcium, phosphorus, parathyroid hormone, and cardiovascular disease in hemodialysis patients: the

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HM and XY developed and designed the research. NH and HL conducted the research and wrote the paper. NH, LF, QZ, DF, and LG analyzed the data. CY provided essential materials for the research. HM had primary responsibility for the final content. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was partially supported by the Guangzhou Science and technology plan (Grant no. 201807010002); the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, China (Grant no. 2017A030310199); National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant no. 81700583), 5010 Clinical Program of Sun Yat-sen University (2017007); the National Key Research and Development Project (Grant no. 2016YFC0906101); the Operational Grant of Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory (Grant no. 2017B030314019); and the Key Laboratory of National Health Commission and Key Laboratory of Nephrology, Guangdong Province, Guangzhou, China (Grant no. 2002B60118).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all colleagues at Sun Yat-sen University for their excellent data collection and analysis.

USRDS waves 1, 3, and 4 study. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2005) 16:1788–93. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2004040275

- Floege J, Kim J, Ireland E, Chazot C, Drueke T, de Francisco A, et al. Serum iPTH, calcium and phosphate, and the risk of mortality in a European haemodialysis population. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2011) 26:1948–55. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq219
- Palmer SC, Hayen A, Macaskill P, Pellegrini F, Craig JC, Elder GJ, et al. Serum levels of phosphorus, parathyroid hormone, and calcium and risks of death and cardiovascular disease in individuals with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2011) 305:1119–27. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.308
- Noordzij M, Korevaar JC, Boeschoten EW, Dekker FW, Bos WJ, Krediet RT, et al. The Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (K/DOQI) guideline for bone metabolism and disease in CKD: association with mortality in dialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2005) 46:925–32. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005. 08.013
- 9. Melamed ML, Eustace JA, Plantinga L, Jaar BG, Fink NE, Coresh J, et al. Changes in serum calcium, phosphate, and PTH and the risk of death in

incident dialysis patients: a longitudinal study. *Kidney Int.* (2006) 70:351–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001542

- Da J, Xie X, Wolf M, Disthabanchong S, Wang J, Zha Y, et al. Serum phosphorus and progression of CKD and mortality: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2015) 66:258–65. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.01.009
- Lopes MB, Karaboyas A, Bieber B, Pisoni RL, Walpen S, Fukagawa M, et al. Impact of longer term phosphorus control on cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis patients using an area under the curve approach: results from the DOPPS. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2020) 35:1794–801. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfaa054
- Chang AR, Lazo M, Appel LJ, Gutierrez OM, Grams ME. High dietary phosphorus intake is associated with all-cause mortality: results from NHANES III. Am J Clin Nutr. (2014) 99:320–7. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.073148
- Ketteler M, Block GA, Evenepoel P, Fukagawa M, Herzog CA, McCann L, et al. Executive summary of the 2017 KDIGO Chronic Kidney Disease-Mineral and Bone Disorder (CKD-MBD) guideline update: what's changed and why it matters. *Kidney Int.* (2017) 92:26–36. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.04.006
- Lynch KE, Lynch R, Curhan GC, Brunelli SM. Prescribed dietary phosphate restriction and survival among hemodialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:620–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04620510
- Rufino M, de Bonis E, Martin M, Rebollo S, Martin B, Miquel R, et al. Is it possible to control hyperphosphataemia with diet, without inducing protein malnutrition? *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (1998) 13(Suppl. 3):65–7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/13.suppl_3.65
- Shinaberger CS, Greenland S, Kopple JD, Van Wyck D, Mehrotra R, Kovesdy CP, et al. Is controlling phosphorus by decreasing dietary protein intake beneficial or harmful in persons with chronic kidney disease? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 88:1511–8. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.26665
- Li J, Wang L, Han M, Xiong Y, Liao R, Li Y, et al. The role of phosphatecontaining medications and low dietary phosphorus-protein ratio in reducing intestinal phosphorus load in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nutr Diabetes.* (2019) 9:14. doi: 10.1038/s41387-019-0080-2
- Block GA, Kilpatrick RD, Lowe KA, Wang W, Danese MD. CKD-mineral and bone disorder and risk of death and cardiovascular hospitalization in patients on hemodialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 8:2132–40. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04260413
- Jiang J, Wang LH, Fei YY, Zhou XW, Peng L, Lan L, et al. Serum albumin at start of peritoneal dialysis predicts long-term outcomes in Anhui Han patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis: a retrospective cohort study. *Kidney Dis.* (2018) 4:262–68. doi: 10.1159/000492426
- Zitt E, Lamina C, Sturm G, Knoll F, Lins F, Freistatter O, et al. Interaction of time-varying albumin and phosphorus on mortality in incident dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:2650–6. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03780411
- Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Harnett JD, Kent GM, Murray DC, Barre PE. Hypoalbuminemia, cardiac morbidity, and mortality in end-stage renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. (1996) 7:728–36. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V75728
- Cooper BA, Penne EL, Bartlett LH, Pollock CA. Protein malnutrition hypoalbuminemia as predictors of vascular events mortality in ESRD. Am J Kidney Dis. (2004) 43:61–6. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2003.08.045
- Guedes AM. Peritoneal protein loss, leakage or clearance in peritoneal dialysis, where do we stand? *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:201–9. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00138
- Fan J, Ye H, Zhang X, Cao P, Guo Q, Mao H, et al. Association of lean body mass index and peritoneal protein clearance in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2019) 44:94–102. doi: 10.1159/000498841
- Lu W, Pang WF, Jin L, Li H, Chow KM, Kwan BC, et al. Peritoneal protein clearance predicts mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Exp Nephrol.* (2019) 23:551–60. doi: 10.1007/s10157-018-1677-9
- Goldwasser P, Feldman JG, Barth RH. Serum prealbumin is higher in peritoneal dialysis than in hemodialysis: a meta-analysis. *Kidney Int.* (2002) 62:276–81. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002. 00415.x
- Mehrotra R, Duong U, Jiwakanon S, Kovesdy CP, Moran J, Kopple JD, et al. Serum albumin as a predictor of mortality in peritoneal dialysis: comparisons with hemodialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2011) 58:418–28. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.03.018
- 28. Xia X, He F, Wu X, Peng F, Huang F, Yu X. Relationship between serum uric Acid and all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in patients

treated with peritoneal dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis. (2014) 64:257-64. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2013.08.027

- Scialla JJ, Kendrick J, Uribarri J, Kovesdy CP, Gutierrez OM, Jimenez EY, et al. State-of-the-art management of hyperphosphatemia in patients with CKD: an NKF-KDOQI controversies perspective. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2021) 77:132–41. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.05.025
- St-Jules DE, Woolf K, Pompeii ML, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Sevick MA. Reexamining the phosphorus-protein dilemma: does phosphorus restriction compromise protein status? J Ren Nutr. (2016) 26:136–40. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2015.12.004
- Mehrotra R, Peralta CA, Chen SC, Li S, Sachs M, Shah A, et al. No independent association of serum phosphorus with risk for death or progression to endstage renal disease in a large screen for chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2013) 84:989–97. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.145
- Menon V, Greene T, Pereira AA, Wang X, Beck GJ, Kusek JW, et al. Relationship of phosphorus and calcium-phosphorus product with mortality in CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. (2005) 46:455–63. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005. 05.025
- 33. Wakasugi M, Kazama JJ, Wada A, Hamano T, Masakane I, Narita I. Functional impairment attenuates the association between high serum phosphate and mortality in dialysis patients: a nationwide cohort study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2019) 34:1207–16. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfy253
- 34. Liu X, Hu Z, Xu X, Li Z, Chen Y, Dong J. The associations of plantbased protein intake with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2020) 30:967–76. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2020.03.003
- Lertdumrongluk P, Rhee CM, Park J, Lau WL, Moradi H, Jing J, et al. Association of serum phosphorus concentration with mortality in elderly and nonelderly hemodialysis patients. *J Ren Nutr.* (2013) 23:411–21. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2013.01.018
- 36. Ye X, Kooman JP, van der Sande FM, Raimann JG, Usvyat LA, Wang Y, et al. Relationship between serum phosphate levels and survival in chronic hemodialysis patients: interactions with age, malnutrition and inflammation. *Clin Kidney J.* (2021) 14:348–57. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfz143
- Gallar P, Ortega O, Gutierrez M, Munoz M, Hilara L, Oliet A, et al. [Influencing factors in the control of phosphorus in peritoneal dialysis. Therapeutic options]. *Nefrologia*. (2000) 20:355–61.
- Dukkipati R, Kopple JD. Causes and prevention of protein-energy wasting in chronic kidney failure. *Semin Nephrol.* (2009) 29:39–49. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2008.10.006
- 39. Guedri Y, Damma KN, Toumi M, Sahtout W, Azzabi A, Mrabet S, et al. Effect of intraperitoneal injection of sulodexide on peritoneal function and albumin leakage in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl.* (2016) 27:1194–99. doi: 10.4103/1319-2442. 194611
- 40. Sanchez-Villanueva R, Bajo A, Del Peso G, Fernandez-Reyes MJ, Gonzalez E, Romero S, et al. Higher daily peritoneal protein clearance when initiating peritoneal dialysis is independently associated with peripheral arterial disease (PAD): a possible new marker of systemic endothelial dysfunction? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2009) 24:1009–14. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn595
- Parapiboon W, Jamratpan T. Intensive versus minimal standard dosage for peritoneal dialysis in acute kidney injury: a randomized pilot study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:523–8. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00260
- Ruospo M, Palmer SC, Natale P, Craig JC, Vecchio M, Elder GJ, et al. Phosphate binders for preventing and treating chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 8:CD006023. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD0060 23.pub3
- Hutchison A, Whelton A, Thadhani R, Achenbach H, Vergani A, Wu J, et al. Long-term mortality and bone safety in patients with end-stage renal disease receiving lanthanum carbonate. *Nephron.* (2018) 140:265–74. doi: 10.1159/000492603
- 44. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Ficociello LH, Parameswaran V, Athienites NV, Mullon C, Kossmann RJ, et al. Changes in serum albumin and other nutritional markers when using sucroferric oxyhydroxide as phosphate binder among hemodialysis patients: a historical cohort study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20:396. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1582-9

- Floege J, Covic AC, Ketteler M, Rastogi A, Chong EM, Gaillard S, et al. A phase III study of the efficacy and safety of a novel iron-based phosphate binder in dialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* (2014) 86:638–47. doi: 10.1038/ki. 2014.58
- 46. Koiwa F, Yokoyama K, Fukagawa M, Terao A, Akizawa T. Efficacy and safety of sucroferric oxyhydroxide compared with sevelamer hydrochloride in Japanese haemodialysis patients with hyperphosphataemia: a randomized, open-label, multicentre, 12-week phase III study. *Nephrology*. (2017) 22:293– 300. doi: 10.1111/nep.12891

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflictof interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Huang, Li, Fan, Zhou, Fu, Guo, Yi, Yu and Mao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessment of Alveolar Bone and Periodontal Status in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Kristine Sun^{1†}, Hui Shen^{1†}, Yingli Liu², Hai Deng², Huiwen Chen^{1*} and Zhongchen Song^{1*}

¹ Department of Periodontology, Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, College of Stomatology, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, National Center for Stomatology, National Clinical Research Center for Oral Diseases, Shanghai Key Laboratory of Stomatology, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Nephrology, Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasqual Barretti, São Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Marios Papasotiriou, University of Patras, Greece Pedro Henrique Franca Gois, The University of Queensland, Australia

*Correspondence:

Zhongchen Song szhongchen@sina.com Huiwen Chen chenhuiwen1220@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Renal and Epithelial Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 20 August 2021 Accepted: 26 October 2021 Published: 13 December 2021

Citation:

Sun K, Shen H, Liu Y, Deng H, Chen H and Song Z (2021) Assessment of Alveolar Bone and Periodontal Status in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Front. Physiol. 12:759056. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.759056 Chronic kidney disease (CKD) affects 8–13% of the global population and has become one of the largest burdens on healthcare systems around the world. Peritoneal dialysis is one of the ultimate treatments for patients with severe CKD. Recently, increasing severe periodontal problems have been found in CKD patients. Periodontitis has been identified as a new variable risk factor for CKD. The aim of this study was to investigate the periodontal status and severity of alveolar bone loss in CKD patients with peritoneal dialysis (PD). One hundred and six patients undergoing PD (PD group) and 97 systemically healthy periodontitis patients (control group) were enrolled. The differences in the dimensions of the alveolar bone between two groups were compared, and the distribution of alveolar bone defects was analyzed by cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT). Gingival index (GI), plaque index (PLI), periodontal probing depth (PPD), and attachment loss (AL) were recorded. The levels of inflammatory factors in gingival crevicular fluid were assessed by ELISA. Compared to control group, there was a higher degree of alveolar bone loss in maxillary premolars, maxillary 2nd molar and mandibular 1st molar in patients with PD (p < 0.05). A comparison of bone loss in different sites revealed that the area with the highest degree of bone loss were on the mesial-buccal, mid-buccal, distal-buccal, and mesial-lingual site in PD patients. The expression levels of inflammatory factors were higher in PD group (p < 0.01). In conclusion, PD patients presented more severe periodontal and inflammatory status than systemically healthy periodontitis patients. The loss of the alveolar bone differed between the two groups. Different sites and teeth exhibited a diverse degree of bone loss. This study highlights that clinicians should pay close attention to periodontal status of peritoneal dialysis patients and provides a new thinking to improve healthcare for CKD.

Keywords: chronic kidney disease, peritoneal dialysis, periodontal status, alveolar bone, cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT)

INTRODUCTION

Periodontitis is a chronic inflammatory and destructive disease characterized by periodontal tissue damage. Recent global burden of disease studies have shown that severe periodontitis is the sixth-most prevalent disease worldwide (Tonetti et al., 2017; Hickey et al., 2020). Individuals with periodontitis are at risk of multiple tooth loss and masticatory dysfunction, thereby impairing their nutrition and lowering their quality of life (Tonetti et al., 2017). Since the 1990s, the link between periodontal health and systemic conditions has been increasingly noted, leading to the development of "Periodontal Medicine." Periodontitis is thought to affect several common systemic conditions such as chronic kidney disease (CKD), cardiovascular disease (CVD), and diabetes mellitus. Periodontal medicine establishes a two-way relationship between periodontal disease and overall health (Monsarrat et al., 2016). Recently, the relationship between periodontitis and CKD has become a research hotspot.

Chronic kidney disease is characterized by either a glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of $< 60 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ or detection of markers of kidney damage for at least 3 months. It has become a worldwide public health concern with its high prevalence, high treatment cost and severe complications (Tasdemir et al., 2018). The development of glomerular injury and failure of the glomerular filtration barrier can trigger a cascade of events that can finally lead to kidney failure (KF). The latter is characterized by a GFR of $< 15 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ or treatment by dialysis (Levey et al., 2020).

Kidney replacement therapy is one of the main life-saving medical procedures for KF patients. Peritoneal dialysis (PD) and hemodialysis (HD) are currently two of the universally performed procedures as part of kidney replacement therapy (Miyata et al., 2019). Periodontitis is very common in patients with CKD, especially in population undergoing dialysis (Kshirsagar and Grubbs, 2015), which can increase the risk of CKD (Kapellas et al., 2019). Ricardo et al. (2015) found that periodontitis may be a non-traditional risk factor of CKD, which will accelerate the progress of CKD.

With the gradual decline of GFR, metabolic disorders of minerals and bone are common in CKD patients (Aleksova et al., 2018). Chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) is one of the most common complications in patients with CKD (Levey et al., 2020). A study involving 102 HD patients and 204 systemic healthy subjects found that patients on HD had more attachment loss than healthy people, and cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) results showed that HD patients had more severe alveolar bone loss (Zhao et al., 2014). Gupta et al. (2018) also reported more severe periodontal problems and periodontal bone loss in hemodialysis patients than in the general healthy population. However, few studies have been conducted on alveolar bone and the periodontal status of patients undergoing PD.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the volumetric change in alveolar bone in PD patients and analyze the distribution of bone loss. In addition, a comparison between PD patients and periodontitis patients for periodontal status was also carried out.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study design was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee of the Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine prior to the implementation of the study (No.2018-120-T98). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before enrollment.

Study Population

This is an observational cross-sectional study of 106 PD patients and 97 periodontitis patients without any underlying systemic disease enrolled between January 2019 and February 2021 from Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital attached to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (**Figure 1**).

The inclusion criteria of PD patients (PD group) were as follows: (1) aged between 18 and 80 years; (2) \geq 10 natural teeth present in the oral cavity (excluding the third molar); and (3) estimated GFR (eGFR) < 10 mL/min/1.73 m² (based on CKD-EPI creatinine equation) and receipt of regular stable PD for more than 3 months. PD patients were subsequently divided into three subgroups based on PD vintage.

The controls were recruited consecutively from the Department of Periodontology, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School and matched with the PD patients based on sex and age (within 5 years). The inclusion criteria of systemically healthy periodontitis patients (control group) were: (1) aged between 18 and 80 years; (2) no underlying systemic disease; (3) diagnosis of generalized stage III and IV (grades A to C) periodontitis (according to the 2018 periodontal disease classification); (4) \geq 10 natural teeth present in the oral cavity (excluding the third molar).

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) completely edentulous patients; (2) those with liver cirrhosis or cancer; (3) those with other malignant tumors; (4) those with a history of any periodontal treatment in the past 3 months; (5) those who received antibiotics and/or immunosuppressive therapy within the past 3 months; (6) pregnant women; (7) those with uncontrolled systemic diseases like diabetes; (8) unable or unwillingness to sign the informed consent form; and (9) smokers.

CBCT images were excluded according to the following criteria: (1) unclear visibility of anatomical landmarks, cementoenamel junction (CEJ), and alveolar bone crest (ABC); (2) visibility of the CEJ was compromised by the presence of restorations, prostheses, and other artifacts; and (3) imaging was limited by too many metal artifacts.

Periodontal Clinical Examination

Both the included PD patients and periodontitis patients underwent full-mouth clinical periodontal examination by a trained and calibrated periodontist (CHW). The examination comprised measurements of the gingival index (GI), periodontal



probing depth (PPD), plaque index (PLI), and clinical attachment loss (CAL). The clinical evaluation was performed by UNC-15 periodontal probe (Hu-Friedy, Chicago, United States). Six sites (mesio-buccal, mid-buccal, distal-buccal, mesio-lingual, midlingual, and distal-lingual) per tooth were measured.

Periodontal Bone Loss Assessments

Twenty subjects were selected from each group (PD group or control group) to undergo cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) scan (KaVo 3D eXam i-CAT, Germany). The digital imaging and communication in medicine (DICOM) files were exported to the Invivo5 software (Anatomage, San Jose, CA, United States) for subsequent measurements. The distance from the CEJ to the ABC was measured at 6 sites (mesiobuccal, mid-buccal, distal-buccal, mesio-lingual, mid-lingual, and distal-lingual) (**Figures 2**, **3**), and the average of the recordings was used as a measure of the bone loss for one tooth in millimeters. Alveolar bone loss was established when the distance between the CEJ and the alveolar bone crest was greater than 2 mm.

Gingival Crevicular Fluid Sampling and Analysis

After periodontal clinical examination, GCF samples of subjects were obtained from the Ramfjord teeth (#16, #21, #24, #36, #41, and #44) and the teeth with PPD \geq 5 mm. Before GCF collection, the tooth was air-dried, the supragingival plaque was gently removed and clean cotton rolls were used to isolate the tooth surfaces. A Periopaper[®] (Oraflow Inc., NY, United States) filter strip was inserted gently and kept in the gingival crevicular for 30 s. A total of 20 strips were collected from each subject and the weight (milligram, mg) was calculated. Strips contaminated with blood and/or saliva were discarded, and the correct specimens were placed in sterile 1.5-mL EP tubes and stored at -80°C until further use.

Prior to the inflammatory factor analysis, GCF samples were dissolved in 1ml-PBS solution (pH 7.2). After centrifuging the tubes (4°C, $1,500^*$ g, 15 min), the supernatant was collected and immediately assessed for interleukin (IL)-1 β ,

IL-8, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and highsensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits (IL-6, TNF- α , and hs-CRP: Signalway Antibody, United States; IL-8: Absin Bioscience Inc, China; IL-1 β : NeoBioscience, China), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The amount of IL-1 β , IL-8, IL-6, and TNF- α were expressed as picograms. The amount of hs-CRP was expressed as nanograms. Cytokine concentrations (pg/mg) and hs-CRP concentrations (ng/mg) were calculated from the weight of GCF: total cytokine (pg)/total weight GCF (mg) or total hs-CRP (ng)/ total weight GCF (mg) (Dutzan et al., 2009).

Statistical Analysis

All data was analyzed using SPSS software (version 20; IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, United States) for Microsoft Windows. The normality was evaluated by the Shapiro-Wilk test. The normally distributed variables were described using the mean and standard deviation (SD), while the median and interquartile range (IQR) was used to describe non-normally distributed data. Chi-squared tests were used for categorical variables. Statistical significance was determined using an independent samples *t*-tests or analysis of variance (ANOVA) if the results were normally distributed. Wilcoxon rank-sum test or Kruskal-Wallis test were used if the results were nonnormally distributed. Bonferroni correction was applied to the multiple comparisons. Correlation analysis was performed by Spearman's or Pearson's correlation method for abnormally or normally distributed data. The *p*-values < 0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance. Patients' identities were hidden during data analysis. This study was performed according to the STROBE checklist.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics and Clinical Parameters

A total of 106 patients (61 males and 45 females, mean age: 58.7 ± 14.3 years) and 97 patients (52 male and 45 female,



FIGURE 2 | Measurement of alveolar bone loss in patients and in CBCT images. The numerical value of alveolar bone loss is the distance from alveolar bone crest to cementoenamel junction minus 2 mm (red line with double arrow).





mean age: 56.2 ± 10.1 years) were included in the PD and control groups, respectively. As shown in **Table 1**, there was no significant difference between age and sex. The primary cause of KF in PD patients was unknown (76.2%), 10.4% had diabetic kidney disease (DKD), and 3.8% had chronic glomerulonephritis and immunoglobulin A nephropathy (IgAN). Others included polycystic kidney, minimal glomerulonephritis, obstructive

nephropathy, and systemic lupus erythematosus. The PD vintage was distributed as follows: 64 (60.38%) were 25–60 months, 34 (32.07%) were 3–24 months, and 8 (7.54%) were > 60 months (**Table 1**).

Table 2 shows the biochemical parameters of the PD group at baseline. The median ALP, intact PTH, and hs-CRP were 84.00 U/L, 230.75 pg/mL, and 4.94 mg/L, respectively. The mean values

TABLE 1 | Patients' basic characteristic.

	Control group (n = 97)	PD group (n = 106)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	56.2 ± 10.1	58.7 ± 14.3	0.754
M/F (<i>n</i>)	52/45	61/45	0.857
PD group			
Primary etiology			
Diabetes		11 (10.4%)	
Chronic glomerulonephritis		4 (3.8%)	
Immunoglobulin A nephropathy		4 (3.8%)	
Polycystic kidney		1 (0.9%)	
Minimal glomerulonephritis		1 (0.9%)	
Obstructive nephropathy		1 (0.9%)	
Systemic lupus erythematosus		1 (0.9%)	
Nephrotic syndrome		1 (0.9%)	
Mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis		1 (0.9%)	
Unknown		80 (76.2%)	
PD vintage			
3~24 months		34 (32.1%)	
25~60 months		64 (60.4%)	
> 60 months		8 (7.5%)	
Comorbidities and relevant me	dications		
Hypertension (Calcium ion antagonist; diuretic; angiotensin II receptor blocker; etc.)		75 (70.7%)	
Diabetes (Melbine; insulin; acarbose; etc.)		24 (22.6%)	
Renal Anemia (Hemopoietin)		18 (17.0%)	
Abnormal bone metabolism status (Caltrate; Calcitriol; etc.)		18 (17.0%)	
Hyperphosphatemia (Calcium Acetate Tablets; lanthanum carbonate)		26 (24.5%)	
Hyperlipidemia (Statins)		3 (2.8%)	

PD, peritoneal dialysis; M/F, Male/Female.

of serum calcium (Ca), phosphorus (P), and 25-OH Vitamin D were 2.22 mmol/L, 1.78 mmol/L, and 9.85 ng/mL, respectively.

Periodontal Status

Table 3 depicts the periodontal clinical parameters with statistical comparisons for different PD vintage of PD groups and the control group. No statistical differences were observed among the four groups for CAL (p = 0.109). The PPD, GI, and PLI were significantly different (p < 0.0001, p = 0.001, p = 0.004) among four groups.

Regarding the PPD, PD patients with PD vintage > 60 months exhibited an average of 4.53 ± 0.68 mm, significantly more than other PD patients with shorter vintage and control group. For GI, the control group exhibited an average of 1.73 ± 0.24 , while patients with PD vintage > 60 months, 25-60 months, and 3-24 months showed a mean of 1.91 ± 0.26 , 1.85 ± 0.20 , and 1.82 ± 0.21 , respectively; the difference was statistically significant between the control group and patients

TABLE 2 | Laboratory data of PD patients at baseline

	PD Group (<i>n</i> = 106)	Normal value
Serum biochemical mark	cers	
Ca (mmol/L)	2.22 ± 0.25 (95%Cl: 2.17–2.27)	2.08-2.65
P (mmol/L)	1.78 ± 0.55 (95%Cl: 1.67–1.89)	0.78-1.65
ALP (U/L)	84.00 (72.00-119.50)	46.00-116.00
Intact PTH (pg/mL)	230.75 (141.67–415.20)	12.00-88.00
25-OH Vitamin D (ng/mL)	9.85 ± 0.47 (95%Cl: 8.90–10.79)	30.00-100.00
hs-CRP (mg/L)	4.94 (0.85–17.05)	0.00-10.00

PD, peritoneal dialysis; Ca, calcium; P, phosphate; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; PTH, parathyroid hormone; hs-CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein.

with PD vintage > 24 months (p < 0.01). There were significant differences in PLI values between the PD group with PD vintage > 60 months and the control group (p < 0.001).

Inflammatory Factors in the GCF of Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

As shown in **Figure 4** and **Table 4**, the levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and hs-CRP in the control group were all statistically significantly lower than each PD subgroups (p < 0.01). There was no significant difference among the three subgroups.

Alveolar Bone Resorption

PD patients had severe alveolar bone loss. A comparison of bone loss between different jaws revealed a higher degree of alveolar bone loss in all teeth except the maxillary first molar and mandibular premolars (p < 0.05). For the mandibular lateral incisor, the bone loss in the PD group was significantly higher than other teeth, compared with the control group (p < 0.001) (**Table 5**).

The distribution of alveolar bone loss at different sites of the same tooth was analyzed. The results revealed that bone resorptions in the mesio-buccal, mid-buccal, distalbuccal, mesio-lingual, and mid-lingual site of the PD group were statistical significantly greater than that of the control group (**Table 6**).

Correlation Analyses

Robust relevance was observed between all inflammatory factors and periodontal indexes in the PD group, but not in the control group (**Table 7**). The correlation analysis did not identify a significant relationship between periodontal parameters and inflammatory factor levels, based on by very weak Spearman's correlation coefficients in the control group. In addition, Spearman's correlation found that PTH values had a relevant high degree of positive correlation with mean alveolar bone loss (p < 0.05). And there was an inverse correlation between 25-OH Vitamin D levels with mean alveolar bone loss (p < 0.05) (**Table 8**).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, assessment of full-mouth periodontal clinical parameters and alveolar bone assessments were carried

TABLE 3 Periodontal clinical parameters in patients with periodontitis (Control group) and peritoneal dialysis (PD group) (Mean ± SD).

	Control group (n=97)	ol group (<i>n</i> =97) PD group (<i>n</i> = 106)		group (n = 106) F		PD group (<i>n</i> = 106)		p value
		PD vintage: 3~24 months	PD vintage: 25~60 months	PD vintage: >60 months				
PPD (mm)	3.22 ± 0.81	3.66 ± 0.76	3.72 ± 0.96^{a}	$4.53\pm0.68^{\rm a,b,c}$	24.268	<0.0001		
CAL (mm)	3.68 ± 0.71	4.02 ± 1.19	4.01 ± 1.09	4.04 ± 1.75	2.049	0.109		
GI	1.73 ± 0.24	1.82 ± 0.21	1.85 ± 0.20^{a}	1.91 ± 0.26^{a}	5.827	0.001		
PLI	1.72 ± 0.37	1.84 ± 0.44	1.85 ± 0.41	$2.23\pm0.41^{\text{a}}$	4.523	0.004		

PD, peritoneal dialysis; PPD, periodontal probing depth; CAL, clinical attachment loss; GI, gingival index; and PLI, plaque index.

^aSignificant change from Control group.

^bSignificant change from PD Group (PD vintage: 3~24 months).

^cSignificant change from PD Group (PD vintage: 25~60 months).

TABLE 4 | Inflammatory factors in patients with periodontitis (Control group) and peritoneal dialysis (PD group) (Mean ± SD).

	Control group (n = 30)	PD group (<i>n</i> = 30)			F	p value
		PD vintage: 3~24 months	PD vintage: 25~60 months	PD vintage: >60 months		
IL-1β (pg/mg)	13.38 ± 6.98	23.17 ± 15.17^{a}	24.54 ± 11.24^{a}	25.16 ± 12.71^{a}	5.273	0.003
hs-CRP (ng/mg)	0.22 ± 0.13	0.31 ± 0.18	0.34 ± 0.15^{a}	$0.39\pm0.16^{\rm a}$	7.335	0.012
IL-6 (pg/mg)	0.67 ± 0.36	1.74 ± 0.96^{a}	1.83 ± 1.19^{a}	2.40 ± 1.00^{a}	10.246	<0.0001
TNF-α (pg/mg)	23.25 ± 10.85	43.96 ± 18.91^{a}	44.66 ± 24.42^{a}	70.07 ± 10.80^{a}	8.686	<0.0001
IL-8 (pg/mg)	18.81 ± 8.96	33.29 ± 19.94^{a}	43.73 ± 16.86^{a}	55.05 ± 27.15^{a}	13.780	<0.0001

PD, peritoneal dialysis; PPD, periodontal probing depth; CAL, clinical attachment loss; GI, gingival index; PLI, plaque index. ^a Significant change from Control Group.



out in both groups. The results of this study found that oral hygiene, degree of periodontitis, and alveolar bone resorption were more pronounced in PD patients than in the periodontitis population. Chronic kidney disease is one of the most common chronic diseases with a worldwide prevalence estimated to be approximately 13.4% and projected to continue to rise annually (Hickey et al., 2020). Currently, an increasing number of KF

		, ,	,
	Control group (n = 20)	PD group (<i>n</i> = 20)	p-value
Maxillary central incisor	3.58 ± 0.81	4.32 ± 0.56	0.016*
Maxillary lateral incisor	3.28 ± 0.32	3.22 ± 0.41	0.003**
Maxillary canine	2.89 ± 0.31	3.91 ± 0.55	0.041*
Maxillary 1st premolar	3.05 ± 0.65	3.71 ± 0.44	0.008**
Maxillary 2nd premolar	3.02 ± 0.45	3.59 ± 0.27	0.001**
Maxillary 1st molar	3.39 ± 0.28	3.71 ± 0.49	0.062
Maxillary 2nd molar	3.42 ± 0.29	3.77 ± 0.34	0.012*
Mandibular central incisor	3.32 ± 0.24	3.75 ± 0.34	0.002**
Mandibular lateral incisor	2.98 ± 0.35	3.54 ± 0.34	< 0.001***
Mandibular canine	3.02 ± 0.66	3.71 ± 0.44	0.001**
Mandibular 1st premolar	3.41 ± 0.28	3.18 ± 0.33	0.074
Mandibular 2nd premolar	3.51 ± 0.39	3.99 ± 1.04	0.146
Mandibular 1st molar	2.81 ± 0.87	$3.41\pm0.26^{\star}$	0.032*
Mandibular 2nd molar	3.26 ± 0.28	$3.51 \pm 0.21^{*}$	0.028*

PD, peritoneal dialysis; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

TABLE 6 | Distribution of alveolar bone loss at different sites of the same tooth (mm; mean \pm SD).

	Control group (n = 20)	PD group (n = 20)	p-value
Mesio-buccal	4.09 ± 1.51	3.53 ± 1.05	0.016*
Mid-buccal	3.83 ± 1.57	3.26 ± 1.36	0.031*
Distal-buccal	3.98 ± 1.74	3.37 ± 1.35	0.025*
Mesio-lingual	3.92 ± 1.26	2.91 ± 1.18	0.001**
Mid-lingual	3.47 ± 1.29	3.02 ± 1.05	0.032*
Distal-lingual	3.57 ± 1.37	3.26 ± 1.01	0.221

PD, peritoneal dialysis; **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01.

patients are opting for PD given its simple equipment and operation, as it reduces the need to travel and can be performed at home. Some studies have demonstrated that patients with CKD have poor oral health and a high prevalence of periodontal disease (Kim et al., 2017; Gunupati et al., 2019; Lertpimonchai et al., 2019). A recent report suggested that 106 of 107 hemodialysis patients (99.1%) exhibit some symptoms of periodontitis, and another study also showed that only one of 103 hemodialysis patients evaluated had a healthy periodontium (Kim et al., 2017). Gupta et al. (2018) recruited 30 patients with kidney dialysis, 30 patients with pre-dialysis, and 30 healthy subjects to evaluate and compare the periodontal status of patients with systemic healthy individuals and patients who have KF before dialysis. The results showed that AL, PLI, and oral hygiene index-simplified (OHI-S) were more severe in patients undergoing kidney dialysis and patients with pre-dialysis than in subjects who were generally healthy. Tadakamadla et al. (2014) reported that the oral hygiene, gingival, and periodontal status decreased as the stage of CKD increased. Patients with KF showed poor oral hygiene and a higher prevalence of periodontal disease than healthy controls. In our study, we were surprised to find that all PD patients who met the inclusion criteria had periodontitis. Meanwhile, all periodontal parameters including the PPD, CAL, GI, and PI of PD patients were more severe than that in the control group, which indicated poor oral hygiene in PD patients.

Chronic kidney disease is often accompanied by disturbance in mineral metabolism. The main clinical manifestations are osteoporosis, osteitis fibrotic cystica, osteoarthritis, and pathological fracture. CKD is an independent risk factor for osteoporosis, and the incidence of fracture in patients with long-term dialysis is significantly higher than that in the general population (Evenepoel et al., 2017; Nakanishi et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019). Disturbance in mineral metabolism increases the risk of bone loss or bone fracture in patients with periodontitis (Kanjevac et al., 2018). Messier et al. (2012) obtained 129 orthopantomography (OPG) from dialysis patients, and the result showed that the extent of bone loss was higher among dialysis patients. Although OPG has the advantages of speed, low radiation, and low cost, it is only two-dimensional, thereby rendering it difficult to evaluate the width of the bone. Meanwhile, in traditional radiographs, the superimposition of anatomic structures and thickness of the roots may obscure many anatomical and pathological details. Comparatively, dental CBCT is highly sensitive and more comprehensive and significantly superior to the so-called conventional radiographs for analysis of alveolar bone loss. CBCT has been particularly widely used in clinical dentistry, as it could provide accurate periodontal bone loss. Therefore, CBCT was used to evaluate periodontal bone loss in this study. The results showed that the degree of alveolar bone loss was higher in all teeth than in the control group, except for the maxillary first molar and mandibular premolars (p < 0.05). Moreover, bone resorption was more pronounced in the PD group at the mesio-buccal, mid-buccal, distal-buccal, mesio-lingual, and mid-lingual sites than in the control group. However, owing to the complex root anatomy, it was not possible to accurately measure maxillary molar root bifurcation lesions in CBCT. Besides, in the present study, we also found that 25-OH Vitamin D showed negative association with the alveolar bone loss, and PTH level was positively associated with the alveolar bone loss. The majority of patients with CKDs are 25-OH Vitamin D deficient. Results of observational cross-sectional studies investigating the association between Vitamin D serum level and periodontitis indicate that, Vitamin D deficiency has been hypothesized to contribute to the pathogenesis of periodontitis in CKD. It perhaps owing to the immunomodulatory, anti-inflammatory, and antibacterial properties of 1,25(OH)₂ D₃/VDR signaling, a sufficient serum level of Vitamin D is necessary for the maintenance of periodontal health (Khammissa et al., 2018; Machado et al., 2020). PTH is a well-known stimulator of bone resorption. Thus, CKD-BMD is probably the most important risk factor/driver of alveolar bone loss.

Gingival crevicular fluid reflects the metabolic changes of periodontal support tissue. Collection and analysis of GCF have long been a popular approach to investigate localized inflammatory processes in periodontitis (Barros et al., 2016; Taylor and Preshaw, 2016). Dağ et al. (2010) detected that TNF- α and IL-8 levels in the GCF of HD patients were significantly higher than those of healthy people. The associated relationship between chronic systemic inflammation and CKD is measured

	P	PD	c	AL		GI	PLI	
	R ²	p-value	R ²	p-value	R ²	p-value	R ²	<i>p</i> -value
PD group								
IL-1β (pg/mg)	0.4789	< 0.0001	0.2767	0.004	0.4290	< 0.0001	0.2034	0.016
hs-CRP (ng/mg)	0.2735	0.005	0.3003	0.002	0.2841	0.003	0.0847	0.045
IL-6 (pg/mg)	0.2247	0.012	0.3795	< 0.0001	0.5069	< 0.0001	0.4970	<0.0001
TNF-α (pg/mg)	0.3136	0.008	0.2016	0.036	0.1954	0.040	0.3576	0.006
IL-8 (pg/mg)	0.4147	< 0.0001	0.1884	0.021	0.3215	0.002	0.1911	0.002
Control group								
IL-1β (pg/mg)	0.0142	0.532	0.0003	0.928	0.0237	0.418	0.0018	0.824
hs-CRP (ng/mg)	0.0548	0.223	0.0119	0.572	0.0324	0.350	0.0449	0.269
IL-6 (pg/mg)	0.0408	0.285	0.0018	0.824	0.0104	0.690	0.0086	0.623
TNF-α (pg/mg)	0.1089	0.093	0.0630	0.207	0.1176	0.080	0.0552	0.237
IL-8 (pg/mg)	0.0202	0.454	0.0317	0.347	0.0096	0.605	0.0534	0.220

PD, peritoneal dialysis; PPD, periodontal probing depth; CAL, clinical attachment loss; GI, gingival index; PLI, plaque index.

TABLE 8 | Correlation between PTH and 25-OH Vitamin D and mean alveolar

 bone loss in PD group.

	Mean alveolar bone loss (mm)		
	R	<i>p</i> -value	
Intact PTH (pg/mL)	0.560	0.037	
25-OH Vitamin D	-0.585	0.028	

PD, peritoneal dialysis; PTH, Parathormone.

according to hs-CRP levels. At present, there are limited studies on the expression level of inflammatory factors in the GCF of PD patients. The results of this study showed that the levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, hs-CRP, IL-8, and TNF- α were higher in PD patients than those in the control group. Further, there were strong, positive correlations between clinical parameters and the levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, hs-CRP, IL-8, and TNF- α in the GCF of PD patients. This showed that chronically elevated levels of these cytokines in PD patients may be linked to the more serious periodontal tissue destruction.

The main limitation of our study is that we did not evaluate alveolar bone loss by CBCT for each subject, because it is not a routine examination procedure for PD patients. Further, the limited sample size requires more work to verify and confirm the results. The second limitation of the study is that we did not evaluate the bone loss in furcation involvement because of the complex root anatomy. Last, we used only CBCT to evaluate bone loss; future studies should explore the ability of CBCT to predict bone density.

Globally, both CKD and periodontitis are associated with considerable healthcare-related burdens. However, periodontitis is always overlooked by the public as it is not a deadly disease, but it is in fact the most common oral disease worldwide. The high prevalence of periodontitis among PD patients indicates the need to increase awareness among clinicians on this condition. This study concluded that PD patients presented more severe periodontal status than systemically healthy periodontitis patients. The extension of the course of PD may aggravate periodontal damage. The loss of alveolar bone differed between the two groups. Different sites and teeth exhibited a diverse degree of bone loss. Clinicians should pay close attention to the periodontal status of PD patients. It is essential to improve the quality of life of PD patients and ensure early prevention of disease, along with offering effective treatment strategies for PD. Cone-beam CT has the potential to provide greater diagnostic information about alveolar bone loss than other imaging modalities. It is worthwhile to be generalized for further studies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee of the Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (No. 2018-120-T98). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KS executed the experiments, collected the data, and wrote the manuscript. HS analyzed all data and revised the manuscript. YL and HD enrolled participants and executed the experiments. HC designed the experiments and made the critical revision. ZS had made substantial contributions to conception and design, made

the critical revision. All authors agreed to be accountable for the content of the work.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (no. 82071112), the Clinical Research Plan of SHDC (no. SHDC2020CR5015), the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality (STCSM) (no. 20ZR1431800), the Project of Biobank from Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (no. YBKB201905), and the Clinical Research Program of 9th People's Hospital affiliated

REFERENCES

- Aleksova, J., Kurniawan, S., and Elder, G. J. (2018). The trabecular bone score is associated with bone mineral density, markers of bone turnover and prevalent fracture in patients with end stage kidney disease. *Osteoporos. Int.* 29, 1447– 1455. doi: 10.1007/s00198-018-4468-y
- Barros, S. P., Williams, R., Offenbacher, S., and Morelli, T. (2016). Gingival crevicular fluid as a source of biomarkers for periodontitis. *Periodontol. 2000* 70, 53–64. doi: 10.1111/prd.12107
- Dağ, A., Firat, E. T., Kadiroğlu, A. K., Kale, E., and Yilmaz, M. E. (2010). Significance of elevated gingival crevicular fluid tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-8 levels in chronic hemodialysis patients with periodontal disease. J. Periodontal Res. 45, 445–450. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0765.2009.0 1252.x
- Dutzan, N., Gamonal, J., Silva, A., Sanz, M., Vernal, R. (2009). Overexpression of forkhead box P3 and its association with receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappa B ligand, interleukin (IL) -17, IL-10 and transforming growth factor-beta during the progression of chronic periodontitis. J. Clin. Periodontol. 36, 396–403. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-051X.2009. 01390.x
- Evenepoel, P., Behets, G. J. S., Laurent, M. R., and D'Haese, P. C. (2017). Update on the role of bone biopsy in the management of patients with CKD-MBD. *J. Nephrol.* 30, 645–652. doi: 10.1007/s40620-017-0424-8
- Gunupati, S., Sappiti, H., Nagarakanti, S., Reddy, B. R., and Chava, V. K. (2019). Validating gingival surface temperature as an alternative tool in the diagnosis of periodontal disease activity: an observational clinical trial. *J. Dent. Res. Dent. Clin. Dent. Prospects* 13, 123–127. doi: 10.15171/joddd.2019.019
- Gupta, R., Kumar, U., Mallapragada, S., and Agarwal, P. (2018). Comparative evaluation of periodontal status of chronic renal failure patients and systemically healthy individuals. J. Contemp. Dent. Pract. 19, 324–330.
- Hickey, N. A., Shalamanova, L., Whitehead, K. A., Dempsey-Hibbert, N., van der Gast, C., and Taylor, R. L. (2020). Exploring the putative interactions between chronic kidney disease and chronic periodontitis. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 46, 61–77. doi: 10.1080/1040841x.2020.1724872
- Kanjevac, T., Bijelic, B., Brajkovic, D., Vasovic, M., and Stolic, R. (2018). Impact of chronic kidney disease mineral and bone disorder on jaw and alveolar bone metabolism: a narrative review. Oral Health Prev. Dent. 16, 79–85. doi: 10.3290/ j.ohpd.a39858
- Kapellas, K., Singh, A., Bertotti, M., Nascimento, G. G., and Jamieson, L. M. (2019). Periodontal and chronic kidney disease association: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nephrology* 24, 202–212. doi: 10.1111/nep.13225
- Khammissa, R. A. G., Ballyram, R., Jadwat, Y., Fourie, J., Lemmer, J., and Feller, L. (2018). Vitamin D deficiency as it relates to oral immunity and chronic periodontitis. *Int. J. Dent.* 2018;7315797. doi: 10.1155/2018/731 5797
- Kim, Y. J., Moura, L. M., Caldas, C. P., Perozini, C., Ruivo, G. F., and Pallos, D. (2017). Evaluation of periodontal condition and risk in patients with chronic

to Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine (no. JYLJ2019011).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank YL and HD for the support in providing the necessary guidance.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2021.759056/full#supplementary-material

kidney disease on hemodialysis. *Einstein* 15, 173–177. doi: 10.1590/s1679-45082017ao3867

- Kshirsagar, A. V., and Grubbs, V. (2015). Periodontal disease and CKDassociated morbidity: is there now enough evidence to move from observation to intervention? *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 66, 181–183. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015. 05.009
- Lertpimonchai, A., Rattanasiri, S., Tamsailom, S., Champaiboon, C., Ingsathit, A., Kitiyakara, C., et al. (2019). Periodontitis as the risk factor of chronic kidney disease: mediation analysis. *J. Clin. Periodontol.* 46, 631–639. doi: 10.1111/jcpe. 13114
- Levey, A. S., Eckardt, K. U., Dorman, N. M., Christiansen, S. L., Hoorn, E. J., Ingelfinger, J. R., et al. (2020). Nomenclature for kidney function and disease: report of a kidney disease: improving global outcomes (KDIGO) consensus conference. *Kidney Int.* 97, 1117–1129. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020. 02.010
- Li, C., Chen, X. M., Li, Y., Zhou, Y. L., Yan, J. N., and Du, X. G. (2019). Factors and outcome of renal osteodystrophy-associated initial fragility fracture in end-stage renal disease patients. *Kidney Dis.* 5, 118–125. doi: 10.1159/00049 4924
- Machado, V., Lobo, S., Proença, L., Mendes, J. J., and Botelho, J. (2020). Vitamin D and periodontitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients* 12:2177. doi: 10.3390/nu12082177
- Messier, M. D., Emde, K., Stern, L., Radhakrishnan, J., Vernocchi, L., Cheng, B., et al. (2012). Radiographic periodontal bone loss in chronic kidney disease. *J. Periodontol.* 83, 602–611. doi: 10.1902/jop.2011.110306
- Miyata, Y., Obata, Y., Mochizuki, Y., Kitamura, M., Mitsunari, K., Matsuo, T., et al. (2019). Periodontal disease in patients receiving dialysis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:3805. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153805
- Monsarrat, P., Blaizot, A., Kémoun, P., Ravaud, P., Nabet, C., Sixou, M., et al. (2016). Clinical research activity in periodontal medicine: a systematic mapping of trial registers. *J. Clin. Periodontol.* 43, 390–400. doi: 10.1111/jcpe. 12534
- Nakanishi, K., Shishido, K., Kumata, C., Ito, K., Nakashima, Y., and Wakasa, M. (2018). Bone density of the femoral neck in patients on maintenance dialysis. *PLoS One* 13:e0197965. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.019 7965
- Ricardo, A. C., Athavale, A., Chen, J., Hampole, H., Garside, D., Marucha, P., et al. (2015). Periodontal disease, chronic kidney disease and mortality: results from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *BMC Nephrol.* 16:97. doi: 10.1186/s12882-015-0101-x
- Tadakamadla, J., Kumar, S., and Mamatha, G. P. (2014). Comparative evaluation of oral health status of chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients in various stages and healthy controls. *Spec. Care Dentist.* 34, 122–126. doi: 10.1111/scd. 12040
- Tasdemir, Z., Özsarı Tasdemir, F., Gürgan, C., Eroglu, E., Gunturk, I., and Kocyigit, I. (2018). The effect of periodontal disease treatment in patients with continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Int. Urol. Nephrol.* 50, 1519–1528. doi: 10.1007/s11255-018-1913-y

Taylor, J. J., and Preshaw, P. M. (2016). Gingival crevicular fluid and saliva. *Periodontol.* 2000 70, 7–10. doi: 10.1111/prd.12118

Tonetti, M. S., Jepsen, S., Jin, L., and Otomo-Corgel, J. (2017). Impact of the global burden of periodontal diseases on health, nutrition and wellbeing of mankind: a call for global action. J. Clin. Periodontol. 44, 456–462. doi: 10.1111/jcpe.12732

Zhao, D., Zhang, S., Chen, X., Liu, W., Sun, N., Guo, Y., et al. (2014). Evaluation of periodontitis and bone loss in patients undergoing hemodialysis. J. Periodontol. 85, 1515–1520. doi: 10.1902/jop.2014.140119

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Sun, Shen, Liu, Deng, Chen and Song. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association of Prescription With Body Composition and Patient Outcomes in Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Christian Verger¹, Claudio Ronco², Wim Van Biesen³, James Heaf⁴, François Vrtovsnik⁵, Manel Vera Rivera⁶, Ilze Puide⁷, Raymond Azar⁸, Adelheid Gauly^{9*}, Saynab Atiye⁹ and Tatiana De los Ríos⁹ on behalf of the IPOD-PD Study Group

¹ Registre de Dialyse Péritonéale de Langue Française, Pontoise, France, ² Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation, International Renal Research Institute (IRRIV), San Bortolo Hospital, Vicenza, Italy, ³ Renal Division, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium, ⁴ Zealand University Hospital, Roskilde, Denmark, ⁵ Xavier Bichat Hospital, Department of Nephrology, Paris, France, ⁶ Hospital Clinic de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ⁷ Pauls Stradins Clinical University Hospital, Riga, Latvia, ⁸ Centre Hospitalier Dunkerque, Dunkerque, France, ⁹ Global Medical Office, Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasqual Barretti, São Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Maria-Eleni Roumelioti, University of New Mexico, United States Nayrana Reis, São Paulo State University, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Adelheid Gauly adelheid.gauly@fmc-ag.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 06 July 2021 Accepted: 22 November 2021 Published: 24 December 2021

Citation:

Verger C, Ronco C, Van Biesen W, Heaf J, Vrtovsnik F, Vera Rivera M, Puide I, Azar R, Gauly A, Atiye S and De los Ríos T (2021) Association of Prescription With Body Composition and Patient Outcomes in Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Front. Med. 8:737165. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.737165 **Objective:** The nutritional status of patients on peritoneal dialysis (PD) is influenced by patient- and disease-related factors and lifestyle. This analysis evaluated the association of PD prescription with body composition and patient outcomes in the prospective incident Initiative for Patient Outcomes in Dialysis–Peritoneal Dialysis (IPOD-PD) patient cohort.

Design and Methods: In this observational, international cohort study with longitudinal follow-up of 1,054 incident PD patients, the association of PD prescription with body composition was analyzed by using the linear mixed models, and the association of body composition with death and change to hemodialysis (HD) by means of a competing risk analysis combined with a spline analysis. Body composition was regularly assessed with the body composition monitor, a device applying bioimpedance spectroscopy.

Results: Age, time on PD, and the use of hypertonic and polyglucose solutions were significantly associated with a decrease in lean tissue index (LTI) and an increase in fat tissue index (FTI) over time. Competing risk analysis revealed a *U*-shaped association of body mass index (BMI) with the subdistributional hazard ratio (*HR*) for risk of death. High LTI was associated with a lower subdistributional *HR*, whereas low LTI was associated with an increased subdistributional *HR* when compared with the median LTI as a reference. High FTI was associated with a higher subdistributional *HR* when compared with the median as a reference. Subdistributional *HR* for risk of change to HD was not associated with any of the body composition parameters. The use of polyglucose or hypertonic PD solutions was predictive of an increased probability of change to HD, and the use of biocompatible solutions was predictive of a decreased probability of change to HD.

Conclusion: Body composition is associated with non-modifiable patient-specific and modifiable treatment-related factors. The association between lean tissue and fat tissue

106

mass and death and change to HD in patients on PD suggests developing interventions and patient counseling to improve nutritional markers and, ultimately, patient outcomes.

Study Registration: The study has been registered at Clinicaltrials.gov (NCT01285726).

Keywords: lean tissue index, fat tissue index, body mass index, fluid overload, peritoneal dialysis, bioimpedance

INTRODUCTION

The nutritional status of patients on peritoneal dialysis (PD) is associated with patient characteristics and comorbidities, lifestyle, and treatment-associated factors (1, 2). Adequate nutritional status deserves attention as it is associated with patient outcomes (1, 3). Until now, there is no conclusive evidence, which nutritional parameter is best associated with mortality and morbidity in patients on kidney replacement therapy. Studies using body mass index (BMI) as an indicator have often found that in patients on hemodialysis (HD), the association of BMI with mortality was different than in the general population (4, 5). This apparent paradox is explained by incorrect statistical approaches mixing up association and causation, and by selection bias (6, 7).

Data on the presence of such 'reverse epidemiology' in patients on PD remain conflicting (8). In patients on PD, the nutritional status might be influenced by underlying disease state and nutritional intake, as well as chronic exposure to osmotic agents, mainly glucose. The amount of glucose being absorbed through the peritoneal membrane depends, on the one hand, on the PD prescription, such as applied glucose concentrations of the PD fluid, the fill volume, duration and number of dwells, and, on the other hand, the membrane permeability. On average, this results in an additional non-oral caloric intake ranging between 300 and 450 kcal/day (9). This carbohydrate load may have advantages and disadvantages. It can be considered as a nutritional supplement, but can also cause hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia, and eventually lead to body weight gain (9).

Many epidemiological studies have evaluated the nutritional status and associated patient and technique survival using BMI as a nutritional marker because it is easily accessible (10, 11). Nowadays, however, it is possible to use bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIS) for a more detailed assessment of body composition (12). Besides the assessment of volume overload, BIS allows body mass to be quantified and differentiated into lean tissue and adipose tissue mass.

The Initiative for Patient Outcomes in Dialysis–Peritoneal Dialysis (IPOD-PD) study was set up as an observational study to longitudinally follow-up the fluid status together with additional patient parameters, such as nutritional status and body composition, in incident patients (13, 14). This article analyzes

the evolution of nutritional status as assessed by lean tissue index (LTI) and fat tissue index (FTI) from the start of PD treatment over the first 3 years. We will associate the evolution of LTI and FTI with PD prescription patterns and this in turn with patient outcomes in terms of death and change to HD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Objectives

The objective of this analysis is to follow-up body composition as measured by LTI and FTI in patients on incident PD for 3 years after enrollment. We further explore how these parameters are associated with PD prescribing practices, and how they may relate to the risk of death and change to HD.

Study Design

The IPOD-PD study was an international, prospective, observational, cohort study on incident PD patients. Adult patients with chronic kidney disease who were scheduled to start PD as first kidney replacement therapy and without contraindications to routinely perform bioimpedance measurements were eligible for recruitment (14). Two years' recruitment in 135 centers in 28 countries of different geographic regions started in January 2011. Follow-up lasted until December 2015, resulting in an observation period of at least three to a maximum of 5 years, or until there was a reason for the termination of PD.

Study Procedures and Parameters

All centers used BIS as a routine clinical practice to assess body composition. Measurements were performed with the body composition monitor (BCM; Fresenius Medical Care, Bad Homburg, Germany) (15, 16), applying multifrequency BIS through impedance measurements at 50 different frequencies from 5 kHz to 1 MHz. From these data, volume status, lean tissue mass, and fat tissue mass were calculated based on the three-compartment model described by Chamney et al. (16), which contains normohydrated lean tissue, normohydrated fat tissue, and excess fluid. Volume depletion or volume overload is calculated as the difference between the extracellular volume and the expected amount of volume in the euvolemic tissue as estimated by a previously published algorithm (15, 17), which can be expressed in absolute (L) or in relative terms (percentage of extracellular volume).

Body mass index was calculated as body weight/(body height)², (kilogram/square meter), whereas LTI and FTI were calculated as lean/fat tissue mass/(body height)², (kilogram/square meter).

Abbreviations: APD, Automated peritoneal dialysis; BCM, Body composition monitor; BIS, Bioimpedance spectroscopy; BMI, Body mass index; CAPD, Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; FTI, Fat tissue index; GDP, Glucose degradation product; HD, Hemodialysis; IPOD-PD, Initiative for patient outcomes in dialysis—peritoneal dialysis; IQR, Interquartile range; LTI, Lean tissue index; PD, Peritoneal dialysis.
Body composition monitor measurements performed closely before the start of PD therapy were documented, together with clinical data, laboratory parameters, planned PD prescription, clinical assessment of fluid status, and medication as baseline values. The same data were collected 1 and 3 months after the actual start of PD and then every 3 months until patients changed their renal replacement modality (transfer to HD or kidney transplantation), died, terminated the study early for other reasons or until the end of the study [see also (13)]. All data were retrieved from the patient files in the centers. The prescription of PD modality and adjustments based on BCM data collected in the study were at the discretion of the treating physician.

Ethical Considerations

This observational study was carried out in accordance with the current version of the Declaration of Helsinki. Approval by the ethics committees and/or national authorities was received in accordance with the national regulations. Before enrollment, subjects were informed orally and in writing about the study, and written informed consent was received according to applicable law.

Statistical Analysis

Baseline data were analyzed descriptively and are given as percentages for categorical variables, mean \pm SD for normally distributed continuous variables and median (interquartile range [IQR]) for non-normally distributed continuous variables.

To analyze associations between factors measured at baseline or first month and the impact of these factors on changes in nutritional markers during the follow-up period of 3 years, a linear mixed model was applied using the SAS MIXED procedure. All available values of LTI and FTI during the 3 years were used as outcomes in the model. The variable time was calculated describing the time in months since first month and used as covariate.

For the analysis of prescription patterns, the use of hypertonic solutions was defined as applying at least one PD bag per day with a glucose concentration >1.5%. Biocompatible solutions were defined as PD fluids provided in two-chamber bags with lactate, bicarbonate, or a combination of both as buffer, and a neutral/near-neutral pH in the ready-to-use solution.

Body composition as a predictor of time to death or time to change to HD was investigated by applying a competing risk model combined with a spline analysis to consider non-linear relationships between body composition parameters and risk of death or of change to HD. Transplantation and change to HD or death were treated as competing risks. We performed Fine-Gray competing risk analysis to exclude the influence of transplantation and change to HD or death, respectively, on the cumulative incidence rate of death or change to HD (18) and computed the subdistributional hazard ratio (*HR*) with the median of BMI, LTI, and FTI as reference. This was computed with the Fine-Gray function of the survival package using R statistical software version 3.6.1 (http://cran.r-project.org).

Due to the explorative character of this observational study, no formal sample size estimation was performed; only available

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics.

-	
N	1,054
Age [years]	58 ± 15
Gender (men) [%]	57
Height [cm]	166 ± 10
Weight [kg]	72 ± 16
Comorbidities [%]	
Hypertension	88
Diabetes (Type 1 + 2)	36
Cardiovascular disease (NYHA stage I, II, III, IV, unknown)	26
Liver disease	5
Primary renal disease [%]	
Diabetes	28
Glomerulonephritis	18
Hypertensive/large vessel disease	17
Cystic/hereditary/congenital diseases	9
Interstitial nephritis/pyelonephritis	7
Secondary glomerulonephritis/vasculitis	3
Other	7
Unknown	11

NYHA, New York heart association.

data were considered and no substitution procedure for missing data was applied. All analyses (except Fine-Gray competing risk analysis using splines) were performed with SAS V9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

RESULTS

Participants

A total of 135 centers from 28 countries recruited 1,092 participants in the study. The final analysis population consisted of N = 1,054 participants, as 36 patients were excluded because of breach of inclusion criteria (n = 2), missing follow-up visits (n = 6), and missing valid measurements of volume status at baseline (n = 30). The characteristics of the analysis population at baseline are given in **Table 1**.

PD Prescription

Peritoneal dialysis was started at a median of 30 days [IQR 19–47 days] after catheter implantation. At the start of PD, only 23% of patients were treated with automated peritoneal dialysis (APD), the proportion of which increased after 1 year to 38% and remained stable over the observation period. The proportion of patients being treated with biocompatible solutions was continually higher than 70%. In this study, 15 and 31% of patients were treated with polyglucose or at least one bag of hypertonic solution at baseline, with both proportions increasing slightly after years 1, 2, and 3. The major reasons to include polyglucose in the prescription was hydration status (51%) and dialysis dose (30%). The daily quantity of applied glucose remained somewhat stable over time in continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD), whereas in patients on APD, glucose exposure increased. Amino-acid-containing PD solutions were

TABLE 2 | Peritoneal dialysis (PD) prescription.

International condition International					
CAPD/APD [%] 77/23 62/38 62/38 63/37 Biocomp./Bioincomp. PDF ^a [%] 73/27 76/24 78/22 81/19 Polyglucose [%] 15 24 23 25 Hypertonic solution ^b [%] 31 45 49 51 Use of amino acid solution [%] 3 5 5 8 Patients with diabetes 5 7 8 12 Patients without diabetes 2 4 3 6 Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 38		Baseline	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
Biocomp./Bioincomp. PDF ^a [%] 73/27 76/24 78/22 81/19 Polyglucose [%] 15 24 23 25 Hypertonic solution ^b [%] 31 45 49 51 Use of amino acid solution [%] 3 5 5 8 Patients with diabetes 5 7 8 12 Patients without diabetes 2 4 3 6 Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 38		N = 1,054	<i>N</i> = 610	N = 338	N = 207
Polyglucose [%] 15 24 23 25 Hypertonic solution ^b [%] 31 45 49 51 Use of amino acid solution [%] 3 5 5 8 Patients with diabetes 5 7 8 12 Patients without diabetes 2 4 3 6 Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 38	CAPD/APD [%]	77/23	62/38	62/38	63/37
Hypertonic solution ^b [%] 31 45 49 51 Use of amino acid solution [%] 3 5 5 8 Patients with diabetes 5 7 8 12 Patients without diabetes 2 4 3 6 Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 \pm 33 106 \pm 40 107 \pm 38 107 \pm 3	Biocomp./Bioincomp. PDF ^a [%]	73/27	76/24	78/22	81/19
Use of amino acid solution [%]3558Patients with diabetes57812Patients without diabetes2436Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 38	Polyglucose [%]	15	24	23	25
Patients with diabetes57812Patients without diabetes2436Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 38	Hypertonic solution ^b [%]	31	45	49	51
Patients without diabetes2436Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 38	Use of amino acid solution [%]	3	5	5	8
Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g] 101 ± 33 106 ± 40 107 ± 38 107 ± 3	Patients with diabetes	5	7	8	12
	Patients without diabetes	2	4	3	6
Glucose applied/day, APD [g] $$135\pm54$$ $$150\pm62$$ $$164\pm66$$ $$177\pm6$$	Glucose applied/day, CAPD [g]	101 ± 33	106 ± 40	107 ± 38	107 ± 34
	Glucose applied/day, APD [g]	135 ± 54	150 ± 62	164 ± 66	177 ± 67

^a Peritoneal dialysis fluid (PDF) prepared in two-chamber bag, with lactate, bicarbonate, or mixture of both as buffer and neutral or close to neutral pH of the ready-to-use solution. ^b Using at least one hypertonic bag (>1.5% glucose) per day.

CAPD, continuous ambulatory PD; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis.

only prescribed to a small proportion of patients, which slightly increased over time (from 2.8% at baseline to 8.2% after 36 months); this proportion was at all time points higher in patients with diabetes than in patients without diabetes (**Table 2**).

Nutritional Status Over Time

Nutritional status was assessed in our study through body composition monitoring and laboratory parameters (**Table 3**). On average, body weight and BMI increased from baseline to years 1, 2, and 3. Differentiating these changes for fat and lean tissue shows that the mean fat tissue mass and FTI increased over time, whereas mean lean tissue mass and LTI slightly decreased. Most of the changes were already present after the first year on PD, with only minor further increase or decrease at years 2 and 3.

Mean serum albumin slightly decreased and mean creatinine slightly increased at follow-up visits in years 1, 2, and 3 compared with baseline. Mean hemoglobin was only marginally higher and the median of C-reactive protein (CRP) unchanged during this period (**Table 3**). The association of LTI with serum albumin as given in discrete categories was consistent over time. The higher levels of LTI are found in patients with higher serum albumin (**Supplementary Figure 1**). CRP showed the highest median value in the lowest serum albumin category at all time points (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

Predictors of Change in LTI and FTI Over Time

Linear mixed models were calculated to assess the association of various patient- and treatment-related parameters with the change in LTI and FTI over time. Age, time on PD, APD vs. CAPD, and use of hypertonic solutions and polyglucose solutions were all significantly associated with a decrease in LTI over time, whereas fast, slow average, and missing data on peritoneal transport status were significantly associated with an increase in LTI over time (**Table 4A**). For change in FTI, nearly complementary associations were observed. Age, time on PD, use of diuretics, and use of hypertonic solutions and polyglucose solutions were all significantly associated with an increase in FTI. Among the peritoneal transport categories, all associations were not or were borderline statistically significant, except missing transport status being significantly associated with decreasing FTI (**Table 4B**).

The association of the use of biocompatible PD solutions with an increase in LTI and a decrease in FTI was not statistically significant, except for lactate/bicarbonate PD solution and change in FTI (**Tables 4A,B**).

Association of Body Composition With Death and Change to HD Body Mass Index

Competing risk analysis revealed that BMI has a *U*-shaped curve of the subdistributional *HR* with increased risk of death at a BMI approximately below 22 and above 30 as compared with that of the median value of the cohort. For very low and very high BMI values, the effect was not statistically significant, probably because of the small number of patients in these ranges (**Figure 1A**).

The full results of the competing risk analysis (**Table 5**) show the impact of all covariates together with BMI on the risk of death (taking into account the competing risks change to HD and transplantation). BMI is not shown with an estimator for HR in this table as the subdistributional HR varies over the range of BMI (**Figure 1**). Age and presence of cardiovascular and liver diseases at baseline were associated with an increased risk of death. For overhydration and use of biocompatible solutions, there was a trend (p < 0.1) for an association with an increased or lower risk of death, respectively, but this did not reach statistical significance (**Table 5A**).

For change to HD, the association with BMI was nearly complementary to that of risk of death. However, the reduced subdistributional HR was significant only at low BMI (**Figure 1B**).

Of the factors included in the model, the use of polyglucose was associated with an increased subdistributional HR for change to HD and use of biocompatible PD fluids with a decreased subdistributional HR for change to HD (**Table 5A**).

Lean Tissue Index

Analogous models were calculated for LTI and FTI. An LTI higher than the median value of the cohort was associated with a lower subdistributional HR of death, and an LTI below the median was associated with a higher subdistributional HR of death, as compared with the median as reference (**Figure 1C**).

Age and presence of cardiovascular and liver disease at baseline were associated with an increased risk of death (**Table 5B**). There was no clear association of LTI with the risk of change to HD (**Figure 1D**).

Of the factors included in the model, the use of polyglucose was associated with an increased subdistributional HR for change to HD, and use of biocompatible PD fluids was associated with a decreased subdistributional *HR* for change to HD. For overhydration, there was a trend

TABLE 3 | Course of nutritional parameters over time.

	Baseline	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
		Change from	Change from	Change from
		baseline ^a	baseline ^a	baseline ^a
Body composition parameters				
Body weight [kg]	N = 1,054	N = 604	N = 337	N = 206
	71.92 ± 16.24	2.17 ± 5.36	2.71 ± 6.00	2.51 ± 6.23
Body mass index [kg/m²]	N = 1,054	N = 604	N = 337	N = 206
	25.96 ± 4.81	0.80 ± 1.97	0.99 ± 2.18	0.91 ± 2.33
Lean tissue mass [kg]	N = 1,046	N = 598	N = 333	N = 202
	37.80 ± 11.47	-0.39 ± 6.06	-0.36 ± 7.23	-1.37 ± 6.85
Lean tissue index [kg/m²]	N = 1,046	N = 598	N = 333	N = 202
	13.54 ± 3.28	-0.15 ± 2.19	-0.10 ± 2.59	-0.50 ± 2.48
Fat tissue mass [kg]	N = 1,045	N = 597	N = 333	N = 201
	31.84 ± 14.78	3.07 ± 7.50	3.31 ± 8.33	4.35 ± 9.12
Fat tissue index [kg/m²]	N = 1,045	N = 597	N = 333	N = 201
	11.61 ± 5.42	1.14 ± 2.73	1.19 ± 3.00	1.60 ± 3.39
Overhydration [L]	N = 1,054	N = 604	N = 337	N = 206
	1.87 ± 2.31	-0.58 ± 2.14	-0.35 ± 2.11	-0.34 ± 1.79
Laboratory parameters				
Albumin [g/L]	N = 961	N = 539	N = 296	N = 187
	37.29 ± 5.70	-1.14 ± 5.27	-1.52 ± 5.86	-1.32 ± 5.63
Creatinine [mg/dL]	N = 1,019	N = 571	N = 317	N = 197
	6.54 ± 2.54	0.93 ± 2.63	1.94 ± 3.03	2.20 ± 3.35
Hemoglobin [g/dL]	N = 1,013	N = 582	N = 318	N = 197
	10.92 ± 1.63	0.66 ± 2.03	0.40 ± 1.90	0.43 ± 2.04
CRP [mg/L] ^b	N = 830	N = 426	N = 241	N = 145
	4.14 [1.0-9.0]	0 [-2.0-2.0]	0 [-1.3-2.8]	0 [-2.0-1.1]

Changes from baseline were calculated for those patients still in the study and with available data at respective time point.

^aMean change from baseline to given time point for patients still in study at given time point. ^bMedian IIQRI.

CRP, C-reactive protein.

(p < 0.1) for an association with an increased risk of death, but this did not reach statistical significance (Table 5B).

Fat Tissue Index

An FTI higher than the median value of the cohort was associated, within a certain range, with a significantly higher subdistributional HR as compared with the median as reference. The subdistributional HR for FTI below the median was not significantly different statistically to that of the median (**Figure 1E**).

Age, presence of cardiovascular and liver diseases at baseline, and overhydration at month 1 were associated with an increased risk of death (**Table 5C**).

There was no clear association of FTI with the risk of change to HD (**Figure 1F**).

Of the factors included in the model, overhydration and the use of polyglucose were associated with an increased subdistributional HR for change to HD and use of biocompatible PD fluids with a decreased subdistributional HR for change to HD (**Table 5C**).

Technique Failure

If the analysis was performed for the outcome "technique failure," including both death and change to HD, no significant association with BMI, LTI, and FTI could be observed (**Supplementary Figure 3**), also if this analysis was stratified by gender (**Supplementary Figure 4**).

Age, presence of cardiovascular diseases at baseline, overhydration, and use of polyglucose solutions were associated with an increased risk of technique failure compared with conventional solutions, and use of biocompatible solutions was associated with a lower risk of technique failure compared with conventional solutions, irrespective of whether the competing risk model was adjusted for BMI, LTI, or FTI (**Supplementary Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

This study showed associations of both patient- and prescriptionrelated factors with body composition and its change over time. For the first time in a PD patient cohort, the use of BIS allowed a differentiated analysis of the association of PD prescription and TABLE 4 | Linear mixed model on parameters associated with change of body composition.

Covariate	Category	Reference	Estimate	Standard error	р
A: Lean tissue index [LTI, kg/m) ²]				
Intercept			1.06	0.34	0.002
Age	Per 10 years		-0.18	0.05	< 0.00
Gender	Male	Female	-0.15	0.14	0.262
Diabetes	Yes	No	0.11	0.14	0.430
Peritoneal transport status	Fast average	Slow	0.31	0.11	0.005
Peritoneal transport status	Fast	Slow	0.58	0.15	< 0.00
Peritoneal transport status	Slow average	Slow	0.39	0.11	< 0.00
Peritoneal transport status	Missing	Slow	0.41	0.15	0.007
Time on PD	Per month		-0.01	0.00	0.001
Diuretics (last visit)	Yes	No	-0.16	0.09	0.065
PD modality (last visit)	APD	CAPD	-0.23	0.10	0.022
Hypertonic solution (last visit)	Hypertonic agent	No hypertonic agent	-0.42	0.09	< 0.00
Polyglucose (last visit)	Polyglucose	No polyglucose	-0.45	0.13	< 0.00
PD solution	Bic-Buffered PDF	Lac-Buffered PDF, acidic pH	0.19	0.24	0.427
PD solution	Lac-Buffered PDF; pH neutral	Lac-Buffered PDF, acidic pH	0.14	0.18	0.439
PD solution	Bic/Lac-Buffered PDF	Lac-Buffered PDF, acidic pH	0.32	0.21	0.123
B: Fat tissue index [FTI, kg/m ²]]				
Intercept			-0.17	0.44	0.705
Age	Per 10 years		0.19	0.06	0.002
Gender	Male	Female	-0.11	0.17	0.513
Diabetes	Yes	No	-0.10	0.17	0.553
Peritoneal transport status	Fast average	Slow	-0.19	0.13	0.160
Peritoneal transport status	Fast	Slow	-0.36	0.18	0.050
Peritoneal transport status	Slow average	Slow	-0.15	0.13	0.265
Peritoneal transport status	Missing	Slow	-0.53	0.19	0.005
Time on PD	Per month		0.01	0.00	0.008
Diuretics (last visit)	Yes	No	0.21	0.10	0.037
PD modality (last visit)	APD	CAPD	0.21	0.12	0.094
Hypertonic solution (last visit)	Hypertonic agent	No hypertonic agent	0.49	0.10	< 0.00
Polyglucose (last visit)	Polyglucose	No polyglucose	0.35	0.15	0.022
PD solution	Bic-Buffered PDF	Lac-Buffered PDF, acidic pH	-0.32	0.30	0.293
PD solution	Lac-Buffered PDF; pH neutral	Lac buffered PDF, acidic pH	-0.15	0.23	0.508
PD solution	Bic/Lac-Buffered PDF	Lac buffered PDF, acidic pH	-0.80	0.27	0.003

A: Lean tissue index; B: Fat tissue index.

PD, peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory PD; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis.

evolution of lean and fat tissue mass, and of body composition and risk of death and change to HD. Although we found a *U*shaped association between BMI and the risk of death, the body composition analysis allowed differentiation of high LTI being associated with a reduced risk of death, but high FTI being associated with an increased risk of death.

The participants in our study were recruited from different geographical regions, with varying treatment and prescription patterns (14). Accordingly, both APD and CAPD patients were represented. Furthermore, the options of the available PD solution portfolio were broadly utilized: type and strength of osmotic agent, solution buffer, and biocompatibility profile related to pH and presence of glucose degradation products (GDPs), although with some geographical disparity (14). Moreover, these prescription patterns were modified to some extent with time on PD, probably to adjust for a decrease in residual kidney function and change in peritoneal membrane function.

Assessment of nutritional status and body composition can be performed using various methods (19). In this study, we used BIS, a method also used in previous studies to evaluate body composition (20, 21). The distributions of LTI and FTI reported in our cohort coincide well with patterns found in other studies investigating prevalent HD (20), incident PD (22), or prevalent (23) PD populations, all of which measured body composition with the same method. It is obvious that body weight increases, primarily during the first year on PD, and to a minor extent further on. This is reflected in an increase of BMI, which is



FIGURE 1 | Adjusted spline analysis for the association between body composition and all-cause mortality (left) or change to hemodialysis (HD) (right). Displayed is the subdistributional hazard ratio (HR) and confidence intervals across different BMI (A,B), lean tissue index (LTI) (C,D), and fat tissue index (FTI) (E,F) levels. Adjustment was performed for age, gender, comorbidities (diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, liver disease), peritoneal dialysis (PD) modality, and PD solution types.

TABLE 5 | Competing risk analysis on the influence of covariates together with body mass index (BMI) (A), LTI (B), FTI (C) on the event of "death" or "change to hemodialysis (HD);" BL: Baseline.

Factor	Category Reference		Death		Change to HD	
		Reference	Hazard ratio	p	Hazard ratio	p
A: Body mass index (BMI)						
Age		Per 10 yrs	1.047	< 0.001	1.003	0.609
Gender	Female	Male	1.051	0.810	0.923	0.621
Diabetes (BL)	Yes	No	1.392	0.110	0.883	0.452
Cardiovascular (BL)	Yes	No	1.956	0.001	0.968	0.855
Liver disease (BL)	Yes	No	2.141	0.036	0.844	0.662
Overhydration (L) (month 1)		Per 1 L	1.088	0.068	1.073	0.056
Modality (month 1)	CAPD	APD	0.889	0.620	0.990	0.955
Hypertonic agent (month 1)	Yes	No	1.165	0.455	1.066	0.682
Polyglucose use (month 1)	Yes	No	0.953	0.868	1.609	0.018
Biocompatible solution (month 1)	Yes	No	0.678	0.078	0.626	0.006
B: Lean tissue index (LTI)						
Age		Per 10 yrs	1.037	< 0.001	1.006	0.276
Gender	Female	Male	0.730	0.161	1.027	0.885
Diabetes (BL)	Yes	No	1.250	0.286	0.952	0.767
Cardiovascular (BL)	Yes	No	2.014	0.001	0.990	0.953
Liver disease (BL)	Yes	No	2.267	0.024	0.805	0.575
Overhydration (L) (month 1)		Per 1 L	1.081	0.122	1.072	0.055
Modality (month 1)	CAPD	APD	0.803	0.354	0.978	0.905
Hypertonic agent (month 1)	Yes	No	1.248	0.270	1.113	0.490
Polyglucose use (month 1)	Yes	No	1.010	0.973	1.640	0.013
Biocompatible solution (month 1)	Yes	No	0.776	0.253	0.589	0.002
C: Fat tissue index (FTI)						
Age		Per 10 yrs	1.044	< 0.001	1.003	0.600
Gender	Female	Male	0.974	0.902	0.860	0.362
Diabetes (BL)	Yes	No	1.341	0.159	0.880	0.449
Cardiovascular (BL)	Yes	No	1.876	0.002	0.954	0.795
Liver disease (BL)	Yes	No	2.402	0.015	0.809	0.585
Overhydration (L) (month 1)		Per 1 L	1.115	0.022	1.079	0.045
Modality (month 1)	CAPD	APD	0.854	0.503	0.987	0.941
Hypertonic agent (month 1)	Yes	No	1.050	0.811	1.085	0.599
Polyglucose use (month 1)	Yes	No	0.905	0.731	1.620	0.016
Biocompatible solution (month 1)	Yes	No	0.745	0.179	0.610	0.004

BL, baseline; CAPD, continuous ambulatory PD; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis.

probably not associated with fluid overload because this decreases in the first year of PD (14). In the BrazPD cohort, which also included patients on incident PD, it was suggested that fluid overload rather than lean tissue or fat tissue was responsible for the weight gain in patients on incident PD. No bioimpedance data to assess body water, fat, and lean tissue were available in this cohort to confirm this, unfortunately (24).

In our study, as in other cohorts, fat tissue mass increased over time on PD (22), whereas lean tissue mass and thus LTI slightly decreased, resulting in a net gain in body weight not attributable to retention of water and sodium. Similarly, preservation of total protein despite increase in total body fat was found in previous studies (25). Although it is impossible to disentangle nutritional status and inflammation, our cohort study reveals some interesting observations fitting the postulate that inflammation, malnutrition, and fluid overload are interlinked (26). LTI was higher and CRP concentration lower in categories with increasing serum albumin concentrations, and this at all time points. Both serum albumin and CRP are inflammatory markers, reacting in opposite directions during acute infection. In addition, serum albumin concentrations may correlate to albumin loss into the dialysate (27). Serum creatinine, the level of which increased over time, results from metabolization of creatine, a marker of muscle mass. Creatinine was indeed found to correlate with lean tissue mass (28) and with serum albumin (29). However, in our

population, it increased over time more than lean tissue mass and albumin, indicating that it is both a marker of deterioration in renal creatinine excretion and of improved nutritional status.

Change of body composition over time on PD in our cohort was attributable to various factors, some of which are patientassociated and non-modifiable. Age, time on PD, and slow peritoneal membrane transport were significantly associated with a decrease in LTI over time, whereas age and time on PD were associated with an increase in FTI over time. In our cohort, PD prescription as a modifiable factor showed an association with changes in body composition over time, with a significant increase in FTI and a decrease in LTI over time associated with use of polyglucose or hypertonic solutions. This observed decrease of LTI is in line with an inverse correlation of prescribed glucose to change of LTI over time as described earlier (12). The association of an increase in LTI and decrease in FTI over the follow-up with use of biocompatible solutions was not statistically significant. In a small cross-sectional study, patients using biocompatible solutions with neutral pH and low GDP vs. conventional solutions had better nutritional markers and less systemic inflammation as reflected by lower CRP levels (30).

Both hypertonic glucose solutions and polyglucose solutions were used in an increasing proportion with time on PD, probably with the intention of enhancing ultrafiltration to compensate for decreasing residual diuresis. It is conceivable that a higher peritoneal absorption of carbohydrates resulted in an increase in body fat. However, there is conflicting data on the influence of glucose exposure on change in fat mass over time. One study observed, irrespective of glucose load, significant increases of dry body weight, BMI, adipose tissue mass, and FTI during the first year on PD, whereas lean tissue mass remained unchanged (22) in contrast to findings of another study (31). It remains inconclusive whether there is an association between glucose load and lipid profile changes, which was found in a study of patients with diabetes only (32), but not in studies of patients with and without diabetes (33, 34), and what long-term consequences might be. Data from the study by Pellicano et al. suggest that body fat may even be protective to limit protein wasting (25).

In an adjusted spline analysis, the subdistributional HR for technique failure is given over the whole range of observed values for body composition. For BMI, a U-shaped course of the HR of death could be observed, with increased mortality risk for a certain range of high and low BMI values. In contrast, no significant association with the risk of change to HD was observed, except for very high BMI values. A so-called reverse epidemiology, i.e., a decreased mortality risk associated with high BMI, has been found for the patients on HD (5, 35). This could not be confirmed by our data or in other studies on populations of patients on PD (8). Moreover, it was not clear from previous studies whether adiposity or increased muscle mass confers improved survival. In our study, with the use of BIS, we could for the first time differentiate the impact of lean tissue and fat tissue on patient outcomes and technique failure in PD and assess the ranges of these values and of BMI being predictive for an increased or decreased risk. This analysis confirms a reduced mortality risk for having an LTI higher than the median, whereas having a low LTI, thus a wasting state, is associated with an increased mortality risk. For FTI, this is complementary, with having values higher than median being associated with an increased mortality risk. From this, it could be derived that increased muscle mass rather than adiposity contributes to the improved survival in patients on PD with higher BMI. The association of nutritional markers with patient outcomes suggests that therapeutic plans should take into account the impact on body composition and apply dietary measures at an early stage (36, 37) with the aim of avoiding the loss of lean tissue mass and improving patient outcomes (38). With regard to change in treatment modality, the nutritional status seems not to be a trigger, as both LTI and FTI were not associated with the risk of change to HD. Here, other factors, such as loss of residual kidney function and limited peritoneal ultrafiltration, which might lead to overhydration, are more likely reasons for modality changes, as underlined by the observed association of the use of polyglucose or hypertonic PD fluid with change to HD.

Overhydration was borderline associated with the risk of death or risk of change to HD in the model, with adjustment for BMI, LTI, or FTI. In an analysis where both outcomes were combined, a significant association of overhydration with technique failure as defined by death or change to HD was observed, confirming our previous analysis (39) and the findings of other studies (40). Therefore, strategies for fluid status monitoring and early interventions might support the duration and clinical effectiveness of PD. Use of biocompatible (i.e., neutral pH and low GDP) solutions were associated with a lower risk of change to HD, but not with death. Longer maintenance on PD with biocompatible PD fluids might also be explained by better preservation of residual kidney function, but whether other parameters may also contribute, such as ultrafiltration, peritonitis occurrence, or hospitalization, remain an open question at the current stage of available evidence (41). The same metaanalysis also addressed death as an outcome and found no significant association with death for the use of biocompatible solutions (41).

Our study has several limitations. The study was designed as an observational study, and therefore, it is only possible to derive associations. It was beyond the scope of the study to also monitor dietary habits, thus their influence and that of changes over time could not be considered in our analyses.

In conclusion, body composition is associated with nonmodifiable, patient-associated factors, and with modifiable treatment-related factors. The latter suggests adjusting prescriptions accordingly and monitoring body composition regularly to improve nutritional markers and, ultimately, control the risk of technique failure and improve patient outcomes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors upon reasonable request, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committees and/or national authorities for the 135 study centers individually in accordance with national regulations. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CV, CR, WV, TD, and AG designed the study. CV, CR, WV, JH, FV, AG, SA, and TD interpreted the results. AG, SA, and TD drafted the manuscript. CV, CR, WV, JH, FV, MV, IP, and RA acquired the data. All authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Fresenius Medical Care Deutschland GmbH and Fresenius Medical Care Asia Pacific Ltd. The sponsor was involved in study design, data collection, analysis, and interpretation; preparation of the study report; and preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The following centers participating in the study are gratefully acknowledged for their contribution and dedication to the study: Austria: Klinikum Wels-Grieskirchen GmbH, Wels (Dr. M. Windpessl). Belgium: ASZ Campus Geraardsbergen, Geraardsbergen (Prof. W. van Biesen); UZ Gent, Gent (Prof. W. van Biesen); CHU Sart Tilman, Liège (Dr. C. Bovy); ASZ Campus Aalst, Aalst (Prof. N. Veys); UZ Leuven, Leuven (Prof. B. Bammens); CHU de Charleroi, Charleroi (Dr. S. Treille); and H.-Hartziekenhuis Roeselare-Menen vzw, Roeselare (Dr. Bart Maes). Brasil: CDR-Clinica de Doenças Renais, Pirai (Dr. A. Ferreira Teixeira); CETENE-Centro De Terapia Nefrologica, São Paulo (DR. Z. Britto); and IMN-Instituto Mineiro De Nefrologia, Belo Horizonte (Dr. V. Ladeira Rodrigues). Bosnia: KBC Mostar, Mostar (Dr. D. Rončević) and UKC Tuzla, Tuzla (Dr. E. Mesic). Czech Republic: FMC Most, Most (Dr. P. Machek); IKEM, Praha (Dr. A. Parikova); VFN Karlovo namesti, Praha (Dr. V. Bednarova); VFN Strahov, Praha (Dr.V. Polakovic); Faculty Hospital Plzen, Plzen (Dr. T. Reischig); University Hospital FN Brno Bohunice, Brno (Dr. J. Rehorová); FN Hradec Kralove, Kralove (Dr. B. Hájková); and Trebíč Hospital, Trebic (Dr. H. Chmelíčková). Croatia: UH Merkur, Zagreb (Dr. M. Knotek); UHC Osijek, Osijek (Dr. M. Jakic); and UHC Split, Split V(Dr. J. Radic). Cuba: Instituto de Nefrología, La Habana (Dr. R. Bohorques). Denmark: Herlev Hospital, Herlev (Dr J. Heaf); Aarhus University Hospital, Aahrus (Prof. J. Povlsen); Roskilde Hospital, Roskilde (Dr. B. Ekelund); and Hillerød Hospital, Hillerød (Dr. H. Mollerup). Estonia: West Talinn Central Hospital, Tallinn (Dr. M. Muliin); North Estonian Regional Hospital, Tallinn (Dr. E. Kuzmina); and Tartu University Hospital, Tartu (Dr. K. Kõlvald). Finland: Satakunnan keskussairaala, Pori (Dr. K. Laine); Kymenlaakson keskussairaala, Kotka (Dr. M. Huuskonen); Keski-Suomen keskussairaala, Jyväskylä (Dr. M. Miettinen); Helsinki University Hospital, Helsinki (Dr. V. Rauta); Oulu University Hospital, Oulu (Dr. M. Tamminen); Tampere University Hospital, Tampere (Dr. H. Saha); Central Hospital in Joensuu, Joensuu (Dr. K. Jääskeläinen); and Päijät-Hämeen central hospital, Lahti (Dr. M. Vilpakka). France: CH Rene Dubos, Pontoise (Dr. C. Verger); Hôpital Civil de Strasbourg, Strasbourg (Dr. F. Heibel); A.U.B Santé Quimper, Quimper (Dr. P. Y. Durand); C.H. Dunkerque, Dunkerque (Dr. R. Azar); C.H.U. Bichat, Paris (Prof. F. Vrtovsnik); C.H.U. de Bordeaux, Bordeaux (Dr. C. Moreau); and E.C.H.O Nantes, Rezé (Dr. I. Oancea). Germany: Nierenzentrum Heidelberg, Heidelberg (Prof. V. Schwenger); Nephrologisches Zentrum Velbert, Velbert (Prof. M. Koch); Nieren und Hochdruckzentrum Kiel, Kiel (Dr. J. Struck); Robert Bosch Krankenhaus, Stuttgart (Prof. D. Alscher); Nephrologische Praxis Wiesbaden, Wiesbanden (Prof. T. Mettang); Klinikum Braunschweig, Braunschweig (Dr. R. Wanninger); KfH Zentrum Bottrop, Bottrop (Prof. M. Hollenbeck); and Nephrology-UKGM Giessen, Gießen (Prof. H. W. Birk). Greece: General Hospital G. Gennimatas, Athens (Dr. G. Tsirpanlis); General University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, Alexandroupolis (Dr. M. Theodoridis); General University Hospital of Thessaloniki AHEPA, Thessaloniki (Dr. V. Liakopoulos); General University Hospital of Ioannina, Ioannina (Dr. O. Balafa), and General Hospital of Ioannina, Ioannina (Dr. A. Andrikos). India: Madras Medical Mission, Chennai (Dr. G. Abraham). Israel: Western Galilee Hospital, Naharyia (Dr. H. Kamal). Italy: Ospedale San Bortolo, Vicenza (Dr. C. Crepaldi); Azienda Ospedaliera Brotzu, Cagliari (DR. G. Cabiddu); UO Nefrologia Policlinico BARI, Bari (Prof. R. Russo); and Ospedale Civico Palermo, Palermo (Dr. F. Caputo). Korea: NHIS Ilsan Hospital, Koyang (Dr. Sug-Kyun Shin); Yeungnam University Hospital, Daegu (Prof. Jun-Young Do); Seoul National University Hospital, Seoul (Prof. Kook-Hwan Oh); Severance Hospital, Seoul (Prof. Shin Wook Kang); and Konkuk University Medical Center, Seoul (Prof. Young-Il Jo). Latvia: Nephrology Center, P. Stradins clinical university hospital, Riga (Dr. I. Puide) and Med Alfa Ltda, Riga (Dr. I. Busmane). Lithuania: Klaipeda Republic Hospital, Klaipeda (Dr. I. Puide); Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Hospital Kaunas Clinics, Kaunas (Dr. N. Kusleikaite); and Vilnius University Antakalnis Hospital, Vilnius (Dr. S. Dalia). Netherlands: University Hospital Maastricht, Maastricht (Prof. F. van der Sande). Norway: St. Olavs Hospital, Sluppen (Dr. M. Radtke), Nordlandssykehuset Bodø, Bodø (Dr. A. K. Fagerheim); Sykehuset i Møre og Romsdal HF, Aalesund (Dr. A. B. Tafford); and Sykehuset Levanger, Levanger (Dr. J. Rocke). Portugal: Hospital Santa Cruz, Carnaxide (Dr. M. A. Gaspar) and CHP Hospital Santo Antonio, Porto (Dr. A. Soares Rodrigues). Spain: Complejo Asistencial de León-CAULE, León (Dr. M. Prieto); Hospital Clinic i Provincial de Barcelona, Barcelona (Dr. M. Vera Rivera); Hospital de Mollet, Mollet del Valles (Dr. R. Samon Guasch); Hospital General de Vic, Vic (Dr. J. Feixas); Hospital Universitario Central, Oviedo (Dr. C. Rodríguez); Hospital Josep Trueta, Girona (Dr. I. Garcia); Hospital Xeral Cies de Vigo, Vigo (Dr. M. Moreiras-Plaza); Hospital San Pedro de Logroño, Logroño (Dr. M. Sierra); Hospital Universitario de Puerto Real, Puerto Real (Dr. C. Orellana); Hospital Universitario Rio Hortega, Valladolid (Dr. A. Molina); Complejo Hospital Universitario de Santiago-CHUS, Santiago de Compostela (Dr. R. Valente); Fundació Puigvert, Barcelona (Dr. T. Doñate); Fundación Hospital Manacor, Manacor (Dr. D. Tura); Hospital de Basurto, Bilbao (Dr. O. González); Hospital General Universitario Gregorio Marañon, Madrid (Dr. J. M. López); Hospital Universitario Ramón y Cajal, Madrid (Dr. M. Rivera); Hospital Virgen de la Macarena, Sevilla (Dr. N. Areste); Hospital Universitario Puerta del Mar, Cádiz (Dr. F. Tejuca); Complejo Hospitalario de Jaén, Jaén (Dr. J. M. Gil); Hospital de Txagoritxu, Vitoria (Dr. J. I. Minguela); Hospital Universitario A Coruña, Coruña (Dr. A. Rodriguez-Carmona); Hospital Universitario Marques de Valdecilla, Santander (Dr. R. Palomar); Hospital universitario Fundación Alcorcón, Alcorcón (Dr. A. M. Tato); Hospital Clínico San Carlos, Madrid (Dr. R. Valero); Hospital Carlos Haya, Málaga (Dr. S. Ros); CHU Albacete, Albacete (Dr. J. Pérez); Hospital Clínico de Valencia, Valencia (Dr. M. A. González); Hospital de Torrecardenas, Almeria (Dr. F. J. González); Hospital General de Castellón, Castellón (Dr. J. J. Sánchez); Hospital Universitario Puerta de Hierro, Madrid (Dr. J. M. Portoles); Fundación Jiménez Díaz, Madrid (Dr. A. Ortiz); Hospital Lucus Augusti/Hospital de Lugo, Lugo (Dr. B. Millán); Hospital de Galdakano, Bilbao (Dr. J. Montenegro); and Hospital Severo Ochoa, Legane-Madrid (Dr. P. Gallar). Sweden: Sahlgrenska PD-mottagningen, Göteborg (Dr. A. Aldenbratt); Skanes University Hospital Malmo, Malmo

REFERENCES

- Tennankore KK, Bargman JM. Nutrition and the kidney: recommendations for peritoneal dialysis. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. (2013) 20:190–201. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2012.10.010
- Cupisti A, D'alessandro C, Finato V, Del Corso C, Catania B, Caselli GM, et al. Assessment of physical activity, capacity and nutritional status in elderly peritoneal dialysis patients. *BMC Nephrol.* (2017) 18:180. doi: 10.1186/s12882-017-0593-7
- Malgorzewicz S, Chmielewski M, Kaczkan M, Borek P, Lichodziejewska-Niemierko M, Rutkowski B. Nutritional predictors of mortality in prevalent peritoneal dialysis patients. *Acta Biochim Pol.* (2016) 63:111– 5. doi: 10.18388/abp.2015_1070
- Calle EE, Thun MJ, Petrelli JM, Rodriguez C, Heath CW Jr. Body-mass index and mortality in a prospective cohort of U.S. adults. N Engl J Med. (1999) 341:1097–105. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199910073411501
- Kalantar-Zadeh K. Causes and consequences of the reverse epidemiology of body mass index in dialysis patients. J Renal Nutr. (2005) 15:142– 7. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2004.09.020
- Johansen KL, Young B, Kaysen GA, Chertow GM. Association of body size with outcomes among patients beginning dialysis. Am J Clin Nutr. (2004) 80:324–32. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.2.324
- Lajous M, Banack HR, Kaufman JS, Hernan MA. Should patients with chronic disease be told to gain weight? The obesity paradox and selection bias. *Am J Med.* (2015) 128:334–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.10.043
- Imam TH, Coleman KJ. Obesity and mortality in end-stage renal disease. Is it time to reverse the "reverse epidemiology" -at least in peritoneal dialysis? J Ren Nutr. (2019) 29:269–75. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2018.09.005
- Burkart J. Metabolic consequences of peritoneal dialysis. Semin Dial. (2004) 17:498–504. doi: 10.1111/j.0894-0959.2004.17610.x
- 10. Jaar BG, Plantinga LC, Crews DC, Fink NE, Hebah N, Coresh J, et al. Timing, causes, predictors and prognosis of switching from peritoneal

(Dr. A. C. Johansson); Hallands Hospital Halmstad, Halmstad (Dr. K. H. Gydell); Kungsholmsdialysen, Stockholm (Dr. O. Heimbürger); Danderyds Hospital, Stockholm (Dr. G. F. Germanis); Karolinska University Hospital Solna, Stockholm (Dr. B. Hylander); Sunderby Sjukhus, Luleå (Dr. M. Isaksson); and Mälarsjukhuset Eskilstuna, Eskilstuna (Dr. K. C. Gröntoft). Switzerland: Luzern Kantonspital, Luzern (Dr. A. Fischer). Turkey: Akdeniz Üniversitesi Tip Fakültesi Nefroloji klinigi, Antalya (Prof. F. Fevzi Ersoy). UK: Western Infirmary Glasgow, Glasgow (Dr. M Gorrie) and Barts and The London NHS Trust, London (Dr. S. Fan). Venezuela: FME Zulia, Maracaibo (D. Nava); FME Maracay, Turmero (I. Martínez); Instituto Docente de Urologia, Valencia (A. Román); Cenesuca, Cumana (F. Velásquez); FME Puerto de la Cruz, Puerto la Cruz (Dr. A. Gonzalez); FME El Tigre, El tigre (Dr. M. Alvarez); FME Caracas, Caracas (J. M. González); FME Charallave, Charallave (M. C. Navas); and FME Maturin, Maturin (Dr. D. Rodríguez). We are also grateful to Fresenius Medical Care colleagues in all participating countries for their valuable support. Statistical analysis was performed by Carola Hiller at Datamap GmbH, Freiburg, Germany.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.737165/full#supplementary-material

dialysis to hemodialysis: a prospective study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2009) 10:3. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-10-3

- Lee JH, Park SH, Lim JH, Park YJ, Kim SU, Lee KH, et al. Impact of dialysis modality on technique survival in end-stage renal disease patients. *Korean J Intern Med.* (2016) 31:106–15. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2016.31.1.106
- Parthasarathy R, Oei E, Fan SL. Clinical value of body composition monitor to evaluate lean and fat tissue mass in peritoneal dialysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 73:1520–8. doi: 10.1038/s41430-019-0391-3
- Ronco C, Verger C, Crepaldi C, Pham J, De Los Rios T, Gauly A, et al. Baseline hydration status in incident peritoneal dialysis patients: the initiative of patient outcomes in dialysis (IPOD-PD study). *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2015) 30:849–58. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv013
- Van Biesen W, Verger C, Heaf J, Vrtovsnik F, Britto ZML, Do JY, et al. Evolution over time of volume status and PD-related practice patterns in an incident peritoneal dialysis cohort. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2019) 14:882– 93. doi: 10.2215/CJN.11590918
- Moissl UM, Wabel P, Chamney PW, Bosaeus I, Levin NW, Bosy-Westphal A, et al. Body fluid volume determination via body composition spectroscopy in health and disease. *Physiol Meas.* (2006) 27:921–33. doi: 10.1088/0967-3334/27/9/012
- Chamney PW, Wabel P, Moissl UM, Muller MJ, Bosy-Westphal A, Korth O, et al. A whole-body model to distinguish excess fluid from the hydration of major body tissues. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 85:80–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/85.1.80
- Wabel P, Moissl U, Chamney P, Jirka T, Machek P, Ponce P, et al. Towards improved cardiovascular management: the necessity of combining blood pressure and fluid overload. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2008) 23:2965– 71. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn228
- Fine JP, Gray RJ. A proportional hazards model for the subdistribution of a competing risk. J Am Stat Assoc. (1999) 94:496–509. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1999.10474144
- Wolfson M, Strong C. Assessment of nutritional status in dialysis patients. Adv Ren Replace Ther. (1996) 3:174–9. doi: 10.1016/S1073-4449(96)80058-6

- Castellano S, Palomares I, Moissl U, Chamney P, Carretero D, Crespo A, et al. Risk identification in haemodialysis patients by appropriate body composition assessment. *Nefrologia*. (2016) 36:268–74. doi: 10.1016/j.nefro.2016.01.007
- Popovic V, Zerahn B, Heaf JG. Comparison of dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and bioimpedance in assessing body composition and nutrition in peritoneal dialysis patients. J Ren Nutr. (2017) 27:355– 63. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2017.03.003
- 22. Caron-Lienert RS, Poli-De-Figueiredo CE, Figueiredo A, Da Costa BEP, Crepaldi C, Pizzato AC, et al. The influence of glucose exposure load and peritoneal membrane transport on body composition and nutritional status changes after 1 year on peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:458– 63. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00265
- Paudel K, Visser A, Burke S, Samad N, Fan SL. Can bioimpedance measurements of lean and fat tissue mass replace subjective global assessments in peritoneal dialysis patients? J Ren Nutr. (2015) 25:480– 7. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2015.05.003
- Henriques VT, Martinez EZ, Divino-Filho JC, Pecoits-Filho R, Da Costa JA. Increase in BMI over time is associated with fluid overload and signs of wasting in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. J Ren Nutr. (2013) 23:e51– 7. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2012.08.008
- Pellicano R, Strauss BJ, Polkinghorne KR, Kerr PG. Longitudinal body composition changes due to dialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:1668– 75. doi: 10.2215/CJN.06790810
- Demirci MS, Demirci C, Ozdogan O, Kircelli F, Akcicek F, Basci A, et al. Relations between malnutrition-inflammation-atherosclerosis and volume status. The usefulness of bioimpedance analysis in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2011) 26:1708–16. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq588
- Yeun JY, Kaysen GA. Acute phase proteins and peritoneal dialysate albumin loss are the main determinants of serum albumin in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1997) 30:923–7. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(97)90105-0
- Kim H, Choi GH, Shim KE, Lee JH, Heo NJ, Joo W, et al. Changes in bioimpedance analysis components before and after hemodialysis. *Kidney Res Clin Pract.* (2018) 37:393–403. doi: 10.23876/j.krcp.18.0035
- Jones CH, Newstead CG, Will EJ, Smye SW, Davison AM. Assessment of nutritional status in CAPD patients: serum albumin is not a useful measure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (1997) 12:1406–13. doi: 10.1093/ndt/12.7.1406
- Stankovic-Popovic V, Nesic V, Popovic D, Maksic D, Colic M, Vasilijic S, et al. Effects of conventional versus biocompatible peritoneal dialysis solutions on peritoneal and systemic inflammation, malnutrition and atherosclerosis in CAPD patients. *Clin Nephrol.* (2011) 76:314–22. doi: 10.5414/CN106991
- Fan S, Davenport A. Does increased glucose exposure lead to increased body fat and reduced lean body mass in anuric peritoneal dialysis patients? *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 68:1253–4. doi: 10.1038/ejcn. 2014.119
- 32. Babazono T, Nakamoto H, Kasai K, Kuriyama S, Sugimoto T, Nakayama M, et al. Effects of icodextrin on glycemic and lipid profiles in diabetic patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Am J Nephrol.* (2007) 27:409–15. doi: 10.1159/000105123
- Li Z, Fengxian H. Glucose concentration in the dialysate does not contribute to lipid profiles in patients undergoing CAPD. *Ren Fail.* (2011) 33:124–30. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2010. 541580

- Law S, Davenport A. The effect of glucose absorption from peritoneal dialysates on changes in lipid profiles in prevalent peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2021) 41:115–7. doi: 10.1177/0896860820903655
- 35. Leavey SF, Mccullough K, Hecking E, Goodkin D, Port FK, Young EW. Body mass index and mortality in 'healthier' as compared with 'sicker' haemodialysis patients: results from the dialysis outcomes and practice patterns study (DOPPS). *Nephrol Dialysis Transplant*. (2001) 16:2386– 94. doi: 10.1093/ndt/16.12.2386
- Hassan K. Does whey protein supplementation improve the nutritional status in hypoalbuminemic peritoneal dialysis patients? *Ther Apher Dial.* (2017) 21:485–92. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987.12552
- Kiebalo T, Holotka J, Habura I, Pawlaczyk K. Nutritional status in peritoneal dialysis: nutritional guidelines, adequacy and the management of malnutrition. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1715. doi: 10.3390/nu12061715
- Kim C, Kim JK, Lee HS, Kim SG, Song YR. Longitudinal changes in body composition are associated with all-cause mortality in patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:120–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.04.034
- Vrtovsnik F, Verger C, Van Biesen W, Fan S, Shin SK, Rodriguez C, et al. The impact of volume overload on technique failure in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Kidney J.* (2021) 14:570–577. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfz175
- Shu Y, Liu J, Zeng X, Hong HG, Li Y, Zhong H, et al. The effect of overhydration on mortality and technique failure among peritoneal dialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Blood Purif.* (2018) 46:350– 8. doi: 10.1159/000492148
- Htay H, Johnson DW, Wiggins KJ, Badve SV, Craig JC, Strippoli GF, et al. Biocompatible dialysis fluids for peritoneal dialysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2018) 10:CD007554. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007554.pub3

Conflict of Interest: TD, AG, and SA are full-time employees of Fresenius Medical Care. WV, FV, and JH received travel grants and speaker fees from Fresenius Medical Care and Baxter Healthcare. MV received grants from Fresenius Medical Care, Baxter, Amgen, and Vifor to attend conferences and scientific meetings. IP received travel grants from Fresenius Medical Care, Baxter Healthcare, Amgen, and Roche, as well as speakers' fees from Baxter Healthcare, Roche, and Amgen.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Verger, Ronco, Van Biesen, Heaf, Vrtovsnik, Vera Rivera, Puide, Azar, Gauly, Atiye and De los Ríos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Case Report: Synchronous Removal and Implantation of Peritoneal Dialysis Catheter Using Bilateral Transversus Abdominis Plane Block

Ante Jakšić¹, Božidar Vujičić^{2,3}, Diana Deša⁴, Antun Gršković^{1,3}, Ivan Vukelić¹, Josip Španjol^{1,3}, Sanjin Rački^{2,3} and Dean Markić^{1,3*}

¹ Department of Urology, University Hospital Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia, ² Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Kidney Transplantation, University Hospital Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia, ³ Faculty of Medicine, University of Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia, ⁴ Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, University Hospital Rijeka, Rijeka, Croatia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thyago Moraes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Matthias Zeiler, C. e G. Mazzoni Hospital, Italy Domingos Chula, Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Dean Markić dean.markic@medri.uniri.hr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 04 December 2021 Accepted: 09 February 2022 Published: 01 March 2022

Citation:

Jakšić A, Vujičić B, Deša D, Gršković A, Vukelić I, Španjol J, Rački S and Markić D (2022) Case Report: Synchronous Removal and Implantation of Peritoneal Dialysis Catheter Using Bilateral Transversus Abdominis Plane Block. Front. Med. 9:828930. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.828930 **Background:** Peritoneal dialysis (PD) surgery include PD catheter insertion and removal. Both procedures require the use of anesthesia. The end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients usually have severe comorbidities. The general anesthesia, because of its negative systemic effect, should be omitted in this vulnerable group of the patients. Transversus abdominis plane (TAP) block as a newer method of regional anesthesia is a technique without systemic effect and recently started to be used in ESRD patients for PD catheter placement and/or removal. Here we report a patient in whom we for the first time simultaneously removed and implanted a PD catheter by using a bilateral transversus abdominis plane block.

Case Presentation: The patient was an 80-year-old man who was admitted for removal of malfunctioned PD catheter. Since the patient opted for staying on PD simultaneous implantation of catheter was planned. Because of his age and significant comorbidities, general anesthesia was avoided and bilateral TAP block become our option. In the same anesthesia, using bilateral TAP block, the old PD catheter was removed and a new one was implanted. Until now the patient is on regular PD without any complications.

Conclusion: The TAP block could be used as a primary anesthetic technique in ESRD patients for PD surgery even for synchronous removal and implantation of PD catheter.

Keywords: case-reports, end-stage renal disease, peritoneal dialysis catheter, regional anesthesia, transversus abdominis plane (TAP) block

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a method of renal replacement therapy (1). End-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients often have severe cardiovascular, respiratory, gastrointestinal, hematologic, and skeletal comorbidities resulting in significantly higher mortality rates among hemodialysis and PD patients (2).

PD catheter implantation and removal are surgical procedures that require adequate anesthesia. General anesthesia is commonly used anesthetic technique for the insertion and removal of a PD catheter. However, general anesthesia can have significant adverse effects on the cardiovascular and

118

respiratory systems and newer anesthesia techniques could be used for this purpose. One of these methods is transversus abdominis plane (TAP) block as a part of a regional anesthesia technique. It is a peripheral nerve block targeting nerves situated in the fascial layer between the transversus abdominis and internal oblique muscles (3). Application of local anesthetic in this plane caused anesthesia of the anterolateral abdominal wall which is used for insertion and/or removal of PD catheter. Regional anesthesia has negligible systemic effects, and recently the use of the TAP block was described in PD catheter procedures (4–9). Herein, for the first time, we report a synchronous removal and insertion of PD catheter using TAP block.

CASE REPORT

An 80-year-old patient with ESRD was admitted to our department for synchronous removal and implantation of a PD catheter. The body weight of the patient was 98 kg, height 185 cm and his BMI was 28.6 kg/m². The patient had a long history of arterial hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, mitral and tricuspid regurgitation with secondary cardiomyopathy. In 2017 a PD catheter using TAP block, as the primary anesthetic procedure, was inserted.

However, 3 years later, the patient developed bacterial peritonitis caused by Streptococcus species, which was successfully treated with a first-generation cephalosporin for 14 days. The development of bacterial peritonitis caused the malfunction of the PD catheter (inflow obstruction) with inadequate dialysis exchange. The patient was informed about the possibility of other therapeutic options and opted to continue treatment with PD. The patient was preoperatively assessed by anesthesiologist and his functional capacity using metabolic equivalent of task (MET) was defined as poor (below 4) because his main activity includes only eating, dressing, toileting, walking indoors, and light housework. He was unable to walk 2 blocks on level ground without stopping due to symptoms. Since he has significant comorbidities his physical status was classified using American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System (ASA) as ASA III (patient with severe systemic disease). Considering the patient's comorbidities, general condition, age, and possible complications of general anesthesia, we decided to perform synchronous removal and placement of the PD catheter under regional anesthesia.

The transversus abdominis field was identified and approached with a combined ultrasound-guided subcostal and posterior approach, as we previously described (5). Briefly, after identification of the correct plane, 30 ml of 0.25% levobupivacaine hydrochloride per side was injected between the transversus abdominis muscle and the internal oblique muscle under the ultrasound guidance (**Figures 1**, **2**). We tested the adequacy of the TAP block with the cold sensation test and pinprick test. About 30 mins after injecting the anesthetic, excision of the skin scar from the previous implantation on the right side of the abdomen was performed, the PD catheter was found and removed. Then vertical paramedian infraumbilical incision (minilaparotomy) was made on the left side and a



FIGURE 1 | Ultrasound image showing all three muscles of the abdominal wall: (A) external oblique, (B) internal oblique and (C) transversus abdominis muscle.



between the internal oblique and transversus abdominis muscles (transversus abdominis plane) with the injection of local anesthetic into the target area.

straight, 42 cm long Tenckhoff catheter with double-cuff was implanted. During surgery, the patient received sufentanil (10 μ g) and midazolam 3 mg for better analgesic/sedative effect. In addition, 10 ml of 1% xylocaine was administrated subcutaneously on both sides during surgery for better analgesia. The operative time, measured from a skin incision on the right side to skin closure on the left side, was 40 mins. The patient classified surgery procedure complete painless and felt just little discomfort after surgery without need for painkillers.

On the first postoperative day, we started automated PD and after 1 month we continued with the continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis, which is still used today.

DISCUSSION

Regional anesthesia become popular in many fields of medicine because of its good anesthetic effect with negligible systemic effect. Primary, TAP block was used for control of postoperative pain after abdominal surgeries as adjunct to the general anesthesia (10–12). In very isolated cases this procedure was used as the primary anesthetic technique in the elderly patients with significant comorbidities which has increased risk for general anesthesia (13). Recently, the use of TAP block, as a primary anesthetic technique, for PD catheter surgery was a next step in the implementation of this procedure in medical practice.

The first author to describe the successful TAP block procedure for PD catheter placement was Varadarajan in 60/73 (82%) patient (4). In this study, two regional anesthetic techniques were used, TAP block and rectus sheath block (4). However, our group described the successful use of a unilateral TAP block as the sole anesthetic technique in 55/60 (91.7%) adult patients for PD catheter insertion (7). Other studies have also described the successful implantation of PD catheter using TAP block (6, 8). Chatterjee et al. report a success rate for PD catheter implantation of 94.2% (6).

Yamamoto et al. (9) were the first to describe their experience with PD catheter removal using TAP block in three patients. Our previous study showed successful use of TAP block for PD catheter removal in 13/14 patients (92.9%), with only one patient requiring general anesthesia (7). There are several reports on the use of bilateral TAP block instead of general anesthesia in high-risk patients with multiple comorbidities, but none for PD catheter surgery (13, 14).

Local anesthesia (LA) is another frequently used technique for PD catheter placement. LA could be combined with intravenous sedation for better efficacy (15). However, the local infiltration of an anesthetic can cause edema and bleeding at the incision site, which disturbs the surgical field. For most patients, especially obese ones, local infiltration of anesthetic must be repeated. These repeated injections can induce fear and anxiety in patients (5).

Some concerns could be made because of use of total amount of 60 ml of 0.25% levobupivacaine (75 mg per side, total dose of 150 mg) and 20 ml of 1% xylocaine (total dose of 200 mg). Since TAP block was bilateral the dosage of applied anesthetic was higher than usually but still in the safety zone. The maximal recommended dose for levobupivacaine is 2 mg/kg or 200 mg (we used total of 150 mg) (16). For the lidocaine maximal recommended dose is 5 mg/kg or 350 mg (200 mg in our patient) (17). So, administered anesthetic dosage was in the safety zone and potential negative systemic effects are not expected.

In this patient we added local anesthesia for better analgesia because of two incisions more than usually. We have two main incisions (right paramedian incision for the extraction and left paramedian incision for the implantation pf the PD catheter) and two minor lateral incisions (for the exit site of the extracted PD catheter—right side and implanted PD catheter-left side). Usually, when we made unilateral implantation or removal of PD catheter the local anesthetic was not needed. Only, in very rare circumstances, when the patient's report pain or discomfort we added local anesthetic. In this case because the surgery was a more extensive than usually, we decide to added local anesthetic. A total dose of used lidocaine for one side was lower (10 ml) compared to 20–40 ml when PD catheter is implanted using local anesthesia with sedation (15, 18). For better analgosedation, we used fentanyl in a low dose and midazolam which was enough for our procedure.

Based on our previous experience with regional anesthesia, we used a bilateral combined (posterior + lateral) TAP block as the primary anesthetic technique. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first case describing the use of a bilateral combined TAP block during surgery for synchronous removal and PD catheter implantation.

CONCLUSION

The use of newer anesthetic techniques may provide a safer alternative to general anesthesia for PD surgery. The TAP block could be used as primary anesthetic technique in ESRD patients for synchronous removal and implantation of PD catheter.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DM, AJ, DD, BV, IV, JŠ, SR, and AG researched literature and planned treatment protocol. AG, IV, DM, AJ, and DD were involved in operative treatment. DM, BV, SR, and JŠ were involved in postoperative follow-up. DM and BV obtained informed consent. AJ wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors reviewed and edited the manuscript, and approved the final version.

- National Kidney Foundation. Kidney Disease Quality Outcomes Initiative (K/DOQI). (2021). Available online at: http://www.kidney.org/professionals/ kdoqi/guidelines.cfm (accessed November 18, 2021).
- Goodkin DA, Bragg-Gresham JL, Koenig KG, Wolfe RA, Akiba T, Andreucci VE, et al. Association of comorbid conditions and mortality in hemodialysis patients in Europe, Japan, and the Unites States: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). J Am Soc Nephrol. (2003) 14:3270– 7. doi: 10.1097/01.asn.0000100127.54107.57
- 3. Webster K. The transversus abdominis plane (TAP) block: abdominal plane regional anesthesia. *Anesthesia*. (2008) 24:24–9.
- Varadarajan Y, Balasubramaniyam R. Ultrasound guided rectus sheath and transversus abdominis plane block (TAP) for continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) catheterization—our experience. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2012) 27:ii464A.
- Markić D, Vujičić B, Ivanovski M, Krpina K, Gršković A, Živčić-Cosić S, et al. Peritoneal dialysis catheter placement using an ultrasoundguided transversus abdominis plane block. *Blood Purif.* (2015) 39:274– 80. doi: 10.1159/000381005
- Chatterjee S, Bain J, Christopher S, Gopal TV, Raju KP, Mathur P. Role of regional anesthesia for placement of peritoneal dialysis catheter under ultrasound guidance: our experience with 52 end-stage renal disease patients. *Saudi J Anaest.* (2015) 9:132–5. doi: 10.4103/1658-354X.152838
- Markić D, Vujičić B, Ivanovski M, Krpina K, Gršković A, Rahelić D, et al. Peritoneal dialysis catheter surgery using transversus abdominis plane block. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:429–33. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00198
- Hecquet E, Bonamy C, Levesque C, Bechade C, Ficheux M, Lobbedez T. Peritoneal dialysis catheter insertion under TAP block procedure: a pilot study. *Nephrol Ther.* (2015) 11:164–8. doi: 10.1016/j.nephro.2015.01.005
- Yamamoto H, Shido A, Sakura S, Saito Y. Monitored anesthesia care based on ultrasound-guided subcostal transversus abdominis plane block for continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis catheter surgery: case series. J Anesth. (2016) 30:156–60. doi: 10.1007/s00540-015-2074-0
- McDonnell JG, Curley G, Carney J, Benton A, Costello J, Maharaj CH, et al. The analgesic efficacy of transversus abdominis plane block after cesarean delivery: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesth Analg.* (2008) 106:186– 91. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000290294.64090.f3
- McDonnell JG, O'Donnell B, Curley G, Heffernan A, Power C, Laffey JG. The analgesic efficacy of transversus abdominis plane block after abdominal surgery: a prospective randomized controlled trial. *Anesth Analg.* (2007) 104:193–7. doi: 10.1213/01.ane.0000250223.49963.0f

- Freir NM, Murphy C, Mugawar M, Linnane A, Cunningham AJ. Transversus abdominis plane block for analgesia in renal transplantation: a randomized controlled trial. *Anesth Analg.* (2012) 115:953–7. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e3182642117
- Vuong JT, McQuillan PM, Messaris E, Adhikary SD. Transversus abdominis plane block as the primary anesthetic for laparotomy. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. (2014) 30:419–21. doi: 10.4103/0970-9185.137284
- Mishra L, Pani N, Mishra D, Patel N. Bilateral transversus abdominis plane block as a sole anesthetic technique in emergency surgery for perforated peritonitis in a high risk patient. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. (2013) 29:540–2. doi: 10.4103/0970-9185.11 9140
- Jabbour E, Fütterer C, Zach S, Kälsch AI, Keese M, Rahbari NN, et al. Implantation of a peritoneal dialysis catheter in patients with ESRD using local anesthesia and remifentanil. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0259351. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259351
- Cox B, Durieux ME, Marcus MA. Toxicity of local anaesthetics. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol. (2003) 17:111–36. doi: 10.1053/bean.2003.0275
- 17. El-Boghdadly K, Pawa A, Chin KJ. Local anesthetic systemic toxicity: current perspectives. *Local Reg Anesth.* (2018) 11:35–44. doi: 10.2147/LRA.S154512
- Henderson S, Brown E, Levy J. Safety and efficacy of percutaneous insertion of peritoneal dialysis catheters under sedation and local anaesthetic. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2009) 24:3499–504. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp312

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jakšić, Vujičić, Deša, Gršković, Vukelić, Španjol, Rački and Markić. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Aging of the Peritoneal Dialysis Membrane

Raymond T. Krediet*

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Long-term peritoneal dialysis as currently performed, causes structural and functional alterations of the peritoneal dialysis membrane. This decay is brought about by the continuous exposure to commercially available glucose-based dialysis solutions. This review summarizes our knowledge on the peritoneum in the initial phase of PD, during the first 2 years and the alterations in function and morphology in long-term PD patients. The pseudohypoxia hypothesis is discussed and how this glucose-induced condition can be used to explain all peritoneal alterations in long-term PD patients. Special attention is paid to the upregulation of hypoxia inducing factor-1 and the subsequent stimulation of the genes coding for glucose transporter-1 (GLUT-1) and the growth factors transforming growth factor- β (TGF β), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), plasminogen growth factor activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF). It is argued that increased pseudohypoxia-induced expression of GLUT-1 in interstitial fibroblasts is the key factor in a vicious circle that augments ultrafiltration failure. The practical use of the protein transcripts of the upregulated growth factors in peritoneal dialysis effluent is considered. The available and developing options for prevention and treatment are examined. It is concluded that low glucose degradation products/neutral pH, bicarbonate buffered solutions with a combination of various osmotic agents all in low concentration, are currently the best achievable options, while other accompanying measures like the use of RAAS inhibitors and tamoxifen may be valuable. Emerging developments include the addition of alanyl glutamine to the dialysis solution and perhaps the use of nicotinamide mononucleotide, available as nutritional supplement.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Stefan Rudloff, University of Bern, Switzerland Yingfeng Shi, Tongji University, China

*Correspondence:

Raymond T. Krediet r.t.krediet@amsterdamumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Renal and Epithelial Physiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 28 February 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 22 April 2022

Citation:

Krediet RT (2022) Aging of the Peritoneal Dialysis Membrane. Front. Physiol. 13:885802. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.885802 Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, ultrafiltration failure, glucose, pseudohypoxia, GLUT-1, growth factors, osmotic agents

INTRODUCTION

The use of the peritoneum as a dialysis membrane in patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) for the removal of solutes and fluid excess implies that the feasibility of this mode of chronic renal replacement therapy is dependent on one single membrane. Anything used intensively will decay in the long-term and the peritoneum of patients treated with peritoneal dialysis (PD) is no exception. It is however likely that the decline rate can be retarded by appropriate modifications of the PD treatment. In this review the morphological alterations and their likely causes will be discussed and their impact on peritoneal transport. Special attention will be given to glucose-induced pseudohypoxia and its effects on various growth factors and glucose-transporter-1 expression. The effects of prophylaxis and treatment, especially by adjustments of the dialysis solutions will also be examined.

THE PERITONEUM IN THE INITIAL PHASE OF PD

The peritoneal membrane is not a single structure, but comprises the mesothelial layer and the submesothelial interstitial layer, in which blood and lymphatic vessels are dispersed. The interstitium is composed of a ground substance consisting of hyaluronan and glycosaminoglycans, and a fibrous collagen network that constitutes a scaffold for the embedded structures. Adipose cells and a few fibroblasts are the predominant cell types. The mesothelial layer offers no hindrance to peritoneal transport (Flessner, 1994), meaning that the volume of distribution of the instilled dialysis fluid includes both the peritoneal cavity the interstitium. Consequently peritoneal and the microcirculatory blood vessels are the determinants of peritoneal solute and fluid transport from the circulation to the dialysate-filled peritoneal cavity. Transport across the microvascular wall occurs through a system of pores (Pappenheimer et al., 1951). According to the generally accepted 3-pore theory solute transfer during PD occurs through inter-endothelial pores, but additionally water is also transported by the intra-endothelial water channel aquaporin-1 (AQP-1) (Rippe and Stelin, 1989; Rippe, 1993). Small interendothelial pores with a radius of about 40 Å constitute 90% of the total number of pores and allow the transport of small solutes that all have radii < 3 Å and low molecular weight proteins like \beta_2-microglobulin. Small clefts between endothelial cells are the most probable morphological equivalent of the small pores. Transport through these is by diffusion to the dialysate-filled interstitium. The contribution of convection is small for low molecular weight solutes, due to the low hydrostatic pressure gradient and the high diffusion rates of these solutes. The low hydrostatic pressure gradient does however induce a small amount of fluid transport, similar to trans-capillary ultrafiltration in the non-PD situation. In addition to the abundance of small pores, a limited quantity of large interendothelial pores is located in the venular part of the microcirculation. Their radii exceed 150 Å and they allow the passage of large molecules like serum proteins. As water removal from the circulation by hydrostatic filtration is limited and counteracted by back-filtration into the circulation by colloid osmosis, PD as kidney replacement therapy is only possible by the creation of a crystalloid osmotic pressure gradient. This is usually achieved by the addition of large quantities of glucose (molecular weight 180 Da, radius < 3 Å) to the dialysis solution. The small size of the glucose molecule implies that it is not very efficient as an osmotic agent, because after 4 h about 60% is reabsorbed into the circulation (Smit et al., 2003). Consequently any efficacy for fluid transport through the small pores is only present during the first few hours of a dialysis dwell (Parikova et al., 2008). The presence of the water channel AQP-1 in peritoneal capillaries and venules explains the water removal by glucose, because only water can traverse this water channel. The radius of AQP-1 is too small to enable the passage of solutes, meaning that it allows free water transport by a very efficient crystalloid osmotic gradient, irrespective of the osmole employed (Ni et al., 2006).

Already at the start of PD the inter-individual variation of peritoneal transport parameters is very large (Twardowski et al., 1987). This may partly be related to differences in the genotype of various factors or structures involved in peritoneal transport. For instance the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 (IL-6) is locally produced in the peritoneal cavity during PD and has a number of polymorphisms. It appeared that the CC genotype had the highest expression in peritoneal effluent and also the highest concentration of the protein, which was associated with a faster solute transport compared to the other genotypes (Gillerot et al., 2005). However follow-up to 36 months failed to show any influence of IL-6 polymorphisms on peritoneal transport (Lee et al., 2011), suggesting that local PD-related effects become more important with PD duration.

THE PERITONEAL MEMBRANE IN THE FIRST TWO YEARS OF PD

Alterations in peritoneal morphology and transport occur already during the first few years of PD. After 3 months advanced glycosylation end-products (AGEs) -formed from nonenzymatic interactions between glucose and amino acid residues and leading to irreversible cross linking of tissue proteins-can be found in the mesothelial and submesothelial layer (Yamada et al., 1994). Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells (mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition, MMT) is the earliest morphological change. This phenomenon has first been described in 2003 and consists of a transition of the usual epithelial phenotype to a mesenchymal one with loss of cytokeratin expression. MMT in peritoneal biopsies is characterized by the presence of cytokeratinpositive fibroblasts-like cells in the submesothelial interstitial tissue (Yáñez-Mó et al., 2003). The prevalence of MMT is highest between 1.5 and 2 years, when it is present in about one third of patients (Del Peso et al., 2008) The cytokeratinpositive fibroblasts produce large amounts of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Aroeira et al., 2005). MMT is accompanied by high effluent concentrations of the mesothelial cell marker cancer antigen 125 (CA125) and by high small solute transfer rates. It may explain the relationship between the creatinine transport rate and both effluent CA125 and VEGF in incident PD patients who never had peritonitis, during the first year of treatment (van Esch et al., 2004).

MMT occurs during the first 2 years of PD and has been claimed to predict long-term peritoneal membrane alterations, but this is only a hypothesis in the absence of follow-up biopsies.

Vascular density in the interstitium is not different from that before the start of PD, but the wall/total surface ratio of small arteries is somewhat increased compared to non-dialyzed patients with end-stage kidney failure (Mateijsen et al., 1999). This has been called vasculopathy and was present in a mild form in 20–30% of patients during the first 2 years (Williams et al., 2002; Del Peso et al., 2008). About 40% of peritoneal capillaries was of the immature type, i.e., stained negative for α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) (Nakano et al., 2020).

Longitudinal follow-up of peritoneal transport either showed no effect on peritoneal solute transport and ultrafiltration (Selgas et al., 1994; Coester et al., 2014), or some increase of the dialysate/ plasma (D/P) ratio of creatinine accompanied by a decrease in ultrafiltration, due to a faster disappearance of the glucoseinduced osmotic gradient (Davies, 2004). Accordingly an inverse relationship was present between D/P creatinine and ultrafiltration volume during the first years on PD (Davies et al., 1993). Three possibilities could explain the reported high solute transfer rate. These include 1) the CC genotype of interleukin-6, 2) a high production of VEGF during MMT, or 3) the number of newly formed immature capillaries, because of the

reported relationship with D/P creatinine (Nakano et al., 2020).

ALTERATIONS IN PERITONEAL MORPHOLOGY AND FUNCTION IN LONG-TERM PD

All constituents of the peritoneal dialysis membrane are affected by PD duration. Although no longitudinal studies on the development of the alterations have been published in adult PD patients treated with conventional PD solutions, a general picture can be discerned from the cross-sectional analyses, as reviewed recently (Parikova et al., 2021). Lesions that progress with PD duration include accumulation of AGEs in the subendothelial and perivascular regions. This is accompanied by loss of mesothelial cells, vasculopathy leading to subendothelial hyalinosis and narrowing of vascular lumina or even obstruction, and by an increased thickness of the submesothelial fibrous layer or even more general interstitial fibrosis of the stroma. The interstitial fibrosis consists of myofibroblasts. Vascular density is only increased in the presence of severe interstitial alterations (Mateijsen et al., 1999; Williams et al., 2002).

All longitudinal studies showed a progressive increase of peritoneal small solute transfer after 2 years (Selgas et al., 1994; Davies, 2004; Coester et al., 2014). This was accompanied by a lower ultrafiltration, which was directly related to solute transport up to 4 years of treatment. Thereafter a dissociation occurred between both parameters: ultrafiltration was markedly lower, than predicted from D/P creatinine (Davies, 2004). Analysis of ultrafiltration at 60 min after instillation of a 3.86% glucose dialysis solution showed a decrease of both small-pore fluid transport and free water transport after 4 years (Coester et al., 2014). The lower rate of small-pore fluid transport suggests a reduction of the hydrostatic pressure gradient. AGE-induced vasculopathy is the most likely cause, because the presence of a luminal stenosis likely diminishes the post-stenotic filtration pressure (Krediet, 2018; Krediet et al., 2019). Free water transport after 4 years reached its lowest values in patients who developed encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (EPS) (Sampimon et al., 2011) and a value of less than 75 ml after a 60 min dwell was even predictive of EPS with a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 81% (Barreto et al., 2019).

All EPS patients had a normal expression of AQP-1 (Morelle et al., 2015). Therefore peritoneal interstitial fibrosis may be

important in the observed reduction of free water transport with PD duration (Krediet et al., 2015). Two recent studies are supportive of this hypothesis. Kinetic modelling of peritoneal transport was used in a limited number of PD patients with ultrafiltration failure in the first study. The results suggested that the disappearance of glucose from the dialysate consisted of a vascular- and an interstitial component (Stachowska-Pietka et al., 2019). The tissue diffusivity of glucose appeared higher in the patients with ultrafiltration failure, than in those without this complication. This tissue diffusivity was modelled, not measured, meaning that other mechanisms like uptake in interstitial cells, cannot be excluded The second study comprised longitudinal follow-up of a large patient group treated with conventional PD solutions. A break-point in the time-course of the mass transfer area coefficient of creatinine was present after 3 years. This was also present for the percentage of the instilled glucose quantity, that had disappeared from the dialysate. (Van Diepen et al., 2020). However the slope of the increase after the breakpoint was much steeper for glucose than for creatinine. These two studies point to a contribution of interstitial fibrosis to the enhanced disappearance of glucose from the dialysis solution reducing the crystalloid osmotic gradient for AQP-1 and thereby inducing less free water transport.

A glucose molecule is too large to enter a cell by simple diffusion, but requires the presence of specific proteins in the cell membrane, known as glucose transporters. Two types can be distinguished: those that facilitate diffusion (GLUTs) and sodium glucose linked transporters (SGLTs), in which cellular glucose uptake is coupled to that of sodium (Navale and Paranjape, 2016). GLUT-1 is present on the plasma membrane of many cell types including murine fibroblasts (Ortiz and Haspel, 1993) and is especially upregulated when a high cellular influx of glucose is required, for instance during hypoxia (Airley et al., 2001). It can be hypothesized that expression of GLUT-1 by peritoneal interstitial myofibroblasts, the density of which increases in long-term PD, explains the high tissue apparent diffusivity of glucose causing its enhanced disappearance from the peritoneal cavity. Both will lead to a reduction of the crystalloid osmotic gradient for AQP-1 (Krediet, 2021). This is illustrated in Figure 1.

THE PSEUDOHYPOXIA HYPOTHESIS

Twenty years ago I suggested that glucose exposure causes a status of peritoneal tissues called pseudohypoxia analogous to the pathogenesis of diabetic complications (Krediet et al., 2002). Pseudohypoxia in diabetes mellitus has been described as a consequence of hyperglycemia (Williamson et al., 1993). An impaired oxidation of cellular nicotinamide dinucleotide (NADH) to NAD⁺ causes an increase in the NADH/NAD⁺ ratio, which is characteristic of hypoxia caused by a lack of oxygen, because this blunts NADH oxidation. The consequences in diabetics include increased superoxide anion production and possibly nitric oxide formation. Pseudohypoxia in diabetes mellitus develops, because hyperglycemia increases the influx of glucose into cells, where it is subsequently metabolized in the glycolysis to pyruvate. NAD⁺ is converted



to NADH during this breakdown of glucose. Pyruvate is taken-up in the mitochondria were it contributes to the formation of acetylCoA. This product is part of the Krebs circle, which participates in the respiratory chain. This oxidation requires the donation of electrons for which NADH is one of the sources, leading to NAD⁺ regain. In case of hypoxia the conversion of NADH to NAD⁺ can to some extent be accomplished by lactate dehydrogenase, which converts pyruvate to lactate. NAD⁺ is regained during this reaction. In case of a severe hyperglycemia, intracellular glucose is also metabolized in the sorbitol pathway. The formed sorbitol is subsequently metabolized to fructose. During the latter reaction NAD⁺ is converted to NADH. In consequence the NADH/NAD⁺ increases both in the glycolysis and the sorbitol pathway, but in contrast to the glycolysis the formed NADH cannot be oxidized to NAD⁺ in the sorbitol pathway. The resulting high cytosolic NADH/NAD⁺ ratio is very similar to the situation in hypoxia or ischemia and is therefore known as pseudohypoxia.

Non-diabetic PD patients have normal plasma glucose concentrations, but those in peritoneal dialysate exceed even severe hyperglycemic levels by far. Furthermore, some compensatory mechanisms for the oxidation of NADH to NAD^+ may be impaired. For instance, mitochondrial



dysfunction can occur in patients with kidney failure (Galvan et al., 2017). Also the use of high lactate concentrations as buffer substance in dialysis solutions may inhibit the lactate dehydrogenase activity, because extracellular lactate can traverse the cell membrane, leading to high cytosolic lactate concentrations (Halestrap and Wilson, 2012). A comparison between lactate–buffered and bicarbonate-buffered dialysis solutions aimed to compare the degree of pseudohypoxia, has never been published. The pathways for intracellular glucose metabolism in PD patients are illustrated in **Figure 2**.

Strong evidence for the presence of peritoneal pseudohypoxia in long-term PD patients has been published by the group of Devuyst et al. The authors reported on the expression of the genes for nitric oxide synthase and VEGF in peritoneal tissue of patients (Combet et al., 2000). The expression of both increased with PD duration (Pseudo)hypoxia enhances these compensatory vasodilating mechanisms, as has been shown for VEGF (Ferrara, 1995), which is not only produced during MMT of mesothelial cells, but local production of the effluent VEGF protein has also been shown in a cross-sectional analysis in prevalent PD patients (Zweers et al., 1999). Furthermore, an increase of effluent VEGF has been shown during longitudinal follow-up (Zweers et al., 2001). These results are all in agreement with peritoneal hypoxia in PD patients.

Hypoxia characterized by a high NADH/NAD⁺ ratio, stimulates upregulation of the hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), which leads to upregulation of various factors, like EPO, GLUT-1, VEGF and various profibrotic and angiogenic factors (Darby and Hewitson, 2016). The latter include TGF β , plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF). Increased expression of GLUT-1 on peritoneal interstitial



myofibrobasts may cause a vicious circle, in which the cellular uptake of dialysate glucose is stimulated leading to more pseudohypoxia and thereby more stimulation of GLUT-1 expression, This induces a further augmentation of cellular glucose uptake and a reduction of the interstitial glucose gradient. A progressive decline in peritoneal ultrafiltration is the clinically relevant result (Krediet, 2021).

Stimulation of TGFB, PAI-1 and CTGF by glucose-induced pseudohypoxia occurs during peritoneal dialysis and is likely relevant for the development of the peritoneal alterations that occur in long-term PD patients (Krediet and Parikova, 2022). The upregulation of TGFB is probably most important in the development of interstitial fibrosis (Margetts et al., 2001). However the concentration of the TGF^β protein in peritoneal effluent does not reflect its biological function, because it is bound to α_2 -macroglobulin in the circulation (Zweers et al., 1999). Both PAI-1 and CTGF are downstream regulators of the TGFβ pathway. The dialysate concentrations of these pro-fibrotic proteins increase with the duration of peritoneal dialysis (Mizutani et al., 2010; Barreto et al., 2013). An effluent PAI-1 appearance rate exceeding 8.5 ng/ml had a sensitivity of 100% for a clinical diagnosis of EPS within 1 year and a specificity of 55% (Barreto et al., 2019).

It can therefore be concluded that extremely high glucose concentrations in peritoneal dialysis solutions have two effects. First they lead to the formation of AGEs, that are likely involved in the genesis of vasculopathy inducing a decline of small-pore fluid transport, and second they cause pseudohypoxia, which stimulates various genes that are involved in the peritoneal alterations that occur in long-term PD patients, of which the decline in free water transport and peritoneal fibrosis are most relevant. The severe ultrafiltration failure in long-term PD patients is explained by a combination of severely impaired small-pore fluid transport and free water transport, as illustrated in **Figure 3**.

PREVENTION AND TREATMENT

Reduction of peritoneal exposure to the excessively high glucose concentrations is the cornerstone of pseudohypoxia prevention in peritoneal tissues and its consequences for peritoneal morphology and transport. This can be accomplished by modifications of the dialysis solutions and possibly by drugs that inhibit the causative factors for the development of the morphological and functional alterations. Modifications of the dialysis solutions consist of changes of osmotic agents, combinations of osmotic agents, changes in the dialysate buffer and additives to the solutions Also when the consequences of pseudohypoxia are already present, treatment consists of the discussed preventive measures to avoid further progression.

Single Osmotic Agents

Single osmotic agents to replace glucose that are currently available include the high molecular weight icodextrin and amino-acids that have a molecular weight somewhat less than that of glucose. The glucose poymer icodextrin should be used once daily for the long-dwell period in patients with kidney failure to prevent excessive accumulation of its metabolite maltose in the circulation. With this regimen plasma maltose concentrations average 2–3 mmol/L. In the absence of residual kidney function cellular uptake of this disaccharide occurs followed by degradation to glucose. Compared to glucose-based dialysis solutions the amount of intracellular glucose is very small, meaning that no cellular pseudohypoxia will be induced.

The use of amino-acids increases the nitrogen load, so they can only be administered in low concentrations for once-or twice daily administration. The osmotic effect of the commercially available 1.1% amino-acid solution is similar to that of a 1.5% glucose-based dialysis solution. Dialysis solutions with osmotic agents that are currently not commercially available include glycerol, xylitol and carnitine. These will be discussed in the following sections.

Glycerol has a molecular weight half that of glucose. It has been used in the past, but its high absorption can lead to hyperosmolality in the absence of residual kidney function (Matthys et al., 1987).

Xylitol is a polyol, i.e., a combination of a sugar and alcohol that is mainly used as artificial sweetener, for instance in chewing gum. Its application as osmotic agent has first been described 1982 in five patients (Bazzato et al., 1982). An increase of plasma uric acid concentration was the most important side effect and may explain why it was never applied on a large scale. Furthermore, the absorbed xylitol is oxidized to D-xylulose. NAD⁺ is consumed in this reaction, which means that in theory it can contribute to pseudohypoxia.

About 10 years ago another Italien group reported on L-carnitine as osmotic agent (Bonomini et al., 2011). This quarternary ammonium salt is mainly synthesized in the liver from lysine and methionine. The biological function of carnitine is mainly to facilitate the transport of fatty acids from the cytosol to the mitochondria where they are metabolized in the Krebs circle, which leads to NADH consumption and NAD⁺ generation. This may explain why the addition of L-carnitine to a dialysis solution improved the viability of fibroblasts *in-vitro* (Bonomini et al., 2011). The same study comprised a pilot in 4 PD patients who were administered a dialysis solution with L-carnitine as osmotic agent. It appeared that concentrations that were equimolar to glucose induced more ultrafiltration. This was likely caused by upregulation of AQP-1.

Neutral pH, Low GDP Solutions

The so-called biocompatible dialysis solutions are all characterized by a low content of glucose degradation products and a neutral pH (L-GDP/N-pH solutions). They can be buffered with lactate, bicarbonate or combinations of both, but all contain glucose in similar concentrations as the conventional dialysis solutions. Therefore these solutions cannot be expected to have a pronounced effect on pseudohypoxia, although some modifying effect of the buffer substance may be possible. Morphologic studies comparing L-GDP/N-pH solutions with conventional ones showed indeed no effect on MMT (Del Peso et al., 2008), but some effects were present on pH related abnormalities and those induced by AGEs. The former include better mesothelial preservation, the latter consist of a reduced deposition of AGEs and less severe vasculopathy (Parikova et al., 2021). This finding supports the theory that GDPs enhance AGE formation (Jörres, 2003). Clinically the L-GDP/N-pH solutions are associated with reduced inflow pain and higher effluent CA 125 concentrations and with better preservation of small-pore fluid transport (Van Diepen et al., 2020). But, no effect was found on free water transport.

Combinations of Osmotic Agents

In the absence of an ideal low molecular weight osmotic agent that can be employed for all exchanges combinations of osmotic solutes all in a low concentration are an attractive possibility. As the total osmotic effect of such solution is the sum of all individual ones, the required high value to induce adequate free water transport can be achieved. This hypothesis has been investigated in the GLAD study, which was done in rats with chronic kidney failure. (De Graaff et al., 2010). The animals received daily intraperitoneal administration of a hypertonic dialysis solution consisting of a mixture of 1.4% glycerol, 0.5% aminoacids and 1.1% dextrose (combined osmolality 512 mosmol/L) for 16 weeks. The GLAD solution showed better sodium sieving, less interstitial fibrosis and a lower vessel density, compared with animal exposed to a 3.86% dextrose (osmolarity 486 mosmol/L) solution. Replacing glucose-based dialysis solutions with various combinations of osmotic agents in PD patients with ultrafiltration failure for a short time already caused an improvement of ultrafiltration and sodium sieving, a lower VEGF, while an increase of effluent CA125 was found in a randomized clinical trial in stable PD patients (Zweers et al., 2001; Van Biesen et al., 2004; Smit et al., 2008).

A combination of carnitine and xylitol has been suggested to have a number of beneficial effects due to possible positive effects of the absorbed quantity. An *in-vitro* analysis using mesothelial and endothelial cells showed better viability of these cells compared to a glucose-based L-GDP/N-pH solution and a reduced expression of TGF β and VEGF (Masola et al., 2021). Almost at the same time the results of a preliminary clinical study were published (Rago et al., 2021). In 10 patients with a PD duration of 6 months on average, the conventional PD solution was partly replaced with the carnitine/xylitol combination for 4 weeks. This was well tolerated and had no effect on peritoneal clearances and residual kidney function. A randomized multicenter clinical trial is currently in progress (Bonomini et al., 2021). It should be appreciated, however, that ref (Bonomini et al., 2021; Masola et al., 2021; Rago et al., 2021) were not published in any of the 72-nephrology journals, but rather in journals owned by the same publisher of many online journals. This should not be regarded as disqualifying the scientific value of these cited papers, but it underlines the importance of the results of the multicenter clinical trial.

Buffers in Dialysis Solutions

Lactate has traditionally been the buffer substance since more than 50 years. In theory the resulting high cytosolic lactate concentrations will inhibit the lactate dehydrogenase activity and thereby contribute to pseudohypoxia, but regrettably no clinical study has been published, comparing a lactate with a bicarbonate buffer, although one of the large dialysis companies sells L-GDP/N-pH solutions that are either buffered with lactate or with bicarbonate. The majority of studies in long-term PD patients have been performed with a solution containing bicarbonate and a low concentration of lactate. It is possible therefore that some of the beneficial effects of this bicarbonate/lactate buffered solution discussed above are due to some reduction of pseudohypoxia.

Replacement lactate by pyruvate is another possibility, because the absorbed pyruvate is directly metabolized in the Krebs circle generating NAD⁺. One *in-vivo* study has been published in rats that were exposed to daily administration of a 3.86% glucose-based dialysis solution either buffered with lactate or with pyruvate for a period of 20 weeks (van Westrhenen et al., 2008). Compared to the lactate group, the pyruvate exposed animals had a tendency to a lower plasma β -hydroxybutyrate/acetoacetate ratio, which suggests less general (pseudo) hypoxia. Histological examination showed reduced interstitial fibrosis and less severe vasculopathy without a difference in vascular density. Peritoneal small solute transfer was not different between the groups, but the pyruvate-exposed animals had better sodium sieving, suggesting better free water transport. It is a pity that pyruvate has never been investigated in PD patients, due to patent related issues.

Additives to Dialysis Solutions

Many solutes can be added to PD solutions, mostly because they are absorbed from the peritoneal cavity to reach the circulation. Antibiotics are the best example. Protection of peritoneal tissues from damage caused by other components of the dialysis solution was the objective for the addition of the dipeptide alanyl-glutamine (Ala-Gln). This nutritional additive suppressed HIF-1 and collagen -1 levels in human peritoneal fibroblasts, cultured during hypoxia (Robertson et al., 2019). Amelioration of peritoneal fibrosis was also found in a murine PD model (Ferantelli et al., 2016). The addition of 8 mmol/L Ala-Gln to the dialysis solution in PD patients reduced effluent levels of methionine sulfoxide, a marker of oxidative stress (Wiesenhofer et al., 2019). The use of Ala-Glu addition to a L-GDP/N-pH dialysis solution in prevalent PD patients for 8 weeks was well tolerated and increased effluent CA 125 concentrations, suggesting better preservation of the mesothelium (Vychytil et al., 2018).

Prophylaxis by Drugs

Possible targets include inhibition of TGFB and of glucose transporters, and interference with the NADH/NAD+/ratio. Renal hypoxia upregulates the RAAS system and the protective effect of ACE inhibition has been well established in diabetic nephropathy (Lewis et al., 1993). Furthermore, an invitro analysis in cultured mesothelial cells showed involvement of the polyol pathway in the glucose mediated induction of $TGF\beta$ (Wong et al., 2003). Despite the extensive use of drugs that interfere with the RAAS system, only two clinical studies of their effects on peritoneal transport have been published (Kolesnyk et al., 2007; Kolesnyk et al., 2009). The first study was a single center analysis in 66 prevalent patients, of whom 36 used AII inhibitors. The control group showed an increase in small solute transfer after a follow-up of 3 years, which was absent in the patients on AII inhibition. No difference was present for parameters of fluid transport (Kolesnyk et al., 2007). Repeating the study in more than 200 patients of the NECOSAD (Netherlands cooperative study on the adequacy of dialysis) cohort confirmed the result on small solute transfer, analysis of fluid transport was impossible (Kolesnyk et al., 2009). These results are difficult to interpret and warrant a longer follow-up in more patients.

Despite its use in type-2 diabetes, no study has been published on possible peritoneo-protective effects of the PPAR- γ agonist rosiglitazone in PD patients. An analysis in a murine model of peritoneal exposure to dialysis solutions showed a reduction of fibrosis by rosiglitazone, a lower vascular density, and a reduced AGE deposition (Sandoval et al., 2010). Peritoneal transport parameters were not investigated.

The anti-estrogenic drug tamoxifen has fibrosis inhibiting properties as evidenced from its well-known effects in retroperitoneal fibrosis. Its use in EPS patients has been associated with better patient survival (Del Peso et al., 2003; Korte et al., 2011). A recent study in murine pancreatic tissue showed that tamoxifen regulated collagen cross-linking by inhibition of HIF-1 (Cortes et al., 2019), which is also supportive of the importance of pseudohypoxia in the genesis of peritoneal membrane alterations.

Inhibitors of glucose transporters comprise those of GLUT-1 and SGLT-2 inhibitors. No GLUT-1 inhibitor is currently available for use in humans (Reckeh and Waldmann, 2020). The presence of SGLT-2 has been shown in peritoneal mesothelial cells of humans and mice (Balzer et al., 2020). Their expression was upregulated by glucose containing dialysis fluids, which was prevented by SGLT-2 inhibition. However the significance of this observation is not evident, because active transport of sodium into the cell is the driving force for cellular glucose uptake (Navale and Paranjape, 2016) and mesothelial cells are unlikely to ingest sodium in large amounts. It is therefore no surprise that the administration of an SGLT-2 inhibitor had no effect on ultrafiltration in a rat PD model (Martus et al., 2021).

Interference with the NADH/NAD⁺ ratio is possible by interference with the polyol pathway by zopolrestat, an inhibitor of aldose reductase, which converts sorbitol to fructose. Administration of this drug in a long-term peritoneal

exposure model in rats reduced peritoneal angiogenesis and fibrosis (van Westrhenen et al., 2005). However this drug is not available for use in humans, because of side-effects. The oral administration of nicotinamide mononucleotide, a precursor of NAD⁺, is becoming increasingly popular in Japan to prevent age-related disorders, like diabetes and cardiovascular disease. It is based on the observation that aging is accompanied by decreased cellular NAD⁺ levels. Most studies have been experimental ones, as discussed recently in a paper that also summarized ongoing studies in humans suffering from various conditions (Hong et al., 2020). Administration of a single dose in healthy men showed no side effects (Irie et al., 2020) and it is sometimes available as a nutritional supplement. No experimental or clinical study in PD has been published, but exploration of nicotinamide mononucleotide further administration in PD is attractive.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The functional and morphological alterations that occur in the peritoneal dialysis membrane after long-term PD can be

REFERENCES

- Airley, R., Loncaster, J., Davidson, S., Bromley, M., Roberts, S., Patterson, A., et al. (2001). Glucose Transporter GLUT-1 Expression Correlates with Tumor Hypoxia and Predicts Metastasis-free Survival in Advanced Carcinoma of the Cervix. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 7, 928–934.
- Aroeira, L. S., Aguilera, A., Selgas, R., Ramírez-Huesca, M., Pérez-Lozano, M. L., Cirugeda, A., et al. (2005). Mesenchymal Conversion of Mesothelial Cells as a Mechanism Responsible for High Solute Transport Rate in Peritoneal Dialysis: Role of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 46, 938–948. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.08.011
- Balzer, M. S., Rong, S., Nordlohne, J., Zemtsovski, J. D., Schmidt, S., Stapel, B., et al. (2020). SGLT2 Inhibition by Intraperitoneal Dapagliflozin Mitigates Peritoneal Fibrosis and Ultrafiltration Failure in a Mouse Model of Chronic Peritoneal Exposure to High-Glucose Dialysate. *Biomolecules* 10, 1573. doi:10.3390/ biom10111573
- Barreto, D. L., Sampimon, D. E., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2019). Early Detection of Imminent Encapsulating Peritoneal Sclerosis; Free Water Transport, Selected Effluent Proteins or Both. *Perit Dial. Int.* 39, 83–89. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq343
- Barreto, D. L., Coester, A. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2013). Can Effluent Matrix Metalloproteinase 2 and Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor 1 Be Used as Biomarkers of Peritoneal Membrane Alterations in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients? *Perit Dial. Int.* 33, 529–537. doi:10.3747/pdi.2012.01063
- Bazzato, G., Coli, U., Landini, S., Fracasso, A., Morachiello, P., Righetto, F., et al. (1982). Xylitol as Osmotic Agent in CAPD: an Alternative to Glucose for Uremic Diabetic Patients? *Trans. Am. Soc. Artif. Intern. Organs* 28, 280–286.
- Bonomini, M., Masola, V., Procino, G., Zammit, V., Divino-Filho, J., Arduini, A., et al. (2021). How to Improve the Biocompatibility of Peritoneal Dialysis Solutions (without Jeopardizing the Patient's Health). *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22, 7953. doi:10.3390/ijms22157955
- Bonomini, M., Pandolfi, A., Di Liberato, L., Di Silvestre, S., Cnops, Y., Di Tomo, P., et al. (2011). L-carnitine Is an Osmotic Agent Suitable for Peritoneal Dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 80, 645–654. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.117
- Coester, A. M., Smit, W., Struijk, D. G., Parikova, A., and Krediet, R. T. (2014). Longitudinal Analysis of Peritoneal Fluid Transport and its Determinants in a Cohort of Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Peritoneal Dial. Int.* 34, 195–203. doi:10.3747/pdi.2012.00189

ascribed to glucose-induced formation of AGEs causing vasculopathy, and to pseudohypoxia, defined as an increased cellular NADH/NAD⁺ ratio. The latter causes upregulation of HIF-1, which leads to upregulation of GLUT-1 and its expression on peritoneal cells, and to upregulation of the growth factors TGF β , VEGF, PAI-1 and CTGF. GLUT-1 in the cell membrane increases the influx of glucose and induces a vicious circle leading to a progressive decline of free water transport. The growth factors stimulate fibrosis and angiogenesis. The obvious therapeutic approach consists of combinations of various osmotic agents, all in low concentrations. This reduces the toxicity of all individual compounds while their osmolalaties add up, maintaining their over-all osmotic effects. All other discussed options are secondary.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

- Combet, S., Miyata, T., Moulin, P., Pouthier, D., Goffin, E., and Devuyst, O. (2000). Vascular Proliferation and Enhanced Expression of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase in Human Peritoneum Exposed to Long-Term Peritoneal Dialysis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11, 717–728. doi:10.1681/asn. v114717
- Cortes, E., Lachowski, D., Robinson, B., Sarper, M., Teppo, J. S., Thorpe, S. D., et al. (2019). Tamoxifen Mechanically Reprograms the Tumor Microenvironment via HIF-1A and Reduces Cancer Cell Survival. *EMBO Rep.* 20, e46557. doi:10. 15252/embr.201846557
- Darby, I. A., and Hewitson, T. D. (2016). Hypoxia in Tissue Repair and Fibrosis. Cell Tissue Res 365, 553-562. doi:10.1007/s00441-016-2461-3
- Davies, S. J., Brown, B., Bryan, J., and Russell, G. I. (1993). Clinical Evaluation of the Peritoneal Equilibration Test: a Population-Based Study. Nephrol. Dial. Transpl. 8, 64–70. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.ndt.a092275
- Davies, S. J. (2004). Longitudinal Relationship between Solute Transport and Ultrafiltration Capacity in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Kidney Int.* 66, 2437–2445. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.66021.x
- De Graaff, M., Zegwaard, A. H., Zweers, M. M., Vlijm, A., de Waart, D. R., Vandemaele, F., et al. (2010). The Effects of a Dialysis Solution with a Combination of Glycerol/Amino Acids/Dextrose on the Peritoneal Membrane in Chronic Renal Failure. *Perit Dial. Int.* 30, 192–200. doi:10. 3747/pdi.2008.00159
- Del Peso, G., Bajo, M. A., Gil, F., Aguilera, A., Ros, S., Costero, O., et al. (2003). Clinical Experience with Tamoxifen in Peritoneal Fibrosing Syndromes. *Adv. Perit Dial.* 19, 32–35.
- Del Peso, G., Jiménez-Heffernan, J. A., Bajo, M. A., Aroeira, L. S., Aguilera, A., Fernández-Perpén, A., et al. (2008). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal Transition of Mesothelial Cells Is an Early Event during Peritoneal Dialysis and Is Associated with High Peritoneal Transport. *Kidney Int.* 73, S26–S33. doi:10.1038/sj.ki. 5002598
- Ferantelli, E., Liappas, G., Cuenca, M. V., Keuning, E. D., Foster, T. L., Vervloet, M. G., et al. (2016). Dipeptide Alanyl-Glutamine Ameliorates Peritoneal Fibrosis and Attenuates II-17 Dependent Pathways during Peritoneal Dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 89, 625–635.
- Ferrara, N. (1995). Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor. The Trigger for Neovascularization in the Eye. Lab. Invest. 72, 615–618.
- Flessner, M. F. (1994). Osmotic Barrier of the Parietal Peritoneum. Am. J. Physiology-Renal Physiol. 267, F861–F870. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.1994.267.5. f861

- Galvan, D. L., Green, N. H., and Danesh, F. R. (2017). The Hallmarks of Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Kidney Int.* 92, 1051–1057. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2017.05.034
- Gillerot, G., Goffin, E., Michel, C., Evenepoel, P., van Biesen, W., Tintillier, M., et al. (2005). Genetic and Clinical Factors Influence the Baseline Permeability of the Peritoneal Membrane. *Kidney Int.* 67, 2477–2487. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755. 2005.00357.x
- Halestrap, A. P., and Wilson, M. C. (2012). The Monocarboxylate Transporter Family-Role and Regulation. *IUBMB Life* 64, 109–119. doi:10.1002/iub.572
- Hong, W., Mo, F., Zhang, Z., Huang, M., and Wei, X. (2020). Nicotinamide Mononucleotide: A Promising Molecule for Therapy of Diverse Diseases by Targeting NAD+ Metabolism. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 8, 246. doi:10.3389/fcell. 2020.00246
- Irie, J., Inagaki, E., Fujita, M., Nakaya, H., Mitsuishi, M., Yamaguchi, S., et al. (2020). Effect of Oral Administration of Nicotinamide Mononucleotide on Clinical Parameters and Nicotinamide Metabolite Levels in Healthy Japanese Men. *Endocr. J.* 67, 153–160. doi:10.1507/endocrj.ej19-0313
- Jörres, A. (2003). Glucose Degradation Products in Peritoneal Dialysis: from Bench to Bedside. Kidney Blood Press. Res. 26, 113–117. doi:10.1159/000070993
- Kolesnyk, I., Noordzij, M., Dekker, F. W., Boeschoten, E. W., and Krediet, R. T. (2009). A Positive Effect of AII Inhibitors on Peritoneal Membrane Function in Long-Term PD Patients. *Nephrol. Dial. Transpl.* 24, 272–277. doi:10.1093/ndt/ gfn421
- Kolesnyk, I., Dekker, F. W., Noordzij, M., le Cessie, S., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2007). Impact of ACE Inhibitors and AII Receptor Blockers on Peritoneal Membrane Transport Characteristics in Long-Term Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Perit Dial. Int.* 27, 446–453. doi:10. 1177/089686080702700413
- Korte, M. R., Fieren, M. W., Sampimon, D. E., Lingsma, H. F., Weimar, W., and Betjes, M. G. H. (2011). Tamoxifen Is Associated with Lower Mortality of Encapsulating Peritoneal Sclerosis: Results of the Dutch Multicentre EPS Study. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 691–697. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq362
- Krediet, R. T., Lopes Barreto, D., and Struijk, D. G. (2015). Can Free Water Transport Be Used as a Clinical Parameter for Peritoneal Fibrosis in Long-Term PD Patients? *Perit Dial. Int.* 35, 124–128.
- Krediet, R. T., and Parikova, A. (2022). Relative Contributions of Pseudohypoxia and Inflammation to Peritoneal Alterations with Long-Term Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 2022, CJN.15371121. doi:10. 2215/cjn.15371121
- Krediet, R. T., van Westrhenen, R., Zweers, M. M., and Struijk, D. G. (2002). Clinical Advantages of New Peritoneal Dialysis Solutions. *Nephrol. Dial. Transpl.* 17 (Suppl. 3), 16–18. doi:10.1093/ndt/17.suppl_3.16
- Krediet, R. T. (2021). Acquired Decline in Ultrafiltration in Peritoneal Dialysis: the Role of Glucose. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 32, 2408–2415. doi:10.1681/asn. 2021010080
- Krediet, R. T., Diepen, A. T. N. v., Coester, A. M., and Struijk, D. G. (2019). Peritoneal Vasculopathy in the Pathophysiology of Long-Term Ultrafiltration Failure: A Hypothesis Based on Clinical Observations. *Clin. Nephrol.* 91, 1–8. doi:10.5414/cn109596
- Krediet, R. T. (2018). Ultrafiltration Failure Is a Reflection of Peritoneal Alterations in Patients Treated with Peritoneal Dialysis. *Front. Physiol.* 9, 1815. doi:10. 3389/fphys.2018.01815
- Lee, Y. T., Tsai, Y. C., Yang, Y. K., Hsu, K. T., Liao, S. C., Wu, C. H., et al. (2011). Association between Interleukin-10 Gene Polymorphism -592 (A/C) and Peritoneal Transport in Patients Undergoing Peritoneal Dialysis. *Nephrology* (*Carlton*) 16, 663–671. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1797.2011.01496.x
- Lewis, E. J., Hunsicker, L. G., Bain, R. P., and Rohde, R. D. (1993). The Effect of Angiotensin-Converting-Enzyme Inhibition on Diabetic Nephropathy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 329, 1456–1462. doi:10.1056/nejm199311113292004
- Margetts, P. J., Kolb, M., Galt, T., Hoff, C. M., Shockley, T. R., and Gauldie, J. (2001). Gene Transfer of Transforming Growth Factor-B1 to the Rat Peritoneum: Effects on Membrane Function. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 12, 2029–2039. doi:10.1681/asn.v12102029
- Martus, G., Bergling, K., de Arteaga, J., and Öberg, C. M. (2021). SGLT2 Inhibition Does Not Reduce Glucose Absorption during Experimental Peritoneal Dialysis. *Perit Dial. Int.* 41, 373–380. doi:10.1177/08968608211008095
- Masola, V., Bonomini, M., Onisto, M., Ferraro, P. M., Arduini, A., and Gambaro, G. (2021). Biological Effects of XyloCore, a Glucose Sparing PD Solution, on

Mesothelial Cells: Focus on Mesothelial-Mesenchymal Transition, Inflammation and Angiogenesis. *Nutrients* 13, 2282. doi:10.3390/nu13072282

- Mateijsen, M. A. M., van der Wal, A. C., Hendriks, P. M. E. M., Zweers, M. M., Mulder, J., Struijk, D. G., et al. (1999). Vascular and Interstitial Changes in the Peritoneum of CAPD Patients with Peritoneal Sclerosis. *Perit Dial. Int.* 19, 517–525. doi:10.1177/089686089901900605
- Matthys, E., Dolkart, R., and Lameire, N. (1987). Potential Hazards of Glycerol Dialysate in Diabetic CAPD Patients. *Perit Dial. Int.* 7, 16–19. doi:10.1177/ 089686088700700105
- Mizutani, M., Ito, Y., Mizuno, M., Nishimura, H., Suzuki, Y., Hattori, R., et al. (2010). Connective Tissue Growth Factor (CTGF/CCN2) Is Increased in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients with High Peritoneal Solute Transport Rate. *Am. J. Physiology-Renal Physiol.* 298, F721–F733. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00368. 2009
- Morelle, J., Sow, A., Hautem, N., Bouzin, C., Crott, R., Devuyst, O., et al. (2015). Interstitial Fibrosis Restricts Osmotic Water Transport in Encapsulating Peritoneal Sclerosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 26, 2521–2533. doi:10.1681/asn. 2014090939
- Nakano, T., Mizumasa, T., Kuroki, Y., Eriguchi, M., Yoshida, H., Taniguchi, M., et al. (2020). Advanced Glycation End Products Are Associated with Immature Angiogenesis and Peritoneal Dysfunction in Patients on Peritoneal Dialysis. *Perit Dial. Int.* 40, 67–75. doi:10.1177/0896860819878344
- Navale, A. M., and Paranjape, A. N. (2016). Glucose Transporters: Physiological and Pathological Roles. *Biophys. Rev.* 8, 5–9. doi:10.1007/s12551-015-0186-2
- Ni, J., Verbavatz, J.-M., Rippe, A., Boisdé, I., Moulin, P., Rippe, B., et al. (2006). Aquaporin-1 Plays an Essential Role in Water Permeability and Ultrafiltration during Peritoneal Dialysis. *Kidney Int.* 69, 1518–1525. doi:10.1038/sj.ki. 5000285
- Ortiz, P. A., and Haspel, H. C. (1993). Differential Control of the Functional Cell Surface Expression and Content of Hexose Transporter GLUT-1 by Glucose and Glucose Metabolism in Murine Fibroblasts. *Biochem. J.* 295, 67–72. doi:10. 1042/bj2950067
- Pappenheimer, J. R., Renkin, E. M., and Borrero, L. M. (1951). Filtration, Diffusion and Molecular Sieving through Peripheral Capillary Membranes; a Contribution to the Pore Theory of Capillary Permeability. Am. J. Physiol. 167, 13–46. doi:10.1152/ajplegacy.1951.167.1.13
- Parikova, A., Michalickova, K., van Diepen, A. T., Voska, L., Viklicky, O., and Krediet, R. T. (2021). Do low GDP Neutral pH Solutions Prevent or Retard Peritoneal Membrane Alterations in Long-Term Peritoneal Dialysis? *Perit Dial. Int.* 2021, 8968608211027008. doi:10.1177/08968608211027008
- Parikova, A., Smit, W., Zweers, M. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2008). Free Water Transport, Small Pore Transport and the Osmotic Pressure Gradient. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 23, 2350–2355. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfm768
- Rago, C., Lombardi, T., Di Fulvio, G., Di Liberato, L., Arduini, A., Divino-Filho, J. C., et al. (2021). A New Peritoneal Dialysis Solution Containing L-Carnitine and Xylitol for Patients on Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis: First Clinical Experience. *Toxins* 13, 174. doi:10.3390/toxins13030174
- Reckeh, E. S., and Waldmann, H. (2020). Small-molcule Inhibition of Glucose Transporters GLUT-1-4. *ChemBioChem* 21, 45–52.
- Rippe, B. (1993). A Three-Pore Model of Peritoneal Transport. Perit Dial. Int. 13 (Suppl. 2), S35–S38.
- Rippe, B., and Stelin, G. (1989). Simulations of Peritoneal Solute Transport during CAPD. Application of Two-Pore Formalism. *Kidney Int.* 35, 1234–1244. doi:10. 1038/ki.1989.115
- Robertson, L. M., Fletcher, N. M., Diamond, M. P., and Saed, G. M. (2019). Evitar (L-Alanyl-L-Glutamine) Regulates Key Signaling Molecules in the Pathogenesis of Postoperative Tissue Fibrosis. *Reprod. Sci* 26, 724–733. doi:10.1177/ 08968608002800512
- Sampimon, D. E., Coester, A. M., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2011). The Time Course of Peritoneal Transport Parameters in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Who Develop Encapsulating Peritoneal Sclerosis. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 26, 291–298. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq343
- Sandoval, P., Loureiro, J., González-Mateo, G., Pérez-Lozano, M. L., Maldonado-Rodríguez, A., Sánchez-Tomero, J. A., et al. (2010). PPAR-γ Agonist Rosiglitazone Protects Peritoneal Membrane from Dialysis Fluid-Induced Damage. *Lab. Invest.* 90, 1517–1532. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2010.111
- Selgas, R., Fernadez-Reyes, M.-J., Bosque, E., Bajo, M.-A., Borrego, F., Jimenez, C., et al. (1994). Functional Longevity of the Human Peritoneum: How Long Is

Continuous Peritoneal Dialysis Possible? Results of a Prospective Medium Long-Term Study. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 23, 64–73. doi:10.1016/s0272-6386(12) 80814-6

- Smit, W., Ho-dac-Pannekeet, M. M., and Krediet, R. T. (2008). Treatment of Severe Ultrafiltration Failure with Nonglucose Dialysis Solutions in Patients with and without Peritoneal Sclerosis. NDT Plus 1 (Suppl. 4), iv63–iv70. doi:10.1093/ ndtplus/sfn127
- Smit, W., van Dijk, P., Langedijk, M. J., Schouten, N., van den Berg, N., Struijk, D. G., et al. (2003). Peritoneal Function and Assessment of Reference Values Using a 3.86% Glucose Solution. *Perit Dial. Int.* 23, 440–449.
- Stachowska-Pietka, J., Poleszczuk, J., Flessner, M. F., Lindholm, B., and Waniewski, J. (2019). Alterations of Peritoneal Transport Characteristics in Dialysis Patients with Ultrafiltration Failure: Tissue and Capillary Components. Nephrol. Dial. Transpl. 34, 864–870. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfy313
- Twardowski, Z. J., Nolph, K. D., Khanna, R., Prowant, B., Ryan, L. P., Moore, H. L., et al. (1987). Peritoneal Equilibration Test. *Perit Dial. Int.* 7, 138–147.
- Van Biesen, W., Boer, W., de Greve, B., Dequidt, C., Vijt, D., Faict, D., et al. (2004).
 A Randomized Clinical Trial with a 0.6% Amino Acid/1.4% Glycerol Peritoneal Dialysis Solution. *Perit Dial. Int.* 24, 222–230.
- Van Diepen, A. T. N., Coester, A. M., Janmaat, C. J., Dekker, F. W., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2020). Comparison of Longitudinal Membrane Function in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients According to Dialysis Fluid Biocompatibility. *Kidney Int. Rep.* 5, 2183–2194. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2020.09.047
- van Esch, S., Zweers, M. M., Jansen, M. A. M., de Waart, D. R., van Manen, J. G., and Krediet, R. T. (2004). Determinants of Peritoneal Solute Transport Rates in Newly Started Nondiabetic Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Perit Dial. Int.* 24, 554–561. doi:10.1177/089686080402400615
- van Westrhenen, R., Aten, J., Aberra, M., Dragt, C. A., Deira, G., and Krediet, R. T. (2005). Effects of Inhibition of the Polyol Pathway during Chronic Peritoneal Exposure to a Dialysis Solution. *Perit Dial. Int.* 25 (Suppl. 3), S18–S21. doi:10. 1177/089686080502503s05
- van Westrhenen, R., Zweers, M. M., Kunne, C., de Waart, D. R., van der Wal, A. C., and Krediet, R. T. (2008). A Pyruvate-Buffered Dialysis Fluid Induces Less Peritoneal Angiogenesis and Fibrosis Than a Conventional Solution. *Perit Dial. Int.* 28, 487–496.
- Vychytil, A., Herzog, R., Probst, P., Ribitsch, W., Lhotta, K., Machold-Fabrizii, V., et al. (2018). A Randomized Controlled Trial of Alanyl-Glutamine Supplementation in Peritoneal Dialysis Fluid to Assess Impact on Biomarkers of Peritoneal Health. *Kidney Int.* 94, 1227–1237. doi:10.1016/j. kint.2018.08.031
- Wiesenhofer, F. M., Herzog, R., Boehm, M., Wagner, A., Unterwurzacher, M., Kasper, D. C., et al. (2019). Targeted Metabolomic Profiling of Peritoneal

Dialysis Effluents Shows Anti-oxidative Capacity of Alanyl-Glutamine. Front. Physiol. 9, 1961. doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.01961

- Williams, J. D., Craig, K. J., Topley, N., Von Ruhland, C., Fallon, M., Newman, G. R., et al. (2002). Morphologic Changes in the Peritoneal Membrane of Patients with Renal Disease. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 13, 470–479. doi:10.1681/asn.v132470
- Williamson, J. R., Chang, K., Frangos, M., Hasan, K. S., Ido, Y., Kawamura, T., et al. (1993). Hyperglycemic Pseudohypoxia and Diabetic Complications. *Diabetes* 42, 801–813. doi:10.2337/diabetes.42.6.801
- Wong, T. Y. H., Phillips, A. O., Witowski, J., and Topley, N. (2003). Glucosemediated Induction of TGF-B1 and MCP-1 in Mesothelial Cells In Vitro Is Osmolality and Polyol Pathway Dependent. *Kidney Int.* 63, 1404–1416. doi:10. 1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00883.x
- Yamada, K., Miyahara, Y., Hamaguchi, K., Nakayama, M., Nakano, H., Nozaki, O., et al. (1994). Immunohistochemical Study of Human Advanced Glycosylation End-Products (AGE) in Chronic Renal Failure. *Clin. Nephrol.* 42, 354–361.
- Yáňez-Mó, M., Lara-Pezzi, E., Selgas, R., Ramírez-Huesca, M., Domínguez-Jiménez, C., Jiménez-Heffernan, J. A., et al. (2003). Peritoneal Dialysis and Epithelial-To-Mesenchymal Transition of Mesothelial Cells. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 403–413. doi:10.1056/nejmoa020809
- Zweers, M. M., de Waart, D. R., Smit, W., Struijk, D. G., and Krediet, R. T. (1999). Growth Factors VEGF and TGF-B1 in Peritoneal Dialysis. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 134, 124–132. doi:10.1016/s0022-2143(99)90116-6
- Zweers, M. M., Struijk, D. G., Smit, W., and Krediet, R. T. (2001). Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor in Peritoneal Dialysis: A Longitudinal Follow-Up. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 137, 125–132. doi:10.1067/mlc.2001.112235

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations or those of the publisher, the editors, and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Krediet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Corrigendum: Aging of the Peritoneal Dialysis Membrane

Raymond T. Krediet*

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis, ultrafiltration failure, glucose, pseudohypoxia, GLUT-1, growth factors, osmotic agents

A Corrigendum on

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Thyago Moraes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Raymond T. Krediet r.t.krediet@amsterdamumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Renal Physiology and Pathophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 24 May 2022 Accepted: 06 June 2022 Published: 24 August 2022

Citation:

Krediet RT (2022) Corrigendum: Aging of the Peritoneal Dialysis Membrane. Front. Physiol. 13:950933. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.950933

Aging of the peritoneal dialysis membrane

by Krediet, R. T. (2022). Front. Physiol. 13:885802. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.885802

In the original article, there was an error. A remark at the end of **Combinations of Osmotic Agents** could be interpreted as an expression of criticism of the scientific content of specific cited papers, which was never the intention.

A correction has been made to **Prevention and Treatment**, **Combinations of Osmotic Agents**, final sentence. The corrected sentence appears below:

It should be appreciated, however, that ref (Bonomini et al., 2021; Masola et al., 2021; Rago et al., 2021) were not published in any of the 72-nephrology journals, but rather in journals owned by the same publisher of many online journals. This should not be regarded as disqualifying the scientific value of these cited papers, but it underlines the importance of the results of the multicenter clinical trial.

The author apologizes for this error and states that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Krediet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Prognostic Significance of the Albumin to Fibrinogen Ratio in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients

Wenkai Xia^{1,2†}, Meisi Kuang^{2†}, Chenyu Li², Xiajuan Yao¹, Yan Chen¹, Jie Lin¹ and Hong Hu^{1*}

¹ Department of Nephrology, Jiangyin People's Hospital Affiliated to Nantong University, Jiangyin, China, ² Nephrologisches Zentrum, Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik IV, Klinikum der Universität München, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Munich, Germany

Background: Albumin to fibrinogen ratio (AFR) is a demonstrated predictor of mortality in various diseases. The aim of this study was to evaluate the prognostic value of AFR to predict mortality in peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasqual Barretti, Sào Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Moncef Feki, Tunis El Manar University, Tunisia Qiwen Deng, Nanjing Medical University, China

> *Correspondence: Hong Hu huhong1523@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 22 November 2021 Accepted: 31 March 2022 Published: 28 April 2022

Citation:

Xia W, Kuang M, Li C, Yao X, Chen Y, Lin J and Hu H (2022) Prognostic Significance of the Albumin to Fibrinogen Ratio in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. Front. Med. 9:820281. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.820281 **Methods:** We retrospectively analyzed 212 incident PD patients from January 2010 to December 2017 and followed them until December 2019. We used receiver operating curve (ROC) analysis to determine the optimal cut-off point for AFR at baseline to predict overall and cardiovascular mortality during the follow-up period. Kaplan-Meier curve and Cox regression analysis were applied to evaluate the association between AFR and all-cause and cardiovascular mortality.

Results: The optimal threshold for AFR to predict mortality was 8.48. A low AFR was strongly correlated with worse all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in PD patients. Multivariate analysis revealed that elevated AFR was an independent marker predicting reduced all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (HR 2.41, 95% Cl 1.11–5.22, P = 0.026; and HR 2.18, 95% Cl 1.21–3.95, P = 0.010, respectively).

Conclusions: Patients with a high AFR had reduced all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. AFR is a potential prognostic biomarker in PD patients.

Keywords: albumin, fibrinogen, peritoneal dialysis (PD), prognosis, biomarker

INTRODUCTION

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a major public health concern worldwide. Peritoneal dialysis (PD) has emerged as one of the most commonly used and efficient treatment options for CKD. However, patients with CKD still have an excessive risk of all-cause mortality and particularly cardiovascular (CV) events (1). Effective interventions must therefore be well-recognized to support CKD prevention and management.

Malnutrition is highly prevalent in CKD patients, especially among patients on dialysis, which leads to low albumin levels (2). However, recent studies have proposed that hypoalbuminemia negatively correlated with patients' prognosis could be attributed more to inflammation than to malnutrition (3–6). Furthermore, fibrinogen has been found to go beyond its conventional role in coagulation and is a readily available predictor of microinflammation (7, 8). An increased

fibrinogen level has been shown to predict the development of CV events and mortality in the general population and in patients undergoing PD (9, 10).

In recent decades, systemic inflammation has been considered a hallmark feature of CKD, promoting CKD progression as well as enhancing cardiovascular mortality. As a novel inflammationbased indicator, the albumin to fibrinogen ratio (AFR) has gained prognostic value in various cancers (11, 12) and other diseases such as acute pancreatitis and rheumatoid arthritis (13, 14). However, there has been no research investigating the predictive value of AFR in PD patients. In this retrospective study, we aimed to evaluate the association of AFR with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in incident PD patients.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients and Data Collection

This was a retrospective observational cohort study. Medical records of all incident PD patients between January 2010 and December 2017 were collected at the Jiangyin People's Hospital Affiliated to Nantong University and retrospectively analyzed in this study. Patients who were aged ≥ 18 years old and received PD treatment for at least three consecutive months were included. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients with a history of previous hemodialysis (HD) or kidney transplantation; (2) active infection, hyperpyrexia, and hematological disease within 3 months of PD treatment; (3) patients lost to follow-up (**Figure 1**).

The enrolled patients received the conventional PD solutions (Dianeal 1.5%, 2.5%, or 4.25% dextrose; Baxter Healthcare, Guangzhou, China), with 3–5 exchanges per day. All patients were followed up for a maximum of 5 years, from the

initiation of treatment to death or the end point time. Baseline demographic data were collected at the first 1–3 months after the initiation of PD treatment, and included age, sex, history of hypertension, cardiovascular disease (CVD) and diabetes, body mass index (BMI), neutrophils, leukocytes, serum albumin, globulin, fibrinogen, creatinine, urea nitrogen, and D-dimer. Each patient was regularly followed up at least quarterly, with a physical examination and laboratory testing. Informed consent was waived by the Ethics Committee due to the retrospective and non-interventional nature of the study.

Study Definitions

The NLR was obtained as the ratio of the neutrophil count to the lymphocyte count. The AFR was obtained by dividing the serum albumin level by the plasma fibrinogen level. The primary outcome was all-cause mortality. The secondary outcome was cardiovascular mortality, which was defined as death caused by congestive heart failure, cardiac arrhythmia, acute myocardial infarction, angioplasty, coronary artery bypass, or stroke. CVD was defined as a history of myocardial infarction, coronary artery bypass, heart failure, atherosclerotic heart disease, or stroke. Patients who had a previous history of type 1 and 2 diabetic mellitus and/or who reported current use of insulin or oral hypoglycemic agents were considered to have diabetes mellitus. Hypertension was defined as taking antihypertensive agents or 2 separate blood pressure measurements \geq 140/90 mmHg.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or median (interquartile range) and categorical data are expressed as number or percentage. The optimal cut-off value of AFR was determined by



TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics according to AFR.

Variables	AFR < 10.67	AFR ≥ 10.67	Р
	<i>n</i> = 122	<i>n</i> = 90	
Age, y	53 ± 14	46 ± 13	<0.001
Male, (n, %)	73 (59.8)	51 (56.7)	0.643
BMI	21.7 ± 2.1	21.8 ± 2.2	0.297
Total Kt/V	1.9 (1.7–2.3)	2.1 (1.8–2.3)	0.071
Laboratory data			
Hb (g/L)	95.6 ± 21.8	97.8 ± 16.6	0.420
NLR	4.7 ± 3.5	3.3 ± 2.4	0.002
Albumin (g/L)	32.8 ± 4.0	36.5 ± 3.6	< 0.001
Globulin (g/L)	24.6 ± 5.2	22.8 ± 5.0	0.014
BUN (mmol/L)	17.8 ± 6.2	18.3 ± 7.0	0.559
Creatinine (µmol/L)	806.0 (656.2–1,094.1)	875.5 (712.3–1,053.6)	0.120
Fibrinogen (g/L)	4.2 ± 0.9	2.8 ± 0.4	< 0.001
D-dimer (mg/L)	1.1 (0.5–1.7)	0.7 (0.2–1.5)	0.785
Comorbid conditions (n, %)			
Hypertension	84 (68.9)	37 (41.1)	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	33 (27.0)	8 (8.9)	0.001
CVD	12 (9.8)	3 (3.3)	0.102
SBP (mmHg)	148.3 ± 23.6	148.5 ± 20.2	0.948
DBP (mmHg)	87.9 ± 16.1	91.9 ± 13.5	0.057

Values are described as mean ± standard deviations, median and interquartile range, or number (percentage) as appropriate.

BMI, body mass index; Hb, hemoglobin; NLR, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; AFR, albumin to fibrinogen ratio; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; CVD, cardiovascular disease; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure.

receiver operating curve (ROC) analysis, and patients were then divided into two groups according to the optimal threshold. The chi-squared, Mann-Whitney *U*, or Kruskal-Wallis test was used to test the characteristic difference in categorical or continuous factors between groups. Multivariate Cox regression analysis with mortality as outcome was performed to calculate the hazard ratios (HRs). Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS 20.0 software (SPSS Inc., IBM, USA). P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patients' Baseline Characteristics

A total of 212 patients undergoing PD were finally enrolled in this study. The mean age was 50 ± 14 years, 124 (58.5%) were male, 121 (57.1%) had hypertension, 41 (19.3%) had diabetes mellitus, and 15 (7.1%) had a history of CVD. The optimal AFR cut-off levels based on overall survival (OS) and cardiac-specific survival, respectively, were determined to be 10.67 (50.0% sensitivity and 79.6% specificity) and 8.48 (76.9% sensitivity and 63.5% specificity) by ROC curve analysis (**Figure 1**). Patients were subsequently divided into two groups according to the optimal cut-off value calculated by the endpoint based on OS. Patients in the low AFR group were older and had higher rates of hypertension and diabetes as well as high levels of NLR, globulin, and fibrinogen, but lower levels of albumin. The clinical baseline characteristics of all patients according to low vs. high AFR are listed in Table 1.

Prognostic Value of AFR for All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality

At the end of follow-up, we recorded 54 deaths, of which 39 (72.2%) were due to cardiovascular mortality during the followup period. Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and log-rank testing were used to determine the association between AFR and allcause and cardiovascular mortality. Our results demonstrated that a lower AFR was significantly associated with decreased OS (Figure 2A). Similarly, patients with lower AFRs also had an increased risk for cardiovascular mortality compared with patients with higher AFRs (Figure 2B). Furthermore, multivariate Cox regression analysis indicated that a low AFR was independently associated with reduced overall survival (HR 2.39, 95% CI 1.74-3.79, P < 0.001). In addition, age (HR 1.04, 95% CI 1.00–1.08, P = 0.034), a history of hypertension (HR 2.76, 95% CI 1.05–7.26, P = 0.040), and NLR (HR 1.19, 95%) CI 1.04–1.22, P = 0.002) were independent indicators of allcause mortality (Table 2). Similarly, results from multivariate analysis revealed that a low AFR was associated with increased cardiovascular mortality (HR 2.10, 95% CI 1.19-3.67, P < 0.001). Age (HR 1.07, 95% CI 1.03-1.11, P < 0.001), a history of diabetes mellitus (HR 2.38, 95% CI 1.09-5.21, P = 0.030), and NLR (HR 1.11, 95% CI 1.03-1.20, P = 0.002) were independent risk factors for cardiovascular mortality in PD patients (Table 2).



FIGURE 2 | Optimal thresholds for fibrinogen, albumin, AFR, and NLR were applied with ROC curves for (A) all-cause mortality and (B) cardiovascular mortality. NLR, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; AFR, albumin to fibrinogen ratio; AUC, area under curve; CI, confidence interval.

 TABLE 2 | Independent factors correlated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality.

	Hazard ratio	95% confidence interval	P-value
All-cause mortality			
Age	1.04	1.00-1.08	0.034
Hypertension	2.76	1.05-7.26	0.040
NLR	1.19	1.10-1.29	< 0.001
AFR (<10.67)	2.39	1.74-3.79	< 0.001
Cardiovascular mortality			
Age	1.07	1.03-1.11	< 0.001
Diabetes mellitus	2.38	1.09-5.21	0.030
NLR	1.13	1.04-1.22	0.002
AFR (<8.48)	2.10	1.19–3.67	< 0.001

NLR, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; AFR, albumin to fibrinogen ratio.

The predictive power of AFR and other indicators are depicted in **Figure 2**. Compared with albumin, fibrinogen, and NLR, AFR exhibited improved power for predicting all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in PD patients (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

In this retrospective study of PD patients, we explored the prognostic performance of AFR in predicting their overall and cardiovascular mortality. An elevated AFR was most significantly associated with reduced all-cause mortality as well as reduced cardiovascular mortality. In addition, the combination

of albumin and fibrinogen with AFR tended to better predict risk for all-cause and cardiovascular mortality than the individual markers alone.

Serum albumin has been used to reflect malnourished status (15). Hypoalbuminemia is reported to be a key characteristic of protein-energy wasting, which is an important risk factor for higher mortality and is highly prevalent in CKD and PD patients (16, 17). However, emerging evidence has demonstrated that serum albumin is inversely correlated with proinflammatory cytokines in PD patients and that inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 may suppress albumin synthesis, suggesting hypoalbuminemia is attributable more to systemic inflammation than to malnutrition in patients undergoing PD (18, 19). Taken together, hypoalbuminemia is associated with increased mortality in PD patients and is attributed in part to inflammation.

Previous studies revealed that plasma fibrinogen is always lower in PD patients than in hemodialysis (HD) patients. The results demonstrated that the loss of albumin in the peritoneal dialysate leads to the accumulation of free fatty acids in the blood, which stimulates fibrinogen synthesis for the liver (20, 21). On the other hand, long-term and continuous exposures to glucosebased dialysate results in severe metabolic syndrome, leading to defective endothelial function, aggravated inflammation, and prothrombotic tendency (22). Therefore, patients who receive PD treatment exhibit a more prothrombotic profile. Several studies have investigated whether elevated plasma fibrinogen is a risk factor for all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in CKD and dialysis patients, but have yielded conflicting results. Indeed, a large retrospective study demonstrated that plasma fibrinogen



levels are not a strong risk factor for cardiovascular mortality in individuals with CKD (23), indicating a complex relationship between fibrinogen and mortality in this patient population. In contrast, studies conducted on exclusively HD or PD patients reported a significant association of elevated fibrinogen levels with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (10, 24). The reasons for these contradictory results regarding fibrinogen and cardiovascular mortality in non-dialyzed and dialysis patients remain unknown. Interestingly, plasma fibrinogen was found to be glycated and later oxidized through post-translational modifications, which may be particularly prevalent in diabetic patients and associated with increased clot density, which drives cardiovascular mortality.

Recent evidence supports the prognostic value of AFR, with the majority of studies focused on various types of cancer. Pretreatment AFR can act as a promising prognostic indicator in patients with lung cancer (11), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (25), and gastric cancer (26). Furthermore, low AFR can improve diagnostic efficiency in cervical cancer (27). Importantly, our results confirmed the independent relationship between a low AFR and overall and cardiovascular mortality in PD patients. We found that increased AFR was independently correlated with reduced all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in PD patients. The optimal cut-off point of 8.48 for AFR was the best predictor based on hazard ratio, achieving the best sensitivity and specificity. In addition, ROC curve analysis from our study revealed that the AUC of AFR was larger than that of albumin and fibrinogen alone, suggesting that AFR could amplify the sensitivity and specificity of predicting the survival of patients undergoing PD. In addition, the prevalence of hypertension was increased in the low AFR group and hypertension was found to contribute to all-cause mortality. In multivariate Cox regression, TG, HDL-C, and NLR were associated with all-cause mortality in PD patients, consistent with previous studies (28, 29). Furthermore, age and higher NLR, the well-known risk factors for cardiovascular events, were also demonstrated to be independently correlated with cardiovascular mortality.

Several limitations should be acknowledged. First, this was a single-center retrospective study with a modest sample size, which may result in inherent biases. Second, we used only the baseline of AFR in the analysis, without considering the impact of variations in the AFR during the follow-up period. Third, we had no available data on CRP, insulin resistance, and inflammatory parameters such as tumor necrosis factor and IL-6, since they were not routinely measured. Finally, a prospective cohort with multi-center designs, a large sample size, and longer follow-up length are warranted to verify our findings.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study demonstrates that AFR is an independent predictor of overall and cardiovascular mortality in PD patients. Since the assessment of AFR is economical, accessible, easy to measure, and has standard criteria worldwide, AFR is a promising new marker with which to identify high-risk PD patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Jiangyin People's Hospital Affiliated to Nantong University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WX and HH: study design. YC, JL, and XY: data collection and analysis. WX and MK: manuscript drafting. CL and HH: editing and revising. All authors have approved the

REFERENCES

- Stevens PE, Levin A, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Chronic Kidney Disease Guideline Development Work Group M. Evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease: synopsis of the kidney disease: improving global outcomes 2012 clinical practice guideline. *Ann Intern Med.* (2013) 158:825–30. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-11-201306040-00007
- Gunalay S, Ozturk YK, Akar H, Mergen H. The relationship between malnutrition and quality of life in haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992).* (2018) 64:845–52. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.64.09.845
- Kaysen GA. Serum albumin concentration in dialysis patients: why does it remain resistant to therapy? *Kidney Int Suppl.* (2003) 87:92– 8. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.64.s87.14.x
- Soeters PB, Wolfe RR, Shenkin A. Hypoalbuminemia: pathogenesis and clinical significance. J Parenter Enteral Nutr. (2019) 43:181– 93. doi: 10.1002/jpen.1451
- Hao N, Cheng BC, Yang HT, Wu CH, Lei YY, Chao MC, et al. Timevarying serum albumin levels and all-cause mortality in prevalent peritoneal dialysis patients: a 5-year observational study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2019) 20:254. doi: 10.1186/s12882-019-1433-8
- Ndlovu KCZ, Chikobvu P, Mofokeng T, Gounden V, Assounga A. Serum albumin and mortality in patients with HIV and end-stage renal failure on peritoneal dialysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0218156. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.02 18156
- Zhang F, Lu S, Tian M, Hu K, Chen R, Zhang B, et al. Albuminto-alkaline phosphatase ratio is an independent prognostic indicator in combined hepatocellular and cholangiocarcinoma. *J Cancer.* (2020) 11:5177– 86. doi: 10.7150/jca.45633
- Xu Q, Yan Y, Gu S, Mao K, Zhang J, Huang P, et al. A novel inflammation-based prognostic score: the fibrinogen/albumin ratio predicts prognoses of patients after curative resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:4925498. doi: 10.1155/2018/49 25498
- Fibrinogen Studies C, Danesh J, Lewington S, Thompson SG, Lowe GD, Collins R, et al. Plasma fibrinogen level and the risk of major cardiovascular diseases and nonvascular mortality: an individual participant meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2005) 294:1799–809. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.14.1799
- Yu J, Lin T, Huang N, Xia X, Li J, Qiu Y, et al. Plasma fibrinogen and mortality in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis: a prospective cohort study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:349. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-01984-6
- Li SQ, Jiang YH, Lin J, Zhang J, Sun F, Gao QF, et al. Albumin-tofibrinogen ratio as a promising biomarker to predict clinical outcome of non-small cell lung cancer individuals. *Cancer Med.* (2018) 7:1221– 31. doi: 10.1002/cam4.1428

submitted version and agreed to be accountable for their own contributions.

FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant from the Scientific Research Project of the Wuxi Health Committee (Q201754). The funding body had no role in the design of the study, the collection, analysis, interpretation of the data, and the writing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the participants, including the nurses and patients from the Department of Nephrology.

- Zou YX, Qiao J, Zhu HY, Lu RN, Xia Y, Cao L, et al. Albumin-tofibrinogen ratio as an independent prognostic parameter in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a retrospective study of 191 cases. *Cancer Res Treat.* (2019) 51:664–71. doi: 10.4143/crt.2018.358
- Yue W, Liu Y, Ding W, Jiang W, Huang J, Zhang J, et al. The predictive value of the prealbumin-to-fibrinogen ratio in patients with acute pancreatitis. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2015) 69:1121–8. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.12682
- 14. He Y, Tang J, Wu B, Yang B, Ou Q, Lin J. Correlation between albumin to fibrinogen ratio, C-reactive protein to albumin ratio and Th17 cells in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2020) 500:149–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2019. 10.009
- Kaysen GA, Dubin JA, Muller HG, Mitch WE, Rosales LM, Levin NW. Relationships among inflammation nutrition and physiologic mechanisms establishing albumin levels in hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* (2002) 61:2240–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00076.x
- Peng F, Chen W, Zhou W, Li P, Niu H, Chen Y, et al. Low prognostic nutritional index associated with cardiovascular disease mortality in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2017) 49:1095– 101. doi: 10.1007/s11255-017-1531-0
- Carrero JJ, Stenvinkel P, Cuppari L, Ikizler TA, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kaysen G, et al. Etiology of the protein-energy wasting syndrome in chronic kidney disease: a consensus statement from the International Society of Renal Nutrition and Metabolism (ISRNM). J Renal Nutr. (2013) 23:77–90. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2013.01.001
- Milan Manani S, Virzi GM, Clementi A, Brocca A, de Cal M, Tantillo I, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines: a possible relationship with dialytic adequacy and serum albumin in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Kidney J.* (2016) 9:153–7. doi: 10.1093/ckj/s fv137
- Chung SH, Heimburger O, Stenvinkel P, Qureshi AR, Lindholm B. Association between residual renal function, inflammation and patient survival in new peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2003) 18:590–7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/18.3.590
- Prinsen BH, Rabelink TJ, Beutler JJ, Kaysen GA, De Boer J, Boer WH, et al. Increased albumin and fibrinogen synthesis rate in patients with chronic renal failure. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 64:1495–504. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.0 0211.x
- Hazama T, Fukami K, Yamagishi S, Kusumoto T, Sakai K, Adachi T, et al. Dialysate vascular endothelial growth factor is an independent determinant of serum albumin levels and predicts future withdrawal from peritoneal dialysis in uremic patients. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2014) 18:391– 7. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987.12120
- Brophy DF, Carl DE, Mohammed BM, Song J, Martin EJ, Bostic JL, et al. Differences in coagulation between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 34:33–40. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00036

- Shlipak MG, Fried LF, Cushman M, Manolio TA, Peterson D, Stehman-Breen C, et al. Cardiovascular mortality risk in chronic kidney disease: comparison of traditional and novel risk factors. *JAMA*. (2005) 293:1737– 45. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.14.1737
- Weiner DE, Tighiouart H, Elsayed EF, Griffith JL, Salem DN, Levey AS, et al. The relationship between nontraditional risk factors and outcomes in individuals with stage 3 to 4 CKD. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2008) 51:212– 23. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.10.035
- Li XH, Gu WS, Wang XP, Lin JH, Zheng X, Zhang L, et al. Low preoperative albumin-to-globulin ratio predict poor survival and negatively correlated with fibrinogen in resectable esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Cancer*. (2017) 8:1833–42. doi: 10.7150/jca.19062
- Liu C, Li X. Stage-Dependent Changes In Albumin, NLR, PLR, and AFR are correlated with shorter survival in patients with gastric cancer. *Clin Lab.* (2019) 65. doi: 10.7754/Clin.Lab.2019.190132
- Huang L, Mo Z, Zhang L, Qin S, Qin S, Li S. Diagnostic value of albumin to fibrinogen ratio in cervical cancer. *Int J Biol Markers.* (2020) 35:66–73. doi: 10.1177/17246008209 15916
- Xia W, Yao X, Chen Y, Lin J, Vielhauer V, Hu H. Elevated TG/HDL-C and non-HDL-C/HDL-C ratios predict mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:324. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-01 993-5

 Lu X, Wang S, Zhang G, Xiong R, Li H. High neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is a significant predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2018) 43:490–9. doi: 10.1159/000488696

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xia, Kuang, Li, Yao, Chen, Lin and Hu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Peritoneal Protein Loss, Inflammation, and Nutrition: Refuting Myths

Anabela Malho Guedes^{1,2,3*}, Roberto Calças Marques¹, Brigitte Ribeiro², Mónica T. Fernandes^{4,5,6}, Marília Faísca⁷, Ana Paula Silva^{1,2}, José Bragança^{2,5,6,8} and Anabela Rodrigues^{3,9,10}

¹ Serviço de Nefrologia, Centro Hospitalar Universitário do Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ² Faculdade de Medicina e Ciências Biomédicas, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ³ UMIB - Unidade Multidisciplinar de Investigação Biomédica, ICBAS -Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar, Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal, ⁴ Escola Superior de Saúde, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ⁵ Algarve Biomedical Center, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ⁶ Algarve Biomedical Center Research Institute, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ⁷ Synlab Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ⁸ Champalimaud Research Program, Champalimaud Center for the Unknown, Lisbon, Portugal, ⁹ Serviço de Nefrologia, Centro Hospitalar Universitário do Porto, Porto, Portugal, ¹⁰ ITR - Laboratory for Integrative and Translational Research in Population Health, Porto, Portugal

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pasqual Barretti, São Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Mark Dominik Alscher, Robert Bosch Hospital, Germany Murilo Guedes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Anabela Malho Guedes aguedes@chua.min-saude.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 25 February 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 26 May 2022

Citation:

Malho Guedes A, Calças Marques R, Ribeiro B, Fernandes MT, Faísca M, Silva AP, Bragança J and Rodrigues A (2022) Peritoneal Protein Loss, Inflammation, and Nutrition: Refuting Myths. Front. Med. 9:884061. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.884061

Peritoneal protein loss (PPL) has been correlated with mortality, malnutrition and inflammation. More recently overhydration was brought to the equation. This study aims to review classic and recent factors associated with PPL. Prevalent and incident peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients were included. Dialysate and serum IL-6 was obtained during PET. Hydration and nutritional status were assessed by bio-impedance. Linear regression and Cox regression were performed. The 78 included patients presented median values of PPL 4.8 g/24 h, serum IL-6: 5.1 pg/mL, and IL-6 appearance rate 153.5 pg/min. Mean extracellular water excess (EWexc) was 0.88 \pm 0.94 L, and lean body mass index (LBMI) 17.3 \pm 2.4 kg/m². After mean follow-up of 33.9 \pm 29.3 months, 12 patients died. Linear univariable analysis showed positive associations between PPL and small solute transport, body composition (LBMI and EWexc), comorbidities and performing CAPD (vs. cycler). PPL correlated positively with dialysate appearance rate of IL-6, but not with serum IL-6. Linear multivariable analysis confirmed positive association between PPL and EWexc (p = 0.012; 95%CI: 4.162–31.854), LBMI (p =0.008; 95%CI: 1.720–11.219) and performing CAPD (p = 0.023; 95%CI: 4.375–54.190). In survival analysis, no relationship was found between mortality and PPL. Multivariable Cox regression showed Charlson Comorbidity Index (HR: 1.896, 95%CI: 1.235–2.913), overhydration (HR: 10.034, 95%CI: 1.426–70.587) and lower PPL (HR: 0.576, 95%CI: 0.339-0.978) were predictors for mortality. Overhydration, was a strong predictor of PPL, overpowering variables previously reported as determinants of PPL, namely clinical correlates of endothelial dysfunction or local inflammation. PPL were not associated with malnutrition or higher mortality, emphasizing the importance of volume overload control in PD patients.

Keywords: peritoneal protein loss, peritoneal dialysis, inflammation, nutrition, overhydration

INTRODUCTION

The clinical significance of peritoneal protein loss (PPL) has been a matter of controversy. It has been seen as a detrimental consequence of peritoneal dialysis for many years (1, 2). Many studies correlated this protein leakage with higher mortality (3–7), malnutrition (8), and inflammation (9). Other authors found PPL to be related with cardiovascular events (10). Such conclusions are commonly explained by the concept of systemic endothelial barrier dysfunction and hence increased peritoneal leak of serum proteins could be seen a biomarker of vascular comorbidity, leading to worse survival (11). In this context, inflammation has been advocated as one of the driving forces for protein leakage. First clinical evidence arose initially from peritonitis (12), and then this debate evolved from an initial culprit systemic inflammation (9) to a consistent focus on local inflammation (11).

In spite of that, several authors have shown other survival cohorts, refuting the association with PPL with all-cause or cardiovascular mortality (10, 13–15). More recent knowledge has brought overhydration to this equation (16, 17), claiming fluid volume overload as a major culprit for PPL attributed mortality. Furthermore, other attributed consequences of PPL, such as malnutrition, have also been refuted in recent papers. Do et al. demonstrated that PPL is not associated with muscle mass, strength or sarcopenia, as long-term markers of malnutrition (18).

Controversy is far from over, and confounders should be identified. By combining critical methodological issues such as effluent and serum biomarkers, the aim of this study is to review classic and recent factors associated with peritoneal protein loss and its consequences on overall mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS Study Design, Patient Population, and Variables

This single center, longitudinal study, included prevalent and incident peritoneal dialysis, from March 2015 to March 2021, with follow up until the 31st December of 2021. Inclusion criteria comprised a modified PET, using 3.86/4.25% glucose solutions and interleukin-6 determination (both in serum and 4-h peritoneal effluent). Simultaneously, a 24-h collection of spent dialysate was obtained. Effluent protein was measured using the biuret reaction method and peritoneal protein loss (PPL) is expressed as grams per 24-h. Hydration and nutritional status were assessed by simultaneous multifrequency bioelectrical impedance (InBody S10 Body Composition Analysis; Biospace, Seoul, South Korea). Extracellular water excess (ECWexc) was calculated by ECW measured- $-0.613 \times$ intracellular water (ICW) measured (19). Exception made for overhydration control in heart failure patients (performing a daily exchange of icodextrin), all other patients were eligible for performing PET.

Baseline demographics and clinical features were registered, namely age, gender, weight, height, medication, cause of kidney failure, dialysis duration, residual renal urine volume and solute clearance. Charlson Comorbidity Index was calculated at the time of study inclusion¹. Routine biochemical analyses were performed by an automatic chemistry analyzer (Architect ci8200 Abbot[®]). Creatinine was measured with an enzymatic method to prevent glucose interference. Serum high sensitivity C reactive protein (CRP) was determined by immunoturbidimetry at the time of the PET. Residual renal function (RRF) was assessed as the mean of urea and creatinine clearance from the 24-h urine collection. Urea clearance index (Kt/V urea) was derived from the 24-h urine and PD effluent collection.

All patients were treated with reduced glucose degradation products content and a normal pH dialysis solution (Baxter[®] and Fresenius[®]). The maximum glucose concentration was 2.27%/2.3%. Patients who had active infection or malignancy, experienced acute hospital admissions or a peritonitis episode during the preceding 3 months, were excluded.

Sample IL-6 Analysis

Collected serum and peritoneal fluid samples were immediately stored at -80° C, until analysis. All samples had one or two freeze-thaw cycles before quantification. For the development of sandwich enzyme linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA), we used the DuoSet[®] ELISA Development System to measure Interleukin 6 (IL-6; DY206-05; R&D Systems Inc., Minneapolis, MN, USA), following the manufacturer's protocols and using all the recommended additional reagents. The ELISA was specific for human IL-6 and did not cross-react with human Recombinant human CNTF, G-CSF, gp130, IL-6 R, IL-11, IL-12, LIF, LIF R, and OSM. Duplicate readings were assayed using a TECAN Infinite[®]200 multimode reader (Mannedorf, Switzerland) for each standard, control, and sample and the average zero standard optical density (O.D.) was subtracted. A standard curve with the value of absorbance vs. the concentration was generated by reducing the data using the Quest GraphTM Four Parameter Logistic (4PL) Curve Calculator (20). The sample concentrations were then calculated from the determined absorbance values through the four-parameter logistic (4PL) standard curve, using the same software.

Statistical Analysis

Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check normality of the data. Results were expressed as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables, mean \pm standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables, and median (interquartile range) for skewed distributions. For description of the predictors of peritoneal protein loss uni- and multivariable linear regression were performed. Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure there was no violation of normality and linearity. All variables with a statistical association of p < 0.2 were used to create a multiple linear regression model to determine associations with PPL. The backward method was used to choose the best model, based on the highest adjusted R^2 .

Survival analysis, using Cox regression, was performed firstly as univariable analysis. The conditional backward method was used in the multivariate analysis, due to the low number of events.

¹https://www.mdcalc.com/charlson-comorbidity-index-cci (accessed during the study time period).

The statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 22.0. Statistical significance was considered at or below a 5% level.

RESULTS

Patients' Characteristics

A total of 78 patients were included (54 incident, 24 prevalent) out of 118 (**Figure 1**). **Table 1** displays the main baseline characteristics. Diabetes-associated renal disease was the most frequent etiology of renal failure (23%), followed by glomerular disease in 19%, tubulo-interstitial disease in 17%, vascular disease in 12%, and unknown in 19% of the patients. Anuria was present in three patients. The baseline evaluation was performed on the first month of technique (interquartile interval 1–8 months) and these patients had a mean follow-up of 33.9 ± 29.3 months.

Univariable Correlation With PPL and Best Multivariable Model

Linear univariable analysis showed positive associations between PPL and (1) small solute transport, as measured by D/P creatinine, (2) body composition, as measured by lean body mass index and overhydration, (3) comorbidities, namely presence of cardiovascular disease or measured by Charlson Comorbidity Index, pulse pressure, older age or male gender (**Table 1**, right column), (4) performing CAPD vs. cycler. The peritoneal protein loss also correlated positively with dialysate appearance rate of IL-6, but not with serum IL-6. A strong negative correlation was seen between PPL serum albumin and total protein. No significant difference in PPL was found according to icodextrin use or time on PD.

To avoid collinearity, variables with the same biologic meaning were excluded from the multivariable analysis, specifically extracellular water excess was included (excluding extracellular/total body water), and also albumin was entered



in the model (ignoring total protein). All the other variables with *p*-value < 0.2 shown in **Table 1** were included. By linear multivariable analysis, using the backward method, the model with the best adjusted R^2 -value showed a significant positive association between PPL and extracellular water excess (95% CI: 4.162–31.854; *p* = 0.012), lean body mass index (95% CI: 1.720–11.219; *p* = 0.008) and performing CAPD (95% CI: 4.375–54.190; *p* = 0.023) were validated. In the best model, cardiovascular disease was considered without attaining statistical significance (**Table 2**).

Survival Analysis

Overall, 12 patients died (5 deaths due to cardiovascular events, 2 in the context of catastrophic gastrointestinal hemorrhage, 1 death due to Covid-associated pneumonia, 1 death after aspiration pneumonia, other due to vasculitis recurrence and 2 deaths attributed to cachexia). During follow-up. the annual mortality rate of our Unit averaged 6.3%.

In the exploratory survival analysis, no relationship was found between mortality and PPL (HR: 1.020, 95% CI: 0.777–1.339, p = 0.886). A univariable positive association was shown with age (HR: 1.077, 95% CI: 1.014–1.144, p = 0.016), serum IL-6 concentration (HR: 1.024, 95% CI: 1.006–1.044, p = 0.011), pulse pressure (HR: 1.038, 95% CI: 1.002–1.075, p = 0.039), overhydration (HR: 2.771, 95% CI: 1.267–6.058, p = 0.011) and Charlson Comorbidity Index (HR: 1.331, 95% CI: 1.094–1.620, p = 0.004). The presence of cardiovascular disease at baseline assessment showed a trend for worse outcome (HR: 3.101, 95% CI: 0.976–9.854, p = 0.055). Higher serum albumin levels were found to be protective (HR: 0.339, 95% CI: 0.117–0.981, p = 0.046).

In this early-stage PD population, with globally preserved residual kidney function and lean body mass, an effect of these variables on mortality was not evident. Also, no association with gender, diabetes, dialysate appearance rate of IL-6, CAPD/APD technique or D/P creatinine was found.

Cox regression, conditional backward method, variables included are depicted in **Table 3**, showed Charlson Comorbidity Index (HR: 1.896, 95% CI: 1.235–2.913, p = 0.003), overhydration (HR: 10.034, 95% CI: 1.426–70.587, p = 0.021) and lower peritoneal protein loss (HR: 0.576, 95% CI: 0.339–0.978, p = 0.041) were predictors for mortality.

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to analyze peritoneal protein loss determinants and to explore prognostic consequences. Most commonly established pathways for higher peritoneal protein leak have been inflammation, in turn associated with peritoneal solute transport rate, and endothelial dysfunction.

In the analyzed cohort, the univariable analysis showed a consistent association of PPL with small solute transport and dialysate appearance rate of IL-6. Davies et al., established that peritoneal protein clearance was a function of local inflammation (as reflected by the product of effective membrane area and local
TABLE 1 | Characterization of the patient population (n = 78 patients) and linear univariable regression with peritoneal protein loss.

Demographics and comorbidities			Linear regression with PPL	
		В	95% CI	р
Age (years)	56 (41–70)	0.048	0.012, 0.085	0.010
Gender, male (%)	65%	1.585	0.187, 2.984	0.027
Follow-up (months)	22 (13–53)			
Charlson comorbidity index	4 (2-6)	0.341	0.062, 0.619	0.017
Diabetes mellitus	26%			n.s.
Cardiovascular disease	27%	1.888	0.401, 3.374	0.014
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	138 (122–160)			n.s.
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	87 ± 21			n.s.
Pulse pressure (mmHg)	48 (40–67)	0.037	0.000, 0.074	0.047
Biochemical evaluation				
Hemoglobin (g/L)	118 ± 15			n.s.
Blood urea nitrogen (mmol/L)	56.2 ± 17.6			n.s.
Creatinine (µmol/L)	566 (389–796)			n.s.
Glucose (mmol/L)	7.0 (5.9–10.5)			n.s.
Total protein (g/L)	69.3 ± 8.1	-1.183	-2.001, -0.365	<0.001
Albumin (g/L)	39.7 ± 7.2			0.032
High sensitivity C-reactive protein (g/L)	3.7 (1.6-8.1)			n.s.
Interleukin-6 (pg/mL)	5.1 (3.9–9.9)	-1.036	-1.893, -0.089	n.s.
Dialysis				
CAPD (vs. cycler)	31%	2.749	1.401, 4.097	<0.001
Icodextrin use	33%			n.s.
Peritoneal equilibration test and adequacy				
Time on PD (months)	1 (1-8)			n.s.
D/P creatinine	0.65 ± 0.12	6.595	0.803, 12.387	0.026
Net UF (mL/4 h)	871 ± 259			n.s.
RRF (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	6.0 (4.1–9.1)			n.s.
Kt/V _{urea} (/week)	2.26 (1.97-2.76)			n.s.
Creatinine clearance (L/1.73/week)	86.5 (65.8–118.6)			n.s.
Peritoneal protein loss (g/24 h)	4.8 (3.8–6.8)			
IL-6 appearance rate (pg/min)*	153.5 (80.7–347.7)	0.002	0.000, 0.004	0.020
Bioelectrical impedance assessment				
Soft lean mass/height ² (kg/m ²)**	17.3 ± 2.4	0.455	0.160, 0.750	0.003
Extracellular/total body water (%)	39.4 ± 1.5	53.277	3.981, 102.574	0.035
Extracellular water excess (L)	0.88 ± 0.94	1.365	0.646, 2.083	<0.001

n.s., non-significant (p-values are shown when < 0.2).

IL-6 appearance rate = peritoneal IL-6^{} effluent volume/dwell time in minutes.

**LBMI reference values: 16.7 kg/m² in males and 13.8 kg/m² in females; for the diagnosis of sarcopenia in PD patients (21).

dialysate IL-6 appearance rate) and not systemic inflammation in patients commencing PD (11). Supporting this notion, in our study systemic inflammation, as assessed by serum Il-6, did not predict higher PPL.

The association of PPL and comorbidities, such as measured by Charlson Comorbidity Index, the presence of cardiovascular disease, higher pulse pressure or older age, have been described in several other cohorts, reinforcing the endothelial dysfunction as the origin for such associations (10, 13, 15, 17).

However, multivariable analysis does not support such inferences. The best explicative model enhances overhydration, better nutrition and performing CAPD as best predictors for higher PPL. As for overhydration, previous studies have established a pathophysiologic mechanism: fluid overload as an important cause for increased venous pressure, causing protein escape from the microcirculation in its venular segment due to venular hydrostatic pressure (16, 17). The magnitude of this increase can be assessed by patients' peritoneal protein loss. Regarding nutritional status, lean body mass index (LBMI) measured by BIA and corrected for body height square has been used as a useful marker (22). Our cohort shows that higher LBMI was independently associated with higher PPL, contradicting the previous viewpoint that higher PPL may cause hypoalbuminemia and malnutrition (1). Previous cohort studies have found similar results, defending that PPL can

TABLE 2 | Risk factors associated with peritoneal protein loss.

Variable	PPL				
	В	β	95% CI	Tolerance	VIF
CAPD (vs. APD)	1.769	0.265*	(0.284, 3.254)	0.841	1.190
Extracellular water excess	0.789	0.242*	(0.01, 1.567)	0.729	1.371
Cardiovascular disease	1.110	0.150	(-0.559, 2.779)	0.816	1.225
Lean body mass index	0.373	0.293	(0.106, 0.641)	0.950	1.053

Multivariable linear regression model (backward method), variables included in the model: age, gender, Charlson comorbidity index, cardiovascular disease, pulse pressure, serum IL-6 and albumin levels, CAPD (vs. APD), D/P creatinine, residual kidney function, IL-6 appearance rate, extracellular water excess, peritoneal protein loss and lean body mass. *mean p < 0.005.

Adjusted R²: 0.324, F: 8.773, Durbin Watson: 2.059.

TABLE 3 | Risk factors predictive of mortality.

Variable	All-cause mortality			
	HR	95% CI	p	
Charlson Comorbidity Index	1.896	(1.235, 2.913)	0.003	
Extracellular water excess	10.034	(1.426, 70.587)	0.021	
Peritoneal protein loss	0.576	(0.339, 0.978)	0.041	

Multivariable Cox regression model (conditional backward method), variables included in the model: age, gender, Charlson comorbidity index, cardiovascular disease, pulse pressure, serum IL-6 and albumin levels, residual kidney function, extracellular water excess, peritoneal protein loss and lean body mass.

be compensated by an adequate dietary intake (2, 18) and those patients who have better nutritional state may have more sufficient protein reserves, as well as more active protein metabolism in the peritoneal cavity and lead to more protein loss (18, 23). As for the relation of peritoneal protein leak with PD technique, this issue has also revealed to be a controversial topic. Kathuria et al., back in 1997, found no difference in nocturnal intermittent PD vs. CAPD, in terms of peritoneal protein leakage (24). In our cohort CAPD was associated with higher PPL. This comes in accordance to an interventional study, done by Cueto-Manzano et al., demonstrating lower PPL with short dwell-time periods and extended dry periods (25). Despite the controversy, APD could be a more feasible option in nephrotic patients, in order to decrease PPL, which could aggravate the clinical features in presence of the high proteinuria (opinion).

In the exploratory survival analysis, higher mortality was higher in overhydrated patients, with higher Charlson Comorbidity Index, but not peritoneal protein losses. The importance of fluid overload explains the association between peritoneal protein clearance and mortality reported in some epidemiologic studies and refutes assumptions on a possible role of endothelial dysfunction or inflammation (17, 26). The present study presents with a number of limitations. It was a single-center cross study with a limited number of participants, mostly in early stage of PD exposure. The low number of deaths and the lengthiness of the study could be a limitation for the survival analysis. Strengths of this study rely on the use of measured total protein for 24 h peritoneal protein loss (instead of calculation) and second, the early stage of PD exposure can also be seen as a strength, as it enables insight in normal peritoneal physiology. Third, the use of bioimpedance to evaluate the link between PPL and body composition as an important evaluation tool, allowing the adjustment for multiple confounding covariates. It is recommendable to confirm these results in larger series.

This study illustrates the importance of overhydration, as a strong predictor of PPL, overpowering variables previously reported as determinants of PPL, namely clinical correlates of endothelial dysfunction or local inflammation. Also, survival analysis demonstrates the importance of overhydration as a strong prognostic factor. Peritoneal protein losses were not associated with malnutrition or higher mortality, emphasizing the importance of volume overload control, amenable by adjusted dialysis prescription, diuretic and water intake restriction.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Centro Hospitalar Universitário do Algarve (UAIF 192/2019). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM: responsible for the investigational project, elaboration of the manuscript, and statistical analyses. RC and BR: responsible for clinical care and data collection. BR, MTF, MF, and JB: responsible for biological samples care and analysis. AS and AR: responsible for the investigational project and for reviewing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the grant numbers UIDB/00215/2020, UIDP/00215/2020, and LA/P/0064/2020 respectively.

REFERENCES

- Dulaney JT, Hatch FE, Jr. Peritoneal dialysis and loss of proteins: a review. *Kidney Int.* (1984) 26:253–62. doi: 10.1038/ki.1984.167
- 2 Malho Guedes A. Peritoneal protein loss, leakage or peritoneal clearance in dialysis, where do we stand? Perit Dial (2019) 39:201-9. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018. Int. 00138
- 3. Rajakaruna G, Caplin B, Davenport A. Peritoneal protein clearance rather than faster transport status determines outcomes in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2015) 35:216–21. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00217
- Lu W, Pang WF, Jin L, Li H, Chow KM, Kwan BC, et al. Peritoneal protein clearance predicts mortality in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Exp Nephrol.* (2019) 23:551–60. doi: 10.1007/s10157-018-1677-9
- Perl J, Huckvale K, Chellar M, John B, Davies SJ. Peritoneal protein clearance and not peritoneal membrane transport status predicts survival in a contemporary cohort of peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2009) 4:1201. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01910309
- Heaf JG, Sarac S, Afzal S. A high peritoneal large pore fluid flux causes hypoalbuminemia and is a risk factor for death in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2005) 20:2194–201. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfi008
- Pérez-Fontán M, Rodríguez-Carmona A, Barreda D, López Muñiz A, Blanco Castro N, García Falcón T. Peritoneal protein transport during the baseline peritoneal equilibration test is an accurate predictor of the outcome of peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephron Clin Pract.* (2010) 116:c104– 13. doi: 10.1159/000314659
- Kang DH, Yoon KI, Choi KB, Lee R, Lee HY, Han DS, et al. Relationship of peritoneal membrane transport characteristics to the nutritional status in CAPD patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (1999) 14:1715– 22. doi: 10.1093/ndt/14.7.1715
- Tang Y. Zhong H, Diao Y, Qin M, Zhou X. Peritoneal transport rate, systemic inflammation, and residual renal function determine peritoneal protein clearance in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2014) 46:2215–9. doi: 10.1007/s11255-014-0744-8
- Chang TI, Kang EW, Lee YK, Shin SK. Higher peritoneal protein clearance as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in peritoneal dialysis patient. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e56223. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056223
- Yu Z, Lambie M, Chess J, Williams A, Do J-Y, Topley N, Davies SJ. Peritoneal protein clearance is a function of local inflammation and membrane area whereas systemic inflammation and comorbidity predict survival of incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Front Physiol.* (2019) 10:105. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00105
- Zemel D, Koomen GCM, Hart AAM, ten Berge RJM, Struijk DG, Krediet RT. Relationship of TNFat interleukin-6 and prostaglandins to peritoneal permeability for macromolecules during longitudinal follow-up of peritonitis in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *J Lab Clin Med.* (1993) 122:686– 96. doi: 10.1159/000187340
- Sanchez-Villanueva R, Bajo A, del Peso G, Fernandez-Reyes, González E, Romero S, et al. Higher daily peritoneal protein clearance when initiating peritoneal dialysis is independently associated with peripheral arterial disease (PAD): a possible new marker of systemic endothelial dysfunction? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2009) 24:1009–14. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn595
- Balafa O, Halbesma N, Struijk DG, Dekker FW, Krediet RT. Peritoneal albumin and protein losses do not predict outcome in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:561–6. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05540610
- Elsurer R, Afsar B, Sezer S, Ozdemir FN, Haberal M. Peritoneal albumin leakage: 2-year prospective cardiovascular event occurrence and patient survival analysis. *Nephrology.* (2009) 14:712–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2009.01103.x

- Krediet RT, Yoowannakul S, Harris L, Davenport A. Relationships between peritoneal protein clearance and parameters of fluid status agree with clinical observations in other diseases that venous congestion increases microvascular protein escape. *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:155–62. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00016
- Malho Guedes A, Marques R, Domingos AT, Silva AP, Bernardo I, Neves PL, Rodrigues A, Krediet RT. Overhydrattion may be the missing link between peritoneal protein clearance and mortality. *Nephron.* (2021) 145:474–80. doi: 10.1159/000516531
- Do JY, Kim AY, Kang SH. Peritoneal protein loss is not associated with sarcopenia in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Front Med.* (2021) 8:653807. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.653807
- Ohashi Y, Joki N, Yamazaki K, Kawamura T, Tai R, Oguchi H, et al. Changes in the fluid volume balance between intra- and extracellular water in a sample of Japanese adults aged 15-88 yr old: a cross-sectional study. *Am J Physiol.* (2018) 314:F614–22. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00477.2017
- AAT Bioquest, Inc. Quest GraphTM Four Parameter Logistic (4PL) Curve Calculator. Available online at: https://www.aatbio.com/tools/fourparameter-logistic-4pl-curve-regression-online-calculator (accessed August 12, 2021).
- 21. Xu X, Yang Z, Ma T, Li Z, Chen Y, Zheng Y, et al. The cut-off values of handgrip strength and lean mass index for sarcopenia among patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Nutr Metab.* (2020) 17:84. doi: 10.1186/s12986-020-0 0506-3
- Desmeules S, Levesque R, Jaussent I, Leray-Moragues H, Chalabi L, Canaud B. Creatinine index and lean body mass are excellent predictors of longterm survival in haemodiafiltration patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2004) 19:1182–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfh016
- Fan J, Ye H, Zhang X, Cao P, Guo Q, Mao H, et al. Association of lean body mass index and peritoneal protein clearance in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2019) 44:94–102. doi: 10.1159/000498841
- Kathuria P, Moore HL, Khanna R, Twardowski ZJ, Goel S, Nolph KD. Effect of dialysis modality and membrane transport characteristics on dialysate protein losses of patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int*. (1997) 17:449– 54. doi: 10.1177/089686089701700507
- Cueto-Manzano AM, Gamba G, Correa-Rotter R. Peritoneal protein loss in patients with high peritoneal permeability: comparison between continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis and daytime intermittent peritoneal dialysis. *Arch Med Res.* (2001) 32:197–201. doi: 10.1016/S0188-4409(01)00271-5
- Krediet RT, Barreto DL, van Diepen AT. Assessment of the size selectivity of peritoneal permeability by the restriction coefficient to protein transport. *Perit Dial Int.* (2022) 1:8968608221075102. doi: 10.1177/08968608221075102

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Malho Guedes, Calças Marques, Ribeiro, Fernandes, Faísca, Silva, Bragança and Rodrigues. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Sacubitril-Valsartan Increases Ultrafiltration in Patients Undergoing Peritoneal Dialysis: A Short-Term Retrospective Self-Controlled Study

Fen Zhang[†], Tingting Zhang[†], Sisi Yang[†], Di Wang, Qianqian Zhuo, Xianhui Qin, Nirong Gong^{*} and Jun Ai^{*}

State Key Laboratory of Organ Failure Research, Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Renal Failure Research, Guangzhou Regenerative Medicine and Health Guangdong Laboratory, National Clinical Research Center of Kidney Disease, Division of Nephrology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

Reviewed by:

Anping Xu, Sun Yat-sen Memorial Hospital, China María Azancot, Vall d'Hebron University Hospital, Spain Rachel Lasky, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

*Correspondence:

Nirong Gong 77734601@qq.com Jun Ai aij1980@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 08 December 2021 Accepted: 17 May 2022 Published: 03 June 2022

Citation:

Zhang F, Zhang T, Yang S, Wang D, Zhuo Q, Qin X, Gong N and Ai J (2022) Sacubitril-Valsartan Increases Ultrafiltration in Patients Undergoing Peritoneal Dialysis: A Short-Term Retrospective Self-Controlled Study. Front. Med. 9:831541. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.831541 **Aim:** There are few data about the effectiveness and safety of angiotensin receptorneprilysin inhibitor (ARNI) sacubitril-valsartan in end-stage renal disease (ESRD) patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis (PD). The present study was conducted to evaluate the association between sacubitril-valsartan treatment and peritoneal ultrafiltration (PUF) in PD patients.

Methods and Results: Forty-seven ESRD patients undergoing PD for at least 3 months without severe congestive heart failure (CHF) were included in this study. Sacubitril-valsartan (generally 100 mg b.i.d) was administered after consultation with the nephrologist. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) were required to be discontinued 36 h before prescribing sacubitril-valsartan. Other treatments and dialysis modality did not change. Baseline demographic and clinical parameters were collected before ARNI administration, and daily PUF, urine volume, total output, blood pressure (BP), and body weight were collected within 7 days before and after ARNI treatment. After treated with sacubitril-valsartan, 30 patients (63.8%) had a significant increase of PUF [up to 150.4 (110.7, 232.1) ml per day], while the remaining 17 (36.2%) had a slight decrease. The overall increase of PUF was 66.4 (21.4, 123.2) ml/24 h within the 7 days after sacubitril-valsartan administration, which was significantly higher than those before (P = 0.004). Total output, BP, and body weight also significantly improved. No adverse drug reactions were observed.

Conclusions: Our study indicated that sacubitril-valsartan was associated with the increase of short-term PUF and total output in PD patients.

Keywords: sacubitril-valsartan, ultrafiltration, blood pressure, peritoneal dialysis, short-term

INTRODUCTION

Sacubitril-valsartan, a first-inclass angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor (ARNI), is a sodium salt complex of sacubitril [a neprilysin inhibitor (NEPI)] and valsartan [an angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB)] in a 1:1 molar ratio (1–3). This complex may present significant advancement over angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibition or ARB alone, because NEP inhibition

acts synergistically with renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) blockade, which could dilate blood vessels, strengthen diuresis and natriuresis, prevent cardiac remodeling, and support cardiomyocyte survival (4, 5). In PARADIGM-HF (Prospective Comparison of ARNI with ACE inhibitor to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and Morbidity in Heart Failure) study, sacubitril-valsartan led to significantly lower all-cause and cardiovascular mortality of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) compared to enalapril alone (6). Subsequent researches on ARNI also confirmed this (7-9). In addition, sacubitril-valsartan plays an important role in antihypertension (10-14) and renal protection, regardless of baseline renal function (15). Therefore, ARNI is recommended by the International Society of Hypertension Global Hypertension Practice Guidelines for patients with HF or hypertension (16). However, the effectiveness and safety of ARNI have not been well evaluated in patients with severe renal insufficiency (those with glomerular filtration rate $<30 \text{ ml/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$).

Recently, sacubitril-valsartan was applied in advanced chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients (stage IV or V) with HFrEF in a real-world clinical setting, and the positive results were supported by lower overall mortality, cardiovascular death, and re-hospitalization (9). In addition, Tang et al. (8) had undertaken a cohort study focused on peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients with HFpEF (HF with preserved ejection fraction). Of the 21 patients analyzed at last, HF was greatly improved after sacubitril-valsartan administration, not only in clinical signs and symptoms, but also in biochemical indicators. However, data on ARNI treatment in PD patients are still lacking, and the mechanisms of ARNI on HF remain unclear.

Following oral administration, sacubitril-valsartan is rapidly hydrolyzed in vivo by carboxyl esterase 1 to the active NEPI, sacubitril, which could inhibit NEP, enhance natriuretic peptide (NP) system activity, and suppress RAAS activation (2-5). Besides cardiovascular (reducing systemic vascular resistance and ventricular preload) and neuro-endocrine (inhibiting sympathetic nerve input and increasing vagus nerve input) activities, sacubitril-valsartan could enhance diuretic and natriuretic actions, regulate sodium-water balance, and improve blood volume (17-19). However, this might not work in endstage renal disease (ESRD) patients due to severe renal injury and anuria. In PD patients, a major way to remove fluid out of the body is peritoneal ultrafiltration (PUF), especially in those without residual renal function (RRF) (20). Failure of PUF is closely related to water retention and overload, hypertension resistance (21), pulmonary edema (22), and acute or congestive heart failure (CHF) (23). Could ARNI affect PUF? To validate it, we conducted this short-term study involving 47 PD patients.

METHODS

Study Design and Patients

This was a short-term retrospective self-controlled study enrolled ESRD patients who underwent PD more than 3 month, were over 18 years, and received sacubitril-valsartan in the Department of Nephrology, Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University from June 1st 2020 to June 30th 2021. All patients were

treated with continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD) or automated PD (APD). Patients with acute infection, trauma, autoimmune disease, active rheumatic diseases, or complicated with severe HF {New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class III or IV, or serum NT-proBNP \geq 11,215.5 pg/ml (24)}, or those transferred to hemodialysis or kidney transplantation within 1 month were excluded. Sacubitril-valsartan was administered after consultation with nephrologist. ACE inhibitors and ARBs were required to be discontinued 36 h before prescribing sacubitrilvalsartan. The dose of sacubitril-valsartan was usually 100 mg b.i.d. (25) and no patients discontinued the drug during followup. Treatments including dialysis modality, frequency, dialysate glucose concentration, or anti-hypertensive drugs other than ACE inhibitors/ARB did not change. Other drugs were also continued. The study protocol was approved by the research ethics committee of Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University (Ethics number NFEC-2019-223), and all participants provided written informed consent.

Data Collection

Baseline demographic and clinical parameters prior to sacubitrilvalsartan administration, including age, gender, body mass index (BMI), PD vintage, dialysate glucose concentration, weekly Kt/V (weekly urea clearance index), primary kidney disease, medical histories, laboratory data and drug use were obtained from medical records and inspection systems. Daily clinical parameters including PUF, urine volume (UV), total output, body weight and blood pressure (BP) were collected within 7 days before and after sacubitril-valsartan treatment.

Conventional weekly Kt/V was measured by standard methods (26). Dialysate glucose concentration (%) was calculated as Σ (glucose concentration × input volume)/total input volume. For example, if a patient is treated by CAPD with 1.5% dialysate × $2L \times 2$ and 2.5% dialysate × $2L \times 2$, the dialysate glucose concentration equals to 2.0% [($1.5\% \times 2L \times 2 + 2.5\% \times 2L \times 2$)/8L]. Total output was calculated as PUF plus UV. Changes of PUF (Δ Ultrafiltration) = [Σ PUF after ARNI application (PUF after) – Σ PUF before ARNI application (PUF before)]/7. Changes of UV (Δ UV), total output (Δ Total output), body weight (Δ body weight), Systolic BP (Δ SBP), and diastolic BP (Δ DBP) were calculated as the same method.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 22.0 for Windows and RStudio software, version 4.0.2. Descriptive results of continuous variables were presented as mean \pm SD or medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs), and categorical variables were reported as percentages and numbers. Paired sample *t*-test (normal distribution data) and Wilcoxon paired signed rank test (non-parametric data) were used to compare the self-matching data of PUF, UV, total output, body weight, and BP. The differences of PUF, UV, total output, body weight, and BP before and after ARNI treatment were shown as pseudo-median or mean and 95% confidence interval (CI). The pseudo-median is calculated through Wilcoxon signed rank test with continuity TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of PD patients before ARNI application.

Variables	All patients ($N = 47$)
Demographics	
Age, year	45.9 ± 12.4
Gender, male/female	28/19
BMI, kg/m ²	21.6 (20.4, 23.1)
PD characteristics	
CAPD, <i>n</i> (%)	41 (87.2)
Dialysate GLUC, %	1.9 (1.5, 2.0)
PD vintage, months	27.0 (6.0, 51.0)
Weekly Kt/V	2.0 (1.8, 2.5)
Causes of ESRD	
Chronic glomerulonephritis, n (%)	26 (55.3)
Diabetic kidney disease, n (%)	3 (6.4)
Hypertensive nephropathy, n (%)	9 (19.1)
Obstructive nephropathy, n (%)	2 (4.3)
Others	7 (14.9)
Medical history	
Hypertension, n (%)	42 (89.4)
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	10 (21.3)
Laboratory values	
Blood hemoglobin, g/L	100.4 ± 16.6
Serum albumin, g/L	36.8 (33.2, 40.9)
Serum creatinine, µmoL/L	918.0 (731.0, 1,178.0)
NT-proBNP, pg/ml	3,732.5 (940.1, 9,563.8
LVEF, %	66.5 ± 9.0
Medication use	
ACE inhibitors or ARBs, n (%)	27 (57.4)
Diuretics, n (%)	12 (25.5)

Values are mean ± SD, proportion or interquartile range (IQR). ARNI, angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor; BMI, body mass index; PD, peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory PD; GLUC, glucose concentration; Weekly Kt/V, weekly fractional clearance index for urea; ESRD, end-stage renal disease; NT-proBNP, N-terminal-proB-type natriuretic peptide; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; ACE inhibitors, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors; ARBs, angiotensin Il receptor blockers.

correction (27, 28). All tests were two-tailed, and a P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

From June 2020 to June 2021, 50 PD patients were recruited. Among them, one patient developed a floating tube, one was complicated with severe HF, one was dropped due to personal reason, and 47 patients have entered the last analysis (**Supplementary Figure 1**). As shown in **Table 1**, the mean age was 45.9 ± 12.4 -year-old, male/female proportion was 28/19, median BMI was $21.6 (20.4, 23.1) \text{ kg/m}^2$, and median PD vintage was 27.0 (6.0, 51.0) months. The mean left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was $66.5 \pm 9.0\%$. The underlying kidney diseases were chronic glomerulonephritis (55.3%), diabetic kidney disease (6.4%), hypertensive nephropathy (19.1%), obstructive nephropathy (4.3%), and others (14.9%).

Changes of PUF, Total Output, UV and Body Weight After Sacubitril-Valsartan Initiating

To evaluate the water clearance status, we analyzed the changes of PUF, UV, and total output in these PD patients. After sacubitrilvalsartan treatment, 30 (63.8%) patients had a significant increase in PUF, while the left 17 (36.2%) decreased slightly (Figure 1; Supplementary Table 1). The pseudo-median daily PUF increase was 66.4 (21.4, 123.2) ml in all PD patients, and 150.4 (110.7, 232.1) ml in the 30 patients (Table 2; Supplementary Table 1). For the total output (PUF plus UV), 31 patients had increased volume with the pseudo-median of 171.4 (114.3, 232.1) ml/24 h, the left 16 patients had decreased slightly [-66.9, (-165.0, -46.3)]ml/24 h], and the overall increase was 81.1 (28.6, 139.3) ml/24 h (Table 2, Figure 2; Supplementary Table 1). No significant differences existed in UV (Table 2; Supplementary Figure 2). Therefore, the body weight also decreased [-0.4, (-0.7, -0.1)]kg/d, P = 0.005, Table 2; Supplementary Figure 5]. Changes of daily PUF, UV, and total output for every patient were shown in Supplementary Figure 3. These data suggested that sacubitrilvalsartan could increase PUF and total output in PD patients.

Changes of BP Under Sacubitril-Valsartan Treatment

Hypertension management is another outstanding role of ARNI (10). Then we established the effect of sacubitril-valsartan in BP. After sacubitril-valsartan treatment, the SBP level did decrease with the mean of -5.9 (-8.8, -3.0) mmHg (P < 0.001), and the DBP level also decreased (**Table 2**, **Figure 3**). Before receiving sacubitril-valsartan, one patient received ACE inhibitor, 26 patients received ARB, and no patient was treated with ACE inhibitor and ARB combination. Among them, the SBP levels also significantly improved (P = 0.017) (**Supplementary Table 1**). Detailed BPs within 7 days before and after sacubitril-valsartan treatment were shown in **Supplementary Figure 4**.

Safety of Sacubitril-Valsartan

We also established the safety of sacubitril-valsartan in this short-term study. None of the PD patients showed adverse drug reactions such as hypotension, hyperkalaemia, or angioedema (**Table 3**). These data were similar to those reported by Tang et al. (8), but seemed to be lower than those reported in HF population (**Table 3**) (6).

DISCUSSION

In this short-term self-controlled study, we have evaluated the role of sacubitril-valsartan on PUF in PD patients. After receiving sacubitril-valsartan, 30 patients had a great increase in PUF, reaching 150.4 ml per day. The total output also increased. Both systolic and diastolic BP significantly decreased. These data demonstrated the role of sacubitril-valsartan in water removal and BP control in PD patients.

HF is a major global public health problem that affects more than 64 million people worldwide (29). Substantial data demonstrated that HF is more common in CKD patients compared to those without CKD (30–33), and the prevalence



FIGURE 1 Changes of PUF (Δ Ultrafiltration) after sacubitril-valsartan initiating in PD patients. Daily PUF was collected within 7 days before (PUF before) and after (PUF after) sacubitril-valsartan treatment. Δ Ultrafiltration = [Σ (PUF after) – Σ (PUF before)]/7. After treated with sacubitril-valsartan, 30 patients had obvious increase of PUF (dark blue color), and 17 patients had slight decrease (light blue color). PUF, peritoneal ultrafiltration; PD, peritoneal dialysis.

TABLE 2 Comparison of the PUF, Total output, UV, Body weight and BP in PD patients before and after ARNI init	iating.
---	---------

Variables	Before ARNI	After ARNI	Difference	P-value
Abnormal distribution*				
PUF, ml/24 h	389.1 (255.4, 536.6)	485.7 (318.6, 647.5)	66.4 (21.4, 123.2)	0.004
Total output, ml/24 h	836.3 (739.3, 919.3)	905.7 (807.9, 1,002.9)	81.1 (28.6, 139.3)	0.003
UV, ml/24 h	532.1 (418.6, 657.1)	520.0 (378.6, 670.7)	20.0 (-41.4, 61.4)	0.446
Normal distribution [‡]				
Body weight, kg	60.0 (56.3, 63.8)	59.6 (56.0, 63.2)	-0.4 (-0.7, -0.1)	0.005
SBP, mmHg	144.6 (139.0, 150.1)	138.7 (133.5, 143.5)	-5.9 (-8.8, -3.0)	< 0.001
DBP, mmHg	91.9 (88.4, 95.5)	89.5 (85.9, 93.0)	-2.4 (-4.6, -0.3)	0.030

*Abnormal distribution, using Wilcoxon paired signed rank test, a non-parametric 95%CI and an estimator for the pseudo-median of the difference of the location parameters is computed. The calculation of the p-value was based on the range of pseudo-median of the distribution of difference. Accordingly, the data before and after ARNI were expressed as pseudo-median (95% CI).

[‡]Normal distribution, Using paired sample t-test, a 95%Cl and an estimator for the mean of the difference is computed. The calculation of the p-value was based on the range of the mean of difference. Accordingly, the data before and after ARNI were expressed as mean (95% Cl).

PUF, peritoneal ultrafiltration; UV, urine volume; BP, blood pressure; PD, peritoneal dialysis; ARNI, angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; CI, confidence interval.

increases with the renal function progression (31, 33, 34). In ESRD patients undergoing dialysis, the HF incidence increases to 12–36 times of the general population (31, 34). Even though PD is a kind of continuous dialysis model, patients are prone to suffer from CHF due to water-sodium retention (35), which are mainly caused by inefficient water removal (36), especially in those with peritonitis and micro-inflammation (37), long term high glucose exposure (38), peritoneal injury, and peritoneal fibrosis (39, 40). Full water removal and proper blood volume control are very important to improve cardiac function in this population (35). The most important way for water removal in PD patients is PUF because of RRF loss. Interestingly, the PUF of our 47 PD patients did increase rapidly after sacubitril-valsartan application. Within the 7 days after ARNI treatment, about 2/3 patients had a significant PUF increase with a pseudo-median daily volume of 150.4 ml. Of the left decreased 1/3 patients, the PUF changed slightly (-75.0 ml/24 h). The UV did not change after sacubitril-valsartan prescription, which might be caused by poor RRF (baseline pseudo-median UV was 532.1 ml, and 12 patients were anuria). Anyway, the total output was increased.



These data suggested that sacubitril-valsartan could improve water removal through increasing PUF, but not urine. Extra fluid removal of ARNI might contribute to cardiac function protection in PD population.

At present, more studies have proved the role of sacubitrilvalsartan on cardiac function (6-9), which might be the potential mechanism for better PUF. However, obvious improvement of cardiac function could be generally detected 1-3 months or even longer after ARNI application (41, 42). To ensure the safety, patients with severe HF at baseline have been excluded in our study, including those with NYHA functional class III or IV, or those with serum NT-proBNP \geq 11,215.5 pg/ml [due to the prolonged half-life and increased plasma concentration of NT-proBNP with the kidney function injury progression (43), and comprehensive consideration of sensitivity and specificity in ESRD patients (24)]. Their mean baseline LVEF score was 66.5 \pm 9.0 %. Most importantly, the changes of PUF were observed in a very short term (within 7 days) after sacubitril-valsartan administration. Taken together, although not retested, the effect of sacubitril-valsartan on PUF in PD patients seemed to be associated with ARNI itself, but not with the improvement of cardiac function. How ARNI affects PUF?

Sacubitril-valsartan could rapidly hydrolyze to sacubitril and valsartan after oral intake. Sacubitril could inhibit NEP, enhance NP system activity, and then exerting many biological activities (2–5), including extra water removal though renal tubular NEPI-NP activity. NEP, the zinc-dependent enzyme and type II integral membrane protein, could widely express on many kinds of epi-

and endothelial cells (renal, lung, heart, blood vessels, and so on) (44). Peritoneum, a key functional structure for PD, is mainly composed by capillary endothelial cells and peritoneal mesothelial cells (a special epithelial cell). Even though there were no evidence of NEP on peritoneal expression, inhibiting peritoneal endo-/epithelial cellular, NEP might be a potential mechanism for sacubitril-valsartan on PUF. Further cellular and animal experiments are needed for this hypothesis.

The excellent anti-hypertensive effect of ARNI has been confirmed recently (9–14). Compared to ACE inhibitor or ARB alone, ARNI acts synergistically with RAAS blockade, which leads additional anti-hypertensive activation (4, 5). In our study, 27 PD patients were converted to sacubitril-valsartan from ACE inhibitor / ARB, and the other 20 patients were added directly. All of them achieved better BP levels. Extra water removal by higher ultrafiltration and special activity of ARNI might be the reasons. However, the amount of anti-hypertensive drugs after sacubitril-valsartan treatment was higher than the original scheme (generally 2 tablets vs. 1 tablet in patients switched from ACE inhibitor/ARB, or 2 tablets vs. 0 tablet in patients added directly), which might be another key factor. Further comparative trails of ARNI vs. ACE inhibitor/ARB in a same dose for BP control are needed.

In existing studies, the common adverse drug reactions of ARNI are symptomatic hypotension, cough, renal impairment, hyperkalemia, and angio-oedema (6). In our study, no PD patients have shown any adverse drug reaction. However, this might be mainly caused by very short-term



observation (only 7 days after applying sacubitril-valsartan) and relatively small sample size (47 participants). The real side effects of sacubitril-valsartan in PD patients should be fully evaluated in the subsequent longer-term and larger sample size studies.

To our knowledge, data on ARNI treatment in PD patients are limited. Here we found that sacubitril-valsartan might improve PUF and BP in PD patients, and the self-controlled study setting could remove some confounding factors. However, there were several limitations. The first limitation is the sample size. Even

Events	McMurray et al.* (<i>N</i> = 4,203) (%)	Tang et al.** (N = 21) (%)	Current study (<i>N</i> = 47) (%)	
Hypotension	17.6	0	0	
Hyperkalaemia	11.6	0	0	
Cough	8.8	0	0	
Renal impairment	10.1	0	0	
Angioedema 0.5		0	0	

*McMurray et al. (6).

**Fu et al. (8).

though the sample size is larger than reported before (47 vs. 21 patients), it is still relatively small, which might bring us some errors. The second limitation is the observation period. We have only observed 7 days after ARNI administration. This shortterm observation gives us some detailed dynamic information and some hints, but could not predict long-term effects. We were unable to evaluate the effect of ARNI on cardiac function in this short observation period. Furthermore, side effects of ARNI in PD population could not be fully established. Third, prescription of ARNI was 200 mg per day according to the HF guidelines (25) and was higher than the original scheme, which might be a key factor of better BP control. Finally, retrospective cohort study did bring us some inevitable confounding factors. It is necessary to conduct larger sample size, longer term, prospective cohort, and randomized double-blinded controlled studies to confirm the effect of ARNI on PUF and cardiac function in PD patients.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study suggested that sacubitril-valsartan was associated with the increase of short-term PUF and total output in PD patients. This is a first study about the relationship between ARNI and extra water removal in PD patients. If further confirmed, ARNI application might bring us a potential method to improve water retention and cardiac function in PD population.

REFERENCES

- Ksander GM, Ghai RD, DeJesus R, Diefenbacher CG, Yuan A, Berry C, et al. Dicarboxylic acid dipeptide neutral endopeptidase inhibitors. J Med Chem. (1995) 38:1689–700. doi: 10.1021/jm00010a014
- Gu J, Noe A, Chandra P, Al-Fayoumi S, Ligueros-Saylan M, Sarangapani R, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of LCZ696, a novel dualacting angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor (ARNi). J Clin Pharmacol. (2010) 50:401–14. doi: 10.1177/0091270009343932
- Shi J, Wang X, Nguyen J, Wu AH, Bleske BE, Zhu HJ. Sacubitril is selectively activated by carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) in the liver and the activation is affected by CES1 genetic variation. *Drug Metab Dispos.* (2016) 44:554– 9. doi: 10.1124/dmd.115.068536
- Solomon SD, Zile M, Pieske B, Voors A, Shah A, Kraigher-Krainer E, et al. The angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor LCZ696 in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a phase 2 double-blind randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2012) 380:1387–95. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61227-6
- 5. Iborra-Egea O, Gálvez-Montón C, Roura S, Perea-Gil I, Prat-Vidal C, Soler-Botija C, et al. Mechanisms of action of sacubitril/valsartan on

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Nanfang Hospital (Ethics Number NFEC-2019-223). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JA, FZ, and TZ made substantial contributions to the conception and design of the study. FZ, TZ, SY, DW, and QZ were responsible for the acquisition of data, analysis, and interpretation of data. FZ and JA were involved in drafting the manuscript. JA, NG, and XQ were responsible for revising the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Nature and Science Foundation of China (No. 81770765) and Outstanding Youths Development Scheme of Nanfang Hospital, Southern Medical University (No. 2017J013) to JA.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to appreciate the assistance of all participants.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2022.831541/full#supplementary-material

cardiac remodeling: a systems biology approach. NPJ Syst Biol Appl. (2017) 3:12. doi: 10.1038/s41540-017-0013-4

- McMurray JJV, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, et al. Angiotensin–neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:993–1004. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1409077
- Haynes R, Judge PK, Staplin N, Herrington WG, Storey BC, Bethel A, et al. Effects of sacubitril/valsartan versus irbesartan in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Circulation.* (2018) 138:1505–14. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.034818
- Fu S, Xu Z, Lin B, Chen J, Huang Q, Xu Y, et al. Effects of sacubitril-valsartan in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Front Med.* (2021) 8:657067. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.657067
- Chang HY, Feng AN, Fong MC, Hsueh CW, Lai WT, Huang KC, et al. Sacubitril/valsartan in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction patients: real world experience on advanced chronic kidney disease, hypotension, and dose escalation. J Cardiol. (2019) 74:372–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2019.03.010
- Ruilope LM, Dukat A, Bohm M, Lacourciere Y, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP. Blood-pressure reduction with LCZ696, a novel dual-acting inhibitor of

the angiotensin II receptor and neprilysin: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, active comparator study. *Lancet.* (2010) 375:1255-66. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61966-8

- Kario K, Sun N, Chiang FT, Supasyndh O, Baek SH, Inubushi-Molessa A, et al. Efficacy and safety of LCZ696, a first-in-class angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, in Asian patients with hypertension: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Hypertension*. (2014) 63:698–705. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.02002
- Ito S, Satoh M, Tamaki Y, Gotou H, Charney A, Okino N, et al. Safety and efficacy of LCZ696, a first-in-class angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, in Japanese patients with hypertension and renal dysfunction. *Hypertens Res.* (2015) 38:269–75. doi: 10.1038/hr.2015.1
- Kario K, Tamaki Y, Okino N, Gotou H, Zhu M, Zhang J. LCZ696, a Firstin-class angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor: the first clinical experience in patients with severe hypertension. *J Clin Hypertens*. (2016) 18:308– 14. doi: 10.1111/jch.12667
- Huo Y, Li W, Webb R, Zhao L, Wang Q, Guo W. Efficacy and safety of sacubitril/valsartan compared with olmesartan in Asian patients with essential hypertension: a randomized, double-blind, 8-week study. J Clin Hypertens. (2018) 20:150–8. doi: 10.1111/jch.13437
- Damman K, Gori M, Claggett B, Jhund PS, Senni M, Lefkowitz MP, et al. Renal effects and associated outcomes during angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition in heart failure. *JACC Heart Fail.* (2018) 6:489–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2018.02.004
- Unger T, Borghi C, Charchar F, Khan NA, Poulter NR, Prabhakaran D, et al. 2020 International society of hypertension global hypertension practice guidelines. *Hypertension*. (2020) 75:1334–57. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.120.15026
- Vardeny O, Miller R, Solomon SD. Combined neprilysin and reninangiotensin system inhibition for the treatment of heart failure. *JACC Heart Fail*. (2014) 2:663–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2014.09.001
- Bayes-Genis A, Morant-Talamante N, Lupón J. Neprilysin and natriuretic peptide regulation in heart failure. *Curr Heart Fail Rep.* (2016) 13:151– 7. doi: 10.1007/s11897-016-0292-x
- Wang T, Tan R, Lee H, Ihm S, Rhee M, Tomlinson B, et al. Effects of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) on natriuresis, diuresis, blood pressures, and NT-proBNP in salt-sensitive hypertension. *Hypertension*. (2017) 69:32– 41. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.08484
- Krediet RT, Douma CE, van Olden RW. Ho-dac-Pannekeet MM, Struijk DG. augmenting solute clearance in peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int.* (1998) 54:2218–25. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00181.x
- Vaios V, Georgianos PI, Liakopoulos V, Agarwal R. Assessment and management of hypertension among patients on peritoneal dialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephro.* (2019) 14:297–305. doi: 10.2215/CJN.07480618
- Almeida CP, Ponce D, de Marchi AC, Balbi AL. Effect of peritoneal dialysis on respiratory mechanics in acute kidney injury patients. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 34:544–9. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00092
- Bertoli SV, Musetti C, Ciurlino D, Basile C, Galli E, Gambaro G, et al. Peritoneal ultrafiltration in refractory heart failure: a cohort study. *Perit Dial Int:*. (2014) 34:64–70. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00290
- 24. Jafri L, Kashif W, Tai J, Siddiqui I, Azam I, Shahzad H, et al. B-type natriuretic peptide versus amino terminal pro-B type natriuretic peptide: selecting the optimal heart failure marker in patients with impaired kidney function. *BMC Nephrol.* (2013) 14:117. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-14-117
- 25. Seferovic PM, Ponikowski P, Anker SD, Bauersachs J, Chioncel O, Cleland JGF, et al. Clinical practice update on heart failure 2019: pharmacotherapy, procedures, devices and patient management. an expert consensus meeting report of the heart failure association of the European society of cardiology *Eur J Heart Fail.* (2019) 21:1169–86. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.1531
- NKF-DOQI clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of anemia of chronic renal failure. national kidney foundation-dialysis outcomes quality initiative. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1997) 30:S192–240.
- Vaquero-Martinez J, Anton M, Ortiz DGJ, Cachorro VE, Wang H, Gonzalez AG, et al. Validation of integrated water vapor from OMI satellite instrument against reference GPS data at the Iberian Peninsula. *Sci Total Environ.* (2017) 580:857–64. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.032
- Hollander M, DA Wolfe. Nonparametric Statistical Methods. New York, NY: Wiley (1973). p. 34.
- Groenewegen A, Rutten FH, Mosterd A, Hoes AW. Epidemiology of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. (2020) 22:1342–56. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.1858

- Tuegel C, Bansal N. Heart failure in patients with kidney disease. *Heart.* (2017) 103:1848–53. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2016-310794
- Kottgen A, Russell SD, Loehr LR, Crainiceanu CM, Rosamond WD, Chang PP, et al. Reduced kidney function as a risk factor for incident heart failure: the atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) study. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2007) 18:1307–15. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006101159
- 32. Bansal N, Katz R, Robinson-Cohen C, Odden MC, Dalrymple L, Shlipak MG, et al. Absolute rates of heart failure, coronary heart disease, and stroke in chronic kidney disease: an analysis of 3 community-based cohort studies. *JAMA Cardiol.* (2017) 2:314. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2016.4652
- 33. Mann JF, Gerstein HC, Pogue J, Bosch J, Yusuf S. Renal insufficiency as a predictor of cardiovascular outcomes and the impact of ramipril: the hope randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med.* (2001) 134:629–36. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-134-8-200104170-00007
- 34. Foley RN. Clinical epidemiology of cardiac disease in dialysis patients: left ventricular hypertrophy, ischemic heart disease, and cardiac failure. *Semin Dialysis.* (2003) 16:111–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-139X.2003.160271.x
- Lu R, Muciño-Bermejo M, Ribeiro LC, Tonini E, Estremadoyro C, Samoni S, et al. Peritoneal dialysis in patients with refractory congestive heart failure: a systematic review. *Cardiorenal Med.* (2015) 5:145–56. doi: 10.1159/000380915
- Fusshoeller A. Histomorphological and functional changes of the peritoneal membrane during long-term peritoneal dialysis. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2008) 23:19–25. doi: 10.1007/s00467-007-0541-z
- Noh H, Kim JS, Han KH, Lee GT, Song JS, Chung SH, et al. Oxidative stress during peritoneal dialysis: implications in functional and structural changes in the membrane. *Kidney Int.* (2006) 69:2022–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001506
- Sitter T, Sauter M. Impact of glucose in peritoneal dialysis: saint or sinner? Perit Dial Int. (2005) 25:415–25. doi: 10.1177/089686080502500502
- Williams JD, Craig KJ, Topley N, Von Ruhland C, Fallon M, Newman GR, et al. Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2002) 13:470–9. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V132470
- Selgas R, Bajo A, Jiménez-Heffernan JA, Sánchez-Tomero JA, Del Peso G, Aguilera A, et al. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of the mesothelial cell—its role in the response of the peritoneum to dialysis. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (2006) 21:i2–7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl183
- Velazquez EJ, Morrow DA, DeVore AD, Duffy CI, Ambrosy AP, McCague K, et al. Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition in acute decompensated heart failure. *N Engl J Med.* (2019) 380:539–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1812851
- 42. Morrow DA, Velazquez EJ, DeVore AD, Desai AS, Duffy CI, Ambrosy AP, et al. Clinical outcomes in patients with acute decompensated heart failure randomly assigned to sacubitril/Valsartan or enalapril in the PIONEER-HF trial. *Circulation.* (2019) 139:2285–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118. 039331
- Takase H, Dohi Y. Kidney function crucially affects B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), N-terminal proBNP and their relationship. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2014) 44:303–8. doi: 10.1111/eci. 12234
- Nalivaeva NN, Zhuravin IA, Turner AJ. Neprilysin expression and functions in development, ageing and disease. *Mech Ageing Dev.* (2020) 192:111363. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2020.111363

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhang, Zhang, Yang, Wang, Zhuo, Qin, Gong and Ai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

REVIEWED BY Jia Rao, Fudan University, China Na Liu, Tongji University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Wei Fang fangwei_sh@126.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 16 December 2021 ACCEPTED 18 July 2022 PUBLISHED 10 August 2022

CITATION

Song Q, Yang X, Shi Y, Yan H, Yu Z, Li Z, Yuan J, Ni Z, Gu L and Fang W (2022) High intraperitoneal interleukin-6 levels predict ultrafiltration (UF) insufficiency in peritoneal dialysis patients: A prospective cohort study. *Front. Med.* 9:836861. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.836861

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Song, Yang, Shi, Yan, Yu, Li, Yuan, Ni, Gu and Fang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

High intraperitoneal interleukin-6 levels predict ultrafiltration (UF) insufficiency in peritoneal dialysis patients: A prospective cohort study

Qianhui Song^{1,2†}, Xiaoxiao Yang^{1,2}, Yuanyuan Shi^{1,2}, Hao Yan^{1,2}, Zanzhe Yu^{1,2}, Zhenyuan Li^{1,2}, Jiangzi Yuan^{1,2}, Zhaohui Ni^{1,2}, Leyi Gu^{1,2} and Wei Fang^{1,2}*

¹Department of Nephrology, Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ²Shanghai Center for Peritoneal Dialysis Research, Shanghai, China

Introduction: UF insufficiency is a major limitation in PD efficiency and sustainability. Our study object to investigate the efficacy of intraperitoneal inflammation marker, IL-6 level as a predictor of UF insufficiency in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) patients.

Methods: Stable prevalent CAPD patients were enrolled in this prospective study. IL-6 concentration in the overnight effluent was determined and expressed as the IL-6 appearance rate (IL-6 AR). Patients were divided into two groups according to the median of IL-6 AR and prospectively followed up until death, transfer to permanent HD, recovery of renal function, kidney transplantation, transfer to other centers, lost to follow-up or to the end of study (January 31, 2021). Factors associated with UF capacity as well as dialysate IL-6 AR were assessed by multivariable linear regression. Cox proportional hazards model was used to examine the association between dialysate IL-6 AR and UF insufficiency.

Results: A total of 291 PD patients were enrolled, including 148 males (51%) with a mean age of 56.6 \pm 14.1 years and a median PD duration of 33.4 (12.7–57.5) months. No correlation was found between dialysate IL-6 AR and UF capacity at baseline. PD duration was found positively correlated with baseline dialysate IL-6 AR, while 24h urine volume was negatively correlated with baseline dialysate IL-6 AR, while 24h urine volume was negatively correlated with baseline dialysate IL-6 AR (P < 0.05). By the end of study, UF insufficiency was observed in 56 (19.2%) patients. Patients in the high IL-6 AR group showed a significantly inferior UF insufficiency-free survival when compared with their counterparts in the low IL-6 AR group (P = 0.001). In the multivariate Cox regression analysis, after adjusting for DM, previous peritonitis episode and 24h urine volume, higher baseline dialysate IL-6 AR (HR 3.639, 95% CI 1.776–7.456, P = 0.002) were associated with an increased risk of UF insufficiency.

under the ROC curve (AUC) for baseline IL-6 AR to predict UF insufficiency was 0.663 (95% CI, 0.580–0.746; P < 0.001).

Conclusion: Our study suggested that the dialysate IL-6 AR could be a potential predictor of UF insufficiency in patients undergoing PD.

KEYWORDS

interleukin-6, inflammation, peritoneal dialysis, ultrafiltration capacity, ultrafiltration insufficiency

Introduction

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a well-established and highly cost-effective treatment modality for patients with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD). Compared to hemodialysis (HD), PD achieves similar outcomes but the drop-out rate remains high (1). UF insufficiency (previously named UF failure) is a main cause for PD discontinuation, and is also associated with poor outcome of PD patients (2, 3). UF insufficiency can be present shortly after the onset of PD. Approximately 4% of incident PD patients developed early UF insufficiency (<2 years), has been suggested previously (4). Studies of peritoneal structure and function indicate that early UF insufficiency is always associated with peritoneal small-solute transport rate (PSTR) related to increased density of the peritoneal microvasculature. The prevalence of late UF insufficiency (>2 years) has been reported to be 21 and 36% in long-term PD patients (4, 5). Increasing evidence show that acquired UF insufficiency is not only associated with fast PSTR, but also related to decreased osmotic conductance to glucose (OCG) due to scarring of the vessels and interstitium (6, 7). The pathologic mechanism underlying such alterations remain unknown, but appears to be related to chronic inflammation induced by continuous exposure to bioincompatible PD fluids (PDF) and uremia, possibly exacerbated by episodes of peritonitis (8-10).

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is a key player in modulating inflammation. IL-6 is a chief stimulator of the production of most acute phase proteins in response to various stimuli, and also plays an important role in regulating the transition from acute to chronic inflammation (11, 12). It is well-established that local high production of IL-6 is related to a persistent low-grade inflammation in the peritoneal cavity and its level increased with therapy duration (13, 14). There is increasing evidence that dialysate IL-6 level is closely associated with baseline PSTR (15-17), and it has been shown that IL-6 polymorphisms were related to inherent high PTSR in patients undergoing PD (18, 19). Moreover, we have previously reported that high intraperitoneal IL-6 levels at baseline were a predictor of increasing PSTR after 12 months follow-up in PD patients (20). The above results suggest that IL-6 not only correlates with PSTR at the start of PD, but also can affect the alteration of PSTR during prolonged PD treatment. However, whether

intraperitoneal IL-6 level can predict the UF capacity still remain unclear.

Therefore, we conducted the present study to investigate the association between baseline dialysate IL-6 AR and UF insufficiency in patients undergoing PD.

Materials and methods

Study population

Stable CAPD patients in Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, between January 2014 and April 2015 were recruited in present study. Exclusion criteria included: (1) presence of systemic inflammatory disease including chronic autoimmune disorders, peritonitis or acute infections that requires antibiotic therapy in the preceding 3 months; (2) malignancy; (3) taking glucocorticoid or immunosuppressive agents during the past 1 year; (4) acute cardiocerebrovascular events that occurred within 3 months prior to the study; (5) patients with PD catheter malfunction and/or fluid leaks; (6) patients with UF insufficiency; (7) patients who refused to give consent. All enrolled patients were dialyzed using glucose-based PD solutions (Dianeal^(K), Baxter). The protocol of study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China (number: [2013] N022; year: January/2014). All the participants signed informed consent before enrollment.

Data collection and patient evaluation

The demographic characteristics collected at the enrollment of study included: age, gender, height, weight, date of PD initiation, underlying cause of ESKD, presence of comorbid diseases such as diabetes mellitus (DM) and cardiovascular disease (CVD), taking angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor/ angiotensin receptor blocker (ACEI/ARB) or not. CVD was defined as a previous history of coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease or cerebrovascular disease. The body surface area (BSA) was calculated by the Du Bois equation (21). The historical dialysis regimen was collected to calculate the amount of historical glucose exposure according to

156

Davies et al. (22). At study enrollment, we also measured serum albumin, high sensitivity CRP (hs-CRP) and hemoglobin levels of each patient, and blood pressure was measured twice at an interval of 5 min to take the average.

At enrollment, all patients were asked to perform a standard peritoneal equilibration test (PET) as originally described by Twardowski (23) and PD effluent (PDE) samples were collected at baseline. The detailed procedure for undertaking a standard PET is shown in Supplementary material 1. On the night prior to PD center visit, patients did a dialysis exchange using his or her usual overnight dialysis regimen. The overnight effluent was fully drained the next morning in the PD center. A 10-mL sample was collected from the drained PDF and immediately stored at -80° C. We weighed the bag of drained effluent to assess the volume and recorded the dwell duration. The 24h ultrafiltration and 24h urine output of each patient were measured. UF capacity was estimated based on the net negative balance (weighing the bag after drainage) after a 2 L 2.5% glucose exchange with 4 h of dwell time in the PET. Residual renal function (RRF) was calculated as an average of 24h urine urea and creatinine clearance (24, 25). Small solute clearance was assessed by 24-h dialysate and urine collection, with the calculation of total weekly Kt/V and weekly CrCl normalized to 1.73 m^2 body surface area (26). Mass transfer area coefficient for creatinine (MTACcr) was calculated using the simplified Garred equation (27). A validated correction factor was used to calculate peritoneal protein clearance (Prcl) (28). The IL-6 concentration in the drained PDF were measured at baseline, and patients were divided into 2 groups according to the median of IL-6 AR. All patients re-performed PET at 12 monthly intervals and UF capacity (4h net ultrafiltration, mL) was recorded from baseline to 72 months.

Determination of IL-6 in PD effluent

The concentration of IL-6 in the drained PDF was determined with enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). All samples were run simultaneously and in duplicate to avoid intra- and inter- assay variations. The IL-6 concentration was measured by Human IL-6 ELISA Ready-SET-Go! (eBioscience[®], CA, USA). Due to the concentrations of dialysate cytokines were influenced by UF capacity which was affected by peritoneal solute transfer rate and dwell time, the dialysate appearance rate (AR) was calculated as dialysate concentration times the drained volume divided by the dwell time and expressed as pg (ng) per minute [pg (ng)/min].

Study outcomes

All patients were prospectively followed up until death, transfer to permanent HD, recovery of renal function, kidney

transplantation, transfer to other centers, lost to follow-up or to the end of study (January 31, 2021). The primary outcome measures in our study were UF insufficiency, and the second outcome measures in our study were technique failure. During the study period, all UF insufficiencies and technique failures from patient enrollment to study endpoint were carefully recorded. Other PD outcomes including death, transplant and transfer to other centers were also collected. In our study, UF insufficiency was defined according to the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis guidelines: that is, net UF from a 4-h PET is <100 mL (2.27% glucose /2.5% dextrose) (29). PD catheter malfunction and/or fluid leaks were ruled out prior to the diagnosis of UF insufficiency, and when signs of catheter malfunction and/or leaks occurred, the cause of catheter dysfunction was determined by some combination of physical examination, abdominal radiography and peritoneography, as required. In patients who developed catheter dysfunction, conservative therapy was given initially: supine position and a lower infusion volume for leaks; abdominal massage, administration of aperients or enemas, or ambulation for malposition; clot dislodgement with heparin or urokinase for obstruction; and administration of aperients or enemas for omental wrap. Technique failure was defined as dialysis modality switch from PD to HD for at least 3 months.

Statistics analysis

Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to test normal distributions. Data were described by mean \pm SD, median and inter quartile range (IQR), or proportions as appropriate. Unpaired *t*-tests or Mann-Whitney tests were used to compare different groups depending on whether the data were normally distributed or skewed. Categorical variables were compared using chi-square tests. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to assess the predictors for UF capacity as well as dialysate IL-6 AR. Kaplan-Meier analysis was used to compare UF insufficiency-free survival time between the low IL-6 AR group and the high IL-6 AR group. Risk factors associated with UF insufficiency were determined by univariate and then by a multivariate Cox proportional hazards model. Only covariates that remained significant (P < 0.05) in the univariate analysis were kept in the multivariate Cox regression model except those with collinearity. Collinearity was assessed using the variance inflation factors method. The area under the curve (AUC) of dialysate IL-6 AR for incident UF insufficiency was calculated by receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. Given the large number of statistical tests performed, P-values were adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) procedure for false discovery rate control in multivariate regression analysis (30, 31). Data analysis was carried out using the SPSS software package (version 22.0, Chicago, IL, USA) and R software (version 3.6.1, Vienna, Austria; the p.adjust function was used to



obtain adjusted $P\mbox{-value}).$ All probabilities were two-tailed and a p<0.05 indicated significance.

0.032]. Other demographic characteristics, laboratory data and peritoneal membrane function were similar between the low IL-6 AR group and high IL-6 AR group (see Table 1).

Results

Patient demography and membrane function

The flowchart of patients in the study was shown in Figure 1. Detailed characteristics of the study population at enrollment were summarized in Table 1. Based on inclusion and exclusion criteria, a total of 291 patients were enrolled, representing 65% of the total PD population in our center, including 148 males (51%) with a mean age 56.6 \pm 14.1 years and a median PD duration 33.4 (12.7-57.5) months. Among the 291 patients, 73 (25%) patients had diabetes mellitus as comorbidity. UF capacity at enrollment for the entire study cohort was 306.8 \pm 124 mL. In comparison to patients with low IL-6 AR, those with high IL-6 AR levels above the median were more likely to have experienced a peritonitis episode in the past (P < 0.05) and had longer PD duration [45.3 (20.4-76.2) vs. 20.3 (5.1-45.5) months, P < 0.001], higher historical glucose exposure [47,862 (40,150, 57,128) vs. 40,150 (32,850, 51,332) g/year, P < 0.001] as well as higher 24h ultrafiltration [650 (298-938) vs. 423 (-25-696) mL, P < 0.001] whereas low IL-6 AR patients had higher urine output [500 (48-1,000) vs. 80 (0-500) mL, P < 0.001] and higher RRF [1.34 (0–3.49) vs. 0.73 (0–2.39) mL/min, P =

Factors associated with UF capacity

UF capacity (mL) as well as the numbers of patients at each time point (i.e., every 12 months over a total of 72 months) on PD were presented in Figure 2, and the comparison of peritoneal membrane function between patients in the low IL-6 AR group and high IL-6 AR group was shown in Supplementary Table 1. Multivariable linear regression showed that after adjustment for age, gender, PD duration, serum albumin, hs-CRP, historical glucose exposure and previous peritonitis episode, comorbid with diabetes ($\beta = -0.128$, P = 0.038), 24h urine volume ($\beta = -0.192$, P = 0.006) and dialysate IL-6 AR ($\beta = -0.144$, P = 0.022) correlate (inversely) with UF capacity at enrollment (see Table 2). However, this association lost statistical significance after being corrected for multiple testing.

Factors associated with dialysate IL-6 AR level

The effluent level of IL-6 AR in this cohort was 55.1 (35.1–102.7) pg/min and the CVinter was 132%. Multivariable

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the study population (n = 291).

Variable	All PD patients	Low IL-6 AR group	High IL-6 AR group	P-value
	(n = 291)	(n = 146)	(n = 145)	
Age (years)	56.4 ± 14.1	56.3 ± 14.8	56.5 ± 13.4	0.922
Gender (Male)	148 (51%)	74 (51%)	74 (51%)	0.952
BSA (m ²)	1.62 ± 0.17	1.62 ± 0.17	1.62 ± 0.16	0.935
Systolic pressure (mmHg)	140 ± 21	140 ± 21	139 ± 22	0.548
Diastolic pressure (mmHg)	87 ± 13	87 ± 12	87 ± 13	0.864
PD duration (months)	33.4 (12.7–57.5)	20.3 (5.1-45.5)	45.3 (20.4–76.2)	< 0.001
Underlying renal disease [n (%)]				
Chronic glomerulonephritis	86 (30%)	49 (34%)	37 (26%)	0.133
Diabetic nephropathy	37 (13%)	16 (11%)	21 (15%)	0.367
Hypertension	12 (4%)	4 (3%)	8 (6%)	0.233
Polycystic kidney disease	8 (3%)	4 (3%)	4 (3%)	1.000
Obstructive nephropathy	4 (1%)	1 (1%)	3 (2%)	0.610
Others and Unknown	147 (51%)	72 (49%)	75 (52%)	0.681
Comorbidity $[n (\%)]$				
Diabetes mellitus	73 (25%)	35 (24%)	38 (26%)	0.660
Hypertension	276 (95%)	138 (95%)	138 (95%)	0.801
Cardiovascular disease	112 (39%)	61 (42%)	51 (35%)	0.247
ACEI/ARB taking $[n (\%)]$	155 (53%)	78 (53%)	77 (53%)	0.956
Previous RRT $[n (\%)]$	2 (0.7%)	1 (0.7%)	1 (0.7%)	1.000
Previous peritonitis episode [n (%)]	71 (24%)	24 (16%)	47 (32%)	0.002
Historical glucose exposure	43,800 (33,150,	40,150 (32,850,	47,862 (40,150,	< 0.001
(g/year)	55,293)	51,332)	57,128)	
Hemoglobin (g/L)	107.4 ± 16.8	107.3 ± 16.1	107.6 ± 17.5	0.888
Serum albumin (g/L)	37.2 ± 4.4	37.0 ± 4.6	37.3 ± 4.2	0.625
Hs-CRP (mg/L)	2.38 (0.8-6.56)	1.96 (0.76-5.6)	2.89 (0.87-6.91)	0.251
Dialysis adequacy				
Total Kt/V urea	1.94 ± 0.36	2.01 ± 0.39	1.87 ± 0.31	0.104
Peritoneal Kt/V urea	1.58 ± 0.36	1.54 ± 0.37	1.62 ± 0.35	0.138
Renal Kt/V urea	0.18 (0-0.61)	0.29 (0-0.87)	0.16 (0-0.40)	0.076
Total CrCl (L/week/1.73 m ²)	61.2 ± 18	65.7 ± 20.6	57.4 ± 13.9	0.117
RRF (mL/min)	0.92 (0-2.89)	1.34 (0-3.49)	0.73 (0-2.39)	0.032
Urine output, mL/24 h	300 (0-800)	500 (48-1000)	80 (0-500)	< 0.001
UF, mL/24 h	510 (100-840)	423 (-25-696)	650 (298–938)	< 0.001
nPCR (g/Kg/day)	0.88 ± 0.18	0.91 ± 0.18	0.85 ± 0.18	0.205
4h D/Pcr	0.61 ± 0.11	0.61 ± 0.11	0.61 ± 0.12	0.819
4h UF (mL)	306.8 ± 124	318.9 ± 128.2	294.5 ± 118.8	0.094
MTACcr (mL/min)	7.46 (6.02–9.29)	7.54 (6.14–9.31)	7.36 (5.74–9.43)	0.788
Prcl (mL/d)	68.6 (52.3-90.4)	68.2 (52.3-88.3)	68.8 (52.6-92.3)	0.571

Values expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, median (25–75th percentile), or absolute numbers with percentages [n (%)].

BSA, body surface area; ACEI/ARB, inhibitor/ angiotensin receptor blocker; RRT, renal replacement therapy; Hs-CRP, high-sensitivity high sensitivity C-reactive protein; Kt/Vurea, urea kinetics; CrCl, creatinine clearance; RRF, residual renal function; nPCR, normalized protein catabolic rate; D/Pcr, peritoneal transport characteristics; UF, ultrafiltration; MTACcr, mass transfer area coefficient for creatinine; Prcl, peritoneal protein clearance.

linear regression showed that after adjustment for age, gender, DM, serum albumin, hs-CRP, previous peritonitis episode and historical glucose exposure, PD duration ($\beta = 0.176$, P = 0.049) had a positive correlation with baseline dialysate

IL-6 AR, while 24h urine volume ($\beta = -0.235$, P < 0.001) had a negative correlation with baseline dialysate IL-6 AR after being corrected for multiple testing (see Table 3).



TABLE 2 Association of log₁₀ dialysate IL-6 AR and 24h urine volume with UF capacity at baseline.

	Unit increase	Standardized β coefficient	t	P-value	<i>P</i> -value ^a
Model constant			3.698	0.000	
Age	1 year	0.020	0.316	0.752	0.823
Gender	-	0.030	0.499	0.618	0.772
PD duration	1 year	-0.085	-1.163	0.246	0.492
DM	-	-0.128	-2.088	0.038	0.127
Historical glucose exposure	1,000 g/year	-0.035	-0.604	0.546	0.772
Previous peritonitis episode	-	0.015	0.224	0.823	0.823
Plasma albumin	1 g/L	0.078	1.261	0.208	0.492
Log ₁₀ hs-CRP	10 mg/L	0.062	1.034	0.302	0.503
24h urine volume	100 ml	-0.192	-2.768	0.006	0.060
Log ₁₀ dialysate IL-6 AR	10 pg/min	-0.144	-2.295	0.022	0.110

^aBH-adjusted P-value.

BSA, body surface area; DM, diabetes; Hs-CRP, high-sensitivity high sensitivity C-reactive protein; AR, appearance rate; BH, Benjamini-Hochberg.

TABLE 3 Association of 24h urine volume with log₁₀ dialysate IL-6 AR at baseline.

	Unit increase	Standardized β coefficient	Т	P-value	<i>P</i> -value ^a
Model constant			8.313	0.000	
Age	1 year	0.014	0.226	0.822	0.822
Gender	-	-0.087	-1.539	0.125	0.375
PD duration	1 year	0.176	2.552	0.011	0.049
DM	-	0.041	0.712	0.477	0.821
Historical glucose exposure	1,000 g/year	0.074	1.339	0.182	0.410
Previous peritonitis episode	-	0.029	0.449	0.654	0.822
Plasma albumin	1 g/L	-0.035	-0.603	0.547	0.821
Log ₁₀ hs-CRP	10 mg/L	0.013	0.236	0.814	0.822
24h urine volume	100 ml	-0.235	-3.641	<0.001	< 0.001

^aBH-adjusted P-value.

BSA, body surface area; DM, diabetes; Hs-CRP, high-sensitivity high sensitivity C-reactive protein; BH, Benjamini-Hochberg.

Variable	All PD patients (n = 291)	Low IL-6 AR group (<i>n</i> = 146)	High IL-6 AR group $(n = 145)$	P-valu	
Follow-up (months)	50.8 (24.9, 78.4)	52.5 (24.5, 79.2)	47.5 (25.2, 76.1)	0.545	
UF insufficiencies, n (%)	56 (19.2)	18 (12.3)	38 (26.2)	0.003	
Technique failure, n (%)	62 (21.3)	27 (18.5)	35 (24.1)	0.240	
Peritonitis	30 (48.4)	15 (55.6)	15 (42.9)	1.000	
UF insufficiency	17 (27.4)	2 (7.4)	15 (42.9)	0.001	
Personal preferences	8 (12.9)	6 (22.2)	2 (5.7)	0.282	
EPS	3 (4.8)	0	3 (8.6)	0.122	
Retroperitoneal leak	2 (3.2)	2 (7.4)	0	0.498	
Unknown	2 (3.2)	2 (7.4)	0	0.498	
Other outcome, n (%)					
Death	102 (35.1)	50 (34.2)	52 (35.9)	0.773	
Still on PD	85 (29.2)	48 (32.9)	37 (25.5)	0.167	
Transplant	32 (11.0)	18 (12.3)	14 (9.7)	0.517	
Transfer to other centers	9 (3.1)	3 (2.1)	6 (4.1)	0.335	
Lost to follow-up	1 (0.3)	0	1 (0.7)	1.000	

TABLE 4 Follow-up and outcome events in the patients by IL-6 AR.

Non-parametric data were compared using Mann-Whitney test and categorical variables were compared using chi-square tests.

AR, appearance rate; PD, peritoneal dialysis; EPS, encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis.



Dialysate IL-6 AR level and outcome events

Patient outcomes were summarized in Table 4. The median follow-up duration was 52.5 (IQR 24.5–79.2) months for the low IL-6 AR group and 47.5 (IQR 25.2–76.1) months for the high IL-6 AR group, respectively. During the study period,

UF insufficiency was documented in 56 (19.2%) patients (low IL-6 AR n = 18; high IL-6 AR n = 38). The time to diagnosis UF insufficiency was 43.3 (IQR 22.3-77) months which corresponding to PD duration of 77.4 (IQR 42.2-101.9) months in the low IL-6 AR group, while in the high IL-6 AR group, the time to diagnosis UF insufficiency was 36.4 (IQR 17.7-70.9) months which corresponding to PD duration of 88.4 (IQR 56.8-128.6) months. UF insufficiency was more likely to be observed in patients in the high IL-6 AR group when compared with patients in the low IL-6AR group (P = 0.003, Table 4). In addition, baseline dialysate IL-6 AR levels were significantly higher in patients who experienced UF insufficiency at any time during the study period when compared to their counterparts who remained their UF capacity (P < 0.001, Figure 3). By the end of study, 62 (21.3%) patients (low IL-6 AR n = 27; high IL-6 AR n = 35) experienced technique failure. The leading cause of technique failure was peritonitis (48.4%), followed by UF insufficiency (27.4%), personal preferences (12.9%), encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (4.8%), retroperitoneal leak (3.2%), and unknown reasons (3.2%). High IL-6 AR patients experienced more technique failures due to UF insufficiency compared to low IL-6 AR patients (P = 0.001, Table 4), and there was no significant difference of other causes in these two groups.

Association between dialysate IL-6 AR level and UF insufficiency

As shown in Figure 4, patients in low IL-6 AR group had better UF insufficiency-free survival than that in patients with high IL-6 AR (Log-rank $X^2 = 11.118$, P = 0.001). UF



	m			-	
IABLE 5	Predictors	of UF	insufficiency	on Cox	regression analysis.

	Univaria	te	Multivariate			
	HR (95% CI)	P-value	HR (95% CI)	P-value	P-value ^a	
Age (per year)	1.018 (0.996, 1.040)	0.109				
Gender (male)	0.820 (0.482, 1.395)	0.464				
BSA (per 1 m ²)	2.104 (0.414, 10.678)	0.370				
PD duration (per year)	1.004 (0.999, 1.010)	0.138				
DM (yes)	1.808 (1.006, 3.250)	0.048	1.711 (0.948, 3.086)	0.074	0.148	
CVD (yes)	0.991 (0.574, 1.912)	0.975				
ACEI/ARB taking (yes)	1.415 (0.829, 2.415)	0.204				
Previous peritonitis episode (yes)	1.876 (1.081, 3.255)	0.025	1.409 (0.772, 2.571)	0.263	0.351	
Historical glucose exposure (per 1000 g/year)	1.000 (0.997, 1.002)	0.702				
Serum albumin (per 10 g/L)	0.970 (0.912, 1.033)	0.345				
Hemoglobin (per 10 g/L)	0.992 (0.976, 1.008)	0.318				
Log ₁₀ hs-CRP (per 10 mg/L)	1.261 (0.807, 1.971)	0.308				
24h urine volume (per 100 mL)	0.999 (0.999, 1.000)	0.024	1.000 (0.999, 1.000)	0.620	0.620	
Log ₁₀ dialysate IL-6 AR (per 10 pg/min)	4.503 (2.329, 8.707)	< 0.001	3.639 (1.776, 7.456)	< 0.001	0.002	

^aBH-adjusted P-value.

HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; BSA, body surface area; DM, diabetes; CVD, cardiovascular disease; ACEI/ARB, inhibitor/angiotensin receptor blocker; Hs-CRP, high-sensitivity high sensitivity C-reactive protein; AR, appearance rate; BH, Benjamini-Hochberg.

insufficiency-free survival was 98, 91, and 84% at 1, 3, and 5 years in the low IL-6 AR group and 95, 82, and 66% at 1, 3, and 5 years in the high IL-6 AR group, respectively. Multivariate

Cox proportional hazards modeling showed that after adjusting for DM, previous peritonitis episode and 24h urine volume, higher baseline dialysate IL-6 AR levels (HR 3.639, 95% CI



1.776–7.456, P = 0.002) were associated with an increased risk of UF insufficiency after being corrected for multiple testing (see Table 5). As shown in Figure 5, the area under the ROC curve (AUC) of the model used for baseline IL-6 AR to predict UF insufficiency was 0.663 (95% CI, 0.580–0.746; P < 0.001). The optimal cut-off value to discriminate UF insufficiency was 59.6 pg/mL for dialysate IL-6 AR (67.9% sensitivity, 58.7% specificity, P < 0.001).

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study suggesting the efficacy of a single measurement of intraperitoneal IL-6 level in predicting development of UF insufficiency in patients undergoing PD.

UF insufficiency is a common and important, but poorlyexplained complication of PD, especially in long-term patients. It has been reported that UF insufficiency accounts for $\sim 30\%$ of all cases of technique failure (9). The impaired UF points to the development of peritoneal membrane changes during long-term PD treatment. The typical anatomic alterations included submesothelial fibrosis, hyalinizing vasculopathy, and neoangiogenesis (6). Functionally, the peritoneal changes are reflected by an increase in small solute transfer and a reduction in the osmotic conductance of the membrane (8, 9). Current insights indicate that the changes in peritoneal structure and function involve a number of intertwined pathophysiologic mechanisms. Chronic inflammation is the most likely culprit (32-34). IL-6 is a critical biomarker of ongoing intraperitoneal inflammation in PD patients (35, 36). It has been reported that intraperitoneal IL-6 is a strong predictor of increasing PSTR in

PD patients (16, 20). However, whether IL-6 level in dialysate was related to UF capacity decline needs further study.

Our study showed that dialysate IL-6 AR had a skewed distribution with wide range (11.8-1,295 pg/min) in our cohort and the CVinter was 132% in effluent IL-6-AR. In line with our study, Barreto et al. (37) reported similar results. In their study, the dialysate IL-6 AR levels of patients with short (\leq 24 months) and long (\geq 25 months) PD duration were 15.5–220.0 and 6.9-956.4 pg/min, respectively, with a CVinter 141%. We found that patients with high IL-6 AR were more likely to be anuric, more prevalent in previous episodes of peritonitis, and with a longer PD duration, higher historical glucose exposure and more ultrafiltration when compared with their counterparts in the low IL-6 AR group. Many factors have been claimed as contributors to peritoneal inflammation during PD, including the bioincompatibility of conventional PD solutions and peritonitis (15, 38). It has been shown that conventional PDF could induce IL-6 synthesis by peritoneal membrane cells (39, 40). An increase in intraperitoneal IL-6 concentrations with longer PD duration (i.e., at 24 months) has also been well-documented by the balANZ trial (median 7.22 vs. 31.35 pg/mL, P < 0.001) (41) and the extension study of the Balnet trial (conventional 47 \pm 31.2 vs. 121 \pm 69 pg/mL, P < 0.001; biocompatible 57.6 \pm 54.5 vs. 143 \pm 69.6 pg/mL, P < 0.001) (42). Several studies have found that intraperitoneal IL-6 levels are increased before and during peritonitis and remain high level even several months after clinical cure of peritonitis (35, 43). A retrospective observational study included 31 PD patients had reported that patients who developed peritonitis had higher baseline dialysate IL-6 level (58.4 \pm 12.6 vs. 20.3 \pm 8.7 pg/mL, p = 0.07) than that in patients who remained peritonitis-free (15). Our findings also indicated that the bioincompatible factors of PDF and peritonitis produce pro-inflammatory milieu in the intra-peritoneal cavity. Deterioration in UF capacity over time have been reported in PD patients and have been mainly attributed to the bio-incompatible nature of conventional PDF (44-46). The onset of a decline in UF capacity has been reported to occur at 2-4 years after PD commencement (5). In fact, several recent studies have demonstrated that peritoneal UF in PD patients may remain stable with time on treatment in relation to use of biocompatible PDFs with neutral pH and low GDP concentration as well as preserved RRF (47-49). Given the changes and the importance of urine volume and membrane transport characteristics, taking these parameters in account might better display the longitudinal change of UF capacity. However, these data were not collected in present study.

In the present study, no significant correlation was found for dialysate IL-6 AR with UF capacity at baseline. In addition, we found that PD duration positively correlated with baseline dialysate IL-6 AR, while 24h urine volume inversely correlated with baseline dialysate IL-6 AR. A number of factors potentially contribute to local peritoneal inflammation. It has been shown that bioincompatible factors in PDF could induce IL-6 synthesis and secretion by peritoneal membrane cells (39, 50). In the NEPP study, patients with a regimen low in glucose and GDPs had significantly lower IL-6 levels in overnight effluents when compared to that in patients with conventional lactate-buffered PDF (sPD regimen) (51). These studies indicated that bioincompatible factors in PDF could directly or indirectly promote local peritoneal inflammation. For patients with less urine output, higher dialysis doses or higher glucose concentrations is required to achieve sufficient solute and fluid removal. Besides, numerous studies have shown that a reduction in RRF may aggravate the chronic inflammatory state due to decreased renal clearance of various inflammatory cytokines (52, 53). Therefore, the negative effects of urine volume on intraperitoneal IL-6 might be explained by more exposure to bio-incompatible PD solutions and less efficient removal of inflammatory cytokines. The use of new, more biocompatible PD solutions and preservation of RRF might be helpful to ameliorate intraperitoneal inflammation.

During the study period, UF insufficiency was observed in 56 (19.2%) patients. UF insufficiency was more likely to be observed in high IL-6 AR group than those in low IL-6 AR group. In accordance with other studies (2, 4), peritonitis and UF insufficiency are the two main reasons for technique failure in our PD cohort. Furthermore, patients with high IL-6 AR were more likely to occur technique failure due to UF insufficiency when compared to their counterparts in low IL-6 AR group. The dialysate IL-6 AR were significantly higher in patients who underwent UF insufficiency when compared to those who remained their UF capacity. Consistent with our findings, Xiao et al. (54) also reported that the levels of IL-6 (either plasma or dialysate) in patients with UF insufficiency were significantly higher than those in patients without UF insufficiency. Our study showed that dialysate IL-6 AR could identify UF insufficiency with optimal cut-off values of 59.6 pg/mL. However, the AUC for IL-6 AR was rather weak, suggesting that it was probably not the ideal biomarker as a prognostic indicator of UF insufficiency. The underlying causes might be inter-individual variation of IL-6, lack of repeated measurements and increased peritoneal concentrations could be due to mesothelial cell injury by repeated exposures to bioincompatible PDF but also secondary to peritonitis episodes. Moreover, whether mesothelial cell injury was a prerequisite for UF insufficiency need further validation. Peritoneal biopsy studies also showed that chronic exposure of the peritoneum to conventional PDF was associated with loss of mesothelial cell monolayer (55, 56), which may result in persistently low dialysate IL-6 level in some patients with long-term PD due to reduced IL-6 synthesis and secretion. These factors may account for the poor discriminative potential for IL-6 AR to identify UF insufficiency. Also, we found that low IL-6 AR patients showed better UF insufficiency-free survival than high IL-6 AR patients. Furthermore, high baseline dialysate IL-6 AR was the only risk

factor associated with UF insufficiency, while PD duration and historical glucose loads was not associated with UF insufficiency in this population. These results points to the differences that occur between patients in the course of inflammatory reaction triggered by chronic exposure to bioincompatible PDF and subsequent adverse peritoneal remodeling. There are few studies trying to find out the risk factors of UF insufficiency in PD patients. Selgas et al. (57) reported that diabetic state and higher glucose requirement to obtain adequate UF might be responsible for UF insufficiency. However, their study did not measure inflammation markers, such as CRP or IL-6. Taken together, although there was no significant correlation between IL-6 AR and UF capacity at baseline, we found that the intraperitoneal inflammation marker, IL-6 AR level rather than time on PD could predict subsequent development of UF insufficiency.

UF capacity in PD patients has been considered to be dependent on two major peritoneal components: the microcirculation and the interstitial tissue. Biopsy specimens taken from PD patients have confirmed that an increase in peritoneal vascular density in conjunction with submesothelial and perivascular fibrosis were observed in patients with membrane failure (6-8). It has long been recognized that the formation of new vessels will increase the vascular surface area, leading to rapid dissipation of the osmotic gradient and lower UF (9). Our prior study also showed that a decline in UF capacity could be partially abrogated by antiangiogenic therapy in a rat model (58). There is strong evidence that peritoneal angiogenesis is closely linked with inflammation through local IL-6. Yang et al. (50) showed that IL-6 trans-signaling could upregulate the protein expression and secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in mesothelial cells. Catar et al. (59) also reported that IL-6 links inflammation with angiogenesis through the trans-signaling pathway to upregulate mesothelial VEGF production in the peritoneal membrane. In addition, the deposition of interstitial fibers will increase resistance to fluid flux, resulting in a decrease in water flow through the interstitium (6). Recent findings support the notion that chronic inflammation plays an important role in the initiation and progression of interstitial fibrosis in the peritoneal membrane (9, 10). Animal models of PD suggested that IL-6 signaling in recurrent peritoneal inflammation was key driving tissue fibrosis (60). In our previous study, we reported that blockade of IL-6 trans-signaling could attenuate peritoneal fibrosis by inhibiting the activation of Smad2/3, with reduced expressions of α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) and collagen type I (Col I) in a mouse model (61). Furthermore, Lambie et al. (62) showed that dialysate IL-6 levels were independently associated with the occurrence of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (EPS). Therefore, IL-6 may serve as a new non-invasive biomarker and a potential therapeutic target of membrane failure, and may guide clinical decisions such as timely transfer to HD in PD patients.

164

However, the conclusions that can be drawn from the present study are challenged by several limitations. First, this was a single center study, therefore, our results might not be generalized to other populations. Second, the cytokine levels were measured only once at enrollment. The study design did not account for potential variations of IL-6, thus a single IL-6 measurement as a predictor of outcome should be interpreted cautiously. Also, a single time point of effluent IL-6 may not reflect changes over time. The presence of longitudinal surveillance of effluent IL-6 level in PD patients and repeated assessments may provide more solid information. Thirdly, although the reasons and distributions of the informative censoring between the two groups were same, the inclusion of prevalent PD patients and high censorship rates might introduce bias in our study. Also, in the multivariate regression model, despite adjustment for historical glucose exposure at baseline, the differing observation periods might introduce bias in our study and the association between IL-6 AR and the risk of UF insufficiency might be exaggerated because the HRs would be overestimated. In addition, there might be residual confounding because of the unfeasibility to address differing observation periods in the analysis. Therefore, a well-designed, adequately powered multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial (RCT) is required to confirm the association between dialysate IL-6 AR and UF insufficiency.

In conclusion, the results from the present study suggest the intraperitoneal inflammation marker, dialysate IL-6 AR level could be a predictor of UF insufficiency in patients undergoing PD.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Renji Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China (number: [2013] N022; year: January/2014). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

QS participated in the design of the study, analysis of data, and draft the manuscript. XY, YS, HY, and ZL participated in clinical data collection. ZY and JY helped to perform the statistical analysis. ZN and LG guided and supported this study. WF conceived of the study and participated in its design and coordination and helped to draft the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the National Basic Research Program of China (Grant Nos. 81370864 and 81670691) and Shanghai Municipal Education Commission-Gaofeng Clinical Medicine (Grant No. 20152211).

Acknowledgments

We thank all of the doctors and nurses at the Nephrology Department of Renji Hospital in Shanghai, China for their work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.836861/full#supplementary-material

References

1. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, Pascual J, Collart F, Hemke AC, et al. Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2016) 31:120–8. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv295

2. Chaudhary K. Peritoneal dialysis drop-out: causes and prevention strategies. Int J Nephrol. (2011) 2011:434608. doi: 10.4061/2011/434608

3. Kawaguchi Y, Ishizaki T, Imada A, Oohira S, Kuriyama S, Nakamoto H, et al. Searching for the reasons for drop-out from peritoneal dialysis: a nationwide survey in Japan. *Perit Dial Int.* (2003) 23:S175-7. doi: 10.1177/089686080302302s36

4. Sampimon DE, Coester AM, Struijk DG, Krediet RT. The time course of peritoneal transport parameters in peritoneal dialysis patients who develop encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2011) 26:291–8. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq343

5. Smit W, Schouten N, van den Berg N, Langedijk MJ, Struijk DG, Krediet RT, et al. Analysis of the prevalence and causes of ultrafiltration failure during long-term peritoneal dialysis: a cross-sectional study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2004) 24:562–70. doi: 10.1177/089686080402400616

6. Krediet RT. Ultrafiltration failure is a reflection of peritoneal alterations in patients treated with peritoneal dialysis. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:1815. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01815

7. Krediet RT. Acquired decline in ultrafiltration in peritoneal dialysis: the role of glucose. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2021) 32:2408–15. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2021010080

8. Krediet RT, Lindholm B, Rippe B. Pathophysiology of peritoneal membrane failure. *Perit Dial Int.* (2000) 20:S22–42. doi: 10.1177/089686080002004S03

9. Davies SJ, Mushahar L, Yu Z, Lambie M. Determinants of peritoneal membrane function over time. *Semin Nephrol.* (2011) 31:172–82. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2011.01.006

10. Li PK, Ng JK, Mcintyre CW. Inflammation and peritoneal dialysis. *Semin Nephrol.* (2017) 37:54–65. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016.10.007

11. Hurst SM, Wilkinson TS, McLoughlin RM, Jones S, Horiuchi S, Yamamoto N, et al. 11-6 and its soluble receptor orchestrate a temporal switch in the pattern of leukocyte recruitment seen during acute inflammation. *Immunity.* (2001) 14:705–14. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00151-0

12. Gabay C. Interleukin-6 and chronic inflammation. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2006) 8:S3. doi: 10.1186/ar1917

13. Pecoits-Filho R, Araújo MR, Lindholm B, Stenvinkel P, Abensur H, Romão JE, et al. Plasma and dialysate IL-6 and VEGF concentrations are associated with high peritoneal solute transfer rate. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2002) 17:1480–6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/17.8.1480

14. Cooker LA, Luneburg P, Holmes CJ, Jones S, Topley N, Bicarbonate/Lactate Study Group. Interleukin-6 levels decrease in effluent from patients dialyzed with bicarbonate/lactatebased peritoneal dialysis solutions. *Perit Dial Int.* (2001) 21:S102–7. doi: 10.1177/089686080102103S17

15. Pecoits-Filho R, Carvalho MJ, Stenvinkel P, Lindholm B, Heimbürger O. Systemic and intraperitoneal interleukin-6 system during the first year of peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2020) 26:53–63. doi: 10.1177/089686080602600109

16. Oh KH, Jung JY, Yoon MO, Song A, Lee H, Ro H, et al. Intra-peritoneal interleukin-6 system is a potent determinant of the baseline peritoneal solute transport in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2010) 25:1639–46. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp670

17. Cho JH, Hur IK, Kim CD, Park SH Ryu HM, Yook JM, et al. Impact of systemic and local peritoneal inflammation on peritoneal solute transport rate in new peritoneal dialysis patients: a 1-year prospective study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2010) 25:1964–73. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp767

18. Gillerot G, Goffin E, Michel C, Evenepoel P, Biesen WV, Tintillier M, et al. Genetic and clinical factors influence the baseline permeability of the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int.* (2005) 67:2477–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00357.x

19. Ding L, Shao X, Cao L, Fang W, Yan H, Huang J, et al. Possible role of IL-6 and TIE2 gene polymorphisms in predicting the initial high transport status in patients with peritoneal dialysis: an observational study. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6:e012967. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012967

20. Yang X, Zhang H, Hang Y, Yan H, Lin A, Huang J, et al. Intraperitoneal interleukin-6 levels predict peritoneal solute transport rate: a prospective cohort study. *Am J Nephrol.* (2014) 39:459–65. doi: 10.1159/000362622

21. Du Bois D, Du Bois EF. A formula to estimate the approximate surface area if height and weight be known. *Arch Intern Med.* (1989) 5:303–11.

22. Davies SJ, Phillips L, Naish PF, Russell GI. Peritoneal glucose exposure and changes in membrane solute transfer with time on peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2001) 12:1046–51. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V1251046

23. Twardowski ZJ, Nolph KD, Khanna R. Peritoneal equilibration test. *Perit Dial Bull.* (1987) 7:138–47. doi: 10.1177/089686088700700306

24. Van Olden RW, Krediet RT, Struijk DG, Arisz L. Measurement of residual renal function in patients treated with CAPD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (1996) 7:745–50. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V75745

25. National Kidney Foundation. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for peritoneal dialysis adequacy, 2000. Am J Kidney Dis. (2001) 37(Suppl.1):S65–136. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(01)70006-6

26. Smyth A, McCann E, Redahan L, Lambert B, Mellotte GJ, Wall CA, et al. Peritoneal dialysis in an ageing population: a 10-year experience. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2012) 44:283–93. doi: 10.1007/s11255-011-9973-2

27. Krediet RT, Boeschoten EW, Zuyderhoudt FM, Strackee J, Arisz L. Simple assessment of the efficacy of peritoneal transfer in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Blood Purif*, (1986) 4:194–203. doi: 10.1159/000169445

28. Krediet RT, Zuyderhoudt FM, Boeschoten EW, Arisz L. Peritoneal permeability to proteins in diabetic and non-diabetic continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephron.* (1986) 42:133–40. doi: 10.1159/000183652

29. Morelle J, Stachowska-Pietka J, Oberg C, Gadola L, La Milia V, Yu Z, et al. ISPD recommendations for the evaluation of peritoneal membrane dysfunction in adults: Classification, measurement, interpretation and rationale for intervention. *Perit Dial Int.* (2021) 41:352–72. doi: 10.1177/0896860820982218

30. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *J R Stat Soc B.* (1995) 57:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x

31. Tan YD, Xu H. A general method for accurate estimation of false discovery rates in identification of differentially expressed genes. *Bioinformatics*. (2014) 30:2018–25. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu124

32. Bajo MA, Del Peso G, Teitelbaum I. Peritoneal membrane preservation. Semin Nephrol. (2017) 37:77–92. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016.10.009

33. Zhang Z, Jiang N, Ni Z. Strategies for preventing peritoneal fibrosis in peritoneal dialysis patients: new insights based on peritoneal inflammation and angiogenesis. *Front Med.* (2017) 11:349–58. doi: 10.1007/s11684-017-0571-2

34. Krediet RT, Struijk DG. Peritoneal changes in patients on long-term peritoneal dialysis. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2013) 9:419–29. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2013.99

35. Lai KN, Lai KB, Lam CWK, Chan TM, Li FK, Leung JC. Changes of cytokine profiles during peritonitis in patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2000) 35:644–52. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(00)70011-4

36. Breborowicz A, Oreopoulos DG. Evidence for the presence of chronic inflammation during peritoneal dialysis: therapeutic implications. *Perit Dial Int.* (1997) 17:S37–41. doi: 10.1177/089686089701702S07

37. Barreto DL, Coester AM, Noordzij M, Smit W, Struijk DG, Rogers S, et al. Variability of effluent cancer antigen 125 and interleukin-6 determination in dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2011) 26:3739-44. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr170

38. Baroni G, Schuinski A, de Moraes TP, Meyer F, Pecoits-Filho R. Inflammation and the peritoneal membrane: causes and impact on structure and function during peritoneal dialysis. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2012) 2012:912595. doi: 10.1155/2012/912595

39. Witowski J, Jorres A, Coles GA, Williams JD, Topley N. Superinduction of IL-6 synthesis in human peritoneal mesothelial cells is related to the induction and stabilization of IL-6 mRNA. *Kidney Int.* (1996) 50:1212–23. doi: 10.1038/ki.1996.430

40. Serre AF, Marie C, Beaujon G, Cavaillon JM, Deteix P. Variations of cytokine levels and production in CAPD patients. *Int J Artif Organs.* (1997) 20:614–21. doi: 10.1177/039139889702001104

41. Cho Y, Johnson DW, Vesey DA, Hawley CM, Pascoe EM, Clarke M, et al. Dialysate interleukin6 predicts increasing peritoneal solute transport rate in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *BMC Nephrol.* (2014) 15:8. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-15-8

42. Kim S, Oh KH, Oh J, Kim SJ, Chung W, Song YR, et al. Biocompatible peritoneal dialysis solution preserves residual renal function. *Am J Nephrol.* (2012) 36:305–16. doi: 10.1159/000342523

43. Zemel D, Betjes MG, Dinkla C, Struijk DG, Krediet RT. Analysis of inflammatory mediators and peritoneal permeability to macromolecules shortly

before the onset of overt peritonitis in patients treated with CAPD. *Perit Dial Int.* (1995) 15:134–41. doi: 10.1177/089686089501500208

44. Davies SJ, Brown EA, Frandsen NE, Rodrigues AS, Rodriguez-Carmona A, Vychytil A, et al. Longitudinal membrane function in functionally anuric patients treated with APD: data from EAPOS on the effects of glucose and icodextrin prescription. *Kidney Int.* (2005) 67:1609–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00243.x

45. Davies SJ. Longitudinal relationship between solute transport and ultrafiltration capacity in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* (2004) 66:2437–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.66021.x

46. Davies SJ, Bryan J, Phillips L, Russell GI. Longitudinal changes in peritoneal kinetics: the effects of peritoneal dialysis and peritonitis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (1996) 11:498–506. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.ndt.a027318

47. Johnson DW, Brown FG, Clarke M, Boudville N, Elias TJ, Foo MW, et al. The effect of low glucose degradation product, neutral pH versus standard peritoneal dialysis solutions on peritoneal membrane function: the balANZ trial. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2012) 27:4445–53. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs314

48. Eibensteiner F, Flores KO, Unterwurzacher M, Herzog R, Kratochwill K, Alper SL, et al. Monitoring daily ultrafiltration in automated peritoneal dialysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2022) 17:107–10. doi: 10.2215/CJN.08180621

49. Choi HY, Kim DK, Lee TH, Moon SJ, Han SH, Lee JE, et al. The clinical usefulness of peritoneal dialysis fluids with neutral pH and low glucose degradation product concentration: an open randomized prospective trial. *Perit Dial Int.* (2008) 28:174–82. doi: 10.1177/0896860802800214

50. Yang X, Lin A, Jiang N, Yan H, Ni Z, Qian J, et al. Interleukin-6 transsignalling induces vascular endothelial growth factor synthesis partly *via* Janus kinases-STAT3 pathway in human mesothelial cells. *Nephrology*. (2017) 22:150– 8. doi: 10.1111/nep.12746

51. Poole CY, Welten AG, ter Wee PM, Paauw NJ, Djorai AN, Valentijn RM, et al. A peritoneal dialysis regimen low in glucose and glucose degradation products results in increased cancer antigen 125 and peritoneal activation. *Perit Dial Int.* (2012) 32:305–15. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2010.00115

52. Chung SH, Heimbürger O, Stenvinkel P, Qureshi AR, Lindholm B. Association between residual renal function, inflammation and patient survival in new peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2003) 18:590–7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/18.3.590

53. Memoli B, Postiglione L, Cianciaruso B, Bisesti V, Cimmaruta C, Marzano L, et al. Role of different dialysis membranes in the release of interleukin-6-soluble receptor in uremic patients. *Kidney Int.* (2000) 58:417–24. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00181.x

54. Xiao J, Gong Y, Chen Y, Yu D, Wang X, Zhang X, et al. IL-6 promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of human peritoneal mesothelial cells possibly through the JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2017) 313:F310–F8. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00428.2016

55. Williams JD, Craig KJ, Topley N, Von Ruhland C, Fallon M, Newman GR, et al. Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2002) 13:470–9. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V132470

56. del Peso G, Jiménez-Heffernan JA, Selgas R, Remón C, Ossorio M, Fernández-Perpén A, et al. Biocompatible dialysis solutions preserve peritoneal mesothelial cell and vessel wall integrity. A case-control study on human biopsies. *Perit Dial Int.* (2016) 36:129–34. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2014.00038

57. Selgas R, Bajo MA, Castro MJ, del Peso G, Aguilera A, Fernández-Perpén A, et al. Risk factors responsible for ultrafiltration failure in early stages of peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2020) 20:631–6. doi: 10.1177/089686080002000609

58. Shi Y, Xiong Y, Lei Y, Li Z, Yan H, Yuan J, et al. Protective effect of COMPangiopoietin-1 on peritoneal vascular permeability and peritoneal transport function in uremic peritoneal dialysis rats. *Am J Transl Res.* (2019) 11:5932–43.

59. Catar R, Witowski J, Zhu N, Lücht C, Derrac Soria A, Uceda Fernandez J, et al. IL-6 trans-signaling links inflammation with angiogenesis in the peritoneal membrane. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2017) 28:1188–99. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015101169

60. Fielding CA, Jones GW, McLoughlin RM, McLeod L, Hammond VJ, Uceda J, et al. Interleukin-6 signaling drives fibrosis in unresolved inflammation. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.022

61. Yang X, Yan H, Jiang N, Yu Z, Yuan J, Ni Z, et al. IL-6 transsignaling drives a STAT3-dependent pathway that leads to structural alterations of the peritoneal membrane. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2020) 318:F338– 53. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00319.2019

62. Lambie MR, Chess J, Summers AM, Williams PF, Topley N, Davies SJ, et al. Peritoneal inflammation precedes encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis: results from the GLOBAL Fluid Study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2016) 31:480–6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv440

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

REVIEWED BY Raymond Keller, Stockton University, United States Murilo Guedes,

Murilo Guedes, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Guillermo García-García ggarcia1952@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 01 March 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 20 September 2022

CITATION

Maggiani-Aguilera P, Chávez-Iñiguez JS, Navarro-Blackaller G, Hernández-Morales K, Geraldo-Ozuna AL, Alcantar-Villín L, Montoya-Montoya O, Luquín-Arellano VH and García-García G (2022) Portable sauna stimulated-diaphoresis for the treatment of fluid-overload in peritoneal dialysis patients: A pilot study. *Front. Med.* 9:887609. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.887609

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Maggiani-Aguilera, Chávez-Iñiguez, Navarro-Blackaller, Hernández-Morales, Geraldo-Ozuna, Alcantar-Villín, Montoya-Montoya, Luguín-Arellano and García-García. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Portable sauna stimulated-diaphoresis for the treatment of fluid-overload in peritoneal dialysis patients: A pilot study

Pablo Maggiani-Aguilera^{1,2}, Jonathan S. Chávez-Iñiguez^{1,2}, Guillermo Navarro-Blackaller^{1,2}, Karla Hernández-Morales^{1,2}, Ariadna Lizbeth Geraldo-Ozuna^{1,2}, Luz Alcantar-Villín^{1,2}, Olivia Montoya-Montoya², Víctor Hugo Luquín-Arellano^{1,2} and Guillermo García-García^{1,2}*

¹Nephrology Department, Civil Hospital of Guadalajara Fray Antonio Alcalde, Guadalajara, Mexico, ²University of Guadalajara Health Sciences Center, Guadalajara, Mexico

Background: Fluid overload (FO) is a common problem in patients with peritoneal dialysis (PD), it is associated with adverse outcomes and may persist despite adjustements in PD therapy.

Objective: To evaluate the feasibility and safety of stimulated diaphoresis to reduce FO with the use of a portable sauna bath.

Methods: Open-label pilot study in patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and FO. The primary outcome was the treatment-related adverse events; secondary outcomes were changes in over-hydration (OH), body weight and blood pressure, FO symptoms, and sleep quality. Dialysis prescription and daily data were recorded. The intervention period consisted in a 30-min, 45°C sauna bath, daily for 10 days, using a portable sauna bath.

Results: Fifty-one out of 54 total sauna bath sessions were well tolerated. In three (5.5%) sessions adverse effects were reported: transient dizziness in two cases, and a second-degree skin burn in a patient with advanced diabetic neuropathy. OH ($6.3 \pm 1.2 \text{ L}$ vs. $5.5 \pm 1.3 \text{ L}$, p = 0.05), body weight ($67.7 \pm 11.4 \text{ vs.} 66.8 \pm 3.8 \text{ kg}$, p = 0.003), diastolic blood pressure ($92 \pm 13.5 \text{ vs.} 83 \pm 13.3 \text{ mmHg}$, P = 0.003) and PSQI score ($7.3 \pm 3.7 \text{ vs.} 5.1 \pm 3.2$, p = 0.02) improved significantly between the control and intervention period, respectively.

Conclusions: Stimulated diaphoresis with a portable sauna bath could be a novel, safe, and effective alternative way to reduce FO in CAPD patients. Larger studies are needed to confirm our results.

Clinical trial registration: ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier: NCT03563898.

KEYWORDS

peritoneal dialysis, fluid overload, diaphoresis, sauna bath, chronic kidney disease

Introduction

FO is a common complication in end-stage renal disease (1, 2), and it has been associated to arterial hypertension, left ventricular hypertrophy, malnutrition and inflammation in the end-stage kindey disease (3–7), as well as to all-cause mortality in patients with kidney replacement therapy (KRT) (8–12).

The need of high ultrafiltration rates increases the risk of intradialytic hypotension, cramps, and the impossibility to reach dry weight in the short term (13). In pertioneal dialysis (PD) patients, the use of hypertonic solutions can increase the ultrafiltrate volume, but unfortunately, it may also lead to a more rapid deterioration of peritoneal membrane function, and potentially to the loss of residual renal function (14). Despite improvements in the methods of KRT as well as other techniques in PD patients, the problem of FO persists in the PD population.

Few studies have examined fluid losses through diaphoresis in patients with kidney disease, indicating that fluid loss through diaphoresis can be substantial (15-17). Body sweat is produced by 2-3 million sweat glands to control body temperature (18). Healthy people can secrete up to 4L of water in sweat in 1 h with appropriate stimuli (15). Exocrine secretion also contains factors that regulate skin flora and reduce the risk of infections (19). Hot water baths performed in two patients induced water losses of 566 \pm 160 and 813 \pm 62 ml / h, respectively (15). Additionally, improvement of uremic symptoms has been described (17). Our protocol offers a technique not previously used with a portable sauna bath, which is affordable and easy to use at home in patients with PD. We hypothesize that the stimulation of diaphoresis in PD patients with portable sauna can be a safe and effective strategy to reduce FO.

Materials and methods

Subjects

This was an open-label, interventional and treatment purpose pilot study, in 9 PD patients with FO from the Hospital Civil de Guadalajara. To evaluate its safety, the sauna therapy was implemented in hospitalized patients, under medical supervision. Inclusion criteria were being on CAPD for at least 3 months, diagnosis of FO (OH > 2L measured with bioelectrical impedance BCM, Fresenius (R), stable clinical condition, and availability to give informed consent. Exclusion criteria were any cardiovascular event in the last 12 months (acute myocardial infarction, NYHA Heart Failure III-IV, cardiac arrhythmia, cerebral vascular event, unstable-stable angina), peritonitis, or pregnancy. A subgroup analysis was made between responders and non-responders to sauna therapy. Responders were defined as an average decrease in the degree of OH between the control and the intervention period of at least 500 ml. The study was approved by the institutional ethical committee of the Hospital Civil de Guadalajara and registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03563898). The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and follows the CONSORT specifications.

Study period

The study was carried out in two intervals, the control and the intervention period. The control period consisted of observation for 10 days, where characteristics of the PD status, vital signs, bioimpedance spectroscopy (BIA) data, and questionnaires were recorded. Patients were weighed wearing underwear. Blood samples for chemistry, electrolytes, and blood count were collected. Blood pressure was taken daily after a 10-min rest. Questionnaire about symptoms of FO (NYHA Functional Classification of breathlessness), sleep quality scale, and antihypertensive regimens were applied to each patient. FO measurement by BIA was performed on the first day, and also daily body weight. PD treatment (volume infused, dextrose concentration, ultrafiltrate volume, and the number of exchanges per day) was recorded. A graduated glass with measurements in milliliters was provided, and the patients were instructed to record the amount of fluids ingested daily. A 24-h urine sample was collected on day one. In this phase, patients did not use the portable sauna bath.

During the intervention period, patients used the sauna bath daily, 30 min at 45°C, sitting on a chair, for 10 consecutive days (Figure 1). Time and/or temperature of the bath was reduced according to patient's tolerance. Ten minutes before taking the sauna bath, blood pressure and weight were recorded. No special recommendation on fluid intake was made. Nephrology staff was present during the bath. Patients informed of symptoms that occurred during the intervention. After finishing the bath, they stayed 15 min to dry the body with a towel. The wet catheter dressing was changed to a dry one impregnated with mupirocin spray at the exit site, and the patient's weigth and blood pressure were recorded. During the intervention period, the same information as in the control phase was collected.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was treatment-related adverse events (grade two or above) as measured by CTCAE v 4.0. Secondary outcomes were the degree of OH (measured by BIA), decrease in patient's weight, blood pressure, blood test, FO symptoms (NYHA Functional Classification of breathlessness) and changes in sleep quality (PSQI score) between the two periods.





Cohort selection. CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis.

Statistics

Statistical analysis was conducted using R Studio. Because this is a pilot study, no power calculation was performed. Quantitative variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, or as median (range), as appropriate. The Wilcoxon Signed-Rank Test was used to determine the differences in the data collected between the two periods. A two-tailed p < 0.05

TABLE 1 Patient clinical characteristics.

	<i>n</i> = 9
Age, years (range)	36 (23-68)
Female sex (%)	7 (77)
Diabetes (%)	3 (33)
Hypertension (%)	9 (100)
Body mass index, kg/m ² (range)	26 (21-38)
Diabetics (%)	3 (33)
Glomerular filtration rate, mean (ml/min/1.73 m ²)	3.6
Diuresis > 500 ml/24 h (%)	2 (23)
Using diuretics (%)	5 (55)
Furosemide daily dose (mean)	120 mg
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	147 ± 10
Dyastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	93 ± 12.3
Overhydration index, L* (range)	6.3 (2.7–15.3)
Dialysis vintage, months (range)	25 (5-72)
Number of dialysis exchanges/day	4
Dialysis glucose concentration (%)	
1.5%	5 (56)
2.5%	3 (33)
4.25%	1 (11)

Values expressed as mean and min-max.

*Bioimpedance spectroscopy.

TABLE 2 Adverse events per total sauna baths sessions.

	n = 54
Adverse events per total sauna baths (%)	
Dry skin	0
Burn	1 (1.8)
Pruritus	0
Dehydration	0
Catheter infection	0
Hypotension	0
Dizziness	2 (3.7)
Adverse events	3 (5.5)

was consider statistically significant. A subgroup analysis was made between responders and non-responders to sauna therapy. A logistic regression model was built to try to identify factors associated to non-respond.

Results

Among the 180 patients dialyzed on our CAPD program, we excluded 158 because they had < 3 months in CAPD, they had peritonitis or a cardiovascular event in the last 12 months, or declined to participate in the study. Nine patients fulfilled

- 4

	BSA*	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7	Day 8	Day 9	Day 10
Patient 1	1.52 m ²	200 g	100 g	200 g	100 g	0 g	100 g	300 g	100 g	0 g	200 g
Patient 2	1.71 m^2	300 g	300 g	300 g	250 g	350 g	700 g	300 g	200 g	100 g	100 g
Patient 3	1.74 m^2	400 g	350 g	450 g	500 g	100 g	700 g	400 g	200 g	200 g	300 g
Patient 4	1.85 m ²	1200 g	300 g	0 g	100 g	100 g	100 g	300 g	0 g	400 g	100 g
Patient 5	1.72 m^2	0 g	200 g	200 g	200 g	100 g	500 g	100 g	200 g	100 g	200 g
Patient 6	1.69 m ²	100 g	0 g	200 g	100 g	200 g	300 g	100 g	300 g	300 g	200 g
Patient 7	$1.70 \ {\rm m}^2$	200 g	100 g	500 g	200 g	300 g	200 g	300 g	100 g	500 g	200 g
Patient 8	1.84 m ²	700 g	300 g	100 g	400 g	400 g	0 g	400 g	800 g	400 g	300 g
Patient 9	1.75 m^2	200 g	100 g	300 g	100 g	250 g	100 g	300 g	100 g	400 g	350 g

TABLE 3 Weight loss per patient per sauna session.

*BSA, body surface area.

the inclusion criteria and all were included in the analysis, (Figure 2). No patients interrupted the treatment during the study period. Patient's clinical baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1. The mean age was 36 (23–68) years, 77% were females, one-third were diabetic, and only two had diuresis > 500 ml/24 h; the remaining seven patients were considered anuric (urine outout < 100 ml/24 h); baseline systolic and dyastolic blood pressure was 147 ± 10 mmHg and 93 ± 12.3 mmHg, respectively. The overhydration index was 6.3 (2.7–15.3) L, and they had a dialysis vintage of 25 (5–72) months; more than half were using a 1.5% dextrose concentration PD fluid. All participants were hypertensive and only two were not using diuretics.

Fifty-one of the 54 total sauna bath sessions were well tolerated; in three (5.5%) sessions adverse events were reported (Table 2). Two patients rerported momentary dizziness without hypotension at the first session, 20 min after being on the sauna bath, and these events were considered mild. These two patients received 20 min of of therapy in subsequent sessions, without any adverse effect. A patient with advanced diabetic neuropathy presented a second-degree burn, that was treated with topical analgesics and antibiotics, event that was considered moderate.

A significant difference was observed in the degree of OH measured by bioimpedance between the control and the intervention period ($6.3 \pm 1.2 \text{ L}$ vs. $5.5 \pm 1.3 \text{ L}$, p = 0.05). A significant decrease in mean body weight between the two periods was observed ($67.7 \pm 11.4 \text{ kg}$ vs. $66.8 \pm 3.8 \text{ kg}$, p = 0.003). Individual weight losses are shown in Table 3. Additionally, there was a significant decrease in diastolic blood pressure ($92 \pm 13.5 \text{ mmHg}$ vs. $83 \pm 13.3 \text{ mmHg}$, p = 0.003), but not in the systolic blood pressure ($148 \pm 12 \text{ mmHg}$ vs. $144 \pm 16 \text{ mmHg}$, p = 0.42). An improvement in sleep quality was observed, mainly in a decrease in nocturnal awakenings and in time of falling asleep at bedtime between the two periods (Global PSQI score, $7.3 \pm 3.7 \text{ vs.}$ 5.1 ± 3.2 , P = 0.02). There was no significant difference in the ultrafiltrate or the water intake between the two periods. The summary

of anthropomorphic parameters and blood tests during the two periods are shown in Table 4. We applied the Subjective Global Assessment of nutritional status in all patients on the first day of the protocol. Seven of them had normal nutritional status and two moderately malnourished. Table 5 summarizes the patient's nutritional status and their relationship with FO, time on dialysis, albumin, and C- reactive protein.

In a subgroup analysis between responders and nonresponders to therapy, six patients were classified as responders, and three as non-responders. Only the presence of moderate malnutrition was associated with an increased risk of being a non-responder (OR 2.14, 95% CI 1.40–3.26, p = 0.03) in the univariate and multivariate logistic regression model (Table 6).

Discussion

In this-single center, clinical pilot study, the use of a portable sauna bath in CAPD FO patients to stimulate diaphoresis was safe, and resulted in a significant decrease in FO, diastolic blood pressure and body weight. It could be safe to use in patients on DP, however, surveillance and grooming measures must be taken by the patient, and its use should be reconsidered in patients whose sensitivity is decreased, as it was the case in the patient with advanced diabetic neuropathy.

We found a significant decrease in OH, with a mean reduction of 0.7 ± 0.2 L. The decrease in FO was similar to the results of daily sauna baths in eight patients reported by Snyder and Merrill (17) in 1966 and Pruijm in 2013 (20). In our study, average weight loss per sauna bath during 20 to 30 min/day, was 250 \pm 300 g. The total amount of sweat loss varied with some patients reaching 100 to 550 g, while other studies reported losses of up to 1,430 g (17). This suggests that some persons are more responsive to stimulated sweating therapies than others, explained in part by the difference in body surface area. Indeed. Although not statistically significant, we were able to observe a larger BSA in patients who responded to the sauna bath vs.

10.3389/fmed.2022.887609

Frontiers in Medicine

TABLE 4 Anthropomorphic parameters and electrolytes during the control and the intervention period.

	Control period	Intervent	ion period	Change	CI 95%	<i>P</i> -value *
Ultrafiltered by dialysis (ml)	880 ± 121 (270; 1405)	860 ± 98 (321; 1323)		20 ± 35	(-62 to 102)	0.91
Extracellular water (L)	$20 \pm 5.1 \ (14.9; \ 30.7)$	$19.4 \pm 4.8 \; (14.1; 28.4)$		0.5 ± 0.5	(-0.7 to 1.9)	0.37
Intracellular water (L)	$18.1\pm3.4~(14.4;22.3)$	17.7 ± 3.3	(13.4; 23.9)	0.3 ± 0.6	(-1.1 to 1.7)	0.59
E/I (L)	$1.1\pm 0.3~(0.83;1.26)$	1 ± 0.2 (0	0.71; 1.33)	0.006 ± 0.2	(-0.04 to 0.06)	0.95
Overhydration OH (L)	6.3 ± 1.2 (2–7; 15.3)	5.5 ± 1.3	(0.7; 14.2)	0.7 ± 0.2	(0.09 to 1.3)	0.05*
OH/ECW (%)	$29 \pm 3 \ (16; 50)$	26 ± 4 (0.04; 50)	3 ± 1	(0 to 0.06)	1.00
Mean body weight (kg)	$67.7 \pm 11.4 \ (64; 92)$	$66.8 \pm 3.$	8 (47; 91)	0.85 ± 0.1	(0.4 to 1.2)	0.003*
Mean body weight before-after sauna bath (kg)		Before sauna	After sauna			
		$67.1 \pm 3.8 (47.5; 91.8)$	$66.8\pm3.8(47.4;91.5)$	0.25 ± 0.3	(0.18 to 0.32)	0.008*
Mean SBP (mmHg)	$148 \pm 12 \ (135; 163)$	144 ± 16	(122; 176)	3.6 ± 4.5	(-6 to 14)	0.42
Mean DBP (mmHg)	92 ± 13.5 (80; 110)	83 ± 13.3	8 (69; 106)	8.6 ± 2.4	(3 to 14)	0.003*
Mean difference SBP before-after sauna bath		Before sauna	After sauna			
		$149 \pm 16 (122; 171)$	140 ± 22 (96; 176)	9.1 ± 4.4	(-1 to 19)	0.05*
Mean difference DBP before-after sauna bath		Before sauna	After sauna			
		92 ± 15 (71; 116)	79 ± 13 (69; 106)	12.9 ± 4.9	(1.4 to 24)	0.01*
Water intake per day (ml)	$506 \pm 167 \ (156; 733)$	517 ± 187	(178; 800)	11 ± 34	(-91 to 68)	0.67
Global PSQI score	7.3 ± 3.7 (3; 14)	5.1 ± 3.1	2 (1; 10)	2.2 ± 0.6	(0.7 to 3.6)	0.02*
NYHA scale	$1.8 \pm 0.3 \; (1;2)$	1.8 ± 0	.3 (1; 2)	NA	NA	NA
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	9±0.5 (6.1; 12.1)	9.2 ± 0.6	(5.8; 12.3)	0.1 ± 0.1	(-0.4 to 0.1)	0.19
Hematocrite (%)	27.8 ± 1.6 (20.3; 35.2)	28.8 ± 1.9	(18.8; 36.7)	1 ± 0.4	(-2.1 to 0.02)	0.9
Urea (mg/dl)	158 ± 7 (117; 186)	159 ± 12	(111; 210)	0.9 ± 7.6	(-18 to 16)	0.9
Creatinine (mg/dl)	$13.7 \pm 1.2 \ (8.3; 20.4)$	13.6 ± 1.1	(9.5; 18.3)	0.08 ± 0.41	(-0.8 to 1)	0.83
Albumin (g/dl)	3.2 ± 0.1 (2.4; 4)	3.4 ± 0.1	(2.7; 4.2)	0.2 ± 0.03	(−0.3 to −0.1)	0.9
Potassium (mEq/L)	$4.7 \pm 0.2 \ (3.7; 5.6)$	4.4 ± 0.2	(3.5; 5.6)	0.2 ± 0.12	(-0.03 to 0.56)	0.07
Sodium (mEq/L)	$136.8\pm 0.7(133;140)$	137.7 ± 0.0	5 (134; 140)	0.8 ± 0.5	(-2 to 0.4)	0.15
Phosphorus (mEq/L)	$6.2\pm 0.4~(3.5;7.9)$	6.4 ± 0.5	(3.3; 8.6)	0.2 ± 0.1	(-0.6 to 0.1)	0.22
Uric acid (mg/dl)	$6.4\pm 0.3~(4.9;8.8)$	6.4 ± 0.4	(4.8; 9.1)	0.1 ± 0.2	(-0.8 to 0.5)	0.69

*Two-sided t-test p < 0.05.

SBP, Systolic blood pressure; DBP, Diastolic blood pressure; NYHA, New York Heart Association; PSQI, Sleep Quality Assessment score; OH/ECW, Over Hydratation/ ECW extracellular water; E/I, extracellular Intracellular ratio.

non-responders (1.75 \pm 0.1 m² vs. 1.64 \pm 0.1 m², p = 0.06), suggesting that the larger the BSA, the greater the number of functioning sweat glands. We could identify that the presence of moderate/severe malnutrition, is a risk factor that reduces the response to fluid loss with the use of sauna bath (Table 5). Although hot weather plays a role in sweating, we do not think it influenced our results. The study was carried out during the months of January to March, when the maximum temperature in Guadalajara ranged between 24°C and 28°C.

We observed that diastolic blood pressure also presented a significant decrease before and after the therapy. This could be explained by a decrease in FO. However, this effect may be only a reflection of the heat-mediated vasodilatation of the sauna, so a larger study is necessary in which the patients be exposed to more days to therapy to confirm our hypothesis.

An improvement in sleep quality was also observed, mainly in a decrease in nocturnal awakenings and in time of falling asleep at bedtime between the two periods, using the Global PSQI score (Sleep Quality Assessment score), with a mean change of two points in the score. This result could positively

TABLE 5 Nutritional status by SGA.

	n = 9
Normal nutritional status (%)	7 (77)
Moderate protein-energy wasting (%)	2 (23)
Severe protein-energy wasting (%)	0
Mean OH index in normal nutritional status (Liters)	6.7 ± 1.2
Mean OH index in moderate protein-energy wasting (Liters)	6.5 ± 1.3
Mean CRP in normal nutritional status (mg/L)	1 ± 0.6
Mean CRP in moderate protein-energy wasting (mg/L)	3.7 ± 0.9
Mean serum albumin in normal nutritional status (g/dl)	2.9 ± 1.1
Mean serum albumin in moderate protein-energy wasting (g/dl)	3.7 ± 1.5
Mean dialysis vintage (months) in normal nutritional status	41 ± 15
Mean dialysis vintage (months) in moderate protein-energy wasting	35 ± 11

OH, overhydration; CRP, C reactive protein.

contribute to the quality of life of patients. Sauna bathing could generate a gratifying and relaxing sensation, a fact that should be considered. It is possible that the good tolerance to saunabath stimulated diaphoresis in our population was related to our younger PD population; however, tolerance could be different in older patients.

No changes in electrolytes and urea were observed, perhaps explained by the short time of the study period. Water ingestion per day was not different between the control and the intervention period (506 \pm 167 vs. 517 \pm 187, respectively), which suggests that the use of sauna bathing did not cause more thirst in these patients.

Keller et al. described how perspiration has been of historical interest in the management of chronic kidney disease, due to its ability to eliminate fluids, electrolytes, and uremic toxins through the sweat glands, as well as the potential risks of exposure to heat in the sauna, such as burns and hypovolemia; despite its biological rationale, there have been only seven studies with a total of 60 patients who have explored perspiration in end stage kidney disease (21).

Our study has several limitations. The number of participants was small. The duration of the study period was short, with an exposure to therapy for only 10 days. It was a pilot study and was performed in a single center. We did not evaluate the urea and potassium kinetics, solutes that may have changed during the intervention but were not considered as objective of our study. The absence of a control group. The study was carried out in a selected group of PD patients, which may not be representative of the entire PD population, Finally, the conditions of the sauna bath sessions, such as temperature and duration, were established based on the capabilities set by the manufacturer of the equipment. We do not rule out that other parameters could be evaluated in these patients to make it more effective and tailored to the tolerance for each patient. In our opinion, patients could undergo two sauna bath sessions per day since it was very well tolerated. However, we did not have enough personnel to supervise more than one sauna session per day.

TABLE 6 Logistic regression model to identify non-responders to sauna treatment.

		Non-responders		
	Univariate	<i>p</i> -value	Multivariate	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	1.01 (0.99–1.04)	0.16	1.02 (1.02–1.02)	0.01
Sex (male)	0.60 (0.31-1.15)	0.17	0.93 (0.91–0.96)	0.12
Diabetic	1 (0.47-2.09)	1	0.91 (0.89–0.93)	0.09
Months in CAPD	1.01 (1.00-1.02)	0.05	0.99 (0.99–1.00)	0.97
BMI (kg/m ²)	1.01 (0.94–1.09)	0.65	0.98 (0.97–0.98)	0.03
Moderate/severe malnutrition	2.35 (1.35-4.08)	0.01	2.37 (2.31-2.42)	0.008
Dialysis ultrafiltration	0.99 (0.99–1.00)	0.31	0.99 (0.99-0.99)	0.02

CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; BMI, body mass index.

10.3389/fmed.2022.887609

In conclusion, in PD patients with FO, stimulated diaphoresis with sauna baths can be an effective, safe and sustained way to reduce FO. However, surveillance and grooming measures must be taken by the patient, and its use should be avoided in patients whose sensitivity is decreased, as it was the case in our patient with advanced diabetic neuropathy.

We believe that more studies are needed to evaluate a longer time the use of the sauna bath in a certain type of patient on PD or HD, especially the those with anuria and poor ultrafiltrate.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité de Etica e Investigacion, Hospital Civil de Guadalajara Fray Antonio Alcalde. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{PM}}\xspace{-}$ A, JC-I, and GG-G were responsible for the conception and design of the work, the acquisition, analysis, and

References

1. Blake PG, Bargman JM, Brimble KS, Davison SN, Hirsch D, McCormick BB, et al. Clinical practice guidelines and recommendations on peritoneal dialysis adequacy 2011. *Perit Dial Int.* (2011) 31:218–39. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2011. 00026

2. Wabel P, Moissl U, Chamney P, Jirka T, Machek P, Ponce P, et al. Towards improved cardiovascular management: the necessity of combining blood pressure and fluid overload. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2008) 23:2965– 71. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn228

3. Chazot C, Wabel P, Chamney P, Moissl U, Wieskotten S, Wizemann V. Importance of normohydration for the long term survival of haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2012) 27:2404–10. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr678

4. Agarwal R. Hypervolemia is associated with increased mortality among hemodialysis patients. *Hypertension*. (2010) 56:512–7. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.154815

5. Paniagua R, Ventura M, Avila-Díaz M, Hinojosa-Heredia H, Méndez-Durán A, Cueto-Manzano A, et al. NTproBNP, fluid volume overload and dialysis modality are independent predictors of mortality in ESRD patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2010) 25:551–7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp395

6. Tzamaloukas AH, Saddler M, Murata GH, Malhotra D, Sena P, Simon D, et al. Symptomatic fluid retention in patients on continuous peritoneal dialysis. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (1995) 6:198–206. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V62198

7. Wizemann V, Wabel P, Chamney P, Zaluska W, Moissl U, Rode C, et al. The mortality risk of overhydration in haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2009) 24:1574–9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn707

interpretation of data, drafting the work, and approving the version for publication and are accountable for the aspects of the study that this entailed. PM-A and JC-I were responsible for the analyses and interpretation of data, critical revision of the draft for important intellectual concepts, and approving the version for publication. GN-B, KH-M, AG-O, LA-V, OM-M, and VL-A were responsible for the acquisition of data and final approval of the version for publication and are accountable for the aspects of the study that this entailed. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Demirci MS1 DC. Relations between malnutrition-infl ammationatherosclerosis and volume status. The usefulness of bioimpedance analysis in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2011) 26:1708–16. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq588

9. Foley RN, Herzog CA, Collins AJ. United States renal data system. Blood pressure and long-term mortality in United States hemodialysis patients: USRDS waves 3 and 4 study. *Kidney Int.* (2002) 62:1784–90. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00636.x

10. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Regidor D, Kovesdy CP, Van Wyck D, Bunnapradist S, Horwich TB, et al. Fluid retention is associated with cardiovascular mortality in patients undergoing long-term hemodialysis. *Circulation.* (2009) 119:671–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.807362

11. Kimmel PL, Varela MP, Peterson RA, Weihs KL, Simmens SJ, Alleyne S, et al. Interdialytic weight gain and survival in hemodialysis patients: effects of duration of ESRD and diabetes mellitus. *Kidney Int.* (2000) 57:1141–51. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00941.x

12. Saran R, Bragg-Gresham J, Rayner HC, Goodkin DA, Keen ML, Van Dijk PC, et al. Nonadherence in hemodialysis: associations with mortality, hospitalization, and practice patterns in the DOPPS. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 64:254–62. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00064.x

13. Charra B. Fluid balance, dry weight, and blood pressure in dialysis. *Hemodial Int.* (2007) 11:21–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1542-4758.2007.00148.x

14. Kim Y, Biesen WV. Fluid overload in peritoneal dialysis patients. Semin Nephrol. (2017) 37:43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2016.10.006

15. Lacher JW, Schrier RW. Sweating treatment for chronic renal failure. Nephron. (1978) 21:255-9. doi: 10.1159/000181401

16. Man in 't Veld AJ, van Maanen JH, Schicht IM. Stimulated sweating in chronic renal failure. *Br Med J.* (1978) 2:172–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.6131. 172-a

17. Snyder D, Merrill JP. Sauna baths in the treatment of chronic renal failure. *Trans Am Soc Artif Intern Organs.* (1966) 12:188–92.

18. Shibasaki M, Crandall CG. Mechanisms and controllers of eccrine sweating in humans. *Front Biosci.* (2010) 2:685–96. doi: 10.2741/s94

19. Cui CY, Schlessinger D. Eccrine sweat gland development and sweat secretion. *Exp Dermatol.* (2015) 24:644–50. doi: 10.1111/exd.12773

20. Pruijm M, El-Housseini Y, Mahfoudh H, Jarraya F, Hachicha J, Teta D, et al. Stimulated sweating as a therapy to reduce interdialytic weight gain and improve potassium balance in chronic hemodialysis patients: a pilot study. *Hemodial Int.* (2013) 17:240–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1542-4758.2012.00751.x

21. Keller RW Jr, Kopple JD, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Perspiration interventions for conservative management of kidney disease and uremia. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. (2020) 29:57–63. doi: 10.1097/MNH.000000000000569

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY John William Larkin, Fresenius Medical Care, United States

REVIEWED BY

Gianni Lazzarin, Abano Terme Hospital, Italy Pavitra Manu Dogra, Army Hospital Research and Referral, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Tomohisa Yamashita tomo-yamashita@sapmed.ac.jp

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 22 April 2022 ACCEPTED 02 September 2022 PUBLISHED 23 September 2022

CITATION

Yamashita T, Sato T, Yamamoto K, Abiko A, Nishizawa K, Matsuda M, Ebihara Y, Maehana T, Tanaka T, Yano T and Kobayashi H (2022) Successful therapeutic strategy for a patient with obese end-stage kidney disease by simultaneous laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and implantation of a buried peritoneal dialysis catheter: A case report. *Front. Med.* 9:926652.

doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.926652

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Yamashita, Sato, Yamamoto, Abiko, Nishizawa, Matsuda, Ebihara, Maehana, Tanaka, Yano and Kobayashi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or

reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Successful therapeutic strategy for a patient with obese end-stage kidney disease by simultaneous laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and implantation of a buried peritoneal dialysis catheter: A case report

Tomohisa Yamashita^{1,2*}, Tatsuya Sato^{1,3}, Kazuyuki Yamamoto⁴, Atsuko Abiko⁵, Keitaro Nishizawa², Masahiro Matsuda², Yuma Ebihara⁶, Takeshi Maehana⁷, Toshiaki Tanaka⁷, Toshiyuki Yano¹ and Hironori Kobayashi²

¹Department of Cardiovascular, Renal and Metabolic Medicine, Sapporo Medical University School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan, ²Department of Nephrology, Japanese Red Cross Asahikawa Hospital, Asahikawa, Japan, ³Department of Cellular Physiology and Signal Transduction, Sapporo Medical University School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan, ⁴Department of Surgery, Japanese Red Cross Asahikawa Hospital, Asahikawa, Japan, ⁵Department of Diabetic and Endocrinologic Medicine, Japanese Red Cross Asahikawa Hospital, Asahikawa, Japan, ⁶Department of Gastroenterological Surgery II, Faculty of Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, ⁷Department of Urology, Sapporo Medical University School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan

For morbidly obese patients with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD), there are often difficulties in accessing, implementing, and maintaining kidney replacement therapy (KRT). Although recent weight-loss surgery has the potential to solve these problems, its therapeutic strategy and appropriate perioperative management for morbidly obese patients with ESKD have not been established. Here, we describe the case history of a 47-yearold man diagnosed with ESKD due to obesity-related glomerulopathy with an uncorrected estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) of 16.1 ml/min. He hoped for kidney transplantation but was not eligible due to his high body mass index (BMI) (36.9 kg/m²). Therefore, a combination strategy for both attaining weight loss and preparing for KRT was needed. We performed modified laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) combined with a buried catheter for peritoneal dialysis (PD), which resulted in reduction of multiple surgical invasions while simultaneously preparing for PD. After these operations, his body mass dropped to below 30.0 kg/m², making him a candidate for kidney transplantation, while maintaining PD. Finally, he was able to have kidney transplantation with success. Collectively, in this case, our novel therapeutic approach was able to avoid multiple surgeries, to assist catheter insertion by laparoscopy, and to provide optimal KRT for an obese patient with ESKD. Simultaneous LSG and implantation of a buried PD catheter may be a promising strategy for morbidly obese patients with ESKD.

KEYWORDS

end-stage kidney disease, obesity, laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy, a buried catheter for peritoneal dialysis, kidney transplantation, personalized therapeutic approach

Introduction

The increasing prevalence of obesity has been a leading public health problem worldwide and has posed formidable challenges in accessing, delivering, and maintaining optimal kidney replacement therapy (KRT) in patients with endstage chronic kidney disease (ESKD) (1, 2). Kidney transplant recipients for patients with morbid obesity are at a higher risk of postoperative complications, including delayed graft function, wound infection, and rejection (3). Thus, a recent clinical practice guideline Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) has recommended that kidney transplant candidates with obesity should be offered weight loss interventions prior to transplantation (4). However, longer and more frequent hemodialysis (HD) or peritoneal dialysis (PD) is required to achieve adequate clearance until weight loss is achieved, frequently leading to problems with vascular access and catheter insertion for maintaining HD or PD in obese patients with ESKD (1, 5, 6). Despite these problems in KRT for morbidly obese patients with ESKD, safe and effective therapeutic strategies have not been established.

Recent pre-transplant bariatric surgery may be one promising option for weight loss interventions prior to transplantation (7, 8). A recent retrospective cohort study revealed that the intervention of bariatric surgery in patients on HD or PD was associated with an increased rate of kidney transplants performed but also lower all-cause mortality at 5 years compared with usual care (9). However, in obese patients with advanced chronic kidney disease or ESKD not undergoing HD or PD, surgery-related kidney damage and perioperative complications associated with vascular access and catheter insertion are critical problems despite early surgical intervention being paradoxically required.

The stepwise initiation of PD using a Moncrief and Popovich buried catheter (SMAP) is a technique for implanting a PD catheter in a standard fashion, except that the external segment is buried subcutaneously, and for exteriorizing the catheter when the initiation of PD is required (10). We hypothesized that simultaneous execution of PD catheter insertion with laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (LSG) may be ideal for morbidly obese patients with ESKD for the following three reasons. First, PD can be initiated without additional procedures in cases in which kidney function worsens after bariatric surgery. Second, laparoscopy allows surgeons to monitor the positioning of the catheter tip within the peritoneal cavity and assists PD-related surgical procedures including rectus sheath tunneling and lower abdominal suture sling (5, 6). Third, peritoneal adhesions can be prevented by avoiding multiple surgeries.

In this report, we describe a case of successful kidney transplantation *via* PD induction in an obese patient with ESKD using our novel therapeutic strategy by simultaneous LSG followed by SMAP.

Case report

A 47-year-old Japanese man was referred to Japanese Red Cross Asahikawa Hospital because his estimated glomerular filtration rate uncorrected for body surface area for Japanese individuals (uncorrected eGFRcreat) decreased to 16.1 ml/min. He was 178 cm tall, weighed 117 kg, and had a body mass index (BMI) of 36.9 kg/m², which is categorized as morbidly obese. Although he had been diagnosed with diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidemia, he was being appropriately treated with anti-diabetic agents, anti-hypertensive agents, and statins. He had edema in his lower limbs. His laboratory data at the first visit are shown in Table 1. Laboratory data revealed a serum creatinine level of 4.64 mg/dL, potassium level of 5.1 mmol/L and corrected calcium level of 7.4 mg/dL. Urinalysis showed a protein-to-creatinine ratio (PCR) of 7.4 g/gCr without occult blood. Endocrinological tests revealed no evidence of secondary obesity. No diabetic or hypertensive retinopathy was observed by an eye examination. These findings led to the clinical diagnosis of obesity-related glomerulopathy, though the diagnosis was not proven by kidney biopsy.

Although he hoped for a kidney transplant as KRT, he was not eligible due to his high BMI. Therefore, we needed to assist his weight loss safely while maintaining his kidney function well. We considered that pre-transplant LSG was the optimal way for successful kidney transplant. The time courses of kidney function and body weight after the first visit are shown in **Figure 1**. A preoperative low-calorie diet (LCD) for 5 months decreased his body weight by 12 kg. However, his uncorrected eGFRcreat decreased to 12.8 ml/min, suggesting that other KRT is required for maintaining his kidney function

Parameter	Level	Parameter	Level	Normal range
Complete blood count		Endocrin	ological test	
White blood cell, $x10^3/\mu L$	9.9	Thyroid-stimulating hormone, $\mu IU/mL$	3.63	861-1,747
Neutrophils, %	73.7	Free thyroxine 4, ng/dL	1.16	93-393
Hemoglobin, g/dL	12.8	Cortisol, µIU/mL	16.8	33-183
Platelets, $\times 10^3/\mu L$	205	Adrenocorticotropic hormone, pg/mL	44.7	73.0-138.0
Serum biochemistry		Plasma renin activity, ng/mL/h	2.7	11.0-31.0
Total protein, g/dL	6.1	Aldosterone, ng/dL	2.0	30.0-50.0
Albumin, g/dL	3.4	Growth hormone, ng/mL	0.27	<3.5
Urea nitrogen, mg/dL	49.9	Fasting insulin, µIU/mL	25.5	<3.5
Creatinine, mg/dL	4.64	C-peptide immunoreactivity, ng/mL	14.41	<2.0
Sodium, mmol/L	142			
Potassium, mmol/L	5.1	Urinalysis		
Chloride, mmol/L	109	Protein-to-creatinine ratio, g/gCr	7.43	
Calcium, mg/dL	6.8	Red blood cells, per high power field	0-1	
Phosphate, mg/dL	4.5	White blood cells, per high power field	1-4	
Fasting blood glucose, mg/dL	98			
Hemoglobin A1 c,%	5.9			

TABLE 1 Laboratory data at the first visit.

before kidney transplantation. Since he selected PD as 1st-line KRT, we planned modified LSG combined with a buried catheter for PD simultaneously. Two weeks before the operation, he was admitted to our institute to control his total daily energy intake and to restrict the total amount of potassium to less than 1,500 mg per day. At the time of admission, his body weight and urinary PCR were 105 kg and 5.2 g/gCr, respectively. He received a formula-based liquid meal replacement LCD substituting one meal per day (1,520 kcal-containing 53 g protein) in the first week. After confirmation that serum potassium was in the optimal range by taking sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (SZC) at 11.5 g per day, the frequency of liquid meal replacement was increased to two meals per day (950 kcal-containing 50 g protein) in the second week. His body weight dropped to 99 kg, and his blood pressure was normalized, leading to discontinuation of administration of antihypertensive drugs.

Following the preoperative medical treatment, bariatric surgery for obese ESKD by simultaneous LSG followed by SMAP was performed.

While each method used for LSG (11) and SMAP (10) mostly complied with those previously described, the detailed procedure for the simultaneous LSG followed by SMAP in the present case is as described below. The patient was placed in the supine reverse Trendelenburg position with his legs apart under general anesthesia. Four trocars were placed to avoid the planned PD catheter implantation site, and a 15 mm port was subsequently extended to extract the specimen (Figure 2A). The gastrocolic ligament along the greater curvature of the stomach was opened using a vessel sealing system (LigaSure System; Covidien, Mansfield, MA, USA) and exposed to the esophagogastric junction. A 37 Fr bougie was then inserted

into the pylorus, and an endoscopic linear stapler was used, starting with a black cartridge at the antrum and proceeding proximally to the angle of His using purple cartridges (The Endo GIA Reinforced Reload with Tri-Staple Technology; Covidien) (Figure 2B). The stapler line was oversewn with a running 3-0 absorbable suture to prevent bleeding, leakage, and adhesions (Figure 2C). Intraoperative endoscopy was used to confirm the absence of leakage. Then we inserted and buried a 65 cm non-coiled Swan-Neck PD catheter with three cuffs [JL-2 (A)S3, Hayashidera Medinol, Kanazawa, Japan] into the peritoneal cavity. The intra-abdominal segment of the PD catheter was led to the Douglas pouch under laparoscopic guidance without using a stylet and sutured to the lower abdominal wall (Figure 2D). A tunnel was created from the skin incision to the epigastric fossa to imbed the subcutaneous segment. Subsequently, another tunnel was created to lead the catheter to the first skin incision. A drainage tube was placed along the suture line of the stomach. Finally, the PD catheter was filled with heparinized saline (100 IU/10 mL), plugged, and successfully buried. A gastrografin swallow test was performed on the 5th postoperative day and we confirmed that there was no gastric leak.

One week after surgery, his body weight and BMI had decreased to 95 kg and 30.0 kg/m², respectively. Finally, he was able to be listed as a kidney transplant candidate. His urinary PCR was decreased to 3.5 g/gCr 1 month after surgery. His uncorrected eGFRcreat was temporarily increased to 14.8 ml/min but was then decreased to 10.0 ml/min 3 months after surgery (Figure 1). Therefore, the PD catheter was exteriorized to the upper abdomen (Figure 2E) and a full volume exchange was able to be initiated without any



trouble. The patient had been on PD while awaiting kidney transplantation. He was able to have kidney transplantation in Sapporo Medical University Hospital 14 months after the first visit. During this clinical course, he had no recurrent weight gain or complications.

Discussion

We found three possible valuable advantages of this strategy for an obese patient with ESKD by simultaneous LSG and implantation of a buried PD catheter through this case history. First, it enables safe and assured introduction of PD in parallel with LSG. Second, the number of surgeries can be reduced, resulting in less invasive procedures for morbidly obese patients with ESKD, who are usually at very high risk for operationassociated complications. Third, the patient's weight can be reduced at the time of PD induction, allowing sufficient PD efficiency to be achieved from the beginning. Therefore, our novel strategy (Bariatric surgery for Obese end-stage REnAl disease by simultaneous LSG followed by SMAP, which we named "BOREASS technique") can provide patient-friendly KRT. Furthermore, we showed two benefits in perioperative medical management for obese patients with ESKD through the present case history. First, we decreased total daily energy intake using a formula diet, which resulted in decreased progression of kidney function and avoidance of using a very LCD that can lead to distress and risks of muscle wasting for the patient (12). Second, serum potassium levels were successfully maintained within the normal range by using SZC without any side effects including gastrointestinal adverse events (13).

Removal of solute and fluid by PD is generally thought to be less efficient than that by HD, which contributes to a shorter duration to transfer to HD from PD in obese patients than in lean patients (14). Thus, our strategy may also contribute to extension of the PD duration, if the patient wishes for PD, by attaining safe and effective weight loss with maintenance of good nutrition status. Furthermore, obesity makes creating vascular access more challenging and complex, possibly by physical compression and impeding its maturation (1). Thus, our strategy using the BOREASS technique can facilitate vascular access creation and serve as a bridge to combination therapy with HD and PD. We believe that this technique is also useful for ESKD patients not only for kidney transplantation but also for PD or combination therapy.

It has been reported that bariatric surgery has renoprotective potentials by multiple mechanisms including the metabolic and anti-hypertensive effects (15). Thus, the PD catheter can be preserved without usage for years when kidney function is reserved after surgery. Gupta et al. reported that a 20-year-old buried catheter was successfully used for PD initiation (16). Therefore, we consider that our novel BOREASS technique can be applied for patients with not only ESKD but also preservedstage chronic kidney disease who require preservation of kidney function.

A major advantage of performing simultaneous LSG and implantation of a buried PD catheter is that the surgeon can place the intra-abdominal segment of the PD catheter into the Douglas pouch under laparoscopic guidance. In addition, in the present case, abdominal sling suture was also performed to prevent PD catheter migration. Although rectus tunneling, another method to prevent PD catheter dislodgement (6),


was not performed in the present case, no trouble with the position of the PD catheter occurred during the period of 14 months until the patient underwent kidney transplantation. We acknowledge that ESKD patients with obesity may have a large omentum, leading to catheter entrapment, and thus the option of omentectomy or omentopexy may prevent future PD catheter obstruction. In the present case, omentopexy was not performed because low surgical invasiveness and short surgical time were prioritized. Although no catheter obstruction occurred in the present case, further studies are needed to determine whether omentectomy or omentopexy in simultaneous LSG and PD catheter insertion can result in beneficial outcomes or not. Regarding the PD catheter exit site, we chose the upper abdominal exit site to avoid body hair on the whole abdomen, as the patient desired. Indeed, an upper abdominal exit has the advantage that it is easier for the patient to see and care for the exit site (6). However, we consider that an upper abdominal exit is not necessarily needed in our BOREASS technique. The exit site should be chosen with consideration of the comfort and preference of the patient. The most common and life-threatening complication of LSG is gastric leak (17). Thus, to prevent gastric leak, we routinely perform intraoperative endoscopy and a gastrografin swallow test on the 4th or 5th postoperative day as in the present case. In addition, fever and tachycardia, the most important clinical signs with gastric leak, should be monitored carefully. If gastric leak occurs, we perform nasogastric tube decompression and, if necessary, endoscopically guided endoluminal vacuum therapy (18). Other procedures such as endoscopic double-pigtail catheter internal drainage can also be applied (19). We do not believe that simultaneous LSG and PD catheter insertion should change these management strategies, but future studies are needed to determine the optimal way for preventing complications.

As an important limitation of our report, the rate of adverse events caused by our BOREASS technique has not been assessed to date because we present only one obese Japanese patient with ESKD. Recent prospective data collected between 2017 and 2018 in the United States revealed that the absolute event rate of death within 30 postoperative days by bariatric surgery is below 0.5% in patients with stage 4 or 5 chronic kidney disease (20). To establish the usefulness and safety of our novel strategy, prospective cohort studies with a sufficient sample size are needed in the future.

In summary, our strategy by simultaneous LSG and implantation of a buried PD catheter may be an optimal therapy for obese patients with advanced chronic kidney disease and ESKD. Further studies are needed to establish the usefulness of our novel approach.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval were not required because this is not a clinical study but a case report in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

TMY conceived the original idea. TMY and TS drafted the manuscript and prepared for table/figures. KY and YE were responsible for LSG. HK was responsible for PD catheter insertion/exteriorization. AA was responsible for nutrition support. TMY, KN, MM, and HK maintained PD. TM and TT were responsible for kidney transplantation. TSY and HK supervised the clinical courses. All authors provided important intellectual content during manuscript drafting and contributed to the finalization of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to our surgeons (Hironobu Takano and Koji Taira) and the multidisciplinary metabolic surgery team. We acknowledge Editage and S.E.S. Translation and Proofreading Services for editing and proofreading this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Diwan TS, Cuffy MC, Linares-Cervantes I, Govil A. Impact of obesity on dialysis and transplant and its management. *Semin Dial.* (2020) 33:279–85. doi: 10.1111/sdi.12876

3. Scheuermann U, Babel J, Pietsch U, Weimann A, Lyros O, Semmling K, et al. Recipient obesity as a risk factor in kidney transplantation. *BMC Nephrol.* (2022) 23:37. doi: 10.1186/s12882-022-02668-z

4. Chadban SJ, Ahn C, Axelrod DA, Foster BJ, Kasiske BL, Kher V, et al. KDIGO clinical practice guideline on the evaluation and management of candidates for kidney transplantation. *Transplantation*. (2020) 104(4S1 Suppl. 1):S11–103.

^{2.} Friedman AN, Kaplan LM, le Roux CW, Schauer PR. Management of obesity in adults with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2021) 32:777–90. doi: 10.1681/ASN. 2020101472

5. Crabtree JH, Shrestha BM, Chow K, Figueiredo AE, Povlsen JV, Wilkie M, et al. Creating and maintaining optimal peritoneal dialysis access in the adult patient: 2019 update. *Perit Dial Int.* (2019) 39:414–36. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2018.00232

6. Kennedy C, Bargman J. Peritoneal dialysis in the obese patient. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2020) 15:276–8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.10300819

7. Martin WP, White J, López-Hernández FJ, Docherty NG, le Roux CW. Metabolic surgery to treat obesity in diabetic kidney disease, chronic kidney disease, and end-stage kidney disease; what are the unanswered questions? *Front Endocrinol.* (2020) 11:289. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00289

8. Chintam K, Chang AR. Strategies to treat obesity in patients With CKD. Am J Kidney Dis. (2021) 77:427-39. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.08.016

9. Sheetz KH, Gerhardinger L, Dimick JB, Waits SA. Bariatric surgery and longterm survival in patients with obesity and end-stage kidney disease. *JAMA Surg.* (2020) 155:581–8. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2020.0829

10. Moncrief JW, Popovich RP, Broadrick LJ, He ZZ, Simmons EE, Tate RA. The moncrief-popovich catheter. A new peritoneal access technique for patients on peritoneal dialysis. *ASAIO J.* (1993) 39:62–5.

11. Givon-Madhala O, Spector R, Wasserberg N, Beglaibter N, Lustigman H, Stein M, et al. Technical aspects of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy in 25 morbidly obese patients. *Obes Surg.* (2007) 17:722–7. doi: 10.1007/s11695-007-9133-z

12. Molina P, Gavela E, Vizcaíno B, Huarte E, Carrero JJ. Optimizing diet to slow CKD progression. *Front Med.* (2021) 8:654250. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.654250

13. Hoy SM. Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate: a review in hyperkalaemia. *Drugs.* (2018) 78:1605–13. doi: 10.1007/s40265-018-0991-6

14. Obi Y, Streja E, Mehrotra E, Rivara MB, Rhee CM, Soohoo M, et al. Impact of obesity on modality longevity, residual kidney function, peritonitis, and survival

among incident peritoneal dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis. (2018) 71:802-13. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2017.09.010

15. Docherty NG, le Roux CW. Bariatric surgery for the treatment of chronic kidney disease in obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2020) 16:709–20. doi: 10.1038/s41581-020 -0323-4

16. Gupta A, Lavoie S, Blew B, Biyani M, McCormick BB. Successful initiation of dialysis with a 20-year-old buried peritoneal dialysis catheter: case report and literature review. *Case Rep Nephrol.* (2019) 2019:5678026. doi: 10.1155/2019/5678026

17. Walsh C, Karmali S. Endoscopic management of bariatric complications: a review and update. *World J Gastrointest Endosc.* (2015) 7:518–23. doi: 10.4253/wjge. v7.i5.518

18. Schniewind B, Schafmayer C, Voehrs G, Egberts J, von Schoenfels W, Rose T, et al. Endoscopic endoluminal vacuum therapy is superior to other regimens in managing anastomotic leakage after esophagectomy: a comparative retrospective study. *Surg Endosc.* (2013) 27:3883–90. doi: 10.1007/s00464-013-2 998-0

19. Lazzarin G, Di Furia M, Romano L, Di Sibio A, Di Giacomo C, Lombardi L, et al. Endoscopic double-pigtail catheter (EDPC) internal drainage as first-line treatment of gastric leak: a case series during laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy learning curve for morbid obesity. *Minim Invasive Surg.* (2020) 2020:8250904. doi: 10.1155/2020/8250904

20. Flavia CF, Martin WP, Maranga G, Le Roux CW, Ren-Fielding CJ. The impact of chronic kidney disease on perioperative risk and mortality after bariatric surgery. *Kidney 360.* (2021) 2:236–44. doi: 10.34067/KID.0004 832020

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pasqual Barretti, São Paulo State University, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Amir Shabaka, Hospital Universitario Fundación Alcorcón, Spain Matthieu Jamme, Centre de Recherche en Epidémiologie et Santé des Population (CESP), France

*CORRESPONDENCE Xusheng Liu liuxu801@126.com Lixin Wang wanglixin1210@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 17 March 2022 ACCEPTED 30 September 2022 PUBLISHED 17 October 2022

CITATION

He Z, Liang H, Huang J, Zhang D, Ma H, Lin J, Cai Y, Liu T, Li H, Qiu W, Wang L, Yuan F, Hou H, Zhao D, Liu X and Wang L (2022) Impact of dialysis modality choice on the survival of end-stage renal disease patients with congestive heart failure in southern China: A retrospective cohort study. *Front. Med.* 9:898650.

doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.898650

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 He, Liang, Huang, Zhang, Ma, Lin, Cai, Liu, Li, Qiu, Wang, Yuan, Hou, Zhao, Liu and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact of dialysis modality choice on the survival of end-stage renal disease patients with congestive heart failure in southern China: A retrospective cohort study

Zhiren He^{1,2}, Hui Liang^{1,2}, Jing Huang^{1,2}, Defei Zhang^{1,2}, Hongyan Ma^{1,2}, Junjie Lin^{1,2}, Youqing Cai^{1,2}, Tonghuan Liu^{1,2}, Hucai Li^{1,2}, Weizhong Qiu^{1,2}, Lingzheng Wang^{1,2}, Fengling Yuan^{1,2}, Haijing Hou^{1,2}, Daixin Zhao^{1,2}, Xusheng Liu^{1,2}* and Lixin Wang^{1,2}*

¹Department of Nephrology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China, ²The Second Clinical College of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China

Background and object: Heart failure is one of the common complications in patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and a major cause of death in these patients. The choice of dialysis modality for ESRD patients with congestive heart failure (CHF) is still inconclusive. The purpose of this study was to compare the prognosis of hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD) among ESRD patients with CHF and provide a basis for clinical decision-making.

Materials and methods: This was a retrospective study conducted at Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine that included patients with CHF requiring long-term renal replacement therapy between January 1, 2012 and December 31, 2017. The end of follow-up was December 31, 2020. All patients were divided into HD and PD groups and sub grouped by age, and we used univariate and multifactorial Cox regression analyses to calculate the relative hazard ratios (HR) of the different dialysis types and adjusted for differences in baseline data using propensity score matching (PSM).

Result: A total of 121 patients with PD and 156 patients with HD were included in this study. Among younger ESRD patients (\leq 65 years of age) with CHF, the prognosis of HD was worse than that of PD [HR = 1.84, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.01–3.34], and this disadvantage remained significant in the fully adjusted model [sex, age at dialysis initiation, Charlson

comorbidities index, body mass index, prealbumin, hemoglobin, and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF)] and after PSM. In the older group (>65 years of age), the prognosis of HD was better than that of PD (HR = 0.46, 95% CI = 0.25–0.85), and the protective effect remained in the fully adjusted model and after PSM. The aforementioned survival differences across the cohort were maintained in patients with preserved LVEF (>55%), but could not be reproduced in patients with reduced LVEF (\leq 55%).

Conclusion: In southern China, PD is a better choice for younger patients with ESRD, CHF and preserved LVEF, and HD is the better option for older patients.

KEYWORDS

all-cause mortality, hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis (PD), end-stage renal disease (ESRD), congestive heart failure (CHF)

Introduction

Previous studies have shown that 14.7–33% of patients have congestive heart failure (CHF) when they start dialysis (1–5) and are repeatedly hospitalized for CHF during subsequent treatments (6). Heart failure is widespread in maintenance dialysis patients, and dialysis patients with CHF have a higher risk of death than those without CHF (7–9). The most common reason for heart failure in these patients is volume overload with or without heart diseases (10).

Both hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD) are believed to reduce volume overload and improve heart failure through ultrafiltration. After PD was developed, it was often used to treat heart failure in non-ESRD patients. A number of reports have shown that PD has a good effect on refractory heart failure (11, 12). However, it is unclear which dialysis method has the better prognosis among ESRD dialysis patients with CHF. Only a small number of studies have investigated the prognostic differences in patients with CHF after receiving PD or HD. These studies have found that at the beginning of dialysis, patients with CHF may have different prognoses for different dialysis treatments. All of them are retrospective cohort studies (1-3, 5, 13). PD is generally considered to have a poor prognosis (1-3, 6). However, some recent studies have suggested that HD and PD may be equally effective (5, 13).

The many factors that affect the choice of dialysis methods make it almost impossible to conduct randomized controlled trials to evaluate the pros and cons of the two dialysis methods (14). In different regions and at different times, ESRD patients with heart failure choose different dialysis methods, and their prognoses are different. China is a country with a large population, and a large number of patients receiving renal replacement therapy also have CHF. However, there is currently a lack of clinical studies evaluating the impact of HD and PD on the prognosis of these patients. Thus, clinicians and patients lack clinical evidence to support the choice of dialysis methods.

China has been conducting nationwide registration of HD and PD patient information in recent years, but the accuracy of the registration information needs to be improved. We have established a relatively complete follow-up system to monitor the prognosis of renal replacement therapy patients.

Previous studies at our center have shown that the prognoses of PD and HD are different for end-stage renal patients at different ages (15). We hypothesize that the prognosis of ESRD patients with CHF receiving different dialysis methods may be different. Therefore, a subgroup analysis of the original data was carried out to compare the all-cause mortality of dialysis patients with CHF and to evaluate the impact of the two dialysis methods on the prognosis of such patients. Our findings will provide a reference for clinicians and patients to make decisions.

Materials and methods

Populations

A retrospective cohort study was conducted from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2017, in the Nephrology Department of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine. The inclusion criteria were ESRD patients with CHF aged older than 18 years at dialysis start in need of long-term maintenance of renal replacement therapy as judged by clinicians. The patients' CHF diagnosis was determined by the diagnosis code at the time of initiation of dialysis. The exclusion criteria were a lack of baseline data, combined renal replacement therapy (both HD and PD), and malignant disease. The outcome events were assessed from previous followup records.

Covariates

Baseline demographics, comorbid conditions, laboratory test results, echocardiographic measurement results, and hospitalization events were obtained by reviewing the electronic medical records. The demographic data included the date of birth, sex, start of dialysis, primary onset of kidney disease, height, and weight at dialysis start. The comorbidities and the New York Heart Association (NYHA) heart functional classification were identified at baseline medical records according to the International Classification of Diseases, 9th and 10th Revision (ICD-9 and ICD-10) codes, and the Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) score was calculated based on Quan et al.'s method (16). Cardiovascular diseases included asymptomatic myocardial ischemia (occult coronary heart disease), angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, and ischemic heart failure (ischemic heart disease). Heart failure with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (HFrEF) was defined as left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) less than or equal to 55%. Heart failure with preserved LVEF (HFpEF) was defined as LVEF over 55%.

Outcomes

The main outcome was all-cause mortality of the patient. The censor event included the patient switching to another dialysis mode, undergoing a kidney transplant, transferring to another dialysis center to continue treatment, or reaching the end of follow-up (December 31, 2020). We checked and registered the patient's cause of death through the death registration system of the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention.

Statistical methods

Furthermore, medical records were collected to deduce the statistical significance of the results. According to Hsieh and Lavori's method (17), α was set to 0.05 and *p* to 0.95, the estimated hazard ratio was 0.5, the proportion of the event was 0.34, the proportion of withdrawals was 0.24, the standard deviation of interest covariate was 0.5, the correlation of covariates was 0, the estimated cohort size was 240, and the number of events was 62.

Baseline characteristics and laboratory tests of HD patients were compared to those of PD patients. Normally distributed continuous variables are presented as the mean \pm standard deviation (SD), and *t*-tests were used for comparison. Skewed data are presented as the median and rank, and the Mann-Whitney *U* test was used for comparisons between groups. Missing data were filled in using a multiple imputation by chained equations algorithm by using R's MICE package. The filling method was "mean". Categorical variables are presented as percentages and were analyzed by the chi-square test.

The Kaplan-Meier survival curve was used to compare the overall survival between the initial dialysis modalities, and the significance of the difference was tested by the log-rank method. Previous studies (18, 19) have shown that PD has an advantage in the first 2 years of dialysis. Therefore, we used 2 years as the boundary to observe short-term and long-term prognosis.

A Cox regression model was used to perform multivariate analysis. The covariates of the multivariate regression were also selected based on univariate regression result, clinical experience and previous studies and included sex, age at dialysis initiation, CCI score, LVEF, prealbumin (PA), and hemoglobin (HB). Using too many variables could lead to overfitting bias in the Cox regression model due to insufficient end-point events. We therefore used a stepwise process by using R's My.stepwise package for variable selection for each model. The final variables selected for each model will be displayed in the results.

We also used propensity score matching (PSM) to reduce the effect of selection bias. We used the MatchIt package in R for PSM at a ratio of 1:1. The matching method was nearest neighbor matching. The characteristics used in PSM were sex, age at dialysis initiation and CCI score for the all groups. Subgroup analyses were performed with respect to age. Previous studies (15) suggested that patients undergoing HD and PD have different prognoses in different age subgroups. Therefore, we used a Cox regression model to confirm the interactive effect of age and dialysis type. Further analysis of the interaction effects suggested that 65 years old may be the cut-off point for the difference in the prognosis of different dialysis methods. We found that in the subgroups of patients \leq 65 years old and >65 years old, the type of dialysis had a significant effect on the prognosis. Patients were grouped by age. Then, singlefactor and multivariate Cox regression analyses were performed to calculate the relative hazard ratio (HR) of the dialysis types, followed by PSM and multivariate Cox regression analyses to confirm the relative HR of the dialysis types.

Subgroup analyses were also performed with respect to LVEF. Previous studies (20–22) suggested that patients with HFrEF had a poorer prognosis. We used Kaplan-Meier survival curve and Cox regression model to compare the survival difference between patients \leq 65 years old and >65 years old.

We used the Fine and Gray competing risk regression model (23) by using R's cmprsk package to calculate the hazard ratios of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular death and death from infection in different age subgroups of patients with different dialysis methods.

All statistical tests were evaluated using a two-tailed 95% confidence interval (CI), and p < 0.05 was considered indicative of statistical significance. All statistical analyses were performed using the R language (version 3.6.0) or Python lifelines package (version 0.26.4).

Results

The baseline characteristics of the patients

This study included all patients who began dialysis treatment in Guangdong Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2017. According to the principle of inclusion and exclusion, 277 patients were included and divided into two groups according to the dialysis method: there were 121 patients in the PD group and 156 in the HD group (Figure 1).

Demographic and clinical features are shown in Table 1. The average age at dialysis initiation in the HD group was older than that in the PD group (54.18 \pm 16.06 vs. 61.40 \pm 14.44, p < 0.05), and the average follow-up time of the HD group was also longer than that of the PD group (30.88 \pm 18.29 vs. 36.01 \pm 20.94, p = 0.03). There were more female patients in the HD group (37.19 vs. 53.21% p = 0.01). The rates of diabetes and cardiovascular disease were similar between the two groups. This finding was observed in all age groups.

In terms of primary renal disease, the proportions of polycystic kidney disease, obstructive nephropathy and

glomerulonephritis were similar between the two groups. The proportion of diabetic nephropathy in the PD group was significantly higher than that in the HD group (49.59 vs. 36.54% p = 0.04), but among the age subgroups, this difference was not significant.

In terms of complications, patients in the HD group were more likely to have cerebrovascular diseases (9.92 vs. 21.15% p = 0.02), and the CCI value was also higher (6.42 \pm 2.33 vs. 7.24 \pm 2.07 p < 0.05). In terms of laboratory examinations, compared with those in the HD group, serum creatinine and prealbumin were higher, and plasma albumin and hemoglobin were lower in the PD group at the beginning of dialysis. Moreover, plasma albumin was lower in PD group patients less than 65 years old. In patients older than 65 years old, hemoglobin in the PD group was still lower.

Survival difference between the peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis

The 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates were 96.01, 75.92, and 63.17% in the PD group and 96.53, 77.39, and 61.57% in the HD group, respectively (Table 2). The Kaplan-Meier survival



TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics.

	All patients			Patients yo	ounger than 65 years	Patients older than 65 years old			
	PD group (<i>n</i> = 121)	HD group (<i>n</i> = 156)	Р	PD group (<i>n</i> = 88)	HD group $(n = 95)$	Р	PD group $(n = 33)$	HD group $(n = 61)$	Р
Demographic data									
Female (<i>n</i>)	45 (37.19%)	83 (53.21%)	0.01	30 (34.09%)	45 (47.37%)	0.09	15 (45.45%)	38 (62.30%)	0.18
Age of dialysis initiation (years)	54.18 ± 16.06	61.40 ± 14.44	0.00	47.00 ± 12.45	52.66 ± 11.11	0.00	73.33 ± 5.13	75.02 ± 5.99	0.18
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	22.67 ± 4.53	24.09 ± 4.06	0.01	22.27 ± 3.19	24.20 ± 4.11	0.00	23.75 ± 6.90	23.93 ± 4.01	0.87
Duration of follow up (months)	41.77 ± 25.07	48.16 ± 27.19	0.05	46.23 ± 26.09	47.61 ± 26.81	0.73	29.88 ± 17.50	49.01 ± 27.96	0.00
Kidney primary disease									
Diabetic nephropathy (<i>n</i>)	60 (49.59%)	57 (36.54%)	0.04	42 (47.73%)	36 (37.89%)	0.23	18 (54.55%)	21 (34.43%)	0.09
Glomerulonephritis (<i>n</i>)	35 (28.93%)	29 (18.59%)	0.06	28 (31.82%)	24 (25.26%)	0.41	7 (21.21%)	5 (8.20%)	0.14
Polycystic kidney (<i>n</i>)	1 (0.83%)	3 (1.92%)	0.80	0 (0.00%)	2 (2.11%)	0.51	1 (3.03%)	1 (1.64%)	0.76
Obstructive nephropathy (<i>n</i>)	5 (4.13%)	11 (7.05%)	0.44	3 (3.41%)	6 (6.32%)	0.57	2 (6.06%)	5 (8.20%)	0.97
Other or unknown (<i>n</i>)	20 (16.53%)	56 (35.90%)	0.00	15 (17.05%)	27 (28.42%)	0.10	5 (15.15%)	29 (47.54%)	0.00
Comorbidities									
CCI	6.42 ± 2.33	7.24 ± 2.07	0.00	5.58 ± 2.03	6.33 ± 1.97	0.01	8.67 ± 1.41	8.67 ± 1.26	0.98
Diabetes (<i>n</i>)	65 (53.72%)	85 (54.49%)	1.00	43 (48.86%)	50 (52.63%)	0.72	22 (66.67%)	35 (57.38%)	0.51
Cardiovascular disease (n)	30 (24.79%)	46 (29.49%)	0.46	15 (17.05%)	21 (22.11%)	0.50	15 (45.45%)	25 (40.98%)	0.84
Cerebrovascular disease (n)	12 (9.92%)	33 (21.15%)	0.02	5 (5.68%)	11 (11.58%)	0.25	7 (21.21%)	22 (36.07%)	0.21
Chronic pulmonary disease (<i>n</i>)	10 (8.26%)	12 (7.69%)	0.96	6 (6.82%)	7 (7.37%)	0.89	4 (12.12%)	5 (8.20%)	0.80
Cardiac function evaluation									
LVEF (%)	60.12 ± 12.17	60.49 ± 10.72	0.79	58.78 ± 12.42	59.87 ± 10.19	0.52	63.70 ± 10.84	61.46 ± 11.52	0.36
NYHA III (<i>n</i>)	62 (51.24%)	64 (41.03%)	0.12	42 (47.73%)	36 (37.89%)	0.23	20 (60.61%)	28 (45.90%)	0.25
NYHA IV (<i>n</i>)	21 (17.36%)	28 (17.95%)	0.98	16 (18.18%)	19 (20.00%)	0.90	5 (15.15%)	9 (14.75%)	0.80
Laboratory tests									
Serum urea (mmol/l)	23.35 ± 11.86	21.42 ± 11.46	0.17	22.98 ± 11.32	22.50 ± 12.33	0.78	24.33 ± 13.32	19.74 ± 9.82	0.09
Serum creatinine (µmol/l)	777.72 ± 286.91	697.97 ± 325.94	0.03	805.80 ± 274.55	747.85 ± 337.46	0.20	702.84 ± 309.52	620.30 ± 293.19	0.20
Triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.31 ± 0.71	1.40 ± 1.06	0.47	1.36 ± 0.65	1.48 ± 1.27	0.43	1.20 ± 0.84	1.27 ± 0.59	0.66
Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.60 ± 1.58	4.40 ± 1.13	0.22	4.69 ± 1.59	4.37 ± 1.18	0.12	4.38 ± 1.54	4.45 ± 1.05	0.82
LDLC (mmol/L)	2.88 ± 1.36	2.66 ± 0.96	0.13	2.95 ± 1.37	2.63 ± 1.01	0.08	2.71 ± 1.32	2.71 ± 0.88	0.99
HDLC (mmol/L)	1.07 ± 0.30	1.08 ± 0.33	0.96	1.07 ± 0.30	1.07 ± 0.33	1.00	1.07 ± 0.29	1.08 ± 0.32	0.94
Plasma albumin (g/L)	33.23 ± 4.67	34.74 ± 5.30	0.01	32.87 ± 4.61	34.70 ± 5.68	0.02	34.20 ± 4.77	34.80 ± 4.71	0.56
Prealbumin (g/L)	286.50 ± 90.70	262.10 ± 88.78	0.03	302.48 ± 91.56	276.73 ± 98.64	0.07	243.89 ± 74.02	239.31 ± 65.21	0.76
Hemoglobin (g/L)	79.68 ± 18.89	85.88 ± 21.59	0.01	81.42 ± 19.59	85.95 ± 20.34	0.13	75.03 ± 16.24	85.77 ± 23.58	0.02
Phosphorus (mmol/L)	1.80 ± 0.64	1.76 ± 0.61	0.52	1.85 ± 0.64	1.89 ± 0.65	0.70	1.68 ± 0.62	1.55 ± 0.50	0.26
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.05 ± 0.30	2.06 ± 0.28	0.65	2.02 ± 0.28	2.04 ± 0.27	0.62	2.13 ± 0.35	2.10 ± 0.28	0.71
Cause of death									
Cardiovascular cause (n)	11 (9.09%)	21 (13.46%)	0.35	5 (5.68%)	11 (11.58%)	0.25	6 (18.18%)	10 (16.39%)	0.95
Infectious disease (<i>n</i>)	9 (7.44%)	11 (7.05%)	0.91	3 (3.41%)	2 (2.11%)	0.93	6 (18.18%)	9 (14.75%)	0.89
Intracerebral hemorrhage (n)	1 (0.83%)	9 (5.77%)	0.06	1 (1.14%)	6 (6.32%)	0.15	0 (0.00%)	3 (4.92%)	0.50
Other or unknown (<i>n</i>)	13 (10.74%)	20 (12.82%)	0.73	7 (7.95%)	14 (14.74%)	0.23	6 (18.18%)	6 (9.84%)	0.40

frontiersin.org

PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis; LDLC, low-density lipoprotein; HDLC, high-density lipoprotein; CCI, Charlson Comorbidities Index; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; NYHA, New York Heart Association.

10.3389/fmed.2022.898650

	All-cause mortality	Person-years	1	Two years survival rate	Five years survival rate	Mortality rate (dead/1,000 person-years)	Mortality rate ratio (95% CI)
All-patients							
HD $(n = 156)$	61	617.47	96.05%	75.92%	63.17%	98.79	1.21 (0.78–1.89)
PD (<i>n</i> = 121)	34	415.42	96.53%	77.39%	61.57%	81.84	
Age \leq 65 years	s old						
HD $(n = 95)$	33	371.72	96.74%	78.24%	66.85%	88.78	1.86 (0.99-3.60)
PD (<i>n</i> = 88)	16	334.38	100.00%	89.82%	73.60%	47.85	
Age > 65 years	s old						
HD $(n = 61)$	28	245.75	94.97%	72.41%	57.71%	113.94	0.51 (0.27-0.98)
PD $(n = 33)$	18	81.04	87.88%	43.44%	25.34%	222.11	

TABLE 2 Cohort outcomes.

PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval.

analysis showed that the overall prognosis of the two dialysis methods varied but not significantly (p = 0.460, Figure 2A).

We found an interaction between the age at dialysis initiation and dialysis modality. Therefore, we analyzed the prognosis of patients of different ages at dialysis initiation. We found that in the multivariate Cox regression model, the HR of HD vs. PD increased with the age at dialysis initiation (**Figure 3**). We finally set 65 years old as the cut-off point for the difference in the prognosis of different dialysis modalities.

All patients were divided into two groups based on the age of dialysis initiation (≤ 65 and > 65 years old). In the above age groups, the all-cause mortality rate ratios of HD vs. PD were 1.86 (95% CI: 0.99–3.60) and 0.51 (95% CI: 0.27–0.98), respectively (**Table 2**). In the ≤ 65 -year-old subgroup, the 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates of the PD group were 100.00, 89.82, and 73.60%, while those of the HD group were 96.74, 78.24, and 66.85%, respectively. The log-rank test showed that survival in the PD group was significantly higher than that in the HD group (p = 0.042, **Figure 2B**). In the > 65-year-old subgroup, the 1-, 3-, and 5-year survival rates in the PD group were 87.88, 43.44, and 25.34%, and those in the HD group were 94.97, 72.41, and 57.71%, respectively, indicating that HD had a better prognosis in this age group, which was statistically significant (p = 0.011, **Figure 2C**).

Short- and long-term survival differences between peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis

In terms of short-term survival (the first 2 years of followup), PD showed a tendency of a survival advantage in the \leq 65year-old subgroup, and HD showed a tendency of a survival advantage in the >65-year-old subgroup; however, neither reached statistical significance (**Figure 4**). In terms of longterm survival (after the first 2 years of followup), PD showed a survival advantage in the \leq 65-year-old subgroup, but it did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.115). HD showed a significant survival advantage in the >65-year-old subgroup (p = 0.017, Figure 5).

Survival differences between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis in the subgroup of patients with HFrEF (\leq 55%) and HFpEF (>55%) at start of dialysis

In the subgroup with HFrEF, the survival advantage of PD in younger patients and HD in the elderly subgroup disappeared (**Figure 6**). In the subgroup with HFpEF, PD showed better survival in the \leq 65-year-old subgroup (p = 0.003), and HD showed a significantly higher survival in the >65-year old subgroup (p = 0.004, **Figure 7**).

Hazard ratio of factors associated with all-cause mortality

For the entire follow-up period, in the ≤65-year-old subgroup, the univariate Cox regression model suggested that diabetes, the CCI score, cardiovascular disease, triglycerides, and HD were risk factors for all-cause mortality (Table 3). The multivariate Cox regression model suggested that cardiovascular disease, cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDLC), and HD were risk factors, and they were still risk factors after using PSM to eliminate the differences in baseline characteristics. The All-cause mortality HR of HD vs. PD increased from 1.84 (95% CI: 1.01-3.34) to 2.48 (95% CI: 1.23-4.99). And the HR remained significant in stepwise model (Table 4). In the >65-year-old subgroup, the univariate and multivariate Cox regression models suggested that HD was a protective factor for all-cause mortality. The HR decreased from 0.46 (95% CI: 0.25-0.85) to 0.28 (95% CI: 0.14-0.57) (Table 4). After using PSM



FIGURE 2

Comparison of survival rate between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis by age subgroups [(A) all patients, (B) \leq 65 years old group, (C) >65 years old group].



to eliminate the differences in baseline characteristics, HD was still a protective factor for multivariate Cox regression (Table 4).

For the short-term follow-up, the HR of all-cause mortality of HD tended to be higher than that of PD in the \leq 65-year-old subgroup; otherwise, the HR of HD tended to be lower than that



FIGURE 4

Comparison of first 2 years survival rate between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis by age subgroups [(A) all patients, (B) \leq 65 years old group, (C) >65 years old group].



FIGURE 5

Comparison of pass 2 years survival rate between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis by age subgroups [(A) all patients, (B) \leq 65 years old group, (C) >65 years old group].



of PD in the >65-year-old subgroup but did not reach statistical significance (**Supplementary Tables 1, 2**).

For the long-term follow-up, the HR of all-cause mortality of HD tended to be higher than that of PD in the \leq 65-year-old subgroup, but the HR of HD was lower than that of PD in the >65-year-old subgroup. In the univariate model, the HR

(95% CI) of mortality for HD vs. PD was 0.41 (95% CI: 0.17–0.99), and in the fully adjusted multivariate model, it was 0.21 (95% CI: 0.08–0.58) (Supplementary Tables 1, 2).

For the HFrEF subgroup, the differences in mortality in all age subgroups disappeared (Tables 3, 5). For the HFpEF subgroup, the disadvantage of HD in the younger subgroup and



its advantage in the elderly subgroup was preserved. The allcause mortality HR of HD vs. PD for the younger subgroup was 3.06 (95% CI: 1.06–8.82) in multivariate model, while for the older subgroup was 0.32 (95% CI: 0.13–0.81) in multivariate model, and the HR remained significant both in the stepwise model and after PSM (Tables 3, 6).

Cause of death

With regard to the cause of death, among all age groups, the proportions of infection-related deaths and cardiovascular deaths were basically similar. The proportion of cerebral hemorrhage was higher in the HD group in all age groups, but did not reach statistical significance.

We also used a competing risk model to analyse the hazard ratios for cause-specific death in patients receiving different dialysis modalities. We found that HD was a protective factor for infection-related death in the entire HFpEF population. The infectious mortality HR of HD vs. PD was 0.24 (95% CI: 0.06–0.93) in univariate model and 0.12 (95% CI: 0.03–0.47) in multivariate model. The protective effect disappeared in young dialysis patients, but was evident in the elderly. The HR was 0.15 (95% CI: 0.03–0.68) in univariate model and 0.03 (95% CI: 0.00–0.36) in multivariate model (Table 7).

Discussion

We found that among ESRD patients with CHF younger than 65 years, the prognosis of those receiving PD was better than that of patients receiving HD. In contrast, among elderly patients, the prognosis of HD patients was better than that of PD patients. This difference in prognosis remained stable after multivariate analysis and PSM, but could not be reproduced in the subgroup of HFrEF (**Figure 6** and **Table 5**). Compared with previous studies, our study once again confirmed the survival advantage of total HD in elderly patients (4). On the other hand, before our study (18), we did not find any research that reported a survival advantage of PD over HD for young ESRD patients with CHF, especially in patients with HFpEF (Figure 7 and Table 6) (14). In other words, both the survival advantage of PD in young adults and the survival advantage of HD in older adults are limited to the HFpEF population. These findings are meaningful for Chinese ESRD patients and clinicians in choosing a dialysis method.

Previous studies (19, 24) have shown that the survival rate of PD is higher in the first 2 years of dialysis, and the survival advantage of PD disappears after 2 years of dialysis. However, our study did not find such a situation. Our cohort did not find differences in survival between dialysis modalities in the first 2 years after initiation of dialysis or 2 years later. The hazard ratios for HD and PD were stable at different periods of followup.

We also observed a trend of differences in the proportions of cardiovascular deaths and cerebral hemorrhage deaths between the PD group and the HD group in the different age groups. However, we consider this to be related to the small scale of this study. With the extension of follow-up time and an increase in the number of patients, we have the opportunity to confirm the difference in the composition of the cause of death in future observations.

Our research is similar to that of Sens Florence in Sens et al. (2). Both studies showed that in the elderly subgroup, HD had a survival advantage over PD. However, in the younger group, the results of the two studies were opposite. Sens's study suggested that the prognosis of HD was also better in the group younger than 75 years. However, our study found that the prognosis of PD was better in patients younger than 65 years.

The average age of patients in Sens' study was significantly higher than that in our study. Moreover, the proportion of chronic glomerulonephritis as the primary disease of renal failure was significantly less than that of our patients (5.3–6.8 vs. 18.59–28.93%). We speculate that this is related to the low

TABLE 3 Risk factors for all-cause mortality assessed by univariate Cox regression model.

		younger than 65 years ol $(n = 88)$, HD $(n = 95)$	d	Patients older than 65 years old PD $(n = 33)$, HD $(n = 61)$			
	Entire group HR (95% CI)	HFrEF group (PD:30, HD:25) HR (95% CI)	HFpEF group (PD:58, HD:70) HR (95% CI)	Entire group HR (95% CI)	HFrEF group (PD:4, HD:18) HR (95% CI)	HFpEF group (PD:29, HD:43) HR (95% CI)	
Age at dialysis initiation (per 10 year)	1.24 (0.96–1.60)	0.98 (0.71–1.37)	1.52 (1.04-2.21)	1.34 (0.85–2.11)	1.16 (0.64–2.10)	1.33 (0.71-2.51)	
Sex (female vs. male)	0.74 (0.42-1.32)	0.63 (0.24-1.65)	0.90 (0.43-1.86)	0.88 (0.49-1.57)	1.23 (0.47-3.19)	0.75 (0.35-1.57)	
Diabetes (<i>n</i>)	2.49 (1.36-4.54)	1.97 (0.81-4.84)	3.46 (1.47-8.16)	1.12 (0.62-2.03)	0.82 (0.31-2.15)	1.20 (0.56-2.56)	
CCI (per 1 point)	1.29 (1.07-1.55)	1.36 (0.99–1.88)	1.31 (1.03–1.67)	0.95 (0.76-1.20)	0.71 (0.41-1.23)	0.95 (0.71-1.25)	
Cerebrovascular disease (n)	1.00 (0.36-2.79)	1.73 (0.39-7.62)	0.79 (0.19-3.33)	1.09 (0.59-2.00)	0.84 (0.31-2.29)	1.19 (0.54-2.59)	
Chronic pulmonary disease (n)	0.91 (0.28-2.94)	0.86 (0.11-6.56)	0.96 (0.23-4.04)	1.19 (0.47-3.01)	1.38 (0.44-4.27)	0.45 (0.06-3.33)	
Cardiovascular disease (<i>n</i>)	3.89 (2.16-6.99)	2.35 (0.97-5.69)	5.20 (2.29-11.80)	1.48 (0.83-2.65)	0.68 (0.25-1.79)	1.64 (0.78-3.45)	
BMI (per 1 kg/m ²)	1.02 (0.95-1.09)	1.02 (0.92-1.13)	1.03 (0.94-1.12)	0.94 (0.87-1.01)	0.99 (0.94-1.04)	0.85 (0.76-0.95)	
LVEF (per 10%)	0.73 (0.59-0.90)	0.79 (0.51-1.22)	0.59 (0.33-1.06)	0.71 (0.57-0.89)	0.88 (0.48-1.59)	0.70 (0.38-1.29)	
Hemoglobin (per 10 g/L)	1.06 (0.93-1.22)	1.07 (0.86-1.32)	1.07 (0.89–1.28)	1.03 (0.91-1.16)	1.18 (0.96-1.45)	0.98 (0.84-1.15)	
Prealbumin (per 50 g/L)	0.88 (0.76-1.03)	0.86 (0.66-1.12)	0.90 (0.74-1.08)	0.93 (0.73-1.17)	1.28 (0.88-1.86)	0.82 (0.59-1.13)	
Plasma albumin (per 5 g/L)	0.86 (0.65-1.12)	0.74 (0.49-1.13)	0.91 (0.65-1.29)	0.92 (0.70-1.22)	0.97 (0.58-1.60)	0.96 (0.68-1.35)	
Triglyceride (per 1 mmol/L)	1.17 (1.03–1.32)	2.38 (1.41-4.00)	1.16 (0.99–1.35)	1.08 (0.68-1.72)	2.06 (0.90-4.71)	0.94 (0.50-1.76)	
Cholesterol (per 1 mmol/L)	1.17 (0.97-1.42)	1.30 (1.03-1.63)	1.08 (0.82-1.42)	1.07 (0.82-1.40)	1.16 (0.69–1.94)	1.13 (0.81-1.57)	
LDLC (per 1 mmol/L)	1.17 (0.94–1.45)	1.32 (1.02-1.72)	1.04 (0.75-1.43)	1.18 (0.85-1.63)	1.16 (0.62-2.15)	1.31 (0.89–1.95)	
HDLC (per 1 mmol/L)	0.33 (0.12-0.90)	0.45 (0.09-2.18)	0.31 (0.09-1.12)	0.63 (0.22-1.78)	0.96 (0.23-4.09)	0.32 (0.07-1.40)	
Phosphorus (per 1 mmol/L)	0.66 (0.42-1.03)	0.63 (0.34-1.18)	0.73 (0.40-1.36)	0.92 (0.55-1.55)	1.29 (0.53-3.13)	0.85 (0.43-1.67)	
Calcium (per 1 mmol/L)	0.87 (0.32-2.38)	0.45 (0.12-1.64)	1.80 (0.42-7.78)	1.36 (0.50-3.65)	2.65 (0.57-12.27)	0.98 (0.26-3.70)	
Dialysis Methods (HD vs. PD)	1.84 (1.01–3.34)	1.03 (0.42–2.48)	3.83 (1.46–10.05)	0.46 (0.25–0.85)	0.50 (0.16-1.56)	0.33 (0.15-0.72)	

HR, hazard ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis; CCI, Charlson Comorbidities Index; BMI, body mass index; LDLC, low-density lipoprotein; HDLC, high-density lipoprotein; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; HFrEF, heart failure with reduced LVEF (\leq 55%); HFpEF, Heart failure with preserved LVEF (>55%).

HR of dialysis methods (HD vs. PD)	Univariate HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate model 1ª HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate model 2 ^b HR (95% CI)	Р	Stepwise model HR (95% CI)	Р
All patients								
Entire group (HD:156, PD:121)	1.17 (0.77–1.78)	0.46	0.92 (0.58-1.45)	0.72	0.95 (0.60-1.52)	0.84	1.10 (0.69–1.75)	0.68 ^c
After PSM (HD:121, PD:121)	1.12 (0.72–1.75)	0.62	0.94 (0.59–1.49)	0.78	1.00 (0.62–1.62)	0.99	1.18 (0.73–1.89)	0.51 ^c
Younger than 65 years old patient	s							
Entire group (HD:95, PD:88)	1.84 (1.01-3.34)	< 0.05	1.79 (0.96–3.33)	0.07	2.35 (1.19-4.65)	< 0.05	3.03 (1.48-6.20)	$< 0.05^{d}$
After PSM (HD:88, PD:88)	1.77 (0.96-3.24)	0.07	1.75 (0.94-3.27)	0.08	2.48 (1.23-4.99)	< 0.05	3.28 (1.56-6.90)	$< 0.05^{d}$
Older than 65 years old patients								
Entire group (HD:61, PD:33)	0.46 (0.25-0.85)	< 0.05	0.40 (0.20-0.78)	< 0.05	0.28 (0.14-0.57)	< 0.05	0.36 (0.19-0.69)	< 0.05 ^e
After PSM (HD:33, PD:33)	0.58 (0.29–1.15)	0.12	0.53 (0.26–1.10)	0.09	0.39 (0.17-0.87)	< 0.05	0.37 (0.17–0.78)	< 0.05 ^e

TABLE 4 Crude and adjusted hazard ratios for all-cause mortality according to dialysis method.

PSM, propensity score matching; HR, hazard ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis; Cox's multivariate regression model cofounders. ^aSex, age at dialysis initiation and Charlson Comorbidities Index (CCI). ^bSex, age at dialysis initiation, CCI, body mass index (BMI), left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), prealbumin (PA) and hemoglobin (HB). ^cCardiovascular disease (CAD), LVEF, age at dialysis initiation, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDLC), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDLC), BMI and diabetes. ^dCAD, Cholesterol (TC), HDLC, LVEF, diabetes and BMI. ^eLVEF and BMI.

TABLE 5 Crude and adjusted hazard ratios for all-cause mortality with HFrEF (LVEF ≤ 55%) according to dialysis method.

HR of dialysis methods (HD vs PD)	Univariate HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate model 1 ^a HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate model 2 ^b HR (95% CI)	Р	Stepwise model HR (95% CI)	Р
All patients								
Entire group (HD:43, PD:34)	1.16 (0.60–2.23)	0.65	0.98 (0.46-2.07)	0.96	1.08 (0.50-2.31)	0.84	2.08 (0.99-4.36)	0.05 ^c
After PSM (HD:34, PD:34)	1.12 (0.56–2.24)	0.76	1.20 (0.54–2.64)	0.65	1.54 (0.65–3.65)	0.32	2.04 (0.92-4.53)	0.08 ^c
Younger than 65 years old patient	s							
Entire group (HD:25, PD:30)	1.03 (0.42–2.48)	0.96	1.45 (0.57–3.66)	0.44	1.43 (0.51-4.02)	0.50	5.68 (1.46–22.08)	< 0.05 ^d
After PSM (HD:25, PD:25)	0.92 (0.37-2.28)	0.86	1.47 (0.56–3.87)	0.44	1.18 (0.38–3.70)	0.78	4.70 (1.26–17.54)	<0.05 ^d
Older than 65 years old patients								
Entire group (HD:18, PD:4)	0.50 (0.16-1.56)	0.23	0.37 (0.10–1.34)	0.13	0.52 (0.11-2.56)	0.43	0.54 (0.17–1.78)	0.31 ^e
After PSM (HD:4, PD:4)	0.86 (0.19–3.92)	0.84	0.20 (0.02–2.51)	0.21	_f	_f	4.52 (0.20–101.47)	0.34 ^e

HFrEF, heart failure with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction; PSM, propensity score matching; HR, hazard ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis. Cox's multivariate regression model cofounders. ^aSex, age at dialysis initiation and Charlson Comorbidities Index (CCI). ^bSex, age at dialysis initiation, CCI, body mass index (BMI), left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), prealbumin (PA) and hemoglobin (HB). ^cTriglyceride (TG), Phosphorus (P) and plasma albumin (ALB). ^dTG, P, Calcium (Ca), sex and LVEF. ^eTG and HB. ^fThe confidence interval is too large due to the small sample size.

prevalence of kidney transplantation in China. Age is a strong factor in the death of dialysis patients. We have reason to believe that in young PD patients, the differences in the composition of the primary disease and the age at onset of dialysis is the reason for the difference in prognosis.

Another reason for the difference in prognosis may be the difference in the prevalence of cardiovascular disease. From the baseline characteristics, the proportion of cardiovascular diseases in the study by Sens fluctuated (41.2–43.4%), but our overall proportion of cardiovascular diseases was 27.44%.

Moreover, in the \leq 65-year-old subgroup, the proportion of cardiovascular disease in PD patients was particularly low (5.68%). However, among the >65-year-old subgroup, the proportion of cardiovascular disease (42.55%) was basically consistent with studies in France (2) and the United States (3).

Taking into account the problems noted in the previously mentioned French study (25), our study tried to collect objective indicators to accurately assess the patient's cardiac function, such as the LVEF in echocardiography and the NYHA heart functional classification. Although retrospective studies do not

HR of dialysis methods (HD vs PD)	Univariate HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate model 1 ^a HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate model 2 ^b HR (95% CI)	Р	Stepwise model HR (95% CI)	Р
All patients								
Entire group (HD:113, PD:87)	1.23 (0.71–2.13)	0.46	0.96 (0.53–1.73)	0.88	0.97 (0.52–1.83)	0.93	0.88 (0.49–1.58)	0.66 ^c
After PSM (HD:87, PD:87)	1.21 (0.68–2.16)	0.52	1.01 (0.55–1.83)	0.98	1.13 (0.59–2.14)	0.71	1.14 (0.61–2.11)	0.68 ^c
Younger than 65 years old patient	ts							
Entire group (HD:70, PD:58)	3.83 (1.46–10.05)	< 0.05	3.31 (1.21–9.03)	< 0.05	3.06 (1.06-8.82)	< 0.05	2.98 (1.04-8.54)	< 0.05 ^d
After PSM (HD:58, PD:58)	3.19 (1.18-8.64)	< 0.05	3.06 (1.10-8.49)	< 0.05	3.08 (1.05-9.06)	< 0.05	3.39 (1.12–10.24)	<0.05 ^d
Older than 65 years old patients								
Entire group (HD:43, PD:29)	0.33 (0.15-0.72)	< 0.05	0.29 (0.12-0.69)	< 0.05	0.32 (0.13-0.81)	< 0.05	0.23 (0.09–0.59)	<0.05 ^e
After PSM (HD:29, PD:29)	0.26 (0.10-0.68)	< 0.05	0.24 (0.09–0.67)	< 0.05	0.29 (0.10-0.82)	< 0.05	0.24 (0.08–0.70)	<0.05 ^e

TABLE 6 Crude and adjusted hazard ratios for all-cause mortality with HFpEF (LVEF > 55%) according to dialysis method.

HFpEF, heart failure with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction; PSM, propensity score matching; HR, hazard ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis. Cox's multivariate regression model cofounders. ^aSex, age at dialysis initiation and Charlson Comorbidities Index (CCI). ^bSex, age at dialysis initiation, CCI, body mass index (BMI), left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), prealbumin (PA) and hemoglobin (HB). ^cCardiovascular disease (CAD), age at dialysis initiation, LVEF, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDLC). ^dCAD, diabetes, LVEF, BMI and PA. ^eBMI, HDLC, age at dialysis initiation, HB, TG, and TC.

TABLE 7 Crude and adjusted hazard ratios for specific cause of mortality in competing risk model according to dialysis method.

	Cardiovasc	ular and	cerebrovascular m	Infection mortality				
HR of dialysis methods (HD vs PD)	Univariate HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate ^a HR (95% CI)	Р	Univariate HR (95% CI)	Р	Multivariate ^a HR (95% CI)	Р
All patients								
Entire group (HD:156, PD:121)	1.69 (0.87–3.29)	0.12	1.47 (0.65–3.32)	0.35	0.78 (0.32–1.88)	0.58	0.48 (0.18–1.25)	0.13
Reduced LVEF (≤55%) (HD:43, PD:34)	1.08 (0.42–2.75)	0.88	0.66 (0.21–2.11)	0.48	2.99 (0.64–13.92)	0.16	2.27 (0.37–13.95)	0.38
Preserved LVEF (>55%) (HD:113, PD:87)	2.61 (0.98–6.94)	0.06	2.68 (0.85-8.49)	0.09	0.24 (0.06–0.93)	< 0.05	0.12 (0.03–0.47)	< 0.05
Younger than 65 years old patie	ents							
Entire group (HD:95, PD:88)	2.41 (0.96–6.06)	0.06	2.18 (0.72-6.60)	0.17	0.53 (0.09–3.35)	0.50	0.48 (0.06-3.65)	0.48
Reduced LVEF (≤ 55%) (HD:25, PD:30)	1.26 (0.34–4.72)	0.73	2.18 (0.74-6.48)	0.16	1.16 (0.07–18.08)	0.91	1.64 (0.15–18.40)	0.69
Preserved LVEF (> 55%) (HD:70, PD:58)	4.77 (1.08–21.11)	< 0.05	4.43 (0.78–25.20)	0.09	0.34 (0.03–3.95)	0.39	0.19 (0.01–3.30)	0.25
Older than 65 years old patients	5							
Entire group (HD:61, PD:33)	0.97 (0.37–2.50)	0.94	0.90 (0.28–2.89)	0.86	0.58 (0.21–1.60)	0.29	0.47 (0.14–1.53)	0.21
Reduced LVEF (≤55%) (HD:18, PD:4)	0.41 (0.13–1.30)	0.13	0.35 (0.09–1.32)	0.12	1.51 (0.15–15.03)	0.73	2.05 (0.13-31.75)	0.61
Preserved LVEF (> 55%) (HD:43, PD:29)	1.29 (0.34–4.86)	0.70	1.41 (0.25–7.95)	0.69	0.15 (0.03–0.68)	< 0.05	0.03 (0.00-0.36)	< 0.05

HR, hazard ratio; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; PD, peritoneal dialysis; HD, hemodialysis; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction. Competing risk multivariate model cofounders. ^aSex, age at dialysis initiation and Charlson Comorbidities Index (CCI).

guarantee timely recording of these data at the start of dialysis, we used data as close as possible to the start of follow-up. We compared the reported LVEFs and NYHA classifications of these patients and found no difference in heart function between

those receiving HD and PD in each subgroup. Therefore, we believe that the cardiac function of the patients in each group was similar when they entered renal replacement therapy. In addition, according to our clinical experience, the cardiac function of dialysis patients changes dynamically throughout the dialysis process. Therefore, a baseline cardiac function evaluation alone cannot reflect the patient's exposure to the central debilitating state during the entire dialysis treatment process. The time-dependent model needs to be followed up for further analysis.

Why does PD have an advantage in young CHF and ESRD patients? PD is recommended for patients with refractory heart failure who are not sensitive to diuretics (26). Possible mechanisms by which PD improves the prognosis of patients with heart failure include providing stable and continuous ultrafiltration, having minimal hemodynamic impact and eliminating a larger amount of sodium ions (27). On the other hand, HD was related to heart failure as a cause for hospitalization (28, 29). Recent studies have suggested that the use of icodextrin can improve the prognosis of patients with heart failure and that the main mechanism should be to improve the ultrafiltration of patients on PD (29). However, in this cohort, icodextrin was not yet widely used. This shows that, other than the better prognosis of our patients, the reason may not be directly related to the ultrafiltration advantage provided by icodextrin. Studies had shown that PD ultrafiltration can improve LVEF in HFrEF patients (30), thereby improving patient prognosis. We did not find differences in survival between the two dialysis modalities across age subgroups in HFrEF. This suggests that the survival advantage of PD in younger patients may be related to the survival advantage in HFpEF patients. The reasons for this phenomenon require further study.

In this study, among all dialysis patients ≤ 65 years, the average age of those receiving PD was lower; moreover, the proportion of patients with cerebrovascular diseases was lower because the choice of PD mostly relied on the patients themselves. It is difficult for patients with severe cerebrovascular diseases to receive PD for a long time. Therefore, the better prognosis of PD among young people may be related to fewer cerebrovascular complications at dialysis initiation.

To explore the reasons for the superior prognosis of young PD patients, we further analyzed the causes of death in the two groups of patients. The proportion of deaths from infections was basically the same between young and old patients (**Table 1**). However, when we compared the risk of death from infection in patients receiving the two dialysis modalities using a competing risk model, we found that patients receiving HD had a lower risk of death from infection, and HD mainly protected the elderly (**Table 7**).

Peritoneal dialysis inherently increases the risk of peritonitis (31, 32), although HD patients may die from blood access-related infections. However, pneumonia was responsible for the

majority of infectious deaths. We therefore speculate that this is related to the treatment patterns of PD and HD. Unlike maintaining PD at home in elderly patients, elderly patients receiving HD visit the hospital at least twice a week and are treated by medical staff. This model enables more timely detection and intervention of potential infectious diseases, which may significantly reduce the risk of death from infection. In the future, we can test our hypothesis by analyzing the number of hospitalizations for infection and the severity of inflammation in patients with different dialysis methods.

On the other hand, PD patients are generally less likely to die from cerebral hemorrhage (Table 1). Due to the low incidence of events of interest and the large number of competing risk events, the variance of the hazard ratios of HD compared with PD patients for intracerebral hemorrhage death calculated by the competing risk model was very large, so it cannot be confirmed that HD is a risk factor for death from cerebral hemorrhage. Therefore, we considered cardiac and cerebrovascular events together (Table 7). However, we believe that with the extension of follow-up time and the accumulation of events of interest, the risk of HD for intracranial hemorrhage can be confirmed by a competing risk model. The most likely explanation is that heparin is necessary during HD. In addition, compared with elderly patients, younger patients have a higher rate of death from cerebral hemorrhage. The possible reason is the rapid fluctuation of blood pressure caused by the rapid change in volume during HD (26), which may also be a factor that increases the risk of cerebral hemorrhage. In our clinical experience, it is more feasible in young HD patients to prescribe high ultrafiltration rates after increased interdialytic weight gains to solve the volume overload compared to older patients, which will increase blood pressure fluctuations during the dialysis interval, more easily inducing cerebral hemorrhage.

The incidence of cardiovascular death among young PD patients is relatively low, and the incidence of cardiovascular events in elderly PD patients is significantly higher (Table 3). First, age is the most important factor influencing cardiovascular events. Among the subgroups ≤ 65 years old, the age of PD patients was significantly lower. A younger age is associated with less coronary atherosclerosis, which in turn is associated with less cardiovascular death. However, we understand that, of course, our research cannot provide relevant evidence. The quality of volume control is an important factor that affects the prognosis of dialysis patients (33). According to the mechanism of PD, the ultrafiltration of PD is relatively gentle, which also means that it takes a longer time for the volume to reach a suitable state than with HD. The characteristics of gentle volume fluctuations may have different effects on patients of different ages. Young patients with a strong self-management ability can maintain a reasonable volume for a long time, thus protecting heart function (34). Elderly patients have a weaker ability to self-manage and may have an insufficient or overloaded volume that cannot be corrected in a timely manner; therefore, it is detrimental to the protection of cardiac function (35).

Our previous studies have found that among dialysisdependent patients less than or equal to 60 years old, the prognosis of PD is better than that of HD. We do not know the reason for the survival advantage of PD. Similarly, this study found a survival advantage of PD in patients younger than 65 years by analysing the survival of ESRD patients with CHF. Moreover, the proportion of deaths from cardiovascular diseases among young people is relatively low. These phenomena indicate that PD may have certain advantages in reducing cardiovascular events in young patients. In turn, PD has a survival advantage in young dialysis-dependent patients.

Advantages

This article compares the prognosis between ESRD patients with CHF receiving HD and those receiving PD in southern China for the first time. We have a larger number of followups, and the follow-up time is longer than that in previous studies. This research can truly reflect the actual situation of dialysis patients in our center. Compared with our previous research, this time, we completed the investigation of the cause of death and explained to a certain extent the reason for the difference in survival between the two dialysis methods. We identified the cause of death of each patient by consulting the death certificate registration data of the Chinese CDC, which is a relatively objective and accurate method.

In the current situation where kidney transplantation has a low prevalence and is expensive (36), our study provides a reference for Chinese ESRD patients and nephrologists in choosing a dialysis method.

Limitations

The limitations of retrospective research need to be clearly recognized. One is selection bias. There are many factors that affect patient selection of dialysis methods. Long-term prognosis is one of them, but medical insurance policies and personal economic conditions may be larger factors. With the expansion of the follow-up population and the extension of the follow-up time, the conclusions of this article may be overturned.

There were some important baseline data, such as the delay between the diagnosis of CHF and the start of dialysis or the volume of residual diuresis, that were incomplete in this study, which leads to our imperfect evaluation of the patients' baseline cardiac and residual kidney function. On the other hand, the cardiac function of dialysis patients continues to change over the treatment duration. Regardless of whether multivariate Cox regression or PSM was used, only the patient's baseline cardiac function was considered. Therefore, follow-up studies can use the time-dependent Cox regression model (37) to evaluate in detail the impact of changes in cardiac function on the prognosis of dialysis patients. The survival differences could not be reproduced in the subgroup of HFrEF (**Figure 6**). These results could not be extrapolated to the population of patients with ESKD and HFrEF.

The investigation of the cause of death in this study did not originate from autopsy, and the cause of death of some patients was learned through interviews with patients' family members after death. Therefore, the speculation of the cause of death may not be accurate. In particular, the proportion of cardiovascular deaths and cerebrovascular deaths may be underestimated. Notably, this underestimation may be completely randomly distributed, so it should be equivalent for both dialysis methods.

We found that almost no PD patients died of cerebral hemorrhage or bleeding disorders. However, due to our small number of cases, the HR confidence interval derived from the competing risk model is too large to be show in the article. We hypothesized that HD patients should be more likely to die from intracerebral hemorrhage than PD patients, which requires further study.

Conclusion

This study suggests that PD may have a better prognosis for young ESRD patients with CHF and preserved LVEF in southern China. For elderly patients, the prognosis of HD is better.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

ZH, HH, XL, and LW contributed to conception and design of the study. ZH, HL, JH, DZ, LZW, FY, and DXZ organized the database. ZH, HCL, and WQ performed the statistical analysis. ZH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. HM, JL, YC, and TL wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Traditional Chinese Medicine Bureau of Guangdong Province (grant number: 20201162), State Key Laboratory of Dampness Syndrome of Chinese Medicine, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine (grant number: SZ2021ZZ43), Guangdong Province Key Discipline of Traditional Chinese Medicine (Clinical) Project - Nephrology (grant number: 0102023308), and Zhang Daning's Academic Experience Inheritance Studio, Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine (E43714).

Acknowledgments

We thank Wu Xiaoting, Su Guobin, Lu Liming, Xia Xiaoyue, Zeng Lishun, Lin Yongpeng, Zhao Xiying, and Tian Yingzhou for their help in writing and revising the manuscript.

References

1. Wang IK, Kung PT, Kuo WY, Tsai WC, Chang YC, Liang CC, et al. Impact of dialysis modality on the survival of end-stage renal disease patients with or without cardiovascular disease. *J Nephrol.* (2013) 26:331–41. doi: 10.5301/jn.5000149

 Sens F, Schott-Pethelaz AM, Labeeuw M, Colin C, Villar E. Survival advantage of hemodialysis relative to peritoneal dialysis in patients with end-stage renal disease and congestive heart failure. *Kidney Int.* (2011) 80:970–7. doi: 10.1038/ki. 2011.233

3. Stack AG, Molony DA, Rahman NS, Dosekun A, Murthy B. Impact of dialysis modality on survival of new ESRD patients with congestive heart failure in the United States. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 64:1071–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.0 0165.x

4. Kim H, Kim KH, Park K, Kang SW, Yoo TH, Ahn SV, et al. A populationbased approach indicates an overall higher patient mortality with peritoneal dialysis compared to hemodialysis in Korea. *Kidney Int.* (2014) 86:991–1000. doi: 10.1038/ ki.2014.163

5. Kunin M, Klempfner R, Beckerman P, Rott D, Dinour D. Congestive heart failure treated with peritoneal dialysis or hemodialysis: typical patient profile and outcomes in real-world setting. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2021) 75:e13727. doi: 10.1111/ijcp. 13727

6. Sun CY, Sung JM, Wang JD, Li CY, Kuo YT, Lee CC, et al. A comparison of the risk of congestive heart failure-related hospitalizations in patients receiving hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis – a retrospective propensity score-matched study. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0223336. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0223336

7. Masakane I, Nakai S, Ogata S, Kimata N, Hanafusa N, Hamano T, et al. An overview of regular dialysis treatment in Japan (As of 31 December 2013). *Ther Apher Dial.* (2015) 19:540–74. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987.12378

8. Saran R, Robinson B, Abbott KC, Bragg-Gresham J, Chen X, Gipson D, et al. US renal data system 2019 annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2020) 75(Suppl. 1):A6–7. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd. 2019.09.003

9. Harnett JD, Foley RN, Kent GM, Barre PE, Murray D, Parfrey PS. Congestive heart failure in dialysis patients: prevalence, incidence, prognosis and risk factors. *Kidney Int*. (1995) 47:884–90. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.132

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.898650/full#supplementary-material

10. Stack AG, Mohammed A, Hanley A, Mutwali A, Nguyen H. Survival trends of US dialysis patients with heart failure: 1995 to 2005. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:1982–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01130211

11. Grossekettler L, Schmack B, Meyer K, Brockmann C, Wanninger R, Kreusser MM, et al. Peritoneal dialysis as therapeutic option in heart failure patients. *ESC Heart Fail.* (2019) 6:271–9. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.12411

12. Querido S, Branco P, Sousa H, Adragao T, Aguiar C, Pereira S, et al. Peritoneal dialysis as a successful treatment in patients with refractory congestive heart failure: a one-center experience. *Clin Nephrol.* (2016) 85:260–5. doi: 10.5414/CN1 08817

13. Refaat H, Sany D, Mohab A, Ezzat H. Comparing dialysis modality and cardiovascular mortality in patients on hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. *Adv Perit Dial.* (2016) 32:22–31.

14. Korevaar JC, Feith GW, Dekker FW, van Manen JG, Boeschoten EW, Bossuyt PM, et al. Effect of starting with hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis in patients new on dialysis treatment: a randomized controlled trial. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 64:2222–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00321.x

15. He Z, Hou H, Zhang D, Mo Y, Zhang L, Su G, et al. Effects of dialysis modality choice on the survival of end-stage renal disease patients in southern China: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:412. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-02070-7

16. Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, Fong A, Burnand B, Luthi JC, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. *Med Care.* (2005) 43:1130–9. doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000182534.19832.83

17. Hsieh FY, Lavori PW. Sample-size calculations for the cox proportional hazards regression model with nonbinary covariates. *Control Clin Trials.* (2000) 21:552–60. doi: 10.1016/S0197-2456(00)00104-5

18. Vonesh EF, Snyder JJ, Foley RN, Collins AJ. Mortality studies comparing peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis: what do they tell us? *Kidney Int Suppl.* (2006) 103:S3-11. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5001910

19. McDonald SP, Marshall MR, Johnson DW, Polkinghorne KR. Relationship between dialysis modality and mortality. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2009) 20:155–63. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007111188

20. Chisavu LA, Apostol A, Pop GN, Ivan V, Schiller O, Bob F, et al. Exploring the relation between mortality and left ventricular structure and function in stable hemodialysis treated patients, a longitudinal multicenter cohort study. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:12694. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-91431-9

21. Terada K, Sumi Y, Hirama A, Kashiwagi T, Sakai Y. Risk factors for early peritoneal dialysis discontinuation: importance of heart failure. *J Nippon Med Sch.* (2022) 89:72–80. doi: 10.1272/jnms.JNMS.2022_89-201

22. Wang Y, Xiong L, Xu Q, Li W, Peng X, Shen J, et al. Association of left ventricular systolic dysfunction with mortality in incident peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephrology (Carlton).* (2018) 23:927–32. doi: 10.1111/nep.1 3154

23. Fine JP, Gray RJA. Proportional hazards model for the subdistribution of a competing risk. *J Am Stat Assoc.* (1999) 94:496–509. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1999. 10474144

24. Weinhandl ED, Foley RN, Gilbertson DT, Arneson TJ, Snyder JJ, Collins AJ. Propensity-matched mortality comparison of incident hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2010) 21:499–506. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009060635

25. Pliquett RU, Girndt M. Hemodialysis vs. peritoneal dialysis in chronic heart failure: getting to the heart of the matter. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 81:1274–5. doi: 10.1038/ki.2012.44

26. Abdo AS. Diagnosis and management of heart failure in long-term dialysis patients. *Curr Heart Fail Rep.* (2017) 14:404–9. doi: 10.1007/s11897-017-0 354-8

27. Kazory A, Bargman JM. Defining the role of peritoneal dialysis in management of congestive heart failure. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* (2019) 17:533–43. doi: 10.1080/14779072.2019.1637254

28. Trespalacios FC, Taylor AJ, Agodoa LY, Bakris GL, Abbott KC. Heart failure as a cause for hospitalization in chronic dialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2003) 41:1267–77. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(03)00359-7

29. Wang IK, Lin CL, Sung FC. Lower risk of de novo congestive heart failure in peritoneal dialysis patients compared with hemodialysis patients. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 229:123. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.10.066

30. Grossekettler L, Schmack B, Brockmann C, Wanninger R, Kreusser MM, Frankenstein L, et al. Benefits of peritoneal ultrafiltration in HFpEF and HFrEF patients. *BMC Nephrol.* (2020) 21:179. doi: 10.1186/s12882-020-01777-x

31. Johnson DW, Dent H, Hawley CM, McDonald SP, Rosman JB, Brown FG, et al. Associations of dialysis modality and infectious mortality in incident dialysis patients in Australia and New Zealand. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2009) 53:290–7. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2008.06.032

32. Aslam N, Bernardini J, Fried L, Burr R, Piraino B. Comparison of infectious complications between incident hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2006) 1:1226–33. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01230406

33. Burton JO, Jefferies HJ, Selby NM, McIntyre CW. Hemodialysis-induced cardiac injury: determinants and associated outcomes. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2009) 4:914–20. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03900808

34. Gunal AI, Ilkay E, Kirciman E, Karaca I, Dogukan A, Celiker H. Blood pressure control and left ventricular hypertrophy in long-term CAPD and hemodialysis patients: a cross-sectional study. *Perit Dial Int.* (2003) 23:563–7. doi: 10.1177/089686080302300608

35. Enia G, Mallamaci F, Benedetto FA, Panuccio V, Parlongo S, Cutrupi S, et al. Long-term CAPD patients are volume expanded and display more severe left ventricular hypertrophy than haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2001) 16:1459–64. doi: 10.1093/ndt/16.7.1459

36. Wang F, Yang C, Long J, Zhao X, Tang W, Zhang D, et al. Executive summary for the 2015 annual data report of the china kidney disease network (CK-NET). *Kidney Int.* (2019) 95:501–5. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.11.011

37. Fisher LD, Lin DY. Time-dependent covariates in the cox proportionalhazards regression model. *Annu Rev Public Health*. (1999) 20:145–57. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.publhealth.20.1.145

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sree Bhushan Raju, Nizam's Institute of Medical Sciences, India

REVIEWED BY Maurizio Gallieni, University of Milan, Italy Fabio Rosario Salerno, ASST Lecco, Italy Peng Liu, Beijing Traditional Chinese Medicine Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Pasqual Barretti pbarretti@uol.com.br

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Nephrology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 30 May 2021 ACCEPTED 14 October 2022 PUBLISHED 23 November 2022

CITATION

Hangai KT, Pecoits-Filho R, Blake PG, da Silva DP, Barretti P and de Moraes TP (2022) Impact of unplanned peritoneal dialysis start on patients' outcomes—A multicenter cohort study. *Front. Med.* 9:717385. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.717385

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Hangai, Pecoits-Filho, Blake, da Silva, Barretti and de Moraes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact of unplanned peritoneal dialysis start on patients' outcomes—A multicenter cohort study

Kellen Thayanne Hangai¹, Roberto Pecoits-Filho¹, Peter G. Blake², Daniela Peruzzo da Silva¹, Pasqual Barretti^{3*} and Thyago Proença de Moraes¹ on behalf of the BRAZPD Investigators

¹Programa de Pós- Graduação em Ciências da Saúde-Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Paraná (PUCPR), Curitiba, Brazil, ²Division of Nephrology, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada, ³Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, Universidade Estadual Paulista (UNESP), Botucatu, Brazil

Background: Patients with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) who start unplanned dialysis therapy are more likely to be treated with hemodialysis (HD) using a central venous catheter, which has been associated with a greater risk of infections and other complications, as well as with a higher long-term risk of death. Urgent-start PD is an alternative that has been suggested as an option for starting dialysis in these cases, with potentially better patient outcomes. However, the definition of urgent-start PD is not homogeneous, and no study, to our knowledge, has compared clinical outcomes among urgent start, early start, and conventional start of PD. In this study, we aimed to compare these types of initiation of dialysis therapy in terms of a composite outcome of patient survival and technique failure.

Methods: This is a retrospective, multicenter, cohort study, involving data from 122 PD clinics in Brazil. We used the following: Urgent-start groups refer to patients who initiated PD within 72 h after the PD catheter insertion; early-start groups are those starting PD from 72 h to 2 weeks after the catheter insertion; and conventional-start groups are those who used the PD catheter after 2 weeks from its insertion. We analyzed the composite endpoint of all causes of patient's mortality and technique failure (within the initial 90 days of PD therapy) using the following three different statistical models: multivariate Cox, Fine and Gay competing risk, and a multilevel model.

Results: We included 509 patients with valid data across 68 PD clinics. There were 38 primary outcomes, comprising 25 deaths and 13 technique failures, with a total follow-up time of 1,393.3 months. Urgent-start PD had no association with the composite endpoint in all three models.

Conclusion: Unplanned PD seems to be a safe and feasible option for treatment for patients with non-dialysis ESKD in urgent need of dialysis.

KEYWORDS

unplanned peritoneal dialysis, urgent-start dialysis, early-start dialysis, peritoneal dialysis, BRAZPD

Introduction

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a silent condition that frequently progresses to end-stage kidney failure (ESKD) without or with only minor symptoms. Consequently, many patients with ESKD are seen for the first time by a doctor in urgent conditions, such as electrolyte disturbances, hypervolemia, uremia, and other serious consequences of CKD. Of note, the 2020 United Renal Data System showed that onethird of patients with incident ESKD were reported to have received little or no pre-ESKD care (1). In addition, late referral, defined as the initiation of a kidney replacement therapy within 6 months of the first visit to the nephrologist, is common, with an incidence from 30 to 80% (2).

In urgent cases, unplanned dialysis start is the only option to save patients with ESKD. Individuals who start unplanned dialysis are more likely to be treated with hemodialysis (HD) using a central venous catheter (CVC) (3), which has been associated with a greater infection rate and other early complications, as well as a higher risk of long-term bad outcomes (4–6). Over the past decade, several authors have described their center's experiences with unplanned PD and the term "urgent-start" PD has emerged (7, 8). The studies comparing urgent-start PD with conventional-start HD have found equivalent results in terms of patient survival and even a lower risk of bacteremia (9–11). However, the definition of urgent-start PD was not standardized in the first reports, and only recently, it has taken shape and been established as the use of PD dialysis catheter up to 72 h after their insertion, while those between 3 and 14 days have been named as early-start PD (12).

No previous report, to our knowledge, has compared clinical outcomes among urgent-start, early-start, and conventionalstart PD. The main objective of this study was to compare urgent-start PD with early-start PD and conventional-start PD in terms of a composite outcome of patient survival and technique failure, in a large multicenter cohort of PD patients.

Materials and methods

This is a retrospective, multicenter, cohort study that included PD patients between November 2004 and January 2011 from 122 PD clinics in Brazil. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. It was approved by the local ethics committee of the Pontificia Universidade Católica do Paraná (PUC-PR), register number 448. All patients

TABLE 1 General baseline characteristics.

Variable	BRAZPD cohort (13) (<i>n</i> = 5,707)	Study population $(n = 509)$	Urgent-start (<i>n</i> = 170)	Early-start $(n = 153)$	Conventional-start $(n = 186)$
Age (years)	59 ± 16	61 ± 16	59 ± 17	64 ± 15	61 ± 15
Hypertension (yes)	73%	77%	80%	78%	75%
Center experience (pt-months)	$42\pm25^{\#}$	$46\pm26^{\#}$	$43\pm23^{\#}$	$43\pm25^{\#}$	52 ± 28
Coronary artery disease (yes)	21%	24%	24%	18%	28%
Diabetes (yes)	44%	46%	47%	45%	47%
Gender (Male)	48%	52%	56%	50%	51%
Literacy (<4 years)	55%	64%	63%	65%	65%
Initial PD modality (APD)	46%	58%	59%	48%	64%
Residual renal function (yes)	65%	77,4%	80,6%	80,4%	72%
Peripheral artery disease (yes)	21%	15%	15%	10%	18%
Pre-dialysis care (yes)	51%	59%	48%	64%	65%
Previous hemodialysis (yes)	36%	6% ^{##}	$4\%^{\#\#}$	4%##	11%##
Previous transplantation (yes)	2%	1%	1%	0%	1%
Race (White)	64%	71%	73%	76%	65%
$BMI < 18.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$	6%	3%	2%	3%	4%
>25 kg/m ²	43%	46%	49%	49%	41%
Systolic BP (mmHg)	138 ± 24	136 ± 24	136 ± 24	137 ± 24	136 ± 23
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	83 ± 13	82 ± 14	82 ± 13	82 ± 14	82 ± 14
Hemoglobin(g/dL)	10.6 ± 2.0	10.5 ± 1.9	10.4 ± 2.1	10.5 ± 1.9	10.4 ± 1.8
Serum phosphate (mg/dl)	5.2 ± 1.6	5.2 ± 1.7	5.5 ± 1.7	5.0 ± 1.6	5.1 ± 1.7
Serum potassium (mEq/L)	4.7 ± 0.9	4.7 ± 0.9	4.8 ± 1.0	4.5 ± 0.8	4.7 ± 1.0

#p < 0.05 vs. Conventional, ##p < 0.01 vs. BRAZPD.



signed an informed consent to participate. The aim of our study was to analyze whether the unplanned start of PD is associated with more adverse events, as defined by mortality and technique failure, the composite outcome of the study. The patients were divided into the following three groups: Group 1 (urgent-start), composed by patients who initiated PD within 72 h after the catheter insertion; Group 2 (early-start) with patients starting PD between 72 h and 2 weeks after the catheter insertion; and Group 3 (conventional-start) with patients initiating PD catheter use after 2 weeks of its insertion.

Data were obtained from the database of BRAZPD, a multicenter Brazilian cohort involving more than 7,000 incident PD patients, who were followed from November 2004 and January 2011 (13). Such data were reported monthly to a central computer using specific software designed for the study. We collected demographic and clinical data when the patients were included in the study (baseline). Laboratory and clinical data were also collected and reported every month except for residual renal function, which was only available at baseline. Data on the interval between catheter insertion and the first PD dialysis started to be recorded in 2008.

The eligibility criteria for this study were adult patients (>18 years old), those incident on PD (starting PD therapy at the same moment they were included in the study), and those with valid data on catheter insertion and its first use.

The variables captured and tested as covariates in the univariate analysis were as follows: age, gender, history of diabetes, hypertension, previous chronic hemodialysis, previous renal transplantation, peripheral artery disease, coronary artery disease, first PD modality, pre-dialysis care (defined as at least 3 months of treatment with a nephrologist before the initiation of dialysis), literacy (categorized into two groups with less than or with 4 or more years of formal study), residual renal function (defined as a daily urine volume >100 ml), body mass index, center experience (in patient-months), and the laboratory data as a continuous variable. Center experience was expressed in patient-months, i.e., the cumulative follow-up time of all patients from a center was obtained and the result divided by the number of years the center participating in the study.

Continuous variables were reported as mean \pm standard deviation for normally distributed variables or percentage for categorical variables. Unpaired *Student's t*-test or *Chi-square* test

	Urgent- start	Early- start	Conventional- start
Causes of death	% (<i>n</i> = 5)	% (<i>n</i> = 5)	% (<i>n</i> = 2)
Cardiovascular	40 (2)	40 (2)	50 (1)
Pulmonary edema	20 (1)	-	-
Peritonitis	20 (1)	20 (1)	-
Sepsis not related to PD	-	40 (2)	50 (1)
Other causes	20 (1)	-	-
Causes of technique failure	% (<i>n</i> = 6)	(n = 4)	(<i>n</i> = 3)
Ultrafiltration failure	-	50 (2)	67 (2)
Peritonitis	67 (4)	-	-
Others	_	25 (1)	-
Catheter dysfunction	33 (2)	25 (1)	33 (1)
Exit-site infection	-	-	-

TABLE 2 Events and causes per group within 90 days of dialysis therapy $^{\ast}.$

*The time at risk for the three groups was 469.5, 410.0, and 513.8 months, respectively.

was used for comparisons of groups' characteristics. The primary outcome was a composite endpoint of all-cause mortality and technique failure within the initial 90 days of therapy. In addition, both all-cause mortality and technique failure were analyzed separately using three different models: Cox regression, competing risk of Fine and Gray, and a three-level multilevel analysis. Patients alive at 3 months were treated as censored in all models, and those who dropped the study for any other causes different from the outcome of interest were treated as a competing event in the competing risk analysis. The three levels of the multilevel analysis are the patient (first level), the dialysis clinic (second level), and the city where the clinic is located (third level). The multivariable models were composed by the pre-defined groups, confounders with an alpha value <0.10 in the univariate analysis and from traditional risk factors that did not match an alpha value <0.10 in the univariate analysis. In the sequence, we performed a likelihood test to define which variables best fit the final model.

Results

Considering the inclusion and exclusion criteria, our sample was composed of 509 patients. These individuals were distributed across 68 PD clinics. The characteristics of the study population were in general similar to the original BRAZPD cohort (13) except for the prevalence of patients with previous hemodialysis, which was less frequent in this work (Table 1).

The mean age was 61 ± 16 years, 52% were male, and 46% of the patients were diabetics. The groups were composed as follows: urgent-start group with 170 patients, early-start group with 153 patients, and conventional-start group with

186 patients. The three groups were similar in most of the clinical and demographic characteristics. Two variables presented marked differences among groups: Center experience was lower for the urgent- and early-start groups compared with the conventional-start group and the prevalence of patients with pre-dialysis care was lower for the urgent-start group compared with the other two.

Composite outcome

There were 25 composite outcomes within the initial 90 days of follow-up, comprising 12 deaths and 13 transfers to HD, with a follow-up time of 1,393.3 months. The survival curves of the study groups were proportional during the first 90 days and had no statistical difference (log rank 130 = 0.21) (Figure 1).

The overall incidence rate of events was 17.9 per 1000 patients/month (95% CI 12.1–26.5). The crude incidence rate of events (per 1000 patients/month) was 23.4 (95% CI 13.0–42.3) for the urgent-start group, 21.9 (95% CI 11.4-42.2) for the early-start group, and 9.7 (4.0–23.4) for the conventional-start group. The causes of death and technique failure within the groups are described in Table 2. Cardiovascular death was the main cause of death in all groups, and refractory peritonitis was responsible for technique failure in four patients from the urgent-start subgroup, but none in the other two groups.

The best-fit model for the composite outcome was composed of the variable of interest, the presence of residual renal function, history of pre-dialysis care, and anemia. Patients with RRF had a 74% risk reduction for the event (HR 0.24; 95% CI 0.11– 0.52), while patients who had seen a nephrologist for more than 3 months prior to dialysis had a 57% risk reduction in comparison with patients without pre-dialysis care (HR 0.43; 95% CI 0.18–1.01). Patients with anemia had an increased risk of the composite event (HR 3.30; 95% CI 1.40–7.80). Figure 2 summarizes the risk of the composite event in the early- and urgent-start groups using three distinct survival models, namely, Cox, competing risk, and a multilevel analysis.

Laboratory data

Laboratory data were similar between groups at baseline, and the pattern of metabolic control after 3 months also followed a similar behavior. On average, about 40% were anemic at baseline, and this number reduced by almost half after 3 months. The pattern was the same for all subgroups. A similar behavior occurred for hyperkalemia and hyperphosphatemia. Hyperkalemia at baseline was 18% and it was reduced to 8% in 3 months, while for hyperphosphatemia the prevalence diminished from 36 to 20% (Supplementary Figure 2).



PD-related infections

Regarding PD-related infections, there were 53 events in 53 patients, distributed as follows: 8.8% (n = 15), 8.5% (n = 13), and 13.5% (n = 25) for the urgent-, early-, and conventional-start groups, respectively. There was no increased risk of any PD-related infections between groups in comparison with the conventional-start group (urgent-start group: OR 0.62; 95% CI 0.31–1.22; early-start group: OR 0.60; 95% CI 0.29–1.21). The events incidence rate is presented in Figure 3. We also tested for interactions for several potential confounders between early-and urgent-start groups, and the results were homogeneous (Figure 4).

Discussion

In one of the largest studies derived from a national PD cohort, we reported that urgent-start PD is not associated with lower short-term patient and technique survival with

different metabolic controls in comparison with early-start and conventional-start PD.

Unplanned dialysis is common and has been used for a long time in patients with ESKD. Typically, these patients have worse outcomes and were either late referred to a nephrologist or had serious or potentially fatal complications, which requires immediate dialysis (1–3, 8). In this setting, several studies associate this situation with poor clinical results, which have been largely attributed to the use of temporary hemodialysis catheters and to an inadequate metabolic control preceding the initiation of chronic dialysis (14).

In Brazil, this situation is quite common and the demand for unplanned dialysis start is high. There are no reliable data in the country to measure the incidence of unplanned dialysis initiation in patients with ESKD. The number is probably heterogeneous because of its continental dimension and the remarkable social and cultural differences across regions. However, in the capital of the wealthiest state in the country, the need for unplanned dialysis was reported to be around 60% for more than two decades (15). The situation has deteriorated over the past 25 years for reasons linked to the lack of policies to



tackle financial issues faced by dialysis centers and the inability to predict the increase in the number of patients to come. The number of facilities has remained stable over decades, while the incidence and prevalence of patients with ESKD rose by 36.7% and 44.7, respectively, from 2008 to 2018, and the proportion of patients using CVC increased from 15.4%, in 2013, to 22.6%, in 2017 (16, 17). The demand exceeded the existing HD capacity, and unplanned PD proved to be a good solution. In our study, 63% of patients who started PD did so by using the PD catheter within the first 2 weeks after catheter implantation. It is important to note, however, that we cannot consider all of them to be unplanned dialysis patients as some individuals from the early-start group may be elective patients depending on the clinic (12). For this reason, a robust multilevel approach is important to diminish the impact of such issues.

The dropout at 90 days in our population was 7.4%, and urgent-start PD was not associated with a higher risk of the composite event. Death was two times as common as technique failure, and the specific causes of events were similar among the three groups (Table 2). Figure 1 depicts the Kaplan–Meier curve, and there is no difference between groups. Long-term (>90 days) results did not change in comparison with the results reported for short-term outcomes (see Supplementary material). These findings reinforce the results of our predecessors that unplanned PD dialysis is not associated with more adverse events, namely, mortality and technique failure (9, 10, 18–23). It is important, in contrast, to emphasize that the total number of events was not large, and the results should be carefully interpreted, due to the potential for the study to be underpowered

Infection is one of the main concerns related to urgent-start PD. For example, the careful choice of the exit-site location in these patients may not be done with the care recommended by the ISPD to facilitate its future cleaning and reduce the chance of inadvertent trauma by the belt (24).

Moreover, the recommended period of keeping the incision dressed for 3–5 days to allow epithelization and healing is not adhered to. However, Pai et al. in a retrospective study



of 149 patients found no increased risk for those who used the catheter, although they divided the population using the 2-week threshold (19). Also, in a small single-center study, Nayak et al. demonstrated good results in terms of catheter dysfunction and peritonitis rates, but in only 56 patients (20). Our study found similar results to these two studies. The risk of PD-related infection was similar between the urgent- and earlystart groups and even lower when compared with patients from the conventional-start group.

Finally, as late referred patients do not have previous adequate education from the nephrology team, metabolic disturbances may be more common in these individuals. In our study, we noted that the prevalence of anemia, hyperkalemia, and uncontrolled hypertension was similar between groups. In contrast, patients in the urgent-start group had a higher prevalence of hyperphosphatemia compared with those in the other two groups (Supplementary Figure 2). Nevertheless, after 90 days, all groups achieved similar levels of metabolic control: The prevalence of anemia and hyperphosphatemia dropped by almost 50%, reaching on average 20% of the population, while that of hyperkalemia dropped from 50 to 75% to values between 5 and 11%. At 90 days, there was no significant difference in the pattern of patient with systolic blood pressure above 140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure above 90 mmHg.

Our study has limitations related to its observational design and consequent impossibility of inferring cause and effect. We do not have details about the indication for dialysis initiation in the early-start group because some centers may routinely start PD within this period; the database did not capture whether some individuals required a few sessions of HD; we lack information about the structure of the PD centers; and finally, our analysis could be underpowered, given the small number of clinical events and the brief follow-up times for the primary analysis.

Nevertheless, our study is the only one to our knowledge that adjusts the results using multivariate and multilevel approaches.

Conclusions

Unplanned PD seems to be a safe and feasible option for treatment for patients with non-dialysis ESKD in urgent need of

dialysis. Our results are in line with those of the current literature suggesting that the results of unplanned PD may contribute to reducing the burden over the higher demand for dialysis in some countries, reduce costs for being more financially attractive, and eventually improve the penetration of PD. Finally, randomized controlled trials are needed to confirm these results.

Data availability statement

All relevant data are within the manuscript to draw results and conclusions. Raw data on cohort including patients exclude from this analysis are available upon reasonable written requests to the institutions Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Paraná, School of Medicine, Rua Imaculada Conceição 1155, Curitiba, PR, 80215-182, Brazil. Requests can also be sent to the author TM (email: thyago.moraes@pucpr.br).

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of the Pontificia Universidade Católica do Paraná (PUC-PR), register number 448. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

KH wrote the first version of the manuscript. PGB, PB, and RP-F contributed to the study design and revised the article critically for important intellectual content. TM contributed to the concept and design of the work, statistical analysis, and interpretation of data. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

The BRAZPD cohort was funded by Baxter Healthcare, Brazil. The current data extraction and analysis was

References

1. United States Renal Data System Annual Data Report (USRDS). Available online at: https://www.usrds.org/annual-data-report/currentadr/ (accessed Jan 5, 2021).

2. Sprangers B, Evenepoel P, Vanrenterghem Y. Late referral of patients with chronic kidney disease: no time to waste. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2006) 81:1487–94. doi: 10.4065/81.11.1487

3. Hussein WF, Mohammed H, Browne L, Plant L, Stack AG. Prevalence and correlates of central venous catheter use among haemodialysis patients in the Irish health system—a national study. *BMC Nephrol.* (2018) 11119:76. doi: 10.1186/s12882-018-0873-x

supported by an investigator-driven study grant provided to the Pontificia Universidade Católica do Paranáa, as part of the Clinical Evidence Council Program from Baxter Healthcare.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all dialysis clinics participating of in BRAZPD and their professionals for providing the data for this study.

Conflict of interest

Author RP-F received research grants, consulting fees, and speaker honorarium from Baxter Healthcare. Authors PB and TM received consulting fees and speaker honorarium from Baxter Healthcare. Author PB receive occasional speaking honoraria from Baxter Global.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.717385/full#supplementary-material

4. Zhang W, Ju P, Liu X, Zhou H, Xue F. Comparison of clinical characteristics and outcomes of infective endocarditis between haemodialysis and non-haemodialysis patients in China. *J Int Med Res.* (2020) 48:300060520940435. doi: 10.1177/0300060520940435

5. Ravani P, Palmer SC, Oliver MJ, Quinn RR, MacRae JM, Tai DJ, et al. Associations between hemodialysis access type and clinical outcomes: a systematic review. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2013) 24:465–73. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012070643

6. Castro V, Farber A, Zhang Y, Dicken Q, Mendez L, Levin SR, et al. Reasons for long-term tunneled dialysis catheter use and associated morbidity. *J Vasc Surg.* (2021) 73:588–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.06.121 7. Ivarsen P, Povlsen JV. Can peritoneal dialysis be applied for unplanned initiation of chronic dialysis? *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2014) 29:2201-6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft487

8. Bitencourt Dias D, Mendes ML, Burgugi Banin V, Barretti P, Ponce D. Urgentstart peritoneal dialysis: the first year of Brazilian experience. *Blood Purif.* (2017) 44:283–7. doi: 10.1159/000478970

9. Koch M, Kohnle M, Trapp R, Haastert B, Rump LC, Aker S. Comparable outcome of acute unplanned peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2012) 27:375–80. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr262

10. Jin H, Fang W, Zhu M, Yu Z, Fang Y, Yan H, et al. Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis in ESRD patients: complications and outcomes. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0166181. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166181

11. Htay H, Johnson DW, Craig JC, Teixeira-Pinto A, Hawley CM, Cho Y. Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis vs. haemodialysis for people with chronic kidney disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2021) 27:1:CD012899. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012899.pub2

12. Blake PG, Jain AK. Urgent start peritoneal dialysis: defining what it is and why it matters. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2018)13:1278–89. doi: 10.2215/CJN.02820318

13. de Moraes TP, Figueiredo AE, de Campos LG, Olandoski M, Barretti P, Pecoits-Filho R. BRAZPD investigators. Characterization of the BRAZPD II cohort and description of trends in peritoneal dialysis outcome across time periods. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 7:714–23. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2013.00282

14. Pastan S, Soucie JM, McClellan WM. Vascular access and increased risk of death among hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int.* (2002) 62:620–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00460.x

15. Sesso R, Belasco AG. Late diagnosis of chronic renal failure and mortality on maintenance dialysis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (1996) 11:2417–20. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.ndt.a027207

16. Thomé FS, Sesso RC, Lopes AA, Lugon JR, Martins CT. Brazilian chronic dialysis survey. *Braz J Nephrol.* (2019) 41:208–14. doi: 10.1590/2175-8239-jbn-2018-0178

17. Neves P, Sesso RCC, Thomé FS, Lugon JR, Nasicmento MM. Brazilian dialysis census: analysis of data from the 2009-2018 decade. *Braz J Nephrol.* (2020) 42:191–200. doi: 10.1590/2175-8239-jbn-2019-0234

18. Povlsen JV, Ivarsen P. How to start the late referred ESRD patient urgently on chronic APD. Nephrol Dial Transplant. (2006) 21:ii56–59. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfl122

19. Pai MF, Yang JY, Chen HY, Hsu SP, Chiu YL, Wu HY, et al. Comparing long-term outcomes between early and delayed initiation of peritoneal dialysis following catheter implantation. *Ren Fail.* (2016) 38:875-81. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2016.1165069

20. Nayak KS, Subhramanyam SV, Pavankumar N, Antony S, Sarfaraz Khan MA. Emergent start peritoneal dialysis for end-stage renal disease: outcomes and advantages. *Blood Purif.* (2018) 45:313–19. doi: 10.1159/000486543

21. Wojtaszek E, Grzejszczak A, Grygiel K, Małyszko J, Matuszkiewicz-Rowińska J. Urgent-start peritoneal dialysis as a bridge to definitive chronic renal replacement therapy: short- and long- term outcomes. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:1830. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01830

22. Liu Y, Zhang L, Lin A, Ni Z, Qian J, Fang W. Impact of break-in period on the short-term outcomes of patients started on peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2014) 34:49–56. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00293

23. See EJ, Cho Y, Hawley CM, Jaffrey LR, Johnson DW. Early and late patient outcomes in urgent-start peritoneal dialysis. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:414–19. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00158

24. Szeto CC Li PK, Johnson DW, Bernardini J, Dong J, Figueiredo AE, Ito Y, et al. Catheter-related infection recommendations: 2017 update. *Perit Dial Int.* (2017) 37:141–54. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2016.00120

Frontiers in Medicine

Translating medical research and innovation into improved patient care

A multidisciplinary journal which advances our medical knowledge. It supports the translation of scientific advances into new therapies and diagnostic tools that will improve patient care.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



